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Explanation or reason for introduction of bi l l/resolution: 

A bill relating to the regulation of ath letic trainers,  and to provide a penalty. 

Minutes: Attach #1 : Testimony by Steven Westereng 
Attach #2: Testimony by Brandy Currie 
Attach #3: Testimony by Damian Schlinger 
Attach #4: Testimony by Jack McDonald 
Attach #5: Testimony by Kevin Axtman 
Attach #6: Testimony by Kathleen Day 
Attach #7: Testimony by Tony Hollar 
Attach #8: Testimony by Carol Olson 
Attach #9: Email from Richard Zaruba 
Attach #10: Email from Janet Eloyce Rasmussen 
Attach #11: Email from Bud Wessman 
Attach #12: Testimony by Sarah Ashley 
Attach #13: Testimony by Cassie Beseman 

Senator Dever i ntroduced SB 2295 to the Senate H uman Services Committee. He 
provided an example that when he fel l  down one step, he could have gone to therapist but 
not to athletic trainer. Either one is qualified to treat it .  This recogn izes those qualifications 
and who they are able to treat. If on the sports field they can treat, and if not, they can't. 
(2:34) 

Represenative Karen Rohr (District 31 ), testified . She supports SB 2295. 

Shane Goettle, Lobbyist, testified IN FAVOR of SB 2295. He represents North Dakota 
Athletic Trainers. 2 principles - to update the act. The ed ucation and train ing for this 
profession has expanded but the act has not. 2nd principle is to move beyond just athletes . 
Today, ath letic trainers have to ask "Were you an ath lete when the injury occurred". 1 77 
today, they have expanded their avai lability. They still cover sports, but also working with in  
the providers. Public is more fami l iar, and confident, and demand for services even for 
non-athletes. The practice act has not kept up with the times. Is the publ ic protected? Is 
the ind ividual performing the service adequately trained? Athletic trainers are educated , 
integrity of l icense. There is overlap. Competition g ives patients choice, options. Should 
foster collaborative delivery. Mr. Goettle walked through the bill. (end 1 1  : 00) 
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Chairman Judy Lee where you have physicians l isted in  the b i l l ,  what about the areas 
where the primary care providers are nurse practitioners ,  are you amenable to having 
provider neutral language? 

Mr. Goettl would be amendable to that. Wanted to l imit to the 2 principles and remove 
qual ifier of ath lete. 

Senator Howard Anderson, Jr. understands the intent to add "an i l lnesses to prevent" -
that's a broad term . In  back page working under supervision of physician ,  since someone 
may not have seen physician,  you couldn't treat him since they hadn't seen the physician .  
I s  that correct? 

Mr. Goettle the term "d i rection" does not mean the physician is in the immed iate vicin ity. 
Most of the services performed by ath letic trainers are at sporting events, where there isn't 
a doctor in the room.  They are assessing the injury, doing some taping and so forth . It isn't 
that physician isn't immed iately there, but orders coming from physicians that al lows them 
to practice in those environments .  Even in the cl in ical setting ,  it isn 't necessarily the 
physicians in the room , but they are always available for consult. 

Chairman Judy Lee asked if they considered the possib i l ity of using the term general 
supervision versus d i rect supervis ion. 

Mr. Goettle stated they are qu ite open to proper term to get settled on this. We settled on 
"d i rect", thought about other terminology; want to work with the doctors , open for d ialog for 
other terms.  

Chairman Judy Lee stated the term d irect supervision usual ly means "in the room". 

Senator Warner asked if Mr. Goettle cou ld elaborate on growing concern about 
concussion injuries. What is the fi rewal l  between coaches, autonomy of decisions within 
scope of those i njuries? 

Mr. Goettle deferred to further testimony. It is part of their eth ics to make independent 
evaluations, and make sure that they are adequately addressed . There has been a 
tremendous amount of train ing to coaches and awareness about return-to-play. Athletic 
trainer can make the decision without deal ing with repercussions. They are governed by 
their l icensing board. 

Senator Warner assume that th ird party providers for insurance and to b i l l  for the services 
provided . Wi l l  they be bi l led through the primary provider? 

Mr. Goettle deferred to further testimony. The bi l l  is not motivated for b i l l ing for ath letic 
services. They usual ly are contracted through publ ic entities . 

Steve Westereng, Director for the University of North Dakota , Division of Sports Med icine, 
testified IN  FAVOR of SB 2295 (attach #1 )  ( 1 8 :02-23:02) .  Mr. Westereng's testimony 
included Athletic Trainer sheets, included in attachment #1 . 



Senate Human Services Comm ittee 
S B  2295 
02/04/2015 
Page 3 

Brandy Currie ,  Vice President of the North Dakota Ath letic Trainers' Association , as wel l  
the Curricu lum Coordinator and I nstructor at the Un iversity of Mary, testified IN FAVOR of 
SB 2295 (attach #2) . Ms. Currie's testimony includes numerous letters of support IN  
FAVOR of SB 2295, i ncluded in Attachment #2 . (23 :05-28 :02) 

Senator Warner asked if Ms. Currie cou ld address question of b i l l ing.  

Ms. Currie th is is not our  intent. There are already codes to use by ath letic trainers .  I f  
insurance compan ies want to provide for reimbursement, that is an insurance concern and 
not here for this b i l l .  

Senator Warner asked what about l iabi l ity and immun ity to prosecution in  your practice,  
what do you do different from good Samaritan on the sidel ines. Are you picking up some 
l iabi l ity or is there some immunity. 

Ms. Currie does provide standard first aide. Education is beyond that, recogn izing and 
treating. Work under gu idel ines of physicians. We act accord ing ly. Ms. Currie ind icated 
they are picking up l iabi l ity, but our education dictates what we do.  

Senator Howard Anderson, Jr. i f  you were a physician and took care of patient who fel l  
down steps, they wou ld not be immune. If pharmacist, I am immune because I 'm a good 
Samaritan .  

Ms. Currie i nd icated they are not looking to fal l  back on  good Samaritan law. 

Senator Howard Anderson, Jr. are you looking to expand beyond the sports facil ity and 
work in  local c l in ic. 

Ms. Currie not necessarily move off, but open up the option to work in offices . 

Senator Howard Anderson, Jr. are you asking us to confirm what you already doing. 

Ms. Currie because of the way this is written ,  physicians do not want to open the door. 

Senator Howard Anderson, Jr. talked about Westereng testimony regard ing certification, 
where national certification stated you work with physicians. Does that mean Chairman 
J udy Lee d iscussion regard ing nurse practitioners would not fit with the national certification 
because it doesn't state that. 

Ms. Currie ind icated that if the language was changed to provider neutral language, that 
may be an issue. 

Chairman Judy Lee stated that in many areas in  the state , the primary physician is the 
nurse practitioner. 

Ms. Currie concurred . 
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Chairman Judy Lee the Un iversity of Mary has both Athletic Training and Physical 
Train ing curricu lums.  Why would you go into the athletic train ing program instead of the 
physical therapy program? 
Ms. Currie you need an undergraduate degree if going into physical therapy prorgram, so 
a lot of t imes they get pushed into ath letic train ing program .  

Ms. Currie also referred to her other written testimony that was provided i n  her packet 
( information included in attach #2) . Ms. Currie identified the letters of support from J i l l  
Wilson ,  Sara Bjerke, Robyn Gust, Terry Eckmann,  Cassandra Heald , T im J uelson, 
Jeremiah Penn ,  N ick Walker, and Alyssa Sorensen .  

Dr. Dawn Mattern, sports med icine doctor, testified IN  FAVOR of SB 2295.  She is 
responsible for 1 2  ath letic trainers and 3 grad uate assistants . Together, they cover schools 
in the Minot area. She state she cou ld not do this without competent people she can trust. 
They are in contact with her, and she is contact with them . She knows exactly how the 
ath letic trainers wil l  p rovide service. The l iabi l ity part keeps her awake at n ight. She is 
responsible for being there ,  answering questions, and tra in ing.  Agrees with the testimony 
already provided that education has expanded greatly. In 7 % years,  our train ing is 
irrelevant old tra in ing ,  so educated ath letic trainers reflect current and future train ing.  The 
ath letic trainers and physical therapist get along wel l ,  respect what everyone brings to the 
table. She is fam i ly physician and received extra year in ath letic tra in ing.  Reflecting what 
these professionals have in tra in ing,  she passionately supports this b i l l .  (39 :40) 

Dr. Bi l l  Mann, in practice of 50 years, testified IN FAVOR of SB 2295.  When he came to 
North Dakota in 1 977, the medical profession was determined that there wou ldn't be Nurse 
Practitioners or Physician Assistants. Fortunately the leg islature helped that situation, and 
this is deja vu. The young incoming ski l ls a g laring gap in  assessment, where these 
physicians wou ld learn the ski l ls. Developed a relationship at the un iversity. The 
involvement with ath letic trainers was reward ing and rich . Support everything about their 
tra in ing.  Always concerns about practice, but concern is to wrong spot. Do you recognize 
your scope of practice. Do you recogn ize a problem when it fal ls outside of scope. Do you 
recogn ize emergent cond itions and behave appropriately. He has confidence that the 
ath letic trainers he works with has this. He stressed importance of rural areas and being 
looked after by an ath letic tra iner. In rural state, this is very important. The athletic trainer 
is the first person in  the morn ing and last out at night, and these hours are unsustainable in 
the long run .  The only way the young people wil l  continue entering ath letic trainer, there is 
some alternative that prevents them from being the first person in and first person out. 
That is the organized health systems. Suggest that this wou ld remove any doubt in the 
health systems. 

Damian Schl inger testified on behalf of the North Dakota Board of Athletic Trainers IN 
FAVOR of SB 2295 (attach #3) (45 :47-49 :00) 

Chairman Judy Lee how does the curricu lum compare between athletic trainer and 
physical tra iner at undergraduate level? 

Mr. Schl inger can't speak to bounds of physical therapists, but g rowth of competencies 
has significantly increased for the ath letic trainers .  
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Sarah Ashley, senior at high school , testified IN FAVOR of SB 2295. (attach #12, provided 
copy of written testimony after hearing) (50:00-51 :33) 

Cassie Beseman, a student at the University of Mary, testified in FAVOR of SB 2295 
(attach #13, provided copy of written testimony after hearing). She provided a personal 
story about likely leaving North Dakota to practice and moving to Minnesota, where the 
athletic trainer practice is more broad. (51 :45-53:35) . 

Senator Howard Anderson, Jr. seems to be some disagreement with practice acts in 
Minnesota and South Dakota versus North Dakota. Can you provide the information that 
provides that information . 

Ms. Beseman indicated that Minnesota stated that you can help anyone that is active 
versus sports in North Dakota. 

OPPOSTION TO SB 2295 
Jack McDonald, appearing on behalf of the North Dakota Physical Therapy Association 
(NDPTA) and North Dakota Board of Physical Therapy, testified OPPOSED to SB 2295 
(attach #4) . (Oral testimony ends 1 :01 :33) 

Senator Dever you are concerned with the education. Looking at act, it spells out what 
they are allowed to do. If this bill spelled out what their education is and what they could do 
within that, would that alleviate your concern? 

Mr. McDonald indicated scope of practice is spelled out in state law. As written now, it 
gets rid of the scope of practice. 

Senator Dever same thing with physical therapy, but it is spelled out. 

Mr. McDonald yes, but tied into their training - scope of practice. 

Senator Howard Anderson, Jr. is it true that physical therapists can practice without the 
physician where athletic trainers would not be allowed to do that. 

Mr. McDonald responded, correct. 

Chairman Judy Lee regarding provisions in neighboring states, in Minnesota, an athletic 
trainer can, and she read from the Minnesota bill. Is that they are limited to educating and 
counseling or that they are only limited to athletes? 

Mr. McDonald thinks the intent is athlete. 

V. Chairman Oley Larsen asked if an athletic trainer went to John Deere and tried to 
reduce injury, is that out of practice? 

Mr. McDonald under the act, yes it would be out of their scope of practice. It goes back to 
outlining what is in their scope of practice. 
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Dr. Kevin Axtman, a l icensed physical therapist and athletic trainer at Bismarck's Bone 
and Joint Center, testified in OPPOSITION to SB 2295. (attach #5) (1 : 07:00-1 : 1 0 : 1 5) 

Senator Warner cou ld someone provide curriculum in column for comparison between the 
physical therapists and ath letic trainers? 

Mr. Axtman sees these students, that this is somewhat uncomfortable. He's not bash ing 
the ath letic trainer fie ld ,  but the bi l l  al lows them to do any and everyth ing .  

Chairman Judy Lee looked at M innesota statute and their  many defin it ions. There is no 
defin ition l ike that in North Dakota. Perhaps we should find defin itions that are more 
l imiting , such as defin ing i l lness and not be doing anyth ing inappropriate. 

Mr. Axtman answered yes that wou ld be an option .  

Tony Hollar, the reimbursement chair for the North Dakota Physical Therapy Association, 
testified OPPOSED to SB 2295 (attach #7)( 1 : 1 3 :00- 1 : 1 5 :30) 

Senator Dever his u nderstanding of health care providers that are associated with cl in ics 
and hospitals ,  their scope of practice is defined by the institution that they work for. Athletic 
trainers work u nder the supervision of a physician .  Then isn't their scope of practice 
defined by that physician? 

Mr. Hollar indicated techn ically no. If an athletic trainer in  a d ifferent facil ity is performing 
u nder physician and that physician is bi l l ing codes that unable to be performed by an 
ath letic trainer, you are getting into a much higher l iabi l ity issue. A physician takes the 
l iabi l ity for what that ath letic trainer is performing or med ical faci l ity. 

Senator Dever - i n  accordance with their education . So how are you suggesting this l imits 
them? 

Mr. Hollar it takes out the l im itation entirely from what they are able to do from their scope 
of practice. It takes a h uge broad ness of the category. 

Chairman Judy Lee when talking about professional l iabi l ity, she advised the students and 
others in the room to have personal l iabi l ity. Hospital is l iable but not responsible for an 
ind ivid ual lawsuit. Professional l iabi l ity pol icy is critical .  Based on what Senator Dever 
question was, do you th ink that working around and refin ing the defin itions - we don't have 
many defin itions for ath letic trainers, there are others that have provided longer l ist of 
defin itions in neighboring states. 

Mr. Hollar defin itely. Getting together with NDATA and find ing the defin itions with in  the 
scope of practice cou ld occur. 

Chairman Judy Lee if we could ask the two organ izations to get together, that wou ld be 
helpful and provide the committee some gu idance.  



Senate Human Services Committee 
SB 2295 
02/04/2015 
Page 7 

Carol Olson, PhD, OTR/L, FAOTA, testified OPPOSl;:D to SB 2295 (attach #8) (1:22:12-
1 :26:15) 

Chairman Judy Lee asked if she thought that occupation therapists should be included in 
amendment. Do all occupational therapists require a master's degree? 

Ms. Olson said master's level, and considering doctorate. 

Chairman Judy Lee asked if University of Mary why go into athletic trainer instead of 
physical therapists? 

Mr. McDonald indicated 4 year program versus 6 year program. The University of Mary 
physical therapist students and instructors are at a conference and not available. He will 
provide a comparison list of the different curriculums. 

Kathleen Day, President of the North Dakota Physical Therapy Association, testified IN 
OPPOSITION of SB 2295. (attach #6) 

Senator Howard Anderson, Jr. we received letter from Doctor Zaruba. It has suggested 
language that may solve the issues. If the people who testified wants to look at that 
language, it may help. 

No Neutral 

Closed Public Hearing 

The following electronic transmissions were sent in regards to SB 2295: 
Mr. Richard Zaruba, PT, DPT, PhD (attach #9) 
Ms. Janet Eloyce Rasmussen (attach #10) 
Mr. Bud Wessman (attach #11) 
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bi l l/resolution:  

A bi l l  relating to the regu lation of ath letic trainers , and to provide a penalty. 

Minutes: Attach #1: Email from Robin Gust 
Attach #2: Testimony & Related Documentation from 
Shane Goettle 

Chairman Judy Lee distributed an email from Robyn Gust (attach # 1 )  

Mr. Shane Goettle, representing the North Dakota Ath letic Trainers Association , 
d istributed further testimony and documentation as requested from the in itial hearing 
(Attach #2) 

Senator Howard Anderson, Jr. has received many emails about this b i l l .  Everyone gives 
an excel lent case about why athletic trainers should be on the field treating athletic injuries . 
But those in favor of the bi l l  state they need the bi l l  so they could do what we are already 
doing. Why the additional things if they are already doing the things they do? 

. Mr. Goettle stated the grave d ifficu lties they have now is the threshold question of "were 
you an ath lete" is the screen to performing services. Some of the med ical institutions are 
getting creative by g iving them d ifferent titles, cal l ing them physician extenders or 
ergonomic special ists. It requires some continued education so they get those titles. 

Senator Howard Anderson, Jr. maybe we should change the name to ergonomic 
special ists . 

Mr. Goettle i nd icated that is some d iscussion. The term ath letic trainer has a long history. 
They have expanded beyond the term. State by state they are taking up the issue of the 
l im its that their profession is experiencing. 

Senator Warner a lot of our d iscussion is after an injury. The very term ath letic trainer 
would ind icate a preemptive role , and we haven't heard anything about that. There are 
issues with preemptive role as wel l; including extensive treatment after. Are there any 
issues relative to their practice act that we should be aware of? 
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Mr. Ray Hal l ,  Governmental Affairs Chair for the North Dakota Athletic Trainers 
Association, spoke .  Mr. Hal l  read from their current practice act, naming the areas that 
they assess and treat, relating to athletes only. As time has evolved , they are getting 
questions from the general publ ic and would l ike to get rid of the term ath lete. In proposed 
amendments we sti l l  have prevent of the injuries and i l lnesses. We aren't trying to change 
the scope, but re-word it. 

Senator Warner is there a d istinction between personal trainer and athletic trainer? Is 
there a responsib i l ity or prudence, l iabi l ity of personal trainer based on their advice .  

Mr. Hal l  stated there is a d ifference. An Athletic Trainer goes through school and 
grad uates from accredited school and is l icensed . There are no provisions for personal 
trainers .  They can take a certification test, but that isn't even requ i red . 

Chairman Judy Lee asked if the personal trainer be an individ ual who is more able to say 
these kind of activities wil l  provide th is kind of appropriate conditioning for certain areas of 
muscle or endurance or aerobics or whatever, focused on physica l  activity. 

Senator Warner the term ath letic trainer or ath letic medicine ind icates there is a 
preemptive role in what you are doing. 

Mr. Hal l  stated the term ath letic trainer it has come up at least twice on the national level .  
It is sometimes compared to Occupational Therapy; they don't deal  with just workers. The 
ath letic trainer profession has evolved. It is better to keep the name and educate what we 
are trained to do rather than try to reinvent a new name. If we had ath letic therapist, there 
wou ld be opposition from the al l  of the d ifferent therapists. They haven't found one new 
name for their profession .  

Senator Howard Anderson, Jr. stated that one of the terms that scares people when they 
read the bi l l  is comprehensive management of injuries and i l l nesses . That sounds fami l iar 
to a Nurse Practitioner or physician .  It is too broad . Is there some language that you could 
agree on that wou ld l imit that specifical ly, wou ld say if related to i njuries, exercise, say what 
you want to do versus i l l ness, which is very broad . It appears there are no l imitations. 

Mr. Hall the reason we put in the first section under the athletic train ing ,  part of the packet 
provided today are the competencies that al l  ath letic trainers have to learn . After the 
neighboring states practice act, there is a sampl ing of i l l nesses that are in their 
competencies, it is with in their education, so we aren't trying to treat outside of ed ucation. 

Senator Howard Anderson, Jr. suggested if you have a l ist and you can make others 
comfortable with , then make it specific enough so there is no question. 

V. Chairman Oley Larsen asked if 43-39-05 is. Isn 't that their scope of practice in statute? 

Chairman Judy Lee agrees with Senator Howard Anderson,  J r. on not having specific 
language and being too broad . The word i l lness is very broad . Chairman J udy Lee agreed 
with Senator Howard Anderson ,  Jr. to suggest language to where you can do what you are 
perm itted to do,  but help people read ing the statute to be clear and specific. 
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Senator Howard Anderson, Jr. stated that V. Chairman Oley Larsen reference to the 
practice act, he is comfortable with the practice act but apparently you (Hal l) are not 
comfortable with the practice act. 

Mr. Hal l  the two changes that we have and the main change is that we want the individ uals 
education,  which ties into the certification and competencies . The other objective is to 
remove the word "ath lete", because if a person has a muscular skeletal issue, the word 
ath lete is causing the issue. 

Senator Howard Anderson, Jr. you sti l l  aren't addressing what V. Chairman Oley Larsen 
is saying.  If the defin ition of your  practice act needs changes, then change that. 

Senator Warner would you be comfortable if you added muscu lar skeletal issues? Are 
there other issues? 

Mr. Hal l  i n  the ath letic rea lm,  we have ath letes who come into a facil ity and are sick. They 
may have strep throat, something else. The athletic trainer wi l l  have early recognition of 
those, so if it is only muscular skeletal issue, then it prohibits that. We do more than that. 

Senator Warner if sku l l  fracture ,  then they would tel l  me to go to physician.  I t  is sti l l  a 
referral authority. You aren't d iagnosing the issue, but referring .  

Mr. Hal l  stated i t  includes cuts and abrasions, that fal l  out of muscu lar skeletal that we deal 
with on a regular basis. 

Senator Warner those would fal l  within the realm of first aid . 

Mr. Hal l  if you have a staph infection ,  we are the first to see that many times. We may not 
treat that but we are recogn izing that and referring it on. 

Senator Howard Anderson, Jr. again ,  your description of the person who might come in 
who is sick and you make an assessment that they need referra l ,  and it states here you 
have comprehensive management of injuries and i l l nesses, that is a b ig d ifference from 
recognizing that they are sick and referring to someone. 

Chairman Judy Lee stated this won't be fix this afternoon ,  but is the d iscussion helpfu l to 
you? 

Mr. Hal l  and Mr. Goettle confirmed yes. Chairman Judy Lee i nstructed don't be overly 
specific, but Senator Howard Anderson,  J r. is a good reference point of what things should 
be included and what you want to have and then where the committee goes from there. 
Make sure the documents asking for change reflect the adequate l im itations. How do we 
make people comfortable that you are part of the chain for potential treatment options for 
someone but there is a point to refer at the appropriate leve l .  The committee confirmed 
Chairman J udy Lee statement. 

Mr. Hal l  then went through the attachment. After Mr. Goettle's written testimony, there is 
neighboring states practice acts, samples of defin itions of states around us, the practice 
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acts i n  neighboring states ,  sample of i l lnesses pu l led out of their scope of competencies, 
some curricu lum for athletic tra iners, occupational therapists, and physical therapists for 
com parison. 

Chairman Judy Lee how many universities in North Dakota offer athletic train ing 
curriculum? 

M r. Hal l  answered fou r: U niversity of  North Dakota, U niversity of  Mary, Minot State 
U niversity, Val ley C ity State University in  the process of getting one, and North Dakota 
State U niversity has an entry level masters program. 

V. Chairman Oley Larsen on these practice acts, is it a board or administrative rule. Can't 
this be administratively ru led rather than coming to legislature? 

M r. Hal l  the main thing is in current practice act, it states athletic i njuries, so it is in statute. 
We have hospitals who said they wil l  not h i re athletic trainers because it says athlete 
injuries, and our practice act has to be whol ly athletic related . 

Senator Howard Anderson, Jr. reviewed quickly the documentation that M r. Goettle and 
M r. Hal l  had provided . He stated that there is some language that m ight actual ly work. 
Certai nly the physical therapists and occupational  therapists m ig ht agree that it might be 
okay regarding defin itions and practice acts. 

M r. Hal l  ind icated they did go through a lot of practice acts when they tried to come up with 
the language when they presented . We came up with what was believed to be the best. 
M ichigan and Wisconsin have more updated versions of the practice acts, whi le Minnesota, 
Montana,  and South Dakota there are parts that are modern but for the most part are sti l l  
tied i nto the athlete area. 

C hairman Judy Lee assigned the intern , Femi ,  to spend some time looking at defin itions,  
so com mittee can compare and what we cou ld d iscuss. 
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bi l l/resolution : 

A bi l l  re lating to the regu lation of ath letic trainers,  and to provide a penalty. 

Minutes : Attach #1: SB 2295 Draft Bill with Ame 
Goettle 

Shane Goettle distributed a draft SB 2295 with amendments (attach #1 ) that athletic 
trainers are interested in moving forward with . The Physical Therapists have not agreed 
with the proposed amendments - Jack McDonald needs h is group to review. It is a 
conversation that was done with physical therapists and occupational therapists. The 
amendments reflect more definitions for ath letic train ing in letters a through g. Each of 
those are tied to "physica l  activity," wh ich then demands the definition of "physical activity." 
This is largely based on Wisconsin model but not identical to Wisconsin .  They arrived at an 
agreement on the definition of physical activity with the occupational therapists. There is 
no agreement yet with the physical therapists. Mr. Goettle read through #3 - physical 
activity. The ath letic trainer group had a discussion today and agreed this is the version 
they want to move forward with . 

Chairman Judy Lee indicated she would l ike the occupational therapists and physical 
therapists consent or comment by tomorrow morning. 

Senator Dever asked for clarification .  I s  this only when they are practicing ath letic training 
or did they remove that restriction .  

Chairman Judy Lee answered that it sti l l  says who is providing ath letic training. But that is 
there name. 

Mr. Goettle everything now comes under what is definition of ath letic train ing .  Athletic 
training is under the gu idance of a physician ,  and l isted ath letic training is l isted in letters 
"a" through "g".  

V. Chairman Oley Larsen indicated that letter "a" discusses this, up to the more broad 
area and not just on the field. 
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M r. Goettle stated this accompl ishes the two goals that were communicated. ( 1 )  to come 
out of that strict defin ition of "are you an athlete when you received this i nju ry; (2) that they 
are able to do everything they are tra ined and educated to do. 
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These are minutes from the Senate H uman Services Committee on February 1 8 , 20 1 5, 
morning session . 

Cory Fong representing the ND Athletic Trainer Association ,  d istributed a d raft SB 2295 
with proposed amendments after col laboration with the occupational therapists, physical 
therapists, and ath letic tra iners (attach #1 ). 

Mr. Fong reemphasized that the proposed amendments are aimed to modern ize the act by 
doing two things: ( 1 )  decoupl ing from the l im itation that Ath letic Trainers can only treat 
ath letic injuries, wh i le providing more clarity and specificity than the orig inal b i l l  d id for what 
services the Ath letic Trainer can provide, and (2) a l igning the services with their 
ed ucational tra in ing .  The amendments were modeled from the Wisconsin version. Mr. 
Fong contin ued to walk the committee through the draft b i l l ,  as proposed amended . 
High l ights include: 

Reaffirm the scope of practice and the services offered by Ath letic Tra iners is under the 
guidance of a physician.  This was previously in the penalty section but now is stated in  
the defin ition .  
Decouple from narrow l im itation of treating ath letic injuries to a l ign with ed ucational and 
train ing background , have l isted the specific duties, letters "a" through "f'. They have 
key phrases such as "wh i le participating in  physical activity." 
I ncluded letter "g", which is a referral to the appropriate health care provider as needed . 

The term defin ition "physical activity" is now defined in Sub-Section 3 .  The last clause in  
th is  sub-section ,  " including participating in  exercise, sports , games, recreation, wel lness or 
fitness" is not to be exclusive of some of the other activities that ath letic trainers are 
performing,  for example in a work setting . 

Jack McDonald, representing the North Dakota Physical Therapy Association,  responded 
that the physical therapists sti l l  oppose SB 2295 along with the proposed amendments. 
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They recogn ize that the b i l l  has been changed and describe some of the th ings they are 
doing,  but basical ly they are sti l l  doing everything. The physical therapists remain 
concerned that the profession and the curricu lum,  named ath letic trainer, are practicing 
outside of their  scope. As an ath letic trainer, they wou ld be permitted to do rehabil itation 
work that they cou ld find , ergonomics, injuries that they can .  The train ing is sti l l  primarily 
ath letic tra in ing when looking at their curricu lum.  Our objection is that they are moving out 
of the field of ath letics. They are doing this now, and now they are trying to get scope of 
practice to catch up to what they are doing, but they shouldn't be. They state they are 
moving to a master's degree program but not there yet. It's a better b i l l  with collaborative 
work, in better shape, but the basic premise that is unti l they have a master's degree and 
more tra in ing,  they are opposed . 

Chairman Judy Lee emphasized her support for the physical therapist profession overa l l .  
She assumes the scope of practice that is in  rule would have been approved through the 
admin istrative rules process, and is appropriate for the ed ucational accompl ishments of 
ath letic trainers as would be the rules for physical therapists . 

Mr. McDonald confirmed that to be true .  The physical therapy rules are not that elaborate, 
but they do fol low the scope of practice. These are set out in statute and are flushed out 
more in  the ru les. Mr. McDonald is unaware of the administrative ru les that the athletic 
trainers have. 

Chairman Judy Lee ta lking about physical therapy, those criteria that are part of the 
l icensing for physical therapists, some of the structure is in statute, but more in 
administrative ru le. In add ition to what the legislator may have passed , it has also gone 
through the process with the administrative rules committee where the rules wou ld have 
been presented , opportun ity for publ ic comment, opportun ity for changes and objections, 
and then adopted. The same process has taken place for other professions, including 
ath letic tra iners. Their scope of practice detai l  would be in their ru les and regu lations as a 
result of having gone through the administrative ru les process. She understands the 
functions and education and training requirements are d ifferent between the physical 
therapist and the athletic trainers,  but with in  their scope, their rules have gone through the 
same process. Why does someone else have any say as long as they are practicing with in  
the scope. 

Mr. McDonald responded that the athletic trainers and physical therapists work together in 
a lot of settings, but the rules have to be based on the scope of practice. The statute is 
being proposed to be changed , so ru les wi l l  probably have to be revised to match the 
statute. There wi l l  be an opportun ity if they change the rules to object to certain provisions 
in  their ru les , but the rules wil l be based on the statute. 

Chairman Judy Lee ind icated that the athletic trainer wil l not be working independently; 
they wi l l  be under the supervision of a physician . Physical Therapists can practice 
independently, so that is a huge d ifference. If working in a health care faci l ity, they would 
have to meet the credentia l ing process of that facil ity, where the supervising med ical 
professional wi l l  determine what the ath letic trainer wi l l  be able to do, even if it is less than 
what the scope would permit. 
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Mr. McDonald agreed . The physician wi l l  tel l  them what to do,  a lthough there could be 
some broad grants . 

Chairman Judy Lee i nd icated there would be some l imitations by what the supervising 
physician or physical  therapist d i rects. 

Mr. McDonald provided another example where he is not sure what the relationship is with 
ath letic trainer and physician if they provide demonstration at MDU for example. 
Ergonomics, wel lness program. 

Chairman Judy Lee explained that under the new draft, under the guidance of the 
physician,  so they are sti l l  not working independently. 

Senator Dever indicated that several years ago, the physical therapists rewrote their act 
and that was painfu l .  There was one point they d isagreed with ch i ropractor on level 5 
manipulation . They did not work out their d ifferences. Two years ago, the ath letic trainers 
asked to rewrite the bi l l  and there was no agreement with physical therapists. Should we 
just do this? 

Mr. McDonald understands the concern . They would have preferred starting the 
negotiations earlier. 

Ray Hal l ,  an Governmental Affairs Chair for the North Dakota Ath letic Trainers Association ,  
was cal led to  the pod ium to answer questions from the Senate H uman Services 
Committee. 

Senator Howard Anderson, Jr. asked now that you have moved the defin ition specific 
under the authority of a physician, how would you go to MDU for ergonomics .  

Mr. Hal l  stated that in  the employment realm,  OcHealth is a big umbrel la - they employ 
ath letic trainers,  physical therapists, doctors, and a d i rector who is l ike a physician and the 
d i rection would come from them. It wou ld l ikely come from that overseeing physician. It is 
a col laborative effort; it isn't just an athletic trainer going out and doing this service. It is the 
whole scope of occupational health that is included in this. 

Senator Dever would you be able to d i rect b i l l  for that or doctor do that. 

Mr. Hal l  responded that ath letic trainers do not b i l l  for their services; their services are not 
recognized as reimbursable through insurance or Med icaid . It is not the i ntent of the b i l l  to 
seek reimbursement. Athletic tra in ing services are usual ly paid through a fee-for-service. 
In an employment setting ,  a company wi l l  pay a work-evaluation fee and the ath letic 
trainers wil l  come in and provide suggestions on how to decrease injuries in the workforce . 
The codes are in p lace to do b i l l ing , but that is not the intent of the b i l l .  

V. Chairman Oley Larsen responded that in  reviewing testimony, ath letic trainers were 
going into the John Deere facil ity and provid ing tra in ing.  V. Chairman Oley Larsen 
questioned whether the occupational therapists felt the ath letic trainer was practicing out of 
their scope. 
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M r. Hal l  responded that this was d iscussed with occupational therapists and physical 
therapists. The concern is that persons with an athletic trainer background currently work 
u nder a d ifferent name. Occupational Therapists have ind icated they do not have an 
objection to what occurred. 

Recess 
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V. Chairman Oley Larsen recapped the committee d iscussion with Mr. Ray Hal l  from this 
morning committee work. 

Senator Axness gave fu l l  d isclosure that he has a friend who is a physical therapist. H is 
friend's concern was with the words "gu idance of physician" rather than supervision or 
order of physician.  

Mr. Cory Fong, representing the North Dakota Athletic Trainers Association , responded 
that there was much d iscussion about th is with the group of ath letic tra iners, occupational 
therapists and physical therapists. They bel ieved "gu idance" was the right term . An 
"order" is such a narrow word and description of what happens. Mr. Fong stated that the 
one thing that is made much clearer in the amendments is the fact that they are putting this 
rig ht in  the defin ition of the ath letic trainer, and not just in the penalty provisions at the end . 

V. Chai rman Oley Larsen moved to ADOPT AMENDMENT on SB 2295 . The motion was 
seconded by Senator Warner. No d iscussion . 

Rol l  Cal l  Vote to Amend 
§Yes, Q No, Q Absent. Motion passes. 

V. Chai rman Oley Larsen moved the Senate H uman Services Committee recommend a 
DO PASS SB 2295 AS AMENDED.  The motion was seconded by Senator Warner. No 
d iscussion. 
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Rol l  Cal l  Vote to DO PASS AS AMENDED 
2 Yes, Q No, Q Absent. Motion passes. 

V. Chairman Oley Larsen wil l  carry SB 2295 to the floor. 
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Title.04000 

Adopted by the Human Services Committee 

February 19, 2015 ~ 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO SENATE BILL NO. 2295 ), I \ "1/ I 11 

Page 1, line 11, after "means" insert "doing any of' 

Page 1, line 15, remove "comprehensive management of injuries" 

Page 1, replace lines 16 and 17 with "following under the guidance of a physician: 

a. Preventing, recognizing, and evaluating injuries and illnesses 
sustained while participating in physical activity: 

b. Managing and administering the initial treatment of injuries or illnesses 
sustained while participating in physical activity: 

c. Giving emergency care or first aid for an injury or illness sustained 
while participating in physical activity: 

Q.,_ Rehabilitating injuries or illnesses sustained while participating in 
physical activity: 

e. Rehabilitating and physically reconditioning injuries or illnesses that 
impede or prevent an individual from returning to participating in 
physical activity, if the individual recently participated in, and intends 
to return to participation in, physical activity: 

L Establishing or administering risk management, conditioning. and 
injury prevention programs: or 

9..:. Referring a patient to an appropriate health care provider as needed." 

Page 1, line 20, after "4." insert: ""Physical Activity" means activity that requires physical 
strength, agility, range of motion, repetitive motion, speed, or stamina, including 
participation in exercise, sports, games, recreation, wellness, or fitness. 

5." 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 15.0488.03001 
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If the vote is on an amendment, briefly indicate intent: 
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Com Standing Committee Report 
February 19, 20151:16pm 

Module ID: s_stcomrep_33_024 
Carrier: Larsen 

Insert LC: 15.0488.03001 Title: 04000 

REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE 
SB 2295: Human Services Committee (Sen. J. Lee, Chairman) recommends 

AMENDMENTS AS FOLLOWS and when so amended , recommends DO PASS 
(6 YEAS, 0 NAYS, 0 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). SB 2295 was placed on the 
Sixth order on the calendar. 

Page 1, line 11, after "means" insert "doing any of' 

Page 1, line 15, remove "comprehensive management of injuries" 

Page 1, replace lines 16 and 17 with "following under the guidance of a physician: 

~ Preventing, recognizing. and evaluating injuries and illnesses 
sustained while participating in physical activity: 

Q,, Managing and administering the initial treatment of injuries or 
illnesses sustained while participating in physical activity: 

c. Giving emergency care or first aid for an injury or illness sustained 
while participating in physical activity: 

Q,, Rehabilitating injuries or illnesses sustained while participating in 
physical activity: 

~ Rehabilitating and physically reconditioning injuries or illnesses that 
impede or prevent an individual from returning to participating in 
physical activity, if the individual recently participated in, and intends 
to return to participation in. physical activity: 

f. Establishing or administering risk management, conditioning , and 
injury prevention programs: or 

g,_ Referring a patient to an appropriate health care provider as 
needed ." 

Page 1, line 20, after "4." insert: ""Physical Activity" means activity that requires physical 
strength. agility, range of motion, repetitive motion. speed. or stamina, including 
participation in exercise, sports, games, recreation, wellness, or fitness. 

Renumber accordingly 

(1) DESK (3) COMMITTEE Page 1 s_stcomrep_33_024 
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Chairman Weisz: opened the hearing on SB 2295. 

Sen. Dick Dever: District 32: I ntroduced and supported the bi l l .  The bi l l  involves athletic 
trainers. There is no question on football field if a footba l l  p layer is i nju red in a p lay whether 
or not the athletic tra iner has the abi l ity with thei r  education to treat any injuries that fit that 
education .  If however that p lay takes that player off the field and they coll ide with and if a 
spectator has the same i njury our  current law does not provide for the athletic trainers to 
treat a spectator, even though they have the education to deal with it. SB 2295 was 
introduced to a llow ath letic tra iners to work with i n  the bounds of their education. You have 
the 4000 version and the bi l l  was introduced as a 3000 version and the d ifferences are 
basical ly, Section  1 where it says tra in ing in  accordance with the ind ividual's education,  it 
doesn't spel l  out what those qua lifications were. The physica l  therapist, occupational 
therapist d idn 't have any comfort level with that broad language so they got together and 
they put together the rest of the language that adds more specificity to that. The came 
back to the committee and even though they agreed with what the language wou ld be, they 
sti l l  oppose the b i l l .  I would submit that it is not about what they can treat, but who they can 
treat. Over the years I have supported a l l  three of those professions, ath letic trainers 
b rought a b i l l  and strugg led with trying to find the language that would work that would 
a l low them to do what they a re able to do. They do n ot j ust work on the field of p lay they 
work with Doctors and at cl in ics. They are part of a med ical team .  The physical therapists 
and the chi ropractors a few years ago, the physical therapist were rewriting their chapter in 
the Century Code and the Chiropractors had an  objection to one provision in  that bi l l ,  the 
abi l ity of physical therapists to do  a level 5 manipulation .  We went back and forth on that 
one point. So I th ink  there comes a time when we decide what they should be al lowed to 
do .  I don't th ink  there is any reason athletic tra iners should be kept from doing what they 
a re capable of doing . We received in the Senate a lot of emails on this b i l l  but there was 
some exaggeration.  If they state in  the email that th is b i l l  wil l  a l low athletic trainers to treat 
Parkinson's d isease, Alzheimer's d isease, strokes, and heart attacks that is an 
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exaggeration, when people do that they concede that the arguments that are legitimate 
don't support their position .  

Rep. Scott Louser: District 5 :  i n  Minot testified i n  s upport of the b i l l .  I personal ly know 
many of the people here today and two testifying are Dr. Don Mattern, a former basketbal l  
p layer at  N DSU and Steve Westereng , President of the Ath letic Trainers Association, they 
are outstanding in their fields and they have the capacity and the trust of those that they 
serve. I am here as a parent and a board member of a hockey board in M inot ,  when there 
is an injury at a sporting event the professional that is there that we rely upon I have the 
expectation that they have the qual ifications to be able to handle the issue. I would not 
question their credentials. I have a reasonable expectation that they should have the 
qual ifications to handle the inju ries. 

Rep. Mooney: Is  a co-sponsor of the b i l l  and testified in  support of S B  2295. Primarily 
because l iving in  a rural  area of North Dakota and gone through the 201 3  session as wel l  
as  the interim session,  we have had a lot of d iscussion about the needs across our state, 
both in regular and behaviora l  and the whole spectrum of our  health care needs across the 
state. After speaking with members of the athletic trainers who were d iscussing this 
proposed b i l l ,  I felt this is one piece that moves forward in  that continuum of care going into 
the 2 1 51 century with our med ical needs across the state. It also speaks to modern ization , 
times change and our  needs change. 

Shane Goettle: Representing the ND Athletic Trainers Association testified in  support of 
SB 2295. (See Testimony #1  & 2) .  

24:40 

Rep. Porter: As we hear a l l  of the d ifferent boards and professions that come through 
here ,  inside of the practice act why is i t  l imited strictly to the orders of a p hysician when a 
fami ly nurse practitioner is running a stand-alone type cl inic that may want to refer to a 
athletic trainer a specific i nju ry a patient had and how does that fit into this when you l imit it 
to physician only? 

Goettle: We had that d iscussion and there were members of other health care 
professionals and said , what about this? We simply said it is not our  fight we are currently 
u nder physicians when it comes to rehabi l itation and that is a larger issue we d id not want 
to take on a compl icate what we are trying to do here today. 

26:25 

Steve Westereng: Director of the Univers ity of ND Division of S ports Medicine: 
testified in  support of SB 2295. (See Testimony #3) . 

29:49 

Rep. Rich Becker: Two things, n umber one is the question of b i l l ing ,  I am u nderstand ing 
that athletic tra iners cou ld not set up a private practice somewhere and b i l l  further 
services? 
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Westereng: Currently we are not asking for that, the codes are a l ready to do that but that 
is not what we are looking for? Basica l ly most of us a re working under  the d i rection of a 
physician right now and we don 't b i l l  for services in  the state of North Dakota. 

Rep. Rich Becker: The other  q uestion is there a l ife expectancy for ath letic tra iners ,  is 
there profession because of the seriousness of inju ries, is the length of the time they are 
able to provide us services less than if they were other health professionals? 

Westereng : Ath letic train ing p rofession is a lot harder than people th ink ,  we are there a 
lot more hours .  As example I have taken care of U N O  footbal l  for the last 1 5  years and I 
don 't a day off from the day they start to the day they a re done. The l ifestyle is something 
to think about and everybody has to make their own choice for that. 

Rep. Rich Becker: I have been approached by a couple of people that say what athletic 
trainers are looking for is an extension to their career path, when  they get to a certain  age 
and abi l ities to keep up with such as age and the abi l ity to keep up to provide the services. 

Westereng : We are talki ng more about a l lowing people who come to see a physician to 
work with an athletic trainer in  that realm. 

Brandy Currie :  Vice-President of the ND Athletic Trainers' Association: testified in 
support of SB 2295. (See Testimony #4) .  

38:30 

Rep. Mooney: How m uch education is requ i red? 

Currie: Athletic tra in ing is a 4 year  bachelor's degree program. There is the cl in ical and 
educational component. Our educationa l  component consists of competencies and there 
are 280 some competencies that must be taught. I n  the cl inical p iece, students from the 
2nd year of the program they are i nvolved in cl in ical in a variety of places such as hospitals 
and d ifferent professionals. So they learn a lot of things outside of the athletic environment. 
I want to point out along with my testimony I submitted testimony from Dr. Jeulson , 
Orthopaedic surgeon at Bone and Joint, Dr. Pen n ,  trai ned in primary sports medicine N ick 
Walker, head girls basketbal l  coach at Legacy H ig h  Schoo l ,  who were u nable to be present 
but are i n  support of SB 2295. 

40:45 

Heather Golly: Associate Professor at Minot State University: testified in support of 
the b i l l .  (See Testimony #5). 

46:29 

Rep. Mooney: We talked about you can't b i l l  and you are not looking for b i l l ing privi leges 
so how do you get paid? 
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Golly: We usual ly contract through Universities or schools in  some state and i n  North 
Dakota most of the athletic trainers are h ired through cl in ics. 

Damian Schl inger: Vice-Chairman of ND Board of Athletic Tra iners :  testified in  
support of the SB 2295.  (See Testimony # 6) .  

50:56 

Rep. Hofstad :  Draw a para llel for me between the education and the scope of practice 
and how that education has evolved over a number of years? 

Schl inger: As when M r. Westereng had pointed out that in itially when any profession is 
started the beginn ings can be humble and there are changes that go a long. They went 
from on an educational basis of requiring now a 4 year degree and they have to pass a 
certification exam as well to demonstrate competency or knowledge of those competencies 
and be able to perform them with patients . I n  accordance with that the goal that we see 
with this b i l l  is to have an act that is timeless. So we don't have to come back here every 
two years. We have something that is matched to the education and as that education 
changes an ind ividua l  become educated on those changes. The board is responsible to 
insure they stay within those bounds.  

52:27 

Steve Churh i l l :  Phys ical Therapist and Athletic Tra iner: testified i n  support of the b i l l .  I 
am in support of this b i l l  because I am a business owner and an ath letic trainer for 23  years 
and physical therapist for 1 8  years. I have worked in col laboration with many other medical 
professionals and treated many patients that weren't athletes, with col laborative effort I felt 
comfortab le in treating that person. I think the language is fai r  and changing it to physical 
activity updates it s ign ificantly. I know athletic trainers have a fair amount of cl in ica l  
experience with treating non-athletes because they come into my faci l ity and work and see 
people there that a re non- athletes . I feel an update is necessary. 

54:34 

Rep. Mooney: I t  is i nteresting you have both the athletic trainer and physical therapist 
qual ifications, some of the emails I have received goes back to the scope of practice. 
G iven your knowledge of both does this actual ly go beyond the scope of practice for 
athletic trainers? 

Churchi l l :  As a practitioner cl in ica l ly it doesn't take long u nti l  you find something in  front 
of you that don't fee l  comfortab le treating as a physical therapist or an athletic trainer. I 
think our code of eth ics governs everything that we do  and makes us feel comfortable in  
treating things that we are skil led and have knowledge of. If we don't we are required by 
that code of ethics to refer on. The code of ethics in  anything medical is first do no harm.  
There is  nothing that concerns me based upon the language in the b i l l  and I understand it 
has been col laborative efforts with other d iscip lines and other health care practitioners. I 
am comfortable and I don't have any concern in  my mind . 
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Rep. Mooney: It has been my experience from some of the games I have attended , it 
seems l ike some of the focus of that work is to treat right there on the spot but then get 
them to the right ind ividua l ,  would that be a correct assessment, it is a facilitation process? 

Church i l l :  It can be. Ath letic trainers are the expert in acute management of the injury. 
Personal example of and athletic trainer. (57:00-57 :37) 

Robyn Gust: An athletic trainer testified in support of the b i l l .  (See Testimony #7) 

1 :04:29 

Rep. Oversen : As I am looking back at the orig inal  language in the Practice Act and what 
we are changing,  there is a lot of conversation about now changing it to u nder the guidance 
of a physician .  P reviously as noted only the rehabi l itation of inj uries was u nder the 
d i rection or order of a physician , are there currently any AT's practicing not under the d i rect 
supervision of a physician and wi l l  this change their practice? 

Gust: Nationwide we can 't without being u nder the supervision of a physician and any 
q uestions about that are answered in the ru les and regs side. 

Rep. Oversen : What other settings might and ath letic trainer be working where they are 
not working with a team? 

G ust: I work for the hospital in  M inot and we have a l l  the schools in  the area and as wel l  
a s  a physician extender. Our  physician Dr. Mattern i s  o n  the rodeo a n d  there are also 
some other areas. I work with the deaf. When defin ing rigorous p hysical activity, I work 
with the US deaf bowl ing team,  they are athletes on that team, are they rea lly athlete's, I 
don't know? They are physical ly active individuals and they are athletes on the team. 

1 :06 :36 

Dr. Dawn Mattern : Doctor at Trin ity Health in  Minot, N D  testified i n  support of SB 2295. 
(See Testimony # 8) .  

1 : 1 1  

Rep. Mooney: I 've heard a lot about guidance, order o r  d i rection ,  can you tel l  u s  between 
those three words, what are the impacts of these words to you in the context of these b il ls? 

Dr. Mattern: Guidiance may mean I am in the office and they are on the footba l l  field ,  I 
may be able to gu ide them from above or the l ittle voice in  their heads that say I think I 
should send this one. Direction  means I am right there on their shoulder and I am tel l ing 
them exactly what to do on the premises and an order is something I put in the computer. 

Rep. Mooney: Each one has very specific meanings? 

Dr. Mattern : Yes,  very specific. 
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Dr. Bill Mann:  Physician from Grand Forks: testified i n  support of 
S B  2295. For the past 30 years I have been involved in  U N O  athletics and the athletic 
train ing program.  I have no qualms of the capabi l ity of the athletic trainers but I do  
u nderstand the things the committee i s  wrestl ing with . We are talking about presentations 
of symptoms and the d iagnosis has not been made yet. I make no d istinction between the 
resident in  train ing and the ath letic train ing student because the thing that concerns people 
is the fund of knowledge rea l ly doesn 't concern me very much. The thi ng that goes through 
my mind is can this you ng person th ink,  reason ,  is th is person rel iable. Personal example 
of athletic tra in ing s ituation and ath letic tra iners. ( 1 : 1 5- 1 : 1 8) .  I support the amendment 
and I am g lad for the attention you have g iven it. I wi l l  be happy to answer any questions 
you may have. 

Chairman Weisz: Any other support of SB 2295? Seeing none. Any opposition to S B  
2295? 

1 : 1 8  

Jack McDonald :  in  behalf of the North Dakota Phys ical Thera py Association and the 
North Dakota Board of Physical Therapy: Testified in opposition of the bill . (See 
Testimony #9) . 

1 :29 

Rep. Mooney: I 'm looking at the proposed settlement language and it looks more 
restrictive than  it was before? 

McDonald:  No ,  I don 't believe so,  basica l ly what our  settlement language was trying to do  
was to reinstate the term "vigorous" in  there .  The key for our  settlement proposal was on  
page 2 l ine 1 0. That is where we i nserted the word "vigorous". 

Rep. Mooney: On page 1 l ine 1 9, I see "on the field of p lay" and on page 1 l ine 23 I see " 
with a written order from a phys ician" .  I n  that context and I i magine an  ath letic tra iner is at 
a game s ituation and there isn't a physician at hand for a written order doesn't that provide 
more restrictions not less restrictions than even before th is b i l l  was i ntroduced? 

McDonald:  The rehabi l itation is a lready requ i red under the law to be with a referral from a 
physician ,  we are just saying it is a written order. 

Rep. Mooney: Isn 't the written order more restrictive? 

McDonald:  I don't believe so. 

Rep. Mooney: On page 3 on bu llet point 2 it  starts out with "An athletic trainer may 
purchase, store , and administer topica l .  . .  " it goes on with a lengthy description , is this 
i ntended to specifica l ly to tel l  ath letic trainers what they may have on hand as far a product 
is concerned or what exactly is that? 
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McDonald :  That is the language that is required by the board of Pharmacy and 
Pharmacists to use some of the products and we have some similar language that is in the 
Physical Therapy act right now and we just think that should be in the act as wel l .  It i s  not 
meant to be any kind of restriction .  

Rep. Kiefert: On page 1 of your  testimony in  paragraph 5 the b i l l  a lso al lows athletic 
trainers to p ractice their expanded services virtual ly free of any supervision from a 
physician . Aren't these people trained to work with a doctor, to seek a reference,  to seek 
treatment, to seek advice and a l l  of a sudden they don't have to do that? 

McDonald :  They are going to do the supervision by  a physician on  some of the 
rehabi l itation products but they don't practice u nder the direct supervision of a physician 
right now. For instance if they are out on the footbal l  field at U of Mary, there is not 
necessarily a physician there, so they are practicing without a physician's supervision . 
What we are maintain ing is that while the train ing is extensive everything that is geared 
toward them including a lot of the clin ical work, is work with teams, with physicians and 
athletic teams. They have to serve a certain amount of time and work with an athletic 
team.  Their emphasis has a lways been on athletic injuries now they are moving into 
treating any i l lnesses. It is a m uch larger and broader field . 

1 :36 

Rep. Vicky Steiner: My son Luke Steiner, DPT Sports Medicine and Outpatient 
Therapy: is a sports physical therapist in Dickinson and he asked me to submit his 
testimony because he is unab le to appear here today, in  opposition to SB 2295. (See 
Testimony #1 0) .  

1 :37: 1 0  

Kevin Axtman :  Bone and Joint physical thera pist: testified i n  opposition of SB 2295. 
(See Testimony #1 1 ) . 

1 :44: 1 5  

Rep. D .  Anderson:  What is the defin ition of i l lness, I think the defin ition in  the b i l l  is  pretty 
broad? 

Axtman : It is b road I don't know where to start to define this, it would just be a very broad 
defin ition . 

Rep. Mooney: I see you are a l icensed physical therapist and an athletic trainer, can you 
tel l  me how long it has been s ince you practiced as an ath letic trainer? 

Axtman: I have been a physical therapist for 33 years and an ath letic trainer for about 1 8  
years . I became a n  ath letic trainer after I was a physical therapist so I am kind of the odd 
one. I wanted to work better with my athletic patients . 

Rep. Mooney: So are you currently practicing as an athletic trainer? 
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Axtman: Out i n  the field , no .  I currently practice in the cl in ic as a physical therapist. 

Rep. Mooney: You mentioned physical therapists l ike athletic trainers h ave had to update 
educational curriculum ,  as these updates took p lace has you r  board regu lations or 
statutory requ irements had to change along with that through your practice? 

Axtman: Yes as we updated our  practice act , I g raduated 33 years ago and physical 
therapy was a bachelor's program and in  the i nterim it went to a master's program and we 
didn't make any changes then ,  but we went up  to a doctorate program and we were able to 
make those changes then .  

Rep. Mooney: So your  board i n  your  profession has  had to go through a progression of 
changes through the years as wel l .  

Axtman: Yes.  

Rep. Oversen :  I f  a referral from a physician required for a PT to treat a patient or  is that 
just typica l ly how it happened? 

Axtman: Typica l ly it is how it happens. Certa in ly insurances l ike B lue Cross B lue Shield 
we can treat without referra l .  Medicare we cannot, they requ i re a written referral .  

Rep. Oversen: I would assume there are times when a patient comes in  and you are not 
comfortable with what you are seeing and they haven 't seen a physician and you wou ld 
then refer them to a physician? 

Axtman: Correct. 

Rep. Oversen: Is there a legitimate concern that an athletic trainer wou ld treat something 
without referring to a physician just as a PT would? 

Axtman : Right, that is the concern with the language, we are basica l ly asking for the 
same things, in a cl in ic we wou ld want a written referra l ,  all my patients are typical ly 
screened by a physician .  Most of this language is compromised language in  regards to this 
is what we have to go through and this is what we would expect you to have to go through .  

Rep. Oversen :  We had a conversation with the support about the d ifference between 
d i rection and gu idance .  What would be you r  defin ition and how that m ight change 
someone's scope of practice? 

Axtman: A lot of it for the athletic trainers you cannot have d i rect supervision ,  especial ly i n  
a field o r  covering special events . H owever what we were looking at we were looking at 
that cl inical and rehab setting , especia l ly out-patient settings. 

Jeanine DeKrey: Vice-President of Physical Therapist Board :  testified in  opposition 
of SB 2295. (See Testimony # 1 2) .  

1 :53 
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Rep. Mooney: I n  your  testimony you reference the U N O  website description of the ath letic 
train ing programming and I rea lized that it is incl uded here i n  you r  packet, is also the 
requirements for Physical and Occupational therapists included as wel l  for what would be 
the program d i rective for those? 

DeKrey: I don't have them but I can certain ly get those to you if you want. 

Axtman : I wou ld  l ike that. 

1 :55 

Mary Dockter: Chair of the University of Mary's Physical Therapy Program: testified 
in  opposition of S B  2295. (See Testimony #1 3).  

2:03:53 

Rep. Mooney: With regards to the education ,  the athletic trainer is a 4 year tra in ing and 
P hysical Therapist is 3 additional years, the 4 orig ina l  years are those all in regards to 
physical therapy or are the genera l  stud ies? 

Dockter: Our students have to come in with an u ndergraduate degree, it can be in 
anyth ing.  The most com mon degrees are exercise, science or ath letic train ing . 

Rep. Mooney: While athletic trainers are d i rectly tied to clin ics and doctors, they can't 
operate without d i rect supervision from a doctor that physical therapists do not have that 
same requ i rement u n less they want to reimbursed . 

Dockter: Correct, we have had ful l  d i rect access s ince 1 989 or so in the state of North 
Dakota. 

Rep. Mooney: When you asked for that was that fai rly controversial? 

Dockter: In a l l  50 states it has been, we have been at fortyish for a whi le and now the 
last few states have matriculated through that, but where we have been restricted is the 
reimbursement. We just got BCBS within  the last few years. I n  Medicare that comes up 
every year for d i rect access and it is denied . 

2:06:25 

Missy Taylor: U of Mary's Physical Therapy faculty member: testified in opposition to 
the b i l l .  (See Testimony # 1 4) .  

2 : 1 1 

Rep. Mooney: After you com pleted your education for ath letic train ing d id you serve as 
an  ath letic trainer? 

M issy Taylor: Yes.  
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Rep. Mooney: S o  you found after you r  tra ining you d idn 't feel qua l ified for referrals and 
that type of thing to the actual physician or p lace that wou ld be more appropriate? 

Taylor: I felt qual ified on the field of p lay with athletes, I felt qual ified with that with my 
education from the U niversity of Mary. I recognized the patients I wanted to help I couldn't 
with the education I had and I wanted to continue with my d octorate in  physical therapy 
because of that. 

Rep. Oversen: With the story you shared with us and I am real ly trying to u nderstand the 
concern behind this. I n  the s ituation where we are going to find an athletic trainer u nder the 
d i rection of a physician working with a cl inic, working with a team,  in you r  experience how 
do you th ink a person like your mother wou ld present to an athletic tra iner, or what other 
situations do you see where someone with such complex cond itions wou ld have been 
presenting to an  athletic tra iner? I can imagine someone with so many d ifferent conditions 
wou ldn't even consider going to an athletic trainer knowing that is beyond their scope? 

Taylor: My concern is the vague word i ng ,  where we are taking out "sport" , "ath letes" ,  
"athletic" and it  says "physical activity" . That seems rea l ly broad to me. So my mom, at 
her YMCA exercise class that s he goes to every day, what if she inju red her knee. There 
is a lot of puzzle p ieces to her. You are rig ht there are ath letic trainers i n  U nivers ities, 
col leges and schools but then it cou ld a lso be an ath letic tra iner in the cl in ic and I th ink this 
is opening that up to that. 

Rep. Oversen : Is it you r  concern if there is an ath letic tra iner working in the cl in ic that 
their wou ldn't be the necessary oversight of the physician who would see that or who would 
catch that, or  the athletic tra iner, obviously wou ld see the medical record of that patient, 
would say there is too many things at p lay here I can't take this one on .  

Taylor: I would hope that wou ld happen ,  it i s  the "what if' and  I th ink that i s  what we are 
deal ing with today. I n  an ideal s ituation they would recognize that it is outside the scope of 
practice for the athletic trainer where I th ink  this act is broadening that scope of practice for 
them. 

2 : 15  

Carol Olson : North Dakota Occupational Thera py Association:  testified in  oppos ition 
of SB 2295. (See Testimony #1 5) .  

Rep. Mooney: Could you repeat the last part. 

Carol Olson : There are the amendments proposed by the athletic tra iners to add in the b i l l  
that they cou ld provide services i n  accordance with the ind ividual 's education. We do 
agree that this should be taken out of there. That was part of the language that we agreed 
on and what they were supposed to be putting forward . 

Rep. Mooney: I am trying to u nderstand ,  why would we want that language out of the bi l l? 
Wouldn't we want them to be providing services i n  accordance with their  education? 



House Human Services Committee 
SB229 5 
March 25, 201 5 
Page 11 

Olson : That rea l ly opens it up to, so this year what is in  their education and these are the 
standards they need to meet and 5 years down the road they might change those 
standards and they might be total ly d ifferent and say yes ,  we can treat strokes ,  we can 
treat a l l  these d ifferent neuro-rehab type of conditions.  We don't think that is what is in the 
scope of a 4 year degree. 

Rep. Kiefert: If someone got h it i n  the head with a golf bal l  p laying golf they can treat 
them but if a kid waiting for a school bus got h it in the head by a hai l  stone, what is the 
protocol? They can't help or what happens? 

Olson : That is one of the th ings with the language that is negotiated . I think personal ly 
and with the N D  Ath letic Association ,  those kinds of things, that immediate treatment and 
care of an inju ry I th ink  is very appropriate and then to refer on to the people that they 
should .  If  this chi ld got h it with a hai l  stone and they have a traumatic head injury, I am 
sorry the Ath letic Trainer needs to get that person to the hospita l .  I n it ial ly doing the first aid 
of that is very appropriate. 

Written testimony from North Dakota resident who were unable to attend the hearing. 
(See Attachment # 1 6  & 1 7) .  

Chairman Weisz: Any other further testimony? Seeing none. Closed the hearing on SB 
2295. 
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Explanation or reason for introduction of 

Minutes: Attachment #1 

Chairman Weisz cal led the meeting to order on HB 2295. 

Rep. Porter: The proposed amendments (See Attachment #1 ) . 

Rep.  Porter: We heard from the physical and occupational therapists in  opposition or 
neutral to the ath letic trainers .  I went to Mr. Geto and went through the areas of concern 
and told them to work it out. The proposed amendments dated April 6 are what correlate 
back to the Christmas tree b i l l  and the first amendment removes that broad language that 
says, "in accordance with the ind ividual 's education" .  Physical therapists were concerned 
with that if they start teaching brain surgery during their  normal course of ed ucation that 
might mean they would start doing brain surgery. They came back and narrowed the 
scope. I wi l l  say the ath letic trainers bent over backwards to accommodate the objections 
of the other two groups and they should be applauded for their  efforts in updating their 
practices act and taking the consternation off the table. For the intern , on page 1 l ine 24 
we should add a comma after the word "under" and fl ip flop "verbal and stand ing so we 
don't end up with the possibi l ity of the word "understanding" On page 2 ,  l ine 4 ,  the same 
th ing .  (He went through the rest of the amendment .)  I move the amendment. 

Rep.  Fehr: Second . 

Rep.  Muscha:  On l ine 4 ,  that looks l ike a period after "activity" and that shouldn't be there. 

Rep. Porter: That should be a comma. 

Rep.  Rich Becker: Is  th is b i l l  being watered down? 

Rep. Porter: Yes.  Both sides knew they needed to do some work. The presented their 
first pitch to us and what came out of it works for everybody. I n  the end they both got a bi l l  
they can be unhappy about. 
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VOICE VOTE: MOTION CARRIED 

Rep. Porter: I move a Do Pass as Amended on SB 2295. 

Rep. Fehr: Second . 

ROLL CALL VOTE: 1 2  y 0 n 1 absent 

B i l l  Carrier: Rep.  Fehr 



15.0488.04001 
Title.05000 

Adopted by the Human Services Committee 

April 6, 2015 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO ENGROSSED SENATE BILL NO. 2295 

Page 1, line 9, remove "services in accordance with the" 

Page 1, line 10, remove "individual's education" 

Page 1, line 24, after "activity" insert". under verbal. standing, or written orders, and in clinical 
settings written orders are required" 

Page 2, line 4, after "activity" insert ", under verbal, standing. or written orders. and in clinical 
settings written orders are required" 

Page 2, line 10, after "means" insert "any moderate or vigorous" 

Page 2, line 11, replace". including" with "during" 

Page 2, line 12, after the second underscored comma insert "performance arts. stretching," 

Page 2, line 12, remove "or" 

Page 2, line 12, after "fitness" insert", or other settings set forth in subsection 5 of section 
43-39-10" 

Page 3, line 3, replace "direction" with "guidance or rehabilitation order" 

Page 3, after line 5, insert: 

"SECTION 4. Subsection 5 to section 43-39-10 of the North Dakota Century 
Code is created and enacted as follows: 

5. Nothing in this chapter may be construed to prevent athletic trainers from 
providing: athletic training in hospital or clinical settings; injury screens; 
physician extender services: employee injury prevention. education or 
advice; or services to address injuries or illnesses. comparable to athletic 
injuries or illnesses. in military, industrial. or public safety settings." 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 15.0488.04001 
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Com Standing Committee Report 
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Module ID: h_stcomrep_62_001 
Carrier: Fehr 

Insert LC: 15.0488.04001 Title: 05000 

REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE 
SB 2295, as engrossed: Human Services Committee (Rep. Weisz, Chairman) 

recommends AMENDMENTS AS FOLLOWS and when so amended, recommends 
DO PASS (12 YEAS, 0 NAYS, 1 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). Engrossed SB 2295 
was placed on the Sixth order on the calendar. 

Page 1, line 9, remove "services in accordance with the" 

Page 1, line 10, remove "individual's education" 

Page 1, line 24, after "activity" insert", under verbal, standing, or written orders, and in 
clinical settings written orders are required" 

Page 2, line 4, after "activity" insert", under verbal, standing , or written orders, and in cl inical 
settings written orders are required" 

Page 2, line 10, after "means" insert "any moderate or vigorous" 

Page 2, line 11 , replace ", including" with "during" 

Page 2, line 12, after the second underscored comma insert "performance arts, stretching ," 

Page 2, line 12, remove "or'' 

Page 2, line 12, after "fitness" insert", or other settings set forth in subsection 5 of section 
43-39-10" 

Page 3, line 3, replace "direction" with "guidance or rehabilitation order" 

Page 3, after line 5, insert: 

"SECTION 4. Subsection 5 to section 43-39-10 of the North Dakota Century 
Code is created and enacted as follows: 

~ Nothing in this chapter may be construed to prevent athletic trainers from 
providing: athletic training in hospital or clinical settings: injury screens: 
physician extender services: employee injury prevention, education or 
advice: or services to address injuries or illnesses, comparable to athletic 
in juries or illnesses, in military, industrial, or public safety settings." 

Renumber accordingly 
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IZI Conference Committee 

Committee Clerk Signature � 
Explanation or reason for introduction of bi l l/resolution: 

A bi l l  relating to the regu lation of ath letic trainers ,  and to provide a penalty. 

Min utes : #1: Proposed amendment 

The fol lowing conference committee members were present for SB 2295 on April 9 ,  20 1 5 , 
3 :30 a .m .  
Senator Larsen ,  Senator Anderson,  Senator Axness 
Representative Porter, Representative Seibel ,  Representative Muscha 

Senator Larsen stated there were some amendments that were d istributed earlier. 

Representative Porter asked if there were any questions by the Senate conferees on the 
amendments made by the House, agreements by all of the other occupations. If not, he 
will walk into the next component. There were no questions. 

Representative Porter passed out proposed amendment (attach #1 ) .  I n  the House 
version , there is both an amendment and draft b i l l .  I n  the d iscussion that have ensued after 
the fact, the occupations got together and there was concern that was brought forth from 
the occupational therapists. All three groups, the physical therapists, ath letic trainers, and 
the occupational therapists , further refined the bi l l .  On page 2, under sub (f) of the draft b i l l  
markup, the new green language would be added . Then on page 3 ,  they added inside of 
their scope to remove section 5 language on the next page. They just needed to add the 
smal l  p iece i nside of their  scope language to further define that they can in fact take care of 
someone who is injured to need athletic trainer ski l ls where they may have hurt themselves 
wh i le participating in a mi l itary type activity, industrial activity for repetitive motion kind of 
th ing,  or public safety activities. All of the groups have contacted us and approve of the 
amendments. 

V. Chairman Oley Larsen commented when we talk about the industrial part, what comes 
to mind is the tra in ing and the involvement that they have with these compan ies, such as 
RDO. They are doing tra in ing that wil l  lower workplace injuries. Is that what that is for? 
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Representative Porter answered some of that. For his business, they do our pre
employment screen ings to make sure a person can do a dead-l ift on the end of a stretcher 
of at least 1 50 pounds. They do that kind of stuff for us.  So it is a combination of th ings 
that they do for the industria l  or commercia l  work type setting . 

The committee next d iscussed the proper motion .  

Representative Porter moved the House recede from House amendments for SB 2295 
and further amends, as per proposed amendment (referring to attachment #1 ) .  The motion 
was seconded by Senator Howard Anderson, Jr. No d iscussion .  

Roll Cal l  Vote 
Senate: � Yes, Q No, Q Absent 
Representatives: � Yes, Q No, Q Absent. 
Motion carries 6-0-0 . 

Senator Larsen wil l  carry SB 2295 to the Senate floor. 
Representative Porter will carry SB 2295 to the House floor. 
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO ENGROSSED SENATE BILL NO. 2295 

That the House recede from its amendments as printed on pages 1175 and 1176 of the Senate 
Journal and pages 1408 and 1409 of the House Journal and that Engrossed Senate Bill No. 
2295 be amended as follows: 

Page 1, line 9, remove "services in accordance with the" 

Page 1, line 10, remove "individual's education" 

Page 1, line 23, replace "Rehabilitating" with "Under verbal. standing. or written orders. except 
in the case of providing services in a clinical setting which requires written orders. 
rehabilitating" 

Page 2, line 1, replace "Rehabilitating" with "Under verbal. standing. or written orders. except in 
the case of providing services in a clinical setting which requires written orders, 
rehabilitating" 

Page 2, line 6, remove "or" 

Page 2, line 7, after "9..:." insert "Providing injury screening or physician extender services: or 

h." 

Page 2, line 10, after "means" insert "any moderate or vigorous" 

Page 2, line 11 , replace", including" with "during" 

Page 2, line 12, after the second underscored comma insert "performance arts. stretching," 

Page 2, line 12, remove "or" 

Page 2, line 12, after "fitness" insert". military, industrial. or public safety activities" 

Page 3, line 3, replace "direction" with "guidance or rehabilitation order" 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 15.0488.04003 



2015 SENATE CONFERENCE COMMITTEE 
ROLL CALL VOTES 

BILL/RESOLUTION NO. SB 2295 as engrossed 

Senate "Enter committee name" Committee 
Action Taken D SENATE accede to House Amendments 

Date: 4/9/2015 
Roll Call Vote #: 1 

D SENATE accede to House Amendments and further amend 
D HOUSE recede from House amendments 
IZI HOUSE recede from House amendments and amend as follows 

D Unable to agree, recommends that the committee be discharged and a new 
committee be appointed 

Motion Made by: _R_e_.p_._P_o_rt_e_r ______ Seconded by: Sen. Anderson 

Senators 09 Yes No Representatives 09 Yes No 

Sen. Larsen x x Rep. Porter x x 
Sen. Anderson x x Rep. Seibel x x 
Sen . Axness x x Rep. Muscha x x 

Total Senate Vote 3 0 Total Rep. Vote 3 0 

Vote Count Yes: 6 No: 0 Absent: 0 ----- -----

Senate Carrier _S_e_n_._L_a_rs_e_n ______ House Carrier _R_e_.p_._P_o_rt_e_r _____ _ 

LC Number 15.0488.04003 . Title .06000 of amendment 

LC Number of engrossment 
----------

Emergency clause added or deleted 

Statement of purpose of amendment 



Com Conference Committee Report 
April 13, 2015 7:44am 

Module ID: s_cfcomrep_66_001 

Insert LC: 15.0488.04003 

REPORT OF CONFERENCE COMMITTEE 
SB 2295, as engrossed: Your conference committee (Sens. Larsen, Anderson, Axness and 

Reps. Porter, Seibel, Muscha) recommends that the HOUSE RECEDE from the 
House amendments as printed on SJ pages 1175-1176, adopt amendments as 
follows, and place SB 2295 on the Seventh order: 

That the House recede from its amendments as printed on pages 1175 and 1176 of the 
Senate Journal and pages 1408 and 1409 of the House Journal and that Engrossed Senate 
Bill No. 2295 be amended as follows: 

Page 1, line 9, remove "services in accordance with the" 

Page 1, line 10, remove "individual's education" 

Page 1, line 23, replace "Rehabilitating" with "Under verbal, standing, or written orders, 
except in the case of providing services in a clinical setting which requires written 
orders, rehabilitating" 

Page 2, line 1, replace "Rehabilitating" with "Under verbal, standing, or written orders, except 
in the case of providing services in a clinical setting which requires written orders. 
rehabilitating" 

Page 2, line 6, remove "or" 

Page 2, line 7, after "g_,_" insert "Providing injury screening or physician extender services: or 

Page 2, line 10, after "means" insert "any moderate or vigorous" 

Page 2, line 11 , replace", including" with "during" 

Page 2, line 12, after the second underscored comma insert "performance arts, stretching," 

Page 2, line 12, remove "or" 

Page 2, line 12, after "fitness" insert", military, industrial, or public safety activities" 

Page 3, line 3, replace "direction" with "guidance or rehabilitation order" 

Renumber accordingly 

Engrossed SB 2295 was placed on the Seventh order of business on the calendar. 

(1) DESK (2) COMMITTEE Page 1 s_cfcomrep_66_001 
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Madam Chairwoman and members of the Senate Human Services Committee, 

Mach # ( 
u 13 2rzc;-5 !)Z/CJc( /;c;;' 

J:Ji 23VL/ 

My name is Steven Westereng and I am the Director for the University of North Dakota, Division of Sports 
Medicine. Today, I am speaking with you on behalf of the North Dakota Athletic Trainers Association as their 
President. 

The members of the NDATA support the changes that are being proposed to the North Dakota law regulating 
athletic trainers in SB 229 5.  

Athletic trainers are health care professionals who are licensed by the State of North Dakota. By definition, 
Athletic Trainers (ATs) are healthcare professionals who collaborate with physicians. The services provided by 
ATs comprise prevention, emergency care, clinical diagnosis, therapeutic intervention and rehabilitation of 
injuries and medical conditions. (National Athletic Trainers Association) 

North Dakota law regulating athletic trainers was first adopted in1983. In the last 32 years, the education and 
training for the profession has changed dramatically. Previously, a prospective candidate did not have to go 
through an accredited curriculum at a college or university to sit for the national board exam as one does now. 
Competencies are educational areas students are required to be taught by faculty of these curriculums. The 
number of competencies has gone up by 60% (1 75 to 290) . These include areas in evidence based medicine, 
mental health, biostatistics, epidemiological data and others. In addition to education prior to becoming 
certified and licensed, an athletic trainer is required to have 50 continuing education units over a 2 year period ajncluding 1 0  hours in evidence based medicine by the Board of Certification, Inc. (BOC). The BOC also has a WStandard of Professional Practice which must be upheld by the athletic trainer to continue to work in the 
profession. 

Athletic Trainers are now more integrated into every major medical institution in this state. The public is now 
more familiar and confident with the services performed by athletic trainers. This fam iliarity has also increased 
demand for individual services, even from non-athletes who are, nevertheless, seeking services to restore and 
achieve physical activity goals after an injury. Because of the knowledge of athletic trainers, health care 
facilities in the state have employed us to work along with physicians in their daily practice. 

The purpose of the Practice Act amendment is to ensure Athletic Trainers are properly educated and trained to 
deal with injuries and medical issues they encounter. It protects the integrity of the license to practice. This sets 
a standard and protects the public, who, when seeking services, has a right to a competent and professional 
standard of care. The Practice Act should not be used to constrain or l imit the profession to boundaries that 
are tighter than warranted by education and training-rather, it should reflect current education and training. 
The Practice Act should not be used to constrain patient choice or to limit healthy competition within the field of 
health care services. The Practice Act should not be used to constrain where Athletic Trainers work. The 
Practice Act should not be something that needs to be "worked around" (i.e. practicing under other titles such 
as "ergonomic specialist" or "physician extenders", which require no additional education or training). Yet, this 
is the current state of affairs with regard to the present Practice Act. 

We believe SB 229 5 is a good bill and the North Dakota Athletic Trainers Association asks this committee for a 
"do pass" recommendation. 

� closing, I would like to say thank you to Madame Chairwomen and all the members of the Senate Human 
�ervices Committee for your time and consideration. Now, I would be happy to address any questions at this. 



Ath letic Trainers (ATs) are highly qual ified , multi-skilled health care 

professionals. ATs are under the allied health professions category as 

defined by Health Resources Services Administration (HRSA) and 

Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) . The services 

provided by ATs are comprised of prevention, emergency care, clin ical 

diagnosis, therapeutic intervention, and rehabil itation of injuries and 

medical conditions. Athletic Trainers are an essential part of a health 

care team . 

• Evtdance-baeed pracb aid haallh promotion 

• Pr8Y8f1llon 1118MU188 1D ensure hlgtat quallly of care 

• Clinical examination and dlagnoele 

• lmmedlalle and acute care of Injury and illneaa, eapedally In emergancles 

• Treatment, rehabllitatton and reconditioning 

• Therapeutic lntavantion 

• Paychoaoclal atratagiea and referral 
• Health care admlnlabllllon 

• Ethical and legal practice, cultural competence 

• Professionalism and patient-centered approach 

There are 1 77 Athletic Trainers working in  a variety 
of settings in  North Dakota including secondary schools, 

col lege/universities, and professional sports; occupa
tional health departments; c l inics with specialties in 

sports medicine, medical fitness and wel lness; and 

physician offices working as physican extenders. 

J . �  
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G 01- l To accuratelv reflect who we are 
· : and what we do as a profession 

2009 Joint Statement on Cooperation: 
National Athletic Trainers' Association and the 

American Phvsical Therapv Association 
• Ag ree that legal scope of practice is determined by 

legis latu re and reg ulatory bod ies 

• Neither organ ization wi l l  make false or  mis leading 

statements referri ng to the other as "not q ual ified " 

• Mem bers of both organ izations should respect the r ig hts , 

knowledge and ski l ls of the other profession and compete 

honestly and eth ical ly i n  the health care marketplace 

ATHLETIC 
TllllllG 

There is overlap in the services 

provided by 3 d ifferent professions. 

We bel ieve this overlap serves the publ ic ,  

i n  a good way, by g iv ing patients health care 

options and em powering patient choice. 
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Madam Chair  and members of  the Senate Human Services Committee, my name is Brandy Currie . 

am Vice President of the North Dakota Athletic Trainers' Association as wel l  the Curricu lum 

Coordinator and Instructor at  the University of  Mary in Bismarck North Dakota. Additional ly, I am 

employed by Sanford Health in Bismarck as an ath letic trainer working in a local h igh school.  I am 

here today on behalf of  the North Dakota Athletic Trainers' Association and as an ath letic tra in ing 

educator within the state. 

We support the changes that are being proposed to the Centu ry Code regulating ath letic trainers in 

S B2295. 

The code provisions regulating ath letic trainers was f irst adopted in 1 983. At that t ime, ath letic trainers 

were mostly thought of as professionals who attended the sidel ines of athletic events. But our 

profession, a long with our education and tra in ing,  has changed d ramatical ly i n  the past 32 years, as 

• has our role in del ivering qual ity health care. 

• 

Athletic trainers are educated and trained i n  injury and i l lness prevention strategies that focus on 

opt imizing health to improve an individual's qual ity of l ife. Athletic trainers are the only health care 

professionals whose expertise in prevention ranges from minor sprains to catastrophic head i njuries, 

and from m inor i l lnesses to exertional heat syndrome.  N utrition and wel lness also play an integral role 

i n  ath letic tra iners' work in preventing injury and i l lness. Athletic trainers recognize when consultation 

with other health care providers is necessary and refer according ly. 

An accredited curricu l u m ,  establ ished by the Commission on Accreditation of Athletic Train ing 

Education or  CAATE, has since been adopted and educational competencies are used to gu ide 

teaching practices and student learn ing.  These competencies are used as a standard measure of 

what students m ust be educated in upon completion of an entry-level Ath letic Train ing education 

program . Knowledge, understanding and proficiency of the content of these competencies are 

essential  for successful completion of our national board exam.  

Professional ,  or  entry-level Ath letic Train ing educatio n ,  uses a competency-based approach in both 

classroom and cl in ical settings. Using a medical-based education model,  Athletic Train ing students 

are educated to provide comprehensive cl ient/patient care in five domains of cl in ical practice: 

1 .  prevention;  



2. cl in ical evaluation and diagnosis; 

�- i mmediate and emergency care: 

4. treatment and rehabil itation;  and 

5. organization and professional health and wel l-being.  

The educational requirements for  CAATE-accredited Athletic Training education programs include 

acquisition of knowledge, ski l ls ,  and cl in ical abil ities along with a broad scope of foundational 

behaviors of professional practice. Students complete an extensive cl in ical learning req uirement that 

is embodied in the cl in ical integration proficiencies (professional ,  practice-oriented outcomes) as 

identif ied in the Athletic Training Education Competencies put forth by CAATE. 

Students are required to participate in a min imum of two years of  academic cl in ical education. 

Throughout these experiences, students must gain cl inical experiences with a variety of patient 

populations who vary by age and types of activities, and who are at risk for both m usculoskeletal and 

general medical conditions. This cl in ical experience prepares future athletic trainers to provide care to 

a d iverse population of patients who sustain injuries i n  a number of ways outside the traditional 

"athletic" realm .  

This formal education al lows athletic trainers to work i n  a variety of patient settings such as col leges 

and U niversities, hospital and cl in ical , occupational health , mi l itary, perform ing arts, physician 

extender, professional sports, publ ic safety and secondary schools . The roles of the athletic trainers in 

these settings vary sl ightly, but general ly include: prevention ;  early recognition of i njuries; triage; 

immediate care of i njuries , proper referral as needed; and general patient education .  

Whi le these roles are dictated by the educational standards presented, many of  them are not avai lable 

to professionals i n  the state of North Dakota. I n  short, what my students are learn ing i n  the classroom 

cannot legally be translated into professional services in this state. The language of our current 

p ractice act creates confusion as to how athletic trainers can f i l l  these roles in our state and has 

therefore l imited the use of athletic trainers in these environments. This is obviously frustrating to 

future professionals as well as current professionals in our state. Some states have already amended 

thei r practice acts and numerous others are currently reviewing their  practice acts to address this 

confusion and al low athletic trainers to work i n  the ways outlined by their education .  In l ight of that, 

many students are actively pursuing work in other states besides North Dakota. We are forcing our 

h ighly q ual ified al l ied healthcare professionals to leave our state i n  order to work i n  thei r area of 

i nterest. 

We bel ieve this b i l l  is a good bi l l  and the North Dakota Ath letic Trainers' Association asks this 

comm ittee for a "do pass" recommendation. 

• 

• 

• 



Thank you for your time and consideration. I would be happy to address any questions . 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 
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Madam Chairwoman and members of the Senate Human Services Committee, 

As the Administrative Director of Orthopedics and Sports Medicine at Altru Health System, we 
employ many Certified Athletic Trainers. These licensed individuals are the front l ine of our 
support to young high school and collegiate athletes. They are the point of first contact for a 
spectrum of problems that may range from overuse and training injuries to concussion. Beyond 
that, they are a vital component in ensuring supervision and compliance with the advice given 
by other health care providers. 
The scope of practice of these important individuals was outlined in the Century Code of North 
Dakota in 1 983. Since then, important, progressive, changes have occurred in their education 
and training. 
Consequently, we support the changes that are being proposed to the Century Code, Bill 2295, 
which we regard as neither rad ical nor over-reaching but simply recognizing the capabilit ies 
gained fn the current education and training .. We support the proposed changes so that we may 
use these Individuals to bring the highest level of care to this young population, comfortable that 
we are doing so under the meaning and intent of the Century Code of North Dakota. 

Respectfully submitted, 

gu::i� 
Jill Wilson, OTR/L, CL T 
Administrative Director of Orthopedics and Sports Medicine 
Altru Health System 
jawilson@altru.org 
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Madame Cha i rwomen and  members of the Senate Human Services Committee, my name is Sara Bjerke and I 

a m  Executive Director of the North Dakota Ath letic Tra iners' Assocation . S ince becoming an ath letic tra iner  20 

years ago, I have been privi leged to work in a variety of settings inc lud ing youth, midd le  school, h igh school ;  

Divis ion I I  and Divis ion I ;  amateur and semi-professional ;  and medical  fitness. 

I am here as an executive board member of the N DATA and as an ath letic tra i ner in the state of North Dakota, 

to support the changes that a re being proposed to North Dakota law regu lating ath letic tra iners in SB2295. 

I wou ld  l ike to start off by provid ing the committee with more i nformation regard ing Ath letic Tra iners (ATs) .  

We are hea lth care professiona ls  who col laborate with physicians .  Ath letic tra in ing is recognized by the 

American M edica l  Association (AMA) as a health care profession .  ATs a re under the a l l ied health p rofessions 

category as defi ned by Heath Resou rces Services Admin istration (H RSA) and Department of Hea lth and Human  

Services (H HS) .  We a lso have NP I  (Nat ional  Provider Identifier) numbers. 

The statutory t it le of "ath letic tra iner" i s  a misnomer. Ath letic tra iners p rovide medical  services to al l  types of 

people - not just ath letes participating in sports - and do not train people as persona l  or fitness tra iners do.  

However, the profession continues to embrace its proud cu ltu re and h istory by reta in ing the tit le. I n  other .ountries, ath letic therapist and physiotherapist are s imi lar  titles. The AT profession was founded on provid ing 

medica l  services to ath letes. The National  Ath letic Tra iners' Assocation, the parent organization to the N DATA, 

represents more than 35,000 mem bers in the U.S .  and i nternationa l ly. There a re approximately 42,000 ATs 

practic ing i n  the U .S .  There a re students in 325 accred ited col legiate academic programs.  

There a re four  accred ited col legiate academic programs i n  North Dakota that students can enro l l  in  to become 

an  Ath letic Tra iner :  M inot State, North Dakota State; Un iversity of Mary, and University of North Dakota. 

Va l l ey City State is a lso in the process of becoming an accredited ath letic tra in ing educationa l  program .  

Students i n  these programs engage i n  rigorous classroom study and c l in ical education i n  a variety o f  practice 

setti ngs such as h igh schools, co l leges/universities, hospita ls, physic ian offices and healthcare c l in ics over the 

course of the degree program .  

There a re 177 l icensed Ath letic Tra iners i n  the state of North Dakota working i n  a variety of sett ings. A l l  

col leges/un iversities i n  the state have ath letic trainers provid ing health care to students/ath letes. Some ATs 

a re employed by hea lth systems/hospitals and provide medical coverage of events at secondary schools .  

Altru, Sanford and Tri n ity Hea lth Systems have ath letic tra iners working i n  their  orthopedic/sports medic ine 

c l in ics as  physican extenders .  There a re a few working i n  industrial settings provid ing prevention and wel lness 

care for workers.  Those a re just a few exam ples of where Ath letic Tra iners are working across the state. 

Thank  you for you r  t ime and  consideration . We bel ieve SB 2295 is a good b i l l  and ask th is  committee for a "do .ass" recommendation. Now I would be happy to address any questions at this t ime.  
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Members of the Senate Human Services Committee: 

Senator Judy Lee, Chairwoman 

Senator Oley Larson, Vice Chairman 

Senator Howard C Anderson, Jr 

Senator Tyler Axness 

Senator Dick Dever 

Senator John M. Warner 

Dear Members of the Senate Human Services Committee: 

My name is Robyn Gust a nd I am a certified athletic trainer currently working in Minot, North Dakota. Due to 

being unable to attend today's session, I have written this letter in regard to supporting SB 2295. 

I have been a certified athletic tra iner since 1994 and have worked in the state of North Dakota for the past 

fifteen years. In the 20 years of practicing my profession, I have witnessed many changes in the way we have 

treated patients and the way athletic trainers have been educated. Some changes have been very subtle, some 

very drastic. A prime example would be the major difference in how we treat a concussion now com pared to 

even six years ago. Now, we a re better educated on the cause, the recognition and how a concussion should be 

managed. Changes in  the medical field are constant and necessary to ensure that those providing care a re most 

up to date for the best outcomes of the patient. 

One thing that has not changed in my entire career as an athletic trainer is the language in the practice act of 

this state. It does not use the current terminology that is utilized on the national level of the Board of 

Certification for athletic trainers or the National Athletic Trainers Association; and a lso does not reflect the 

education of athletic trainers. The language change recommendations for SB 2295 a re vital to p rotect the public 

of North Dakota, ensuring those using the title of "Athletic Trainer" have the a ppropriate education, licensure 

and that an ath letic trainer practices under the direction of a licensed physician.  The language a lso speaks 

directly to the education of an athletic trainer, reflecting on curriculum content that athletic trainers must 

com plete. 

Two sessions ago, athletic trainers were in this same spot, at the state capital, lobbying for a concussion bi l l  to 

protect the youth of the state. Shortly after, we were back again to support changes to make the bill better. At 

that time, I believe more people became aware of the scope of an athletic trainer and a lso the importance of the 

role an athletic trainer plays in the healthcare of our rural based state. We have returned to the capitol to urge 

the recommended changes that better state what an athletic trainer does in the most current language in 

SB2295.  

I n  closing, I would l ike to say that I am very passionate about my profession. I am working in an  ever changing 

field of the medical world and I make it a priority to have the most up to date information avai lable to provide 

the best care. I am a lso just as passionate a bout protecting the patients that we care for as well as  the athletic 

tra iners of this state. That is why I support SB 2295, so that the practice act for the athletic trainers of North 

Dakota may a lso reflect the advancements and changes of the profession of athletic training. Thank you . 

Robyn G ust, MS/ATC 

Tri nity Health Sports Medicine Manager 
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Minot State 
U N IVE RS ITY 
Department of Teacher Education 
and Human Performance 

February 3, 2015 

Dear Senator, 

Please support SB 2 295. The ihtent of the bill i s  to provide clarity regarding 
the education of athletic trainers, to ptotect the citizens of North Dakota, and to 
protect the Athletic Trainers. 

I worked for twelve years as a director of a hospital-based wellness center 
and I am currently a Professor at Minot State University. I teach exercise physiology 
to our athletic training students. In my experience in working with those students 
and the athletic training faculty I have been impressed with the depth of the athletic 
training curriculum and the knowledge, skill and ability.of the faculty delivering it. 
The athletic training students are well prepared to provide services that keep 
athletes/patients safe . 

I believe it is essential that we allow athletic trainers to o{fer services within 
their scope of practice. In order for health care reform to be affordable we have to 
avoid "territorial boundaries" and allow professionals to provide the services they 
are trained and qualified to perform. 

Thank you for your time and your support of SB 2295. I believe this bill is a 
responsible way to provide athletes and wtients with services they need without 
unnecessary referrals. 

Sincerely, 

�an� 
Professor 
Minot State University 

500 University Ave W, M inot, ND 58707 701-858-3028 1·800-777-0750 FAX701 -858�3591 
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Febru a ry 3, 2015 

H u ma n  Services Comm ittee :  

My name is Cassandra Heald a n d  I am cu rrently a l icensed certified athletic tra i n e r  in  the 

state of North Da kota . I graduated from the Un iversity of North Da kota in 201 1 with my 

Bache lors degree i n  Athletic Tra ining. I then went to M inot State U nivers ity to work as a 

graduate assista nt w hile working on my Masters degree in M a n agement.  C u rrently I a m  

working in the athletic tra in ing room at  M inot State Un iversity a nd cover B ishop Ryan 

Catho l ic School a nd Gle n b u rn covering a l l  home events for both schools a nd p rovid ing 

regular  schoo l checks.  I h ave been practici ng in North Dakota s ince 2011 .  

I am contacting you i n  regards to  SB2295. Th is  b i l l  i s  the practice act for the athletic tra iners 

of N orth Dakota. This b i l l  was initia l ly d rafted over 30 years ago, meaning the wording on 

th is  b i l l  is o lder t h a n  I am.  In  the  last 30 years the p rofession of athletic train ing has  

changed a n d  grown sign ifica ntly. Even since I became certified in 2011, the  profession has  

changed . 

An ath letic tra iner  a cts a s  a first respo nder i n  many situations. Typica l ly we a re t h e  first 

medical  professiona ls  to see an inj u ry. We are trained to eva l uate, a ssess, and prevent 

i nj u ries, we are trained to provide immediate ca re to inju ries, we a re trained to treat  and 
rehabi l itate i nj u ries.  

Al l  certified ath letic tra i n e rs have passed a national  exam ination test (Boa rd of Certification 

Exam} and most states req u ire registration or  l icensure i n  within the state to p ra ctice . In  

N orth Da kota, we a re l icensed and are required to renew our l icense on a n  a n n u a l  basis .  In  

o rder to p ractice, a l l  ath letic trainers m ust work under the d i rection of a p hysicia n .  

T h e  m a i n  focus w e  a r e  trying t o  u pdate i s  t h e  defin ition o f  a n  ath letic trainer. We a re 

looking to include the wording "services in accorda nce with the ind ividu a l 's ed ucation" into 

l ines 9 and 10. This wi l l  ensure that ind ividua ls who a re not tra i ned can not a ct a s  an ath letic 

trainer and that  ath letic t ra iners a re working with i n  their educational knowledge. 

I am a sking you r  s u p po rt of the North Dakota Scope of Practice Act, SB2295, for the 

profession that I h a ve grown to love.  I have gone about the req u ireme nts for m y  education 

to ensure that I stay u p  to d ate on cha nges that may be occurring in the profession.  I am 

asking your s upport for SB2295 to help keep individu a ls who have not acq u i red the 

m i n i m u m  requ i re m e nts to practice from practicing in the state I have chosen to stay after 
grad uation .  

I f  you have a ny fu rther  q uestions or  would l ike t o  speak more, please feel free t o  emai l  m e  

o r  ca l l  me with any addit ional  concerns. Thank you for you r  t i m e  a nd consideratio n .  

Ca��?75
;�

-
· 

Trin ity Sports Medic ine, Bishop Ryan Catholic School, Glenburn H igh School  

hea ldcassieATC@gmai l .com 

(701 ) 857-5286 
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TO: North Dakota Senate Human Service Committee 

FROM: Tim Jeulson, MD 

DATE: February 3,  20 1 5  

S UBJECT: Senate B i l l  No. 2295 

Madame Chairwoman and members of the senate, thank you for taking the time to review 

SB 2295. I wish that I could be present with you, but I was already committed to my 

patients who had scheduled on the day that thfa bill  wil l  be discussed. My name is Tim 

Juel son and I am an orthopaedic surgeon practicing in Bismarck, ND, at the Bone & Joint 

Center. I am certified by the American Board of Orthopaedic S urgery and also completed 

an orthopaedic sports surgery fellowship with Dr. Andrews where we worked directly 

with many athletic trainers . I am privileged to have earned the first certificate of added 

qualification in orthopaedic sports surgery in North Dakota. My specialty focuses mostly 

on prevention, management, and treatment of sports related inj uries. During my 

fel lowship in Florida athletic trainers were directly involved in all  aspects of patient care. 

You have heard from some of the athletic trainers today, so I will  be brief with my 

testimony in support of S B2295 . Over the past years I have had the privilege of working 
with some of the certified athletic trainers whom you have heard from today. We have 

had many patients in common, particularly with my responsibilities to various high 
schools  and the Uni versity of Mary athletes. Athletic trainers provide a valuable service, 

predominantly with management of inj uries both simple and complex. Their role is  both 

valuable and certain l y  has room for expansion into the future. 

The bill before you today is representative of current athletic trainer' s capability and 

scope of practice. Physicians are sti ll involved in their supervision and it recognizes their 
current �bi l ities. In discussion with the North Dakota Medical Association, there are no 
objections to S B2295. 

Thank you for your time, and please let me know if there are any questions I can answer. 

My email is  tjuelson @ bone-joint.com and work number is 70 1 -530-8800 . 

J_ . 9 
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TO : North Dakota Senate Human Service Committee 

FROM : Jeremiah Penn, MD 

DATE : February 3, 2015 

SUBJECT: Senate Bill No. 2295 

My name is Dr. Jeremiah Penn. I am a family medicine physician with specialized training in primary 

care sports medicine. I am writing this letter in support of Senate Bill No. 2295, which amends the North 

Dakota Century Code as it pertains to the profession of athletic training. 

I currently work at Mid Dakota Clinic in Bismarck, ND. I received my family medicine training through the 

University of North Dakota Center for Family Medicine in Bismarck and my sports medicine training 

through the Kaiser Permanente Primary Care Sports Medicine Fellowship in Fontana, CA. I currently 

volunteer as team physician with the University of Mary and have worked closely with most of the high 

school athletic trainers in the Bismarck area. I feel my close contact with the athletic training 

educational program at the University of Mary and frequent interactions with numerous athletic trainers 

qualifies me to comment on this bill . 

I am in support of this bill because I feel it updates our Century Code with a more accurate description of 

how athletic trainers in our state actually practice. With the large number of high school and college 

athletes training and competing every day in our state, there is no possible way physicians can deal with 

every one of their issues. Having well qualified athletic trainers as the point of entry into the health 

system is an excellent way to initiate care for these athletes. After athletes have been evaluated, 

protocols to return them to optimal performance must be initiated and for many of them, the most 

practical way to return to optimal health is through daily visits w ith their athletic trainer. 

One of th~ concerns I have heard about this bill is that it may provide athletic trainers the_ability to 

function without medical oversight . While I think the education athletic trainers receive has broadened 

significantly, I do not think their training comes close to the breadth and depth of that of a physician. 

That is why I think it is important to note that although it is not explicitly stated in our Century Code, all 

athletic trainers are expected to work under a physician. Athletic trainers are regulated under the Board 

of Certification for Athletic Training. This board has seven standards of practice. The first of these seven 

standards is the following: Direction - The Athletic Trainer renders service or treatment under the 

direction of a physician . 

I feel that this bill clarifies the relationship of an athletic trainer with a physician and allows them to feel 

comfortable providing the services they have been trained for. I know the athletic trainers I work with 

value our relationship as a part of a health care team. I would encourage the committee of offer this bill 

a "do pass" recommendation. If I can answer any questions or offer clarification, please contact me on 

my cell phone at (701)-527-3358. Thank you for your consideration . 
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February 4, 20 1 5  
Senate Human Services Committee, Senator Judy Lee, Chairman 
Testimony on SB 229 5 from Nick Walker 

Good morning,  Chairman Lee and Mem bers of the Senate Human Services Comm ittee. 
My name is Nick Walker and I am the head girls' basketbal l  coach at Legacy H igh School 
a nd head girls track coach at Century H igh Schoo l .  I am here in favor of SB 229 5. 

I have been i n  the district now for 7 years a nd I fu l ly understand the importance of having 
an ath letic tra i ner in our bui ld ing,  at practice, and at sporting events. I bel ieve that our kids 
in our schools a re put i n  a great position by having the athletic tra iners in our bui ld ing.  They 
care for i njuries when needed and help prevent injuries by doing rehab or preventative 
measures to help our ath letes be safe. I bel ieve as a coach that it would be beneficia l  to a l l  
of  our students and staff i f  the term "athletic i njury" was changed to " I njury". This way,  our  
athletic trai ners would be a ble to help our kids that are i njured in a non-sporting endeavor i n  
or outside o f  the school day. This would a lso help t o  ensure that they are seen b y  a 
medica l professional when we a l l  know that some of our kids wou ld not be afforded that 
opportun ity if it wasn't for the medical professional in our school .  Once again,  I cannot 
express the respect I have for the athletic tra iners i n  the school .  They are key com ponent of 
the safety a nd well-being of our kids in school .  

Thank you for your time. I urge you g ive S B  229 5 a do pass recom mendation .  I am g lad to 
answer your questions, 

Nick Walker 
Bismarck Publ ic Schools 
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NORTH DAKOTA ATHLETIC TRAINERS' ASSOCIATION 

M a d a m  C h a i r p e rs o n  a n d  m e m b e rs o f  th e Se nate H u ma n  Services C o m m i ttee, my 

name is Alyssa S o re n s e n  a n d  I a m  the Secreta ry /Treas u rer fo r th e N o rth D a ko ta 

Ath l et ic  Tra i n e rs' Associ a t i o n  a n d  a l so the Assi sta n t  Ath let ic  T ra i n er a t  Va l l ey C i ty 

State U n ivers i ty. I a m  here today on beh a l f  o f  the N o rth D a ko ta Athl et ic  T ra i ne rs' 

Associ at ion .  

Occu pati o n a l  a n d  i n d u s t r i a l  workers are a t  r i s k  o f  acu te a n d  overu s e  o n  - th e - job 

in jur ies. Th e i r  w o rk environment  req u i res specia l  s ki l l s  o ften i n c l u d i ng h eavy 

l i ft ing, ca r ry i ng, m o v e m e n t  a n d  p hysical  stress. Athlet ic  tra i n e rs (ATs) can a s s i st 

both e m p l oyers a n d  e m p l oyees w i th servi ces, i n c l u d i ng e rgo n o m i cs a s s i sta n ce, 

i n j u ry p reven t i o n ,  s tretch i n g  p ro grams, early recognit ion p ro gram, o n s i te phys ical 

reha b i l i tati on,  w o r k i n g  w i th aging workfo rce, wel l ness and sa fe ty. ( N ATA) 

At the i n d u st r i a l  l eve l ,  p ro vi d i ng care for the e m p l oyees is  very i m po rta n t. O ften, the 

a th l etic tra i n e r  a cts as an i n tegra l p a rt o f  the overa l l  hea l th a n d  s a fety tea m ,  

p rovi d i ng p r o p e r  referra l ,  ea rly i n te rven t ion  a n d  exped i ti n g  the care o f  th e worker . 

Th ey o ften w o rk i n  conj u n ct ion  w i th safety personnel ,  fac i l i ty m a n a g e m e n t, u n ion 

representatives,  ergo n o m i s ts, phys i c i a n s  a n d  other  h e a l th care p rovi d e rs .  The 
a th letic tra i n e r  works w i th th e e m p l oyees to  show pro pe r  stretch i n g  a n d  exercise 

routines to p reve n t  a n d  treat i nj u ries a n d  medical  condit ions .  A Ts a re o ften th e "on 

-s ite" contact fo r phys i c i a n s  a n d  o th e r  th erapists, a n d  a re the fi rst l i n e  o f  d e fense i n  

i n j u ry p reven t i o n .  W i t h  overa l l  p r o d u ct ion be ing t h e  k ey part  to a n  i n d u s try 

s u rvivi ng, o ften t i m e s  th e c o m pany l oses s ight of the a ctual  e m p l oyee w o r k i n g  the 
pro d u ct ion  l i n e .  The ath l et ic  tra i n e r  i s  an advocate fo r the e m p l oyees to e n s u re th e i r  

overa l l  h e a l th a n d  wel l ness i s  k e p t  a t o p  p ri o r i ty. 

I n d u stry is m ax i m iz i ng p ro d u ct ion  a n d  i ncome, wh i l e  red u c i n g  costs a n d  boost ing 

worker p r o d u c t i v i ty. Ath l et ic  tra i n ers i m p rove these o u tcom e s .  With th e ath l etic 

tra i ner i n i ti a l l y  assess i ng an i n j u ry and p rovi d i n g  p ro p e r  refe rra l ,  it  saves ove ra l l  

cost to the co m pa ny. 

One great exa m p l e  right in N o rth D a kota can be seen a t  J o h n  D eere in Va l l ey C i ty, 

N o rth D akota;  w h ere there was a 70% O S H A  redu cti o n  of i n j u r ies  o n c e  th ey h i red 
an athlet ic  tra i n er ( E r i n  Wei ken, J o h n  Deere, Va l l ey C i ty) . 1 0 0 %  of th e c o m p a n i es 

who had h i re d  a n  a th l et ic  tra i n e r, reported tha t  the ath let ic  tra i n e r  p ro vi d es a 

favora b l e  retu r n - o n - i nvestment ( R O I )  ( N ATA), fu rth er 68% o f  th e c o m p a n ies 

i n d i cated that  th e a th l et ic  tra i n e r  h e l pe d  to d ecrease restricted w o rk d ays a n d  

worker's com p e n sat i o n  c l a i m s  for m u scul oskel etal  d is o rd ers ( M S Ds)  b y  m o re than 

2 5 %. 



Large i n d u s t r i a l  p l a n ts have m u l t i p l e  s h i fts and o n e  ath let ic  tra i n e r  c a n n o t  be there 

al l  2 4  h o u rs of the d ay. H owever, the a th l etic tra i n e r  can tra i n  e m p l oyees to a ct as 

part o f  an e m e rg e n cy response tea m .  They can treat m i n o r  i n j u r i es, a re C P R/ A E D  

cert i fi e d .  T h ey u n d e rsta n d  concuss ions .  T h i s  is  a l so a h uge asset t o  the c o m m u n i ty 

as there are  n ow m o r e  i n d i v i d u a l s  tra i ned i n  e m e rgency res p o n se.  

N o rth D akota has a g ro w i n g  i n d ustr ia l  eco n o my. Farm mach i n e  and e q u i p m e n t  

p ro d u ct ion, th e B a kk e n  o i l  fie l d s, t h e  Fa l k i rk m i ne, etc. m a k e  u p  a vast p o r t i o n  o f  

N orth D a k o ta e m p l oy m e n t  o p p o rtu n i ti es .  T h e s e  setti ngs can o n ly i m p rove 

p roduct ion a n d  effi c i e n cy w i th th e a d d it ion of a n  ath let ic  tra i n er. Even th o u gh these 

ath l etic tra i n e rs a re n ot work i ng w i th "athl etic" i nj u ri es th e i r  k n ow l e d ge a nd 

education,  s p e c i fi c a l l y  i n  e rgo n o m i cs and i n j u ry m a nage m e n t, m a ke them a n  

i ntegral part  o f  th e h e a l th care tea m .  

T h a n k  y o u  for yo u r  t i m e  a n d  consi derat ion .  I wo u l d  be h a p py t o  a d d ress a ny 

q uestions.  

• 
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Damian Schlinger 
Vice Chairman 
North Dakota Board of Athletic Trainers 
(701) 202-9078 

February 4, 2015 

This statement is on behalf of the North Dakota Board of Athletic Trainers in regard to Senate Bill 2295 

(SB 2295) and its amendments to North Dakota Century Code 43-39, Athletic Trainer Practice Act. 

The North Dakota Board of Athletic Trainers was established in 1983 to regulate the practice of Athletic 

Training in the State of North Dakota and protect the health and safety of the citizens of North Dakota. 

The members of this Board are appointed by the Office of the Governor. 

We have reached out to members of the community, healthcare organizations, and healthcare 

professionals in researching our stance on this bill. The North Dakota Board of Athletic Trainers 

supports the amendments offered in this bill and respectfully requests a do-pass recommendation by 

this committee to protect and serve the healthcare needs of North Dakota citizens. 

In order for our Board or any other regulatory board to perform well it must make determinations based 

on statute. What has occurred since the statute came into existence in 1983 is that it has aged 

significantly to the point where it no longer allows us to properly regulate the practice of an Athletic 

Trainer. This bill seeks to rectify this issue by matching the statute language to the current educational 

base of Athletic Trainers. 

The current practice act lacks congruence between the educational base of the Athletic Trainer and the 

language in the statute creating uncertainty for the Board in the execution of its duties in that we can 

find Athletic Trainers practicing within the bounds of their professional education yet outside the bounds 

of the current statute. 

The current statute creates uncertainty for the Athletic Trainer much the same way. Do they practice 

within the scope of their education or within the scope of the statute? In this situation does the patient 

end up receiving care, delaying care, or not receive care at all? 

The current statute creates uncertainty for the business of healthcare in our state. Can hospitals, 

clinics, schools, etc. hire the Athletic Trainer for the job or not? The current statute hurts businesses in 

that they can't hire qualified professionals already within the state. We can retain the verbiage in the 

current statute which may push Athletic Trainers to seek employment in other states where the statutes 

reflect their educational base or we can update the statute and put their skills to work increasing the 

health and vitality of the citizens of North Dakota. 

The practice act serves as a piece of communication from the state to its people and we hope to see it 

updated to assist the health and safety of the public, healthcare businesses, and Athletic Trainers. 
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SENATE H U MAN SERVICES COMMITTEE 
SB 2295 

SEN.  LEE AND MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE: 

My name is Jack McDonald . I 'm appearing today on behalf of the North Dakota 
Physical Therapy Association (NDPTA) and the North Dakota Board of Physical 
Therapy to oppose SB 2295. 

This bi l l  makes a major, major change in  the scope of practice of a medical 
profession with no accompanying proof that it is warranted or that it will resu lt i n  greater 
publ ic safety. 

The Ath letic Trainers Act was enacted in  1 983 to set out the scope of practice of 
th is profession and provide a method of regu lation in order to protect publ ic safety. The 
law at that time was carefully designed to match the tra in ing and work of athletic 
tra iners .  As you can see from some of the attachments to my testimony, our 
neighboring states of Minnesota, South Dakota and Montana have very similar statutes. 

The leg islation before you this morning turns the scope of practice upside down. 
It not only removes the term "athletic" from the law - a b it of i rony for a profession that 
calls itself athletic tra iners - but a lso now says they can treat any i l lness or injury 
whatsoever. I n  other words you name, we treat it. Kind of a one stop shopping center 
for anyth ing that a i ls mankind. 

You heard testimony earlier this week from pediatric therapists about their 
special ized tra in ing and practice in the area of acute pediatric therapy issues. Their · 

tra in ing and experience allows them to do this. Under this legislation, of course, your 
neighborhood athletic trainer would also be able to provide these services. 

We adamantly oppose this b i l l  and ask that you g ive this b i l l  a DO NOT PASS. At 
the very least, there is a proposed amendment attached at the end of my testimony that 
you should consider as an a lternative. 

If you have any questions, I wil l  be happy to try to answer them. THANK YOU 
FOR YOUR TIME AND CONSIDERATION.  

I 've also d istributed a letter opposing this b i l l  from Kathleen Day of Fargo, the 
N DPTA president.  U nfortunately, the major national meeting for physical therapists 
convenes today in I nd ianapolis and she was u nable to attend the hearing today. 
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Printer Friendly 

36-29-1 . Definitions. Terms used in this 
chapter, unless the context otherwise requires, 
mean: 

( 1) "Athletic trainer," a person with 
specific qualifications as set forth in § 36-29-3, 
whose responsibility is the prevention, 
evaluation, emergency care, treatment, and 
reconditioning of athletic injuries under the 
direction of the team or treating physician. The 
athletic trainer may use cryotherapy, which 
includes cold packs, ice packs, cold water 
immersion, and spray coolants; thermotherapy, 
which includes topical analgesics, moist hot 
packs, heating pads, infrared lamp, and 
paraffin bath; hydrotherapy, which includes 
whirlpool; and therapeutic exercise common 
to athletic training which includes stretching 
and those exercises needed to maintain 
condition; in accordance with a physician's 
written protocol. Any rehabilitative procedures 
recommended by a physician for the 
rehabilitation of athletic injuries which have 
been referred and all other physical modalities 
may be administered only following the 
prescription of the team or referring physician; 

(2) "Board," the Board of Medical 
and Osteopathic Examiners as created by 
chapter 36-4. 

Source: SL 1984, ch 255, § 1. 
"Back to Top 
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37-36-101. Definitions. As used in this chapter, the following definitions 
apply: 

(1) "Athlete" means a person who participates in an athletic activity that 
involves exercises, sports, or games requiring physical strength, agility, 
flexibility, range of motion, speed, or stamina and the exercises, sports, or 
games are of the type conducted in association with an educational 
institution or a professional, amateur, or recreational sports club or 
organization. 

(2) "Athletic injury" means a physical injury received by an athlete. 
(3) "Athletic trainer" means an individual who is licensed to practice 

athletic training. * ( 4) "Athletic training" means the practice of prevention, recognition, 
assessment, management, treatment, disposition, and reconditioning of 
athletic injuries. The term includes the following: 

(a) the use of heat, light, sound, cold, electricity, exercise, reconditioning, 
or mechanical devices related to the care and conditioning of athletes; and 

(b) the education and counseling of the public on matters related to 
athletic training. 

(5) "Board" means the board of athletic trainers provided for in 2-15-
1771. 

( 6) "Department" means the department of labor and industry provided 
for in 2-15-1701. 

(7) "Licensee" means an individual licensed under this chapter. 

History: En. Sec. 2, Ch. 388, L. 2007. 

Provided by Montana legislative Services 
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148.7806 - 2014 Minnesota Statutes 

2014 Minnesota Statutes 
148.7806 ATHLETIC TRAINING. 
Athletic training by a registered athletic trainer under section 148. 7808 includes the 
activities described in paragraphs (a) to (e). 

(a) An athletic trainer shall: 

(1) prevent, recognize, and evaluate athletic injuries; 

(2) give emergency care and first aid; 

(3) manage and treat athletic injuries; and 

( 4) rehabilitate and physically recondition athletic injuries. 

The athletic trainer may use modalities such as cold, heat, light, sound, electricity, 
exercise, and mechanical devices for treatment and rehabilitation of athletic injuries to 
athletes in the primary employment site. 

(b) The primary physician shall establish evaluation and treatment protocols to be 
used by the athletic trainer. The primary physician shall record the protocols on a form 
prescribed by the board. The protocol form must be updated yearly at the athletic trainer's 
registration renewal time and kept on file by the athletic trainer. 

( c) At the primary employment site, except in a corporate setting, an athletic trainer 
may evaluate and treat an athlete for an athletic injury not previously diagnosed for not 
more than 30 days, or a period of time as designated by the primary physician on the 
protocol form, from the date of the initial evaluation and treatment. Preventative care after 
resolution of the injury is not considered treatment. This paragraph does not apply to a 
person who is referred for treatment by a person licensed in this state to practice medicine 
as defined in section 147.081, to practice chiropractic as defined in section 148.01, to 
practice podiatry as defined in section 153.01, or to practice dentistry as defined in section 
150A.05 and whose license is in good standing. 

(d) An athletic trainer may: 

(1) organize and administer an athletic training program including, but not limited to, 
educating and counseling athletes; 

(2) monitor the signs, symptoms, general behavior, and general physical response of 
an athlete to treatment and rehabilitation including, but not limited to, whether the signs, 
symptoms, reactions, behavior, or general response show abnormal characteristics; and 

(3) make suggestions to the primary physician or other treating provider for a 
modification in the treatment and rehabilitation of an injured athlete based on the 
indicators in clause (2). 

( e) In a clinical, corporate, and physical therapy setting, when the service provided is, 
or is represented as being, physical therapy, an athletic trainer may work only under the 
direct supervision of a physical therapist as defined in section 148.65. 

History: 1993 c 232 s 7 
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148.7802 - 2014 Minnesota Statutes 

2014 Minnesota Statutes 
148.7802 DEFINITIONS. 

Subdivision 1. Applicability. The definitions in this section apply to this chapter. 

Subd. 2. Approved continuing education program. "Approved continuing 
education program" means a continuing education program that meets the continuing 
education requirements in section 148.7812 and is approved by the board. 

Subd. 3. Approved education program. "Approved education program" means a 
university, college, or other postsecondary education program of athletic training that, at 
the time the student completes the program, is approved or accredited by a nationally 
recognized accreditation agency for athletic training education programs approved by the 
board. 

~ Subd. 4. Athlete. "Athlete" means a person participating in exercises, sports, games, 
or recreation requiring physical strength, agility, flexibility, range of motion, speed, or 
stamina. 

::ft:: Subd. 5. Athletic injury. "Athletic injury" means an injury sustained by a person as 
a result of the person's participation in exercises, sports, games, or recreation requiring 
physical strength, agility, flexibility, range of motion, speed, or stamina. * Subd. 6. Athletic trainer. "Athletic trainer" means a person who engages in athletic 
training under section 148.7806 and is registered under section 148.7808. 

Subd. 7. Board. "Board" means the Board of Medical Practice. 

Subd. 8. Credential. "Credential" means a license, permit, certification, registration, 
or other evidence of qualification or authorization to practice as an athletic trainer in this 
state or any other state. 

Subd. 9. Credentialing examination. "Credentialing examination" means an 
examination administered by the Board of Certification, or the board's recognized 
successor, for credentialing as an athletic trainer, or an examination for credentialing 
offered by a national testing service that is approved by the board. 

Subd. 10. Primary employment site. "Primary employment site" means the 
institution, organization, corporation, or sports team where the athletic trainer is employed 
for the practice of athletic training. 

Subd. 11. Primary physician. "Primary physician" means a licensed medical 
physician who serves as a medical consultant to an athletic trainer. 

History: 1993 c 232 s 3; 2014 c 291art4 s 14,15 
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"Athletic training" means the management of athletic injuries and illnesses to prevent, evaluate, assess, 

provide immediate care on the field of play, treat, and recondition. practice of pre¥ention, recognition, 
evalllation, management, treatment, and disposition of athletic injllries. The term also means 
rehabilitation of athletic injuries, if under the er4ef supervision of a licensed physician. The term 
incllldes organization and administration of edl!cation programs, athletic facilities, and the edllcation 
and collnseling of the public. 

"Illness" means those illnesses sustained as a result of participation in athletic activities. 
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Good Morning Senate Human Services Committee members. My name is Kevin 

Axtman .  I am a l icensed physical therapist and athletic trainer at Bismarck's Bone and 

Joint Center. I served on the North Dakota Board of Physical Therapy for 1 0  years, 

from 1 999-2009, and currently s it on the Board as a n  ex officio member representing 

the North Dakota Physical Therapy Association (NDPTA). 

I was brought i nto this issue two years ago when similar practice act revisions 

were proposed by the North Dakota Board of Athletic Trainers .  That legislation was 

defeated , but at the time this Committee strongly urged the athletic trainers to work with 

the physical therapists to come up with some agreeable language. Unfortunately, the 

athletic tra iners apparently decided to forgo that suggestion and to instead just come 

back with this legislation , which even goes beyond the 201 3 legislation. 

The N DPTA strongly opposes SB 2295, specifical ly the change in  the defin it ion 

of "Athletic Tra in ing". The current language is very specific to treatment of "athletic" 

injuries . The proposed language is extremely broad and over reaching. It takes out 

references to athletic injuries and instead says instead that athletic tra iners wil l now deal 

with the "comprehensive management of inj uries and i l lnesses to prevent, cl in ically 

evaluate, assess, provide immediate care, treat, rehabi l itate, and recondition ." That's 

not even a complete sentence. 

SB 2295 a l lows an athletic trainer to treat any " inj uries and i l lnesses" regard less 

of the ind ividual's health status or age. Even though the intent of the law is to 

supposed ly modernize the language, the implications are that an athletic trainer would 

be able to treat and rehabi l itate stroke victims, spinal  cord i njuries, card iac patients, etc. 

This language wou ld a l low an athletic trainer to act as an  EMT, paramedic, occupational 

therapist, physical therapist, nurse, and nurse p ractitioner, but without the tra in ing.  

(OVER) 

1 



SB 2295 expand the athletic trainer's scope of practice far beyond that of nearly 

every other state. The athletic train ing practice acts of our neighbors Montana,  

Minnesota, and South Dakota al l  define athletic train ing much l ike North Dakota. 

I became an athletic trainer after I was a physical therapist because it made me a 

better physical therapist when working with athletes and physical ly active patients. I 

oppose this b i l l  because the proposed language goes wel l  beyond the defin ition and 

tra in ing of athletic trainers.  

Thank you for your time and consideration .  If  you have any questions, I wou ld be 

g lad to try to answer them. 

2 



February 4, 201 5 
SENATE HUMAN SERVICES COMMITTEE 

SEN.  LEE AND MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE: 

My name is Kathleen Day. I am president of the North Dakota Physical Therapy Association 

(NDPTA). We oppose SB2295 as an u nwarranted and unwise expansion of the athletic 

trainers' scope of practice. 

Athletic trainers,  as the name i ndicates, are trained and educated to treat physically active 

persons, primarily athletes. S B2295 removes the context of athletics from the Athletic Trainer 

Practice Act and would al low an athletic trainer to treat any ind ividual for virtually any i l lness or 

i njury,  regardless of the individual's health status. For example, it would allow an athletic trainer 

to treat an acute stroke patient or cardiac patient. Athletic trainer education is not focused on 

evaluation and treatment of individuals with d isease and disability, yet S B2295 would allow 

athletic trainers to treat such individuals. 

The athletic training practice acts i n  most states, including Montana, Minnesota, and South 

Dakota, also define athletic training much like the current North Dakota practice act does, 

specifying that athletic trainers provide services to "athletes" with "athletic injures". 

The NDPTA welcomes an opportunity to work collaboratively with the NDATA to modify their 

practice act, specifically with the definition of athletic trainer, but unfortunately, no such 

opportunity has been presented prior to the in itiation of this legislative session.  Since our 

notification of the bi l l's introduction, the NDPTA has attempted to get clarification from the 

N DATA on their defin ition of "i l lness" but have not received a clear response, and they not been 

cooperative with us on this endeavor. Two years ago changes were proposed to the 

legislature by the N DATA to change this definition , and this attempt failed. It was recommended 

by the legislature that the NDATA work in collaboration with the occupational and physical 

therapists of the state on any proposed changes, but, regrettably, this did not happen. 

We ask for a DO NOT PASS on this bi l l .  A change i n  scope of practice this broad would impact 

the public health and safety of North Dakotans. Please contact me if you have any additional 

q uestions or concerns. 

Thank you for your attention to this matter. 



February 4, 2015 

Senate Human Services Committee 

Senator Lee and Members of the Committee: 
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My n a m e  is To ny H o l l a r . I a m  the rei m bu rsement cha i r  fo r the North Da kota 

Physica l Thera py Associati o n .  I oppose 582295, the expa nsion of the ath l etic 

tra i n e r  scope of practice. 

As an out patient practiti oner, I treat a wide va riety of cases from ped iatric to 

geriatric a nd from acute to c h ronic  con d it ions.  As a physica l thera p i st, we a re 

e d u cated i n  the eva l u ation a nd treatment a long the e ntire l ife s pa n .  The cu rrent 

d efi n it ion of "ath letic tra i n i ng" by the N DATA d efi nes it a s,"the practice of 
prevention, recognition, evaluation, management, treatment, and disposition of 
athletic injuriesn. Cu rre nt cu rricu l u m  fo r ath letic tra i n i ng stude nts is  focused on 

treating ath letes with ath letic i nj u ries.  The expa ns ion of the ath letic tra i ner's 

scope of p ra ctice wou ld a l l ow eva l u ation a nd treatm e nt of cond itions that a re n ot 

inc l uded i n  thei r e d u cati o n .  

Th is expa nsion wou ld put t h e  safety o f  North Dakota citizen s  at r isk .  I ask fo r a 

DO NOT PASS o n  582295 . P l ea se contact me if you have a ny q u estio ns, 

co m m e nts o r  concerns .  Th a n k  you .  
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liORTB DAKOTA OCCUPATIO!IAL THERAPY ASSOCIA1t0� 

r.o. BOX 1m1 GRAND FORKS ND 5820Mlll 

February 4, 201 5  

Dear Chairman Lee, 
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On behalf of the North Dakota Occupational Therapy Association, I am writing this letter 

regarding Senate Bill 2295 . The North Dakota Occupational Therapy Association has concerns 

regarding this bill in its current form. 

As you are aware, a very similar bill was introduced by the athletic trainers in North Dakota last 

legislative session. The bill did not move forward and the committee strongly recommended 

athletic trainers work with other professions before the next legislative session so that the bill 

could be worked on without significant time constraints. The North Dakota Occupational 

Therapy Association was not contacted outside the legislative session as the committee advised. 

Licensure laws exist to protect consumers and bill 2295 in its current form presents the same 

concerns for consumers as it did last session. Deleting the term athletic injuries and adding 

"comprehensive management of illness or injury" leaves room for broad interpretation of whom 

athletic trainers can treat and what those services may involve. It may be interpreted as treating 

someone who has suffered a variety of cardiovascular incidents, neurological impairments, or 

more severe musculoskeletal traumas. Treatment stages (immediate acute, acute, progressive, 

rehabilitation, chronic) in which athletic trainers are skilled are also unclear. 

For example, patient A was in a motor vehicle accident and has suffered a brain inj ury. 

According to athletic training educational accreditation standards, athletic trainers would have 

the skills to explain the etiology of a brain injury and to assess immediate acute neurological 

impairments. They would not, however, have the skills to comprehensively manage the injury 

across treatment phases as stated in the bill. In comparison, occupational therapists are trained to 

assess motor, sensory, and cognitive deficits resulting from the injury followed by evidenced

based remediation or compensation for those deficits. 

Patient B suffered a severe wrist inj ury. Athletic training standards indicate trainers in the field 

would have the ability to describe principles related to fabricating and applying splints and acute 

management of the injury on the field. In comparison, occupational therapists are trained in both 
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• acute and progressive treatment of such an injury. This includes the ability to design, fabricate, 

apply, and fit dynamic splints key to the recovery of this injury. In addition, occupational 

therapists are trained to remediate and modify for deficits related to sensory and physical loss 

from such an injury. Again this illustrates a potential consumer safety issue with the current 

language of broad comprehensive management of illness and injury. 

Patient C is a child with cerebral palsy, a neurological condition present at birth or within the 

first year of life. According to the athletic training standards, the athletic trainer can identify 

precautions and risk factors, participation restrictions and activity limitations to determine impact 

of the condition on the person' s  life, perform neurological assessments, and provide therapeutic 

interventions for persons with injury, illness or disability. Occupational therapists have 

extensive background in anatomy, physiology, neuroscience, assessment, and habilitative and 

rehabilitative treatment of this disorder across the lifespan. Again, the broad language of 

comprehensive illness or injury leave room for inappropriate interpretation of the skill set of the 

athletic trainer. 

Additionally, while current National Athletic Training Association educational standards are 

referenced in the proposed bill, the standards are broad in nature also leaving room for 

interpretation and the degree level continues to be at a bachelors level neither of which support 

"comprehensive management of illness or injury". A review of the standards suggest that athletic 

trainers are able to manage the immediate acute stage of an injury on the field, but are not trained 

to progress treatment of acute phases within a clinic. Finally, the language presented in this bill is 

inconsistent with athletic training licensure laws in Minnesota, Montana, and South Dakota 

which all clearly utilize the term athletic injury instead of broadly stating "illness or injury". In 

addition, these licensure laws clearly define athlete. 

The NDOT A opposes the bill as it is currently drafted. I am glad to answer any questions the 

committee might have. 

Carol Olson, PhD, OTR/L, FAOTA 

North Dakota Occupational Therapy Association 
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From: Zaruba, Richard [ma ilto:RZaruba@uj.edu] 
Sent: Saturday, January 31, 2015 1:52 PM 
To : Lee, Judy E. 
Subject: RE: Please OPPOSE SB 2295 

Hello Senator Lee, 

I would be fine with the change with a couple simple revisions so it read : 
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2. "Athletic training" means the comprehensive management of musculoskeletal injuries and 
illnesses to prevent, evaluate, assess, provide immediate care, treat, rehabilitate and recondition, under 
the supervision of a licensed physician. 

Instead of the ambiguous and actually all inclusive: 

2. "Athletic training" means the comprehensive management of injuries and illnesses to prevent, 
evaluate, assess, provide immediate care, treat, rehabilitate and recondition . 

For description of scope of practice. I don't think I would go to an athletic trainer for pneumonia . 
understand that this proceeds the above statement: 

1. "Athletic t rainer" means an individual with specific qualifications set forth in section 43-39-05, 
who is providing athletic training services in accordance with the individual's education . 

But it is interesting what people believe they have been educated to do versus what they are actually 
competent to do. Thank you for responding to my concerns. 

Sincerely, 
Richard Zaruba 

Richard Zaruba, PT, DPT, PhD 
Board Certified Orthopaedic Clinical Specialist Fellowship Trained in Orthopaedic Manual Physical 
Therapy Fellow of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Manual Physical Therapists Certified Strength 
and Conditioning Specialist Assistant Professor Physical Therapy Program University of Jamestown 
4190 26th Avenue South 
Fargo, ND 58104 
(701) 356-2136 Ext. 5905 
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43-39-01. Definitions. 

CHAPTER 43-39 
ATHLETIC TRAINERS 

1. "Athletic trainer" means an individual with specific qualifications set forth in section 43-
39-05, who is providing athletic training services in accordance with the individual's 
education. 

2. "Athletic training" means the comprehensive management of musculoskeletal injuries 
and illnesses to prevent, evaluate. assess , provide immediate care, treat, rehabilitate 
and recondition , under the supervision of a physician. 

3. "Board" means the North Dakota board of athletic trainers established in section 43-
39-02. 

4. "Physician" means an individual licensed as a physician under chapter 43-17. 

43-39-02. Board of athletic trainers. 
1. The North Dakota board of athletic trainers shall consist of five members, comprising 

one licensed physician, one layperson, and three athletic trainers. Each member must 
be appointed by the governor. The members, other than the layperson, must be 
appointed from lists submitted to the governor by the North Dakota athletic trainers 
association for those members who are athletic trainers and from the North Dakota 
medical association for the member who is a physician, for terms as provided in this 
section. Each member of the board, except for the layperson, must be licensed in the 
member's profession in this state and a resident of this state, must have not less than 
two years' experience as a physician or athletic trainer immediately preceding 
appointment, and must be actively employed in the member's profession during the 
member's tenure on the board . The layperson may not be licensed in any health care 
field . 

2. Members must be appointed to serve four-year staggered terms to commence on July 
first in the respective years of appointment and shall continue to serve until their 
successors are appointed. If a vacancy occurs during a term, the governor shall 
appoint a successor for the remainder of the unexpired term. No member may serve 
for more than two successive four-year terms. On the initial board, one physician and 
one athletic trainer must be appointed for a one-year term; the laymember and one 
athletic trainer must be appointed for a two-year term; and one athletic trainer must be 
appointed for a three-year term . Thereafter, their successors must be appointed for 
four-year terms. 

3. The board each year shall elect one of its members as chairman and one as secretary
treasurer to the board. The board may make rules, in accordance with chapter 28-32 
and not inconsistent with law, which may be necessary for the performance of its 
duties. The board may prescribe reasonable fees for application and examinations and 
for certificates of licensure. License fees must be used for the purpose of paying the 
costs of per diem compensation and travel reimbursement to the board. In addition, 
fees and other moneys collected and received by the board must be used for the 
purpose of implementing this chapter and may be used for continuing education 
purposes. The financial records of the board must be audited once every two years. 
The audit is to be paid for out of the funds of the board. 

4. The board shall meet at least once each year. Additional meetings may be held on the 
call of the chairman or at the written request of any three members of the board. Three 
members constitute a quorum of the board. No action by the board or its members has 
any effect unless a quorum of the board is present. 

5. The athletic trainer members of the initial board are not required to be licensed for the 
first one hundred eighty days of their membership on the board . 

Page No. 1 



43-39-03. Records. 
The board shall keep a record of its proceedings under this chapter and a record of all 

persons licensed by the board. The record must show the name of every living licensee and the 
licensee's last-known place of employment and last-known place of residence and the date and 
number of the licensee's license certificate. Any interested person in the state is entitled to a 
printed copy of that record on application to the board and payment of such reasonable charge 
as may be fixed by the board based on the cost involved. 

43-39-04. Unlawful practice. 
1. 6 person may not practice athletic training or hold that person out as being an athletic 

trainer in this state unless that person is an individual licensed in accordance with this 
chapter. 

1 

2. 6 person may not consult, teach, or supervise or hold that person out as being able to 
consult, teach, or supervise athletic training curricular courses in this state unless that 
person is licensed in accordance with this chapter or chapter 43-17, or possesses a 
degree in a health-related field. 

3. 6 person may not represent that person as being a licensed athletic trainer or use in 
connection with that person's name any letters, words, or insigni'a indicating or implying 
that the person is a licensed athletic trainer unless that person is an individual licensed 
in accordance with this chapter. 

43-39-05. Qualifications. 
To be eligible for an athletic trainer license, an applicant must meet all the requirements of 

certification established by the board of certification, incorporated. 

43-39-06. Issuance of licenses. 
1. An applicant for an athletic trainer license must submit an application to the board on 

forms prescribed by the board and submit the application fee required. 
2. An applicant is entitled to an athletic trainer license if the applicant possesses the 

qualifications set forth in this chapter, satisfactorily meets approval by the board of 
athletic trainers, pays the license fee, and has not committed an act which constitutes 
grounds for denial of a license. 

43-39-07. Initial license. 
Repealed by S.L. 2013, ch . 332, § 6. 

43-39-08. Examination required. 
All license applicants must have previously passed the board of certification, incorporated, 

examination . 

43-39-09. License renewal. 
1. A license issued pursuant to this chapter expires one year from the date of issuance. 
2. Licenses must be renewed according to the procedures established by the board. 
3. A previously licensed person who has requested license renewal must have active 

status from the board of certification, incorporated. 

43-39-10. Grounds for denial, suspension, or revocation of license - Application of 
chapter. 

1. The board may refuse to issue a license to an applicant or may suspend or revoke the 
license of a licensee if the applicant or licensee: 
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a. Has been convicted of a felony or misdemeanor involving moral turpitude, the 

record of a conviction being conclusive evidence of conviction. 

b. Uses alcohol or narcotic drugs to the extent that the use affects the person's 
professional competency. 

c. Has obtained or attempted to obtain a license by fraud, deceit, or material 
misrepresentation. 

d. Is guilty of treating or undertaking to treat an individual 's injury or illness, except 
as authorized pursuant to this chapter, or undertaking to practice independent of 
the order of a licensed physician, or is guilty of any act derogatory to the dignity 
and morals of the profession of athletic training. 

2. Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to authorize the practice of medicine by any 
person. The provisions of this chapter do not apply to physicians licensed by the North 
Dakota state board of medical examiners; to dentists, duly qualified and registered 
under the laws of this state who confine their practice strictly to dentistry; to licensed 
optometrists who confine their practice strictly to optometry as defined by law; to 
licensed chiropractors who confine their practice strictly to chiropractic as defined by 
law; to occupational therapists who confine their practice to occupational therapy; to 
nurses who practice nursing only; to duly licensed chiropodists or podiatrists who 
confine their practice strictly to chiropody or podiatry as defined by law; to registered 
physical therapists; to massage therapists in their particular sphere of labor; nor to 
commissioned or contract physicians or physical therapists or physical therapists' 
assistants in the United States army, navy, air force, marine corps, and public health 
and marine health service. 

3. The provisions of this chapter shall not apply to persons coming into this state for a 
specific athletic event or series of athletic events with an individual or group not based 
in this state. 

4. Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent schools, YMCA organizations, 
athletic clubs, and similar organizations from furnishing athletic training services to 
their students, players, or members. 

43-39-11. Penalty. 
Any person practicing as an athletic trainer without a license as required by this chapter is 

guilty of a class 8 misdemeanor. 

Page No. 3 
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From: janet.rasmussen@sanfordhealth .org [mailto:janet.rasmussen@sanfordhealth .org] J-tt 232/ 1 L 
Sent: Monday, January 26, 2015 3:52 PM 7 
To: Lee, Judy E. 
Subject : Please OPPOSE SB 2295 

Ms Janet Eloyce Rasmussen 
1807 Queensbury St 
West Fargo, ND 58078-4350 

1/26/2015 

Dear Senator Lee: 

As your constituent and a member of the physical therapy profession in North Dakota, I want to share 
my concerns about SB 2295, which would inappropriately expand the scope of practice for athletic 
trainers in this state. 

Athletic trainers, as the name indicates, are trained and educated to treat physically active persons, 
primarily athletes. The current North Dakota practice act reflects this by defining athletic training in the 
context of addressing "athletic injuries" . Athletic trainer education is focused on injuries that occur in 
otherwise physically active persons participating in organized, individual or team sports, athletic games 
or recreational sports activities. It is not focused on evaluation and treatment of individuals with disease 
and disability, but SB 2295 would allow an athletic trainer to provide athletic training services to such 
individuals. For example, it would arguably allow an athletic trainer to treat an acute stroke patient or 
cardiac patient. 

The athletic train ing practice acts in most states - including Montana, Minnesota, and South Dakota -
also define athletic training much like the current North Dakota practice act does, specifying that 
athletic trainers provide services to "athletes" with "athletic injuries" . Recent attempts in some states to 
implement language similar to SB 2295 have failed. 

I respectfully ask you to vote NO on SB 2295. Thank you for your consideration of this issue. 

Sincerely, 

Ms Janet Eloyce Rasmussen 



From: Bud & Lorraine Wessman [mailto:wessmanbl@cableone.net] 
Sent: Monday, January 26, 2015 9:37 AM 
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To: Bowman, Bill L.; Carlisle, Ron; Dotzenrod, Jim A.; Holmberg, Ray E.; Kilzer, Ralph L.; Laffen, Lonnie 
J.; Lee, Judy E.; Mathern, Tim; O'Connell, David P.; Robinson, Larry J.; Sinner, George B.; 
ctriplette@nd.gov; tmwanzak@nd.gov; Wardner, Rich P. 
Subject: SB 2295 

Greetings to former Colleagues: 
Now that I am retired, I have determined to not bother those of you in elected office who carry 
on the work that I hold dear - whether our prior connections were in Grand forks, at UND, in the 
legislature, or when I was Head of Human Services, I have come to respect and admire each of 
you for your dedication to public service in our great state of North Dakota. 
BUT SB 2265 JS SO FAR "OUT OF BOUNDS" OF QUALITY HEALTH CARE THAT I 
FEEL COMPELLED TO ASK THAT YOU VOTE "NO" ON THIS BILL. 
Athletic Trainers certainly have their place in the delivery of health care - as their name implies, 
they are "on the field, on the court, on the ice" as first responders and care givers for athletic 
injuries. But 2295 goes way beyond the acknowledged scope of practice for Athletic Trainers: 
The current North Dakota athletic training practice act defines athletic training as the "prevention, 

recognition , evaluation, management, treatment, and disposition of athletic injuries" and requires that 
rehabilitation of athletic injuries be done under the order of a licensed physician. SB 2295 would redefine 
athletic training as the "comprehensive management of injuries and illnesses to prevent, clinically 
evaluate, assess, provide immediate care, treat, rehabilitate, and recondition." It also removes the 
physician order requirement for the rehabilitation of athletic injuries, thus further diminishing the all
important "physician oversight" that results in quality and focused health care. 
Athletic Training has it's rightful place in health care - they do a great job on the field and in the training 
room - but I suspect the intent of SB 2295 is to shift "shift emphasis" to some type of non-descript 
"physician extender", opening new revenue streams for both the physician who 'manages" this new care 
provider, and the Athletic Trainer herself/himself - again , in my humble opinion, not a solid way to insure 
quality health care , and certainly beyond the scope of the Athletic Trainers education and expertise. 
Thanks for your attention to this rather lengthy e-mail - - -be thankful I only think good thoughts about you 
and our past interactions, and don't bug you incessantly!! 
Best regards and highest respect, 
Bud Wessman 

Lorraine & Bud Wessman 

1594 Sundan ce Dr ive South 
Fargo , ND 58 1 0 4 

Horne Phone : 
Ce l l Phone : 

(701) 451-0123 
(701 )38 8- 99 91 
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TO: North Dakota Senate Human Service Committee 

FROM: Sarah Ashley - Student CHS 

DATE: February 3, 2 0 1 5  
SU BJECT: Senate Bill No. 2295 
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Madame Chair and members of the Senate Human Services Committee, my name is 

Sarah Ashley. I am a senior at a local high school who experienced a traumatic injury 

and has benefitted greatly from the athletic training program. 

Having athletic trainers available to work with me along my road to recovery 

has proven to be the most beneficial element in my healing process. I suffered a 

double ankle inj ury earlier this year and with the help of these qualified allied health 

professionals I have been able to return to the high impact sport of gymnastics. My 

athletic trainer was able to determine my injury the first day I met with her. She 

then created a plan for my recovery that included hands on exercises that I would 

not have been able to do alone, as well as strengthening activities for me to do at 

home. The recovery plan changed as I healed, all owing for a quicker, better 

recovery. She truly admi nistered quality care, as the healing process was not a 

smooth one. There were days that I was not able to complete typical exercises, but 

with her education she was able to create unique exercises to target specific 

problems. I would not have recovered as quickly as I did if not for the accessibility of 

my highly qualified athletic trainer. The simplicity .of attaining treatment from a 

highly qualified professional made my rehabilitation much more effective as I 

received it daily. My athletic trainer truly was an invaluable part of my recovery. 

I bel ieve this b i l l  is a good bi l l  and I ask this committee for a "do pass" recommendation.  

Thank you for your t ime and consideration. I would be happy to address any questions . 
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February 4, 20 1 5  
Senate Human Services Committee, Senator Judy Lee, Chairman 
Testimony for SB 2295 from Cassie Beseman 
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Good m orning Chairman Lee and Mem bers of the Senate Human Services Comm ittee. 
My name is Cassie Beseman and I am here today to support SB 2295. 

I have loved spending my college years here in North Dakota studying athletic train ing at 
the U niversity of Mary.  U nfortunately, due to the l im itations imposed by North Dakota law 
that relate to athletic trainers, it is un l ikely that I wil l be able to stay here in North Dakota 
after I graduate. Instead,  I wi l l  l ikely to go back to Minnesota and work at a high school 
as both a teacher and an ath letic trainer because once I have a fam ily I would l ike to 
work in a cl in ic as the hours are more standard.  In  Minnesota, over half of the athletic 
trainers work i n  a cl in ic or  a physical therapy setting. 

With the way the N orth Dakota practice act is written,  my work in a cl in ic is very l im ited . 
Also , in N orth Dakota I can help a h igh school basketbal l  player who spra ins his a n kle, 
but I can't help a recreational  basketbal l  player who does the same thing. By removing 
the word "athletic" from the North Dakota practice act, athletic tra iners s imi lar to me wi l l  
be able to apply their  knowledge they have learned in the classroom to anyone 
physica l ly active. This would a l low the growing number of students we have here in 
North Dakota graduating with an athletic tra in ing degree to stay here in North Dakota 

While I mentioned I want to begi n  my career through working in a h igh school,  many of 
my colleagues want to go stra ight to a cl in ic.  U nti l  North Dakota removes the word 
"athlete" from the practice act, my colleagues and I are put in the position of leaving the 
state to find work elsewhere that matches our career and l ifestyle goals. 

Thank you for your time this morning.  I hope you wil l  g ive SB 2295 favorable 
consideration.  I am glad to answer your questions. 

Cassie Beseman 



From: Robyn M. Gust [mailto:Robyn.Gust@trinityhealth.org] 
Sent: Tuesday, February 10, 2015 2:21 PM 
To: Lee, Judy E. 
Subject: Response to hearing regarding SB 2295 

Dear Senator Lee : 
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I am writing this letter in regard to supporting the changes of the North Dakota Athletic Training practice act in SB 
2295 as well as addressing some items that were brought up during the hearing regarding SB 2295 last week. I was 
unable to attend the hearing due to prior commitments but did send a letter of support as well as have several co
workers and colleagues that could attend . Once they arrived back in Minot, we had multiple conversations 
regarding points of the hearing and I would like to address a few of them with this email. 

One of the major points of the opposition to the bill was about the scope of an athletic tra iner and how an athletic 
trainer was not educated or qualified to "treat" illnesses. I find this very interesting considering that I manage and 
treat illnesses on a daily basis within my scope of practice. Please allow me to explain . I have worked in athletic 
training for 20 years, most in the collegiate and high school settings. In those 20 years, I have had patients that 
have had a multitude of injuries and illnesses that I was responsible for managing. Every year I work football , I 
treat and manage patients for heat illness, an illness that kills young men in football every fall . Every winter I work 
wrestling, I treat and manage wrestlers with skin conditions and almost every spring, I treat and manage patients 
with eating disorders or iron deficiency which is common in young female runners. It is my job, my duty, and well 
within my scope to recognize that my patient has one of these illnesses and ensure that the appropriate steps are 
taken in order for that patient to receive the best care. These illnesses are listed in our competencies of education 
that our national organizations state that we MUST learn and be competent in managing before we can register 
and sit for our national certification examination . 

Also in my 20 years of practice, I have had the responsibility to recognize other dangerous injuries and illnesses 
and make the appropriate referral to get the patient the best outcomes. Some of those I have managed include 
mononucleosis, bruised and/or ruptured spleen, bruised kidneys, influenza, anemia, hypokalemia, concussion, 
spinal cord trauma, anaphylactic shock, heart conditions, hernias, appendicitis, suicidal thoughts and attempts and 
testicular cancer. Did I treat testicular cancer? No, I did not; but I understood the signs and symptoms that a 20 
year old hockey player presented with and immediately referred him to a physician because that is my 
job. Athletes see athletic trainers every day before practices and games or even just to stop into athletic training 
rooms around the country because something "Just doesn' t feel right" . It is the job of the athletic trainer to take a 
history, perform an examination and makes a determination on the best medical course of action. We do not seek 
these injuries and illnesses out, they are a part of the demographic that we serve and it is ensured by the National 
Board of Certification, the National Athletic Trainers Association, the Commission on Accreditation of Athletic 
Training Education and the North Dakota Licensure Board in this state that those practicing as athletic training 
have the appropriate education to perform the necessary duties of a Certified Athletic Trainer. 
Currently, I have athletes on the teams I serve right now that have asthma, diabetes, sickle cell trait, anemia and 
depression conditions to name a few. I have had athletes in the past that have been pregnant, had hemophilia and 
a couple of athletes with cerebral palsy. I do not "treat" these illnesses, but I do assist them in managing them 
because I am on the sideline with them, I am on the bench with them and I am at their school every day. It is in my 
education, that is ever changing, that ensures that I am able to assist these athletes with proper management of 
medical conditions that they may have. 

I understand that it was stated in the hearing that our scope should be "listed" . To list every injury and illness an 
athlete trainer will see is next to impossible. If I have a patient at one of my schools that presents with an injury or 
illness that is not listed, does that mean I cannot treat or manage that person's problem and help him get the 
appropriate medical care? However, if we rely on staying within the athletic training practice act that an athletic 
trainer will practice within the scope of the education that is mandated, we are allowing the athletic trainer to 



treat the patient as a whole according to the most up to date medical information. We a lso would not be confined 

to what those condit ions may be or how they are treated in 2015 compared to 2025. Wi l l  we need to revisit this 

practice act as the medical  field changes? 

A colleague of mine informed me that the question was raised dur ing the hearing as to why a person would want 

to go i nto ath letic tra in ing as opposed to physical therapy. As the manager of a Sports Medic ine department for 

the past 15 years and c l in ica l  i nstructor for an accredited athletic tra in ing program, I have interviewed hundreds of 

athletic trainers and potentia l  athletic trainers and have asked that very quest ion.  The responses have been varied 

with the most common one being that either no one was there for them when they were an athlete to help them 

or that an athletic trainer was there when they were severely injured and helped them from the time they were 

injured to the time that they returned to playing their sport. No other profession can say that.  We help our 

patients the moment that they are injured s ince most of the time we are there with them when it happens. We 

help them get the appropriate medical care and help them return, not to a "normal" l ife, but return to a state of 

ath letic competition aga in  if i t  is possible.  We a lso ensure that the care they receive at the t ime of i njury is 

appropriate so they are not i nju red further and the fami l ies know what d i rection the medical care should take at 

the time. Ath letic Trainers want to work with a physically active, motivated population, and it  doesn't hurt that we 

get to watch sports for a l iv ing either. 

Athletic Tra iners must be ready for anyth ing. We don't have the luxury of accepting or not accepting a patient that 

is on a team we work with, depending on the i njury or i l l ness that person may have. We must be prepared to 

assist our patients with a vast array of medical conditions and injuries. I do not think that is appropriate for a 

medica l  profession that does not do our job, such as physical therapy or occupationa l  therapy, d ictate what is " in 

our scope" of practice s ince ath letic trainers are the ones that are provid ing the care. That i s  why we have national 

organizations and educational  standards. That is why i t  is imperative that the language of the North Dakota 

Athletic Tra in ing practice act be updated to what is cu rrent in  the profession of athlet ic tra in ing.  I am asking for 

your support on SB 2295 to ensure that it does. 

I greatly appreciate the time you have taken in  regard to this important legislation .  If  you would l i ke fu rther 

feedback from me or have questions, please feel free to contact me at th is ema i l  address or cal l  me at (701) 857-

3486 for a phone conversation or to arrange a time to meet in person.  Thank you for you r t ime 

Thank  you very much ! 

Sincerely, 

Robyn Gust MS/ ATC 

Sports Medicine Manager 

Trinity Hospita l 

Minot, N D  

(701) 857-3486 
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Madam Chair  and members of the Human Services Committee, my name is Shane Goettle and I 

represent the North Dakota Athletic Trainers Association.  Members of the profession wil l discuss the 

h istory, as wel l  as their education and tra in ing .  I j ust want to briefly set the stage and walk  you through 

the bi l l .  

The avai labi l ity of  Athletic Tra iners has  tremendously expanded their avai labi l i ty to cover sports 

and ath letic events across the state. The publ ic is now far more fami l iar  and confident with the services 

performed by ath letic tra iners. This fami l iarity has also increased demand for individual services, even 

from non-ath letes who are, nevertheless, seeking services to restore and achieve physical activity goa ls 

after an  injury. 

The Practice Act, however, has not kept up  with the times. As you carry out your role as pol icy-

makers, I would suggest that your primary task is NOT to spend your  time preserving or bui ld ing fences 

between the various hea lth professions, but rather to ask: "Is the publ ic protected?" Put another way: " Is  

the individual performing th is particular hea lth related service adequately educated and tra ined to deliver 

qua l ity care to the patient?" Aga in ,  that's the purpose of the Practice Act: to ensure, in  this case, that 

Athletic Trainers a re properly educated and trained to deal with the injuries and medical issues that they 

encounter-in short, to protect the integrity of the l icense to practice and protect the publ ic. 

We recogn ize there is overlap and some level of healthy competition among the hea lth 

professions. We submit th is is a good th ing.  Competition, first and foremost, g ives patients options and 

choices. A dynamic hea lth care system should foster hea lthy competition and choice, provided only that 

the i ndividual performing the service is adequately educated and tra ined to address the injury or i l lness. 

The changes we seek are simple: 

• [Walk  through Act] 

• NOTE THAT C H I ROPRACTORS, 43-06-0 1 ,  while l isting the specific services they can perform ,  a lso 

have a broad provision consistent with their education and tra in ing :  



1 .  "The practice of chiropractic" includes: 
a .  A l l  other procedures taught by chiropractic colleges accredited by the council on  

chiropractic education or its successor 

Athletic tra iners have NO intent to request, seek or insist that their services expand into b i l l ing-

th is is NOT their goa l .  Rather, they seek some defin itional changes in N DCC § 43-39-0 1 that wi l l  

accurately reflect who they are and what they do as a profession . Let me introduce Steve Westereng,  

President of the N DATA and Bra ndy Currie, who teaches at the Un iversity of Mary and serves Century 

High School ath letic functions. 
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STATE 

STATE 

DEFINITION OF 

ATHLETE 

DEFINITION OF 

ATHLETE 

Neighboring States and their Practice Acts 

DEFINITION OF ATHLETIC 

TRAINER 

"Athletic trainer" means an 
individual engaged in the practice 
of athletic training. 

DEFINITION OF ATHLETIC 

TRAINER 

"Athletic trainer" means an 
individual who engages in athletic 
training. 

DEFINTION OF ATHLETIC TRAINING 

"Practice of athletic training" means the 
treatment of an individual for risk 
management and injury 
prevention, the clinical evaluation and 
assessment of an individual for an injury 
or illness, or both, the 
immediate care and treatment of an 
individual for an injury or illness, or both, 
and the rehabilitation and 
reconditioning of an individual's injury or 
illness, or both, as long as those activities 
are within the rules 
promulgated under section 1 7904 and 
performed under the direction and 
supervision of an individual licensed 
under part 1 70 or 1 75. The practice of 
athletic training does not include the 
practice of physical therapy, the 
practice of medicine, the practice of 
osteopathic medicine and surgery, the 
practice of chiropractic, or medical 
dia nosis or treatment 
DEFINTION OF ATHLETIC TRAINING 

"Athletic training" means doing any of the 
following: 
(a) Preventing, recognizing and 

evaluating injuries or illnesses sustained 
while participating in physical activity. 
(b) Managing and administering the 

initial treatment of injuries or illnesses 
sustained while participating in physical 
activity. 
(c) Giving emergency care or first aid for 

an injury or illness sustained while 
participating in physical activity. 
(d) Rehabilitating and physically 

reconditioning injuries or illnesses 
sustained while participating in physical 
activity. 
(e) Rehabilitating and physically 

reconditioning injuries or illnesses that 
impede or prevent an individual from 
returning to participation in physical 
activity, if the individual recently 
participated in, and intends to return to 
participation in, physical activity. 
(f) Establishing or administering risk 

management, conditioning, and injury 
prevention programs. 

DEFINITION 

OF 

ATHLETIC 

INJURY 

DEFINITION 

OF 

ATHLETIC 

INJURY 

OTHER 

DEFINITIONS 

OTHER 

DEFINITIONS 

"Physical 
activity" 
means 
vigorous 
participation 
in exercise, 
sports, 
games, 
recreation, 
wellness, 
fitness, or 
employment 
activities. 



STATE 

Minnesota 

DEFINITION OF 

ATHLETE 

"Athlete" means a 
person 
participating in 
exercises, sports, 
games, or 
recreation 
requiring physical 
strength, agility, 
flexibility, range of 
motion, speed, or 
stamina. 

DEFINITION OF ATHLETIC 

TRAINER 

Athletic trainer" means a person 
who engages in athletic training 
under section 148.7806 and is 
registered under section 
1 48.7808. 

DEFINTION OF ATHLETIC TRAINING 

Athletic training by a registered athletic trainer 
under section 148.7808 includes the activities 
described in paragraphs (a) to (e). 
(a) An athletic trainer shall: 
(1) prevent, recognize, and evaluate athletic 
injuries; 
(2) give emergency care and first aid; 
(3) manage and treat athletic injuries; and 
(4) rehabilitate and physically recondition 
athletic injuries. 
The athletic trainer may use modalities such 
as cold, heat, light, sound, electricity, 
exercise, and mechanical devices for 
treatment and rehabilitation of athletic injuries 
to athletes in the primary employment site. 
(b) The primary physician shall establish 
evaluation and treatment protocols to be used 
by the athletic trainer. The primary physician 
shall record the protocols on a form 
prescribed by the board. The protocol form 
must be updated yearly at the athletic trainer's 
registration renewal time and kept on file by 
the athletic trainer. 
(c) At the primary employment site, except in 
a corporate setting, an athletic trainer may 
evaluate and treat an athlete for an athletic 
injury not previously diagnosed for not more 
than 30 days, or a period of time as 
designated by the primary physician on the 
protocol form, from the date of the initial 
evaluation and treatment. Preventative care 
after resolution of the injury is not considered 
treatment. This paragraph does not apply to a 
person who is referred for treatment by a 
person licensed in this state to practice 
medicine as defined in section 1 47.081 , to 
practice chiropractic as defined in section 
148.01 , to practice podiatry as defined in 
section 153.01 , or to practice dentistry as 
defined in section 1 50A.05 and whose license 
is in good standing. 
{d) An athletic trainer may: 
( 1 )  organize and administer an athletic 
training program including, but not limited to, 
educating and counseling athletes; 
(2) monitor the signs, symptoms, general 
behavior, and general physical response of an 
athlete to treatment and rehabilitation 
including, but not limited to, whether the 
signs, symptoms, reactions, behavior, or 
general response show abnormal 
characteristics; and 
(3) make suggestions to the primary physician 
or other treating provider for a modification in 
the treatment and rehabilitation of an injured 
athlete based on the indicators in clause (2). 
(e) In a clinical, corporate, and physical 
therapy setting, when the service provided is, 
or is represented as being, physical therapy, 
an athletic trainer may work only under the 
direct supervision of a physical therapist as 
defined in section 1 48.65. 

DEFINITION 

OF 

ATHLETIC 

INJURY 

"Athletic 
injury" 
means an 
injury 
sustained by 
a person as 
a result of 
the person's 
participation 
in exercises, 
sports, 
games, or 
recreation 
requiring 
physical 
strength, 
agility, 
flexibility, 
range of 
motion, 
speed, or 
stamina. 

OTHER 

DEFINITIONS 



c? - � 
STATE DEFINITION OF DEFINITION OF ATHLETIC DEFINTION OF ATHLETIC TRAINING DEFINITION OTHER 

ATHLETE TRAINER OF DEFINITIONS 

ATHLETIC 

INJURY 

"Athletic trainer," a person with 
specific qualifications as set forth 
in § 36-29-3, whose responsibility 
is the prevention, evaluation, 
e mergency care, treatment, and 
reconditioning of athletic injuries 
under the direction of the team or 
treating physician. The athletic 
trainer may use cryotherapy, 
which includes cold packs, ice 
packs, cold water immersion, and 
spray coolants; thermotherapy, 
which includes topical analgesics, 
moist hot packs, heating pads, 
infrared lamp, and paraffin bath; 
hydrotherapy, which includes 
whirlpool; and therapeutic 
exercise common to athletic 
training which includes stretching 
and those exercises needed to 
maintain condition; in accordance 
with a physician's written protocol .  
Any rehabilitative procedures 
recommended by a physician for 
the rehabilitation of athletic 
injuries which have been referred 
and all other physical modalities 
may be administered only 
following the prescription of the 
team or referrin h sician; 

STATE DEFINITION OF DEFINITION OF ATHLETIC DEFINTION OF ATHLETIC TRAINING DEFINITION OTHER 

ATHLETE TRAINER OF DEFINITIONS 

ATHLETIC 

INJURY 

Montana "Athlete" means a "Athletic trainer" means an "Athletic training" means the practice of "Athletic 
person who individual who is licensed to prevention, recognition, assessment, injury" 
participates in an practice athletic training. management, treatment, disposition, and means a 
athletic activity that reconditioning of athletic injuries. The physical 
involves exercises, term includes the following: injury 
sports, or games (a) the use of heat, light, sound, cold, received by 
requiring physical electricity, exercise, reconditioning, or an athlete. 
strength, agility, mechanical devices related to the care 
flexibility, range of and conditioning of athletes; and 
motion, speed, or (b) the education and counseling of 
stamina and the the public on matters related to athletic 
exercises, sports, training. 
or games are of 
the type conducted 
in association with 
an educational 
institution or a 
professional, 
amateur, or 
recreational sports 
club or 
or anization. 



A Sampling of I l lnesses Addressed in Educational Competencies 

PHP-14. Assess weight loss a nd hydration status using weight charts, urine color charts, o r  

s pecific gravity measurements t o  determine 

activity in a hot, h u mid environment. 

an individual's abi l ity to participate in physical 

PHP-15. Use a glucometer to monitor blood glucose levels, determine participation status, and 

m a ke referral decisions. 

PHP-16. Use a peak-flow meter to monitor a patient's asthma symptoms, determine 

p a rticipation status, a nd make referra l decisions. 

AC-36. Identify the signs, symptoms, interventions and, when appropriate, the return-to

participation criteria for: 

AC-36a. sudden cardiac arrest 

AC-36b. brain i nj u ry including concussion, subdura l  and epid u ra l  hematomas, second impact 

syndrome and sku l l  fracture 

AC-36c. cervical, thoracic, and l umbar spine tra u ma 

AC-36d. heat i l lness including heat cramps, heat exhaustion, exertional and hyponatremia 

AC-36e. exertional  sickl ing associated with sickle cel l  trait 

AC-36f. rhabdomyolysis 

AC-36g. i nterna l hemorrhage 

AC-36h. diabetic emergencies including hypoglycemia and ketoacidosis 

AC-36i. asthma attacks 

AC-36j. systemic a l lergic reaction, including anaphylactic shock 

AC-36k. epi leptic and non-epileptic seizures 

AC-361. shock 

AC-36m. hypothermia, frostbite 

AC-36n. toxic d rug overdoses 

AC-360. local a l lergic reaction. 
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Preface 

The 5th edition of the Athletic Training Education Competencies (Competencies) provides educa

tional program personnel and others with the knowledge, skills, and clinical abilities to be mastered 

by students enrolled in professional athletic training education programs. Mastery of these Compe

tencies provides the entry-level athletic trainer with the capacity to provide athletic training services 

to clients and patients of varying ages, lifestyles, and needs. 

The Commission on Accreditation of Athletic Training Education (CAATE) requires that the Com

petencies be instructed and evaluated in each accredited professional athletic training education 

program. The Competencies serve as a companion document to the accreditation standards, which 

identify the requirements to acquire and maintain accreditation, published by CAATE. 

The Professional Education Council (PEC) of the NATA was charged with creating the 5th edition of the 

Competencies. The PEC developed and executed a systematic plan to draft the Competencies and 

to solicit and integrate feedback from multiple sources as the draft was revised. First, the PEC orches

trated an initial open call for feedback on the 4th edition of the Competencies. Next, groups of subject

matter experts. including practicing athletic trainers, educators, and administrators, were identified. In 

addition to the feedback on the 4th edition. these subject-matter experts considered today's health

care system, current best practice in athletic training, and their own expertise in creating an initial draft 

of the 5th edition. Many conversations ensued and subsequent drafts were submitted. Following revi

sion for form and consistency of language, a draft of the Competencies was again posted for open 

feedback. This valuable feedback was considered in its entirety by the PEC, and final revisions were 

made. 

We thank the members of the PEC for their untiring efforts in revising this document to reflect the 

changing needs of athletic training education. The advice, cooperation. and feedback from the 

Board of Certification and the CAATE have also been instrumental in this process. Finally. the diligent 

and perceptive feedback that was received from stakeholders during the public comment periods 

was instrumental in creating a document that ensures that entry-level athletic trainers are prepared 

to work in a changing healthcare system.  Together we are improving healthcare by improving the 

education of athletic trainers. 

- NATA Executive Committee for Education, December 201 0 

© 20 1 1 National Athletic Trainers' Association 3 



ol!! 

Introduction 

This document is to be used as a guide by administrative, academic, and clinical  program per

sonnel when structuring all facets of the education experience for students. Educational program 

personnel should recognize that the Competencies are the minimum requirements for a student's 

professional education. Athletic training education programs are encouraged to exceed these 

minimums to provide their students with the highest quality education possible. In addition, pro

grams should employ innovative, student-centered teaching and learning methodologies to con

nect the classroom,  laboratory and clinical settings whenever possible to further enhance 

professional preparation. 

The acquisition and clinical application of knowledge and skills in an education program must rep

resent a defined yet flexible program of study. Defined in that knowledge and skills must be ac

counted for in the more formal classroom and laboratory educational experience. Flexible in that 

learning opportunities are everywhere. Behaviors are identified,  discussed, and practiced through

out the educational program.  Whatever the sequence of learning, patient safety is of prime impor

tance; students must demonstrate competency in a particular task before using it on a patient. This 

begins a cycle of learning, feedback, refinement, and more advanced learning. Practice with con

cepts by gaining clinical experience with real life applications readies the student for opportunities 

to demonstrate decision-making and skill integration ability, Clinical Integrated Proficiencies (CIP) . 

CIPs are designed to measure of real life application. Students should be assessed in their perform

ance of CIPs on actual patients. If this is not possible, standardized/simulated patients or scenarios 

should be used to measure student proficiency. 

Also, inherent in this document is the understanding that a comprehensive basic and applied sci

ence background is needed for students to develop appropriate levels of professional competence 

in the discipline-specific knowledge and skills described in this document. 

All facets of the educational programs must incorporate current knowledge and skills that represent 

best practice. Programs must select such content following careful review of the research literature 

and consideration of the needs for today's entry-level practitioner. Because the knowledge within a 

profession is dynamic, information regarding current best practice is fluid and requires on-going ex

amination and reflection. 

© 20 1 1 Notional Athletic Trainers' Association 4 
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Summary of M ajor Changes included in 5th Edition 

• The 1 2  content areas of the previous edition have been reorganized into 8 to eliminate 

redundancies and better reflect current practice. 

The pathology content area was eliminated, and these competencies are addressed 

throughout other content areas. 

The risk management/prevention and nutritional considerations content areas were 

combined to form the new Prevention and Health Promotion ( P H P} content area. This 

change was made to reflect the current emphasis on prevention and wellness across 

health care and the lifespan. 

The orthopedic clinical exam/diagnosis and medical conditions/disabilities content areas 

were combined to form the Clinical Examination and Diagnosis (CE) content area. This 

change was made to emphasize that athletic trainers use one standard clinical examina

tion model that changes based on the findings and needs of the patient. 

The therapeutic modalities, conditioning and rehabilitative exercise and pharmacology 

content areas were combined to form one content area that incorporates all aspects of 

Therapeutic Interventions (Tl} .  

A new content area was added to provide students with the basic knowledge and skills 

related to Evidence-Based Practice (EBP}. The importance of using EBP concepts and 

principles to improve patient outcomes is being emphasized throughout the health care 

system and is reflected within this new content area. 

• The Acute Care (AC} content area has been substantially revised to reflect contemporary 

practice. 

The addition of ski l l  in assessing rectal temperature, oxygen saturation, blood glucose 

levels, and use of a nebulizer and oropharyngeal and nasopharyngeal airways reflects 

recommendations of NATA position statements that are published or in development. 

• The content areas now integrate knowledge and skills, instead of separate sections for cogni

tive and psychomotor competencies. The action verb used in each competency statement 

identifies the expected outcome. In some places, knowledge is the expectation and not skill 

acquisition. For example, acute care competency #9 (AC-9) requires that athletic training 

students be knowledgeable about the various types of airway adjuncts including oropharyn

geal airways (OPA) . nasopharyngeal airways (NPO) and supraglottic airways. However, the 

accompanying skill competency AC- 1 0  does not require skill acquisition in the use of the 

supraglottic airways. 

• The Clinical Integration Proficiencies (CIP}. which are ideally assessed in the context of real 

patient care. have been removed from the individual content areas and reorganized into a 

separate section .  This reorganization reflects clinical practice and demonstrates the global 

nature of the Proficiencies. For example. rather than just assessing students ' ability to examine 

a real patient in a real clinical setting, the new CIPs require that students demonstrate the 

ability to examine and diagnose a patient, provide appropriate acute/emergent care, plan 

and implement appropriate therapeutic interventions. and make decisions pertaining to safe 

return to participation. This approach to student assessment better reflects the comprehensive 

nature of real patient care. 
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Comparison of the Role Delineation Study I Practice 
Analysis, Sth Ed and the Competencies 

The Role Delineation Study/Practice Analysis, 61h ed (RDS/PA) of the Board of Certification serves 

as the blue print for the certification examination .  As such, the Competencies must include all tasks 

(and related knowledge and skills) included in the RDS/PA. Working with the BOC, we compared 

the RDS/PA with this version of the Competencies and can confidently state that the content of the 

R DS /PA is incorporated in this version. 

© 201 1 National Athletic Trainers' Association 6 



5th Edition Competencies - Project Team Members 

Professional Ed ucation Council: Lou Fincher, EdD, ATC- Chair 

David W. Carr, PhD, ATC;  Ron Courson, ATC, PT, NREMT; Jolene Henning, EdD, ATC; 

Marsha Grant-Ford, PhD, ATC; Luzita Vela, PhD, ATC; Alice Wilcoxson, PhD, ATC, PT 

Risk Management Orthopedic Clinical Medical Conditions 

& I njury Prevention Assessment & Diagnosis & Disabilities 

Team Leader: Lou Fincher Team Leader: Jolene Henning Team Leader: David Carr 

Doug Casa, PhD, ATC ,  FACSM Sara Brown. MS, ATC Micki Cuppett, EdD, ATC 

University of Connecticut Boston University University of South Florida 

Paula Maxwell. PhD, ATC Wes Robinson, ATC Randy Cohen, ATC. DPT 

James Madison University University of Maryland University of Arizona 

Jim Sc hilling, PhD, ATC. CSCS Doug Gregory, MD. FAAP 

University of Southern Maine Suffolk, VA 

Chad Starkey, PhD, ATC Katie Walsh, EdD, ATC 

Ohio University East Carolina University 

Acute Care of I njuries Therapeutic Modalities/Conditioning Pharmacology 

& Illnesses Rehabilitative Exercise 

Team Leader: Ron Courson Team Leaders: Luzita Vela & Team Leader: David Carr 

Marsha Grant Ford 

Dean Crowell, MA. ATC, N R EMT-B Craig Denegar, PhD, ATC, PT Micki Cuppett, EdD, ATC 

A thens Ortho Clinic University of Connecticut University of South Florida 

Gianluca Del Rossi. PhD. ATC Lennart Johns. PhD, ATC Doug Gregory, MD. FAAP 

University of South Florida Quinnipiac University Suffolk, VA 

Michael Dillon, ATC Ken Knight. PhD, ATC, FACSM Joel Houglum. PhD 

o{'. /</ 

University of Georgia Brigham Young University South Dakota State University 

Jim Eilis, MD Sayers John Miller, PhD, ATC, PT Greg Keuler, ATC 

Greenville, SC Pennsylvania State University SportPharm 

Francis Feid , Med, MS, ATC , CRNA Mark Merrick, PhD, ATC Diedre Leaver Dunn, PhD, ATC 

Pittsburgh, PA Ohio State University University of Alabama 

Kevin G uskiewicz. PhD, ATC Cindy Trowbridge, PhD, ATC ,  LAT 

UNC-Chapel Hill University of Texas - Arlington 

Glen Henry, MS, NREMT-P Craig Voll, ATC 

A thens Technical College Purdue University 

MaryBeth Horodyski. EdD, ATC 

University of Florida 

Jim Kyle, MD 

Morgantown, WV 

Robb Rehberg, PhD. ATC , NREMT 

William Paterson University 

Erik Swartz, PhD, ATC 

University of New Hampshire 

© 20 1 1 N o tional Athletic Trainers' Association 7 



Psychosocial Intervention Nutritional Aspects of Injuries Health Care Administration 

& Referral & Illnesses 

Tea m  Leader: Alice Wilcoxson Team Leader: Alice Wilcoxson Tea m  Leader: Jolene H enning 

Megan D. Granquist. PhD, ATC Leslie Bonci. RD. MPH. LDN Kathy Dieringer. EdD. ATC 

University of La Verne University of Pittsburgh Sports Med, Denton 

J.  Jordan Hamson-Utley, PhD, ATC Tina Bonci. ATC Linda Mazzoli, MS, ATC . PTA 

Weber State University University of Texas Cooper Bone & Joint Institute 

Laura J. Kenow, MS. ATC Rachel Clark. RD, CSSD Rich Ray, EdD, ATC 

Linfield College Purdue University Hope College 

Diane Wiese- Bjornstal Paula Sammarone Turocy, EdD. ATC James S hipp, MA. ATC 

University of Minnesota Duquesne University Towson University 

Dawn Weatherwax-Fall. RD. CSSD. 

LD. ATC. CSCS 

Sports Nutrition 2Go! 

Ingrid Skoog, RD. CSSD 

Oregon State University 

Professional Development Evidence- Based Practice 

Tea m  Leader: Marsha Grant-Ford Team Leader: Luzita Vela 

Bill Biddington. EdD. ATC Craig Denegar. PhD. ATC. PT 

California University of Pennsylvania University of Connecticut 

Todd Evans. PhD, ATC 

University of Northern Iowa 

Jay Hertel. PhD. ATC 

University of Virginia 

Jennifer Hootman. PhD. ATC 

Centers for Disease Control 

& Prevention 

Lori Michener. PT. PhD. ATC, SCS 

Virginia Commonwealth University 

John Parsons. PhD. ATC 

AT Still University 

Eric Sauers, PhD. ATC. FNATA 

AT Still University 

Bonnie Van Lunen, PhD, ATC 

Old Dominion University 

© 201 1 National Athletic Trainers' Association 8 



Foundational Behaviors of Professional Practice 

These basic behaviors permeate professional practice and should be incorporated into 

instruction and assessed throughout the educational program. 

Primacy of the Patient 

• Recognize sources of conflict of interest that can impact the c lient ' s/patient 's  health. 

• Know and apply the commonly accepted standards for patient confidentiality. 

• Provide the best healthcare available for the client/patient. 

• Advocate for the needs of the client/patient. 

Team Approac h  to Practice 

• Recognize the unique skills and abilities of other healthcare professionals. 

• Understand the scope of practice of other healthcare professionals. 

• Execute duties within the identified scope of practice for athletic trainers. 

• Include the patient (and family, where appropriate) in the decision-making process. 

• Work with others in effecting positive patient outcomes. 

Legal Practice 

• Practice athletic training in a legally competent manner. 

• Identify and conform to the laws that govern athletic training. 

• Understand the consequences of violating the laws that govern athletic training. 

Ethical Practice 

• Comply with the NATA' s  Code of Ethics and the BOC' s  Standards of Professional Practice. 

• Understand the consequences of violating the NATA's  Code of Ethics and BOC 's  Standards o f  

Professional Practice. 

• Comply with other codes of ethics, as applicable. 

Advancing Knowledge 

• Critically examine the body of knowledge in athletic training and related fields. 

• Use evidence-based practice as a foundation for the delivery of care. 

• Appreciate the connection between continuing education and the improvement of athletic 

training practice. 

• Promote the value of research and scholarship in athletic training. 
• Disseminate new knowledge in athletic training to fellow athletic trainers, clients/patients, 

other healthcare professionals, and others as necessary. 

C ultural Competence 

• Demonstrate awareness of the impact that clients' /patients' cultural differences have on their 

attitudes and behaviors toward healthcare. 

• Demonstrate knowledge, attitudes, behaviors, and skills necessary to achieve optimal health 

outcomes for diverse patient populations. 

• Work respectfully and effectively with diverse populations and in a diverse work environment. 

Professionalism 

• Advocate for the profession. 

• Demonstrate honesty and integrity. 

• Exhibit compassion and empathy. 

• Demonstrate effective interpersonal communication skills. 
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Evidence-Based Practice (EBP) 

Evidence-based practitioners incorporate the best available evidence. their clinical skills. and the 

needs of the patient to maximize patient outcomes. An understanding of evidence-based practice 

concepts and their application is essential to sound clinical decision-making and the critical exam

ination of athletic training practice. 

Practicing in an evidence-based manner should not be confused with conducting research.  

While conducting research i s  important to the profession of  athletic training. developing the abil

ity to conduct a research project is not an expectation of professional  education. This section fo

cuses on the knowledge and skills necessary for entry-level athletic trainers to use a systematic 

approach to ask and answer c linically relevant questions that affect patient care by using review 

and application of existing research evidence. One strategy, among others. is to use a five-step ap

proach: l )  creating a clinically relevant question; 2) searching for the best evidence; 3) critically 

analyzing the evidence; 4) integrating the appraisal with personal clinical expertise and patients' 

preferences; and 5) evaluating the performance or outcomes of the actions. Each competency 

listed below is related to such a systematic approach and provides the building blocks for em

ploying evidence-based practice. Other specific evidence-based practice competencies have 

also been included in  appropriate content areas. 

All items listed in parentheses (eg) are intended to serve as examples and are not all encompassing 

or the only way to satisfy the competency. 

Knowledge and Skills 

EBP- 1 . Define evidence-based practice as it relates to athletic training clinical practice .  

EBP-2. Explain the role of evidence in the clinical decision making process. 

EBP-3. Describe and differentiate the types of quantitative and qualitative research. research 

components .  and levels of research evidence. 

EBP-4. Describe a systematic approach (eg, five step approach) to create and answer a 

clinical question through review and application of existing research. 

EBP-5. Develop a relevant c linical question using a pre-defined question format (eg. PICO= 

.E.atients. lntervention. Comparison. Outcomes; PIO = .E.atients. lntervention. Outcomes) . 

EBP-6. Describe and contrast research and literature resources including databases and online 

critical appraisal libraries that can be used for conducting clinically-relevant searches. 

EBP-7. Conduct a literature search using a clinical question relevant to athletic training 

practice using search techniques (eg. Boolean search. Medical Subject Headings) 

and resources appropriate for a specific clinical question. 

EBP-8. Describe the differences between narrative reviews. systematic reviews. and meta

analyses. 

EBP-9. Use standard criteria or developed scales (eg. Physiotherapy Evidence Database 

Scale [PEDro] . Oxford Centre for Evidence Based Medicine Scale) to critica l ly appraise 

the structure, rigor, and overall quality of research studies. 

EBP- 1 0. Determine the effectiveness and efficacy of an athletic training intervention utilizing 

evidence-based practice concepts. 
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EBP- 1 1 .  Explain the theoretical foundation of cl inical outcomes assessment (eg, disablement, 

health-related quality of life) and describe common methods of outcomes 

assessment in athletic training clinical practice (generic, disease-specific, 

region-specific, and dimension-specific outcomes instruments) . 

E B P - 1 2. Describe the types of outcomes measures for clinical practice (patient-based and 

clinician-based) as well as types of evidence that are gathered through outcomes 

assessment (patient-oriented evidence versus disease-oriented evidence) . 

E B P - 1 3. Understand the methods of assessing patient status and progress (eg, global rating of 

change, minimal clinically important difference, minimal detectable difference) with 

clinical outcomes assessments. 

EBP- 1 4. Apply and interpret clinical outcomes to assess patient status, progress, and change 

using psychometrically sound outcome instruments. 
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Prevention and Health Promotion (PHP) 

Athletic trainers develop and implement strategies and programs to prevent the incidence 

and/or severity of injuries and il lnesses and optimize their clients' /patients '  overall health and qual

ity of life. These strategies and programs also incorporate the importance of nutrition and physical 

activity in maintaining a healthy lifestyle and in preventing chronic disease (eg, diabetes. obesity, 

cardiovascular disease) . 

Knowledge and Skills 

General Prevention Principles 

PHP- 1 .  Describe the concepts (eg, case definitions, incidence versus prevalence, exposure 

assessment, rates) and uses of injury and illness surveillance relevant to athletic training. 

PH P-2. Identify and describe measures used to monitor injury prevention strategies (eg, injury 

rates and risks, relative risks, odds ratios, risk differences, numbers needed to treat/harm) .  

PHP-3. Identify modifiable/non-modifiable risk factors and mechanisms for injury and il lness. 

PHP-4. Explain how the effectiveness of a prevention strategy can be assessed using clinical 

outcomes. surveil lance, or evaluation data. 

PH P-5. Explain the precautions and risk factors associated with physical activity in persons 

with common congenital and acquired abnormalities, disabilities, and diseases. 

PHP-6. Summarize the epidemiology data related to the risk of injury and il lness associated 

with participation in physical activity. 

Prevention Strategies and Procedures 

PHP-7. Implement disinfectant procedures to prevent the spread of infectious diseases and to 

comply with Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) and other federal 

regulations. 

PHP-8. Identify the necessary components to include in a preparticipation physical examination 

as recommended by contemporary guidelines (eg, American Heart Association, 

American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Sports Medicine & Fitness) . 

P H P-9. Explain the role of the preparticipation physical exam in identifying conditions that 

might predispose the athlete to injury or illness. 

PHP- 1 0. Explain the principles of the body's thermoregulatory mechanisms as they relate to 

heat gain and heat loss. 

P H P - 1 1 .  Explain the principles of environmental illness prevention programs to include acclimation 

and conditioning, fluid and electrolyte replacement requirements, proper practice and 

competition attire, hydration status. and environmental assessment (eg. sling 

psychrometer, wet bulb globe temperatures [WBGT] . heat index guidelines) . 

PHP- 1 2. Summarize current practice guidelines related to physical activity during extreme 

weather conditions (eg, heat, cold, lightning, wind) . 

P H P - 1 3. Obtain and interpret environmental data (web bulb globe temperature [WBGT] . sling 

psychrometer, lightning detection devices) to make clinical decisions regarding the 

scheduling, type, and duration of physical activity. 
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P H P- 1 4. Assess weight loss and hydration status using weight charts, urine color charts, or 

specific gravity measurements to determine an individual ' s  ability to participate in 

physica l  activity in a hot. humid environment. 

PHP- 1 5. Use a g lucometer to monitor blood glucose levels, determine participation status, 

and make referral decisions. 

P H P- 1 6 . Use a peak-flow meter to monitor a patient's asthma symptoms, determine participation 

status, and make referral decisions. 

P H P - 1 7. Explain the etiology and prevention guidelines associated with the leading causes of 

sudden death during physical activity, including but not limited to: 

P H P - 1  ?a. Cardiac arrhythmia or arrest 

P H P- 1 ?b. Asthma 

P H P - 1  ?c.  Traumatic brain injury 

P H P - 1  ?d. Exertional heat stroke 

P H P- 1 ?e. Hyponatremia 

P H P - 1  ?f. Exertional sickling 

P H P - 1  ?g. Anaphylactic shock 

P H P - 1  ?h. Cervical spine injury 

P H P - 1  ?i. Lightning strike 

PHP- 1 8. Explain strategies for communicating with coaches, athletes, parents, administrators, 

and other relevant personnel regarding potentially dangerous conditions related to 

the environment, field, or playing surfaces. 

P H P- 1 9 . Instruct clients/patients in the basic principles of ergodynamics and their relationship 

to the prevention of illness and injury. 

Protective Equipment and Prophylactic Procedures 

P H P -20. Summarize the basic principles associated with the design,  construction, fit, 

maintenance, and reconditioning of protective equipment, including the rules and 

regulations established by the associations that govern its use. 

P H P -2 1 . Summarize the principles and concepts related to the fabrication, modification, and 

appropriate application or use of orthotics and other dynamic and static splints. 

P H P -22. Fit standard protective equipment following manufacturers ' guidelines. 

P H P -23. Apply preventive taping and wrapping procedures, splints, braces, and other special 

protective devices. 

Fitness/Wellness 

PH P -24. Summarize the general principles of health maintenance and personal hygiene, 

including skin care, dental hygiene, sanitation, immunizations, avoidance of infectious 

and contagious diseases, diet, rest. exercise, and weight control. 

P H P -25. Describe the role of exercise in maintaining a healthy lifestyle and preventing chronic 

d isease. 
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PHP-26. Identify and describe the standard tests, test equipment, and testing protocols that 

are used for measuring fitness, body composition, posture, flexibility, muscular strength, 

power, speed, agility, and endurance. 

PHP-27. Compare and contrast the various types of flexibility, strength tra ining, and cardiovas

cular conditioning programs to include expected outcomes, safety precautions, 

hazards, and contraindications. 

P H P -28. Administer and interpret fitness tests to assess a client' s/patient ' s  physical status and 

readiness for physical activity. 

PH P-29. Explain the basic concepts and practice of fitness and wellness screening .  

PH P-30. Design a fitness program to meet the individual needs o f  a client/patient based on  

the results o f  standard fitness assessments and wellness screening. 

PHP-31 . Instruct a cl ient/patient regarding fitness exercises and the use of muscle strengthening 

equipment to include correction or modification of inappropriate, unsafe, or danger

ous lifting techniques. 

General N utrition Concepts 

PHP-32. Describe the role of nutrition in enhancing performance, preventing injury or i l lness, 

and maintaining a healthy lifestyle. 

P HP -33. Educate clients/patients on the importance of healthy eating, regular exercise, and 

general preventative strategies for improving or  maintaining health and quality of life. 

P H P-34. Describe contemporary nutritional intake recommendations and explain how these 

recommendations can be used in performing a basic dietary analysis and providing 

appropriate general dietary recommendations. 

PH P -35. Describe the proper intake, sources of. and effects of micro- and macronutrients 

on performance, health. and disease. 

PH P-36. Describe current guidelines for proper hydration and explain the consequences of 

improper fluid/electrolyte replacement. 

PH P-37. Identify, analyze, and utilize the essential components of food labels to determine 

the content, quality. and appropriateness of food products. 

P H P -38. Describe nutritional principles that apply to tissue growth and repair. 

PH P-39. Describe changes in dietary requirements that occur as a result of changes in a n  

individual ' s  health, age, and activity level. 

P H P -40. Explain the physiologic principles and time factors associated with the design and 

planning of  pre-activity and recovery meals/snacks and hydration practices. 

P H P-41 . Identify the foods and fluids that are most appropriate for pre-activity, activity, and 

recovery meals/snacks. 

Weight Management and Body Composition 

P H P -42. Explain how changes in the type and intensity of physical activity influence the 

energy and nutritional demands placed on the client/patient. 
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P H P -43. Describe the principles and methods of body composition assessment to assess a 

client's/patient ' s  health status and to monitor changes related to weight management, 

strength training, injury, disordered eating, menstrual status, and/or bone density status. 

PHP-44. Assess body composition by validated techniques. 

P H P -45. Describe contemporary weight management methods and strategies needed to 

support activities of daily life and physical activity. 

Disordered Eating and Eating Disorders 

P H P -46. Identify and describe the signs, symptoms. physiological, and psychological responses 

of c lients/patients with disordered eating or eating disorders. 

P HP-47. Describe the method of appropriate management and referral for clients/patients 

with disordered eating or eating disorders in a manner consistent with current practice 

guidelines. 

Performance Enhancing and Recreational Supplements and Drugs 

P H P -48. Explain the known usage patterns, general effects, and short- and long-term adverse 

effects for the commonly used dietary supplements, performance enhancing drugs, 

and recreational  drugs. 

P HP-49. Identify which therapeutic drugs, supplements. and performance-enhancing 

substances are banned by sport and/or workplace organizations in order to properly 

advise clients/patients about possible disqualification and other consequences. 
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Clinical Examination and Diagnosis (CE) 

Athletic trainers must possess strong clinical examination skills in order to accurately diagnosis 

and effectively treat their patients. The clinical examination is an on-going process, repeated to 

some extent each time the patient is treated. The development of these skills requires a thorough 

understanding of anatomy, physiology, and biomechanics. Athletic trainers must a lso apply clini

cal-reasoning skills throughout the physical examination process in order to assimilate data, select 

the appropriate assessment tests, and formulate a differential diagnosis. 

The competencies identified in this section should be considered in the context of the compe

tencies identified in other domains. For example, the knowledge and skills associated with acute 

care and therapeutic interventions, while applicable for this domain, are not repeated here. 

The clinical examination process is comprehensive and may include a review of the systems and 

regions identified below based on the patient's relevant history and examination findings. Con

sideration must also be given to the patient's behavioral and cognitive status and history; com

petencies addressing this content area are included elsewhere. 

Systems and Regions 

a. Musculoskeletal 

b. lntegumentary 

c.  Neurological 

d. Cardiovascular 

e. Endocrine 

f. Pulmonary 

g .  Gastrointestinal 

h.  Hepatobiliary 

i. Immune 

j. Renal and urogenital 

k. The face, including maxillofacial region and mouth 

I. Eye, ear, nose, and throat 

Knowledge and Skills 

C E- 1 . Describe the normal structures and interrelated functions of the body systems. 

C E-2. Describe the normal anatomical. systemic, and physiological changes associated 

with the lifespan. 

CE-3. Identify the common congenital and acquired risk factors and causes of 

musculoskeletal injuries and common illnesses that may influence physical activity 

in pediatric, adolescent, adult, and aging populations. 

CE-4. Describe the principles and concepts of body movement. including normal  

osteokinematics and arthrokinematics. 

C E-5. Describe the influence of pathomechanics on function. 

CE-6.  Describe the basic principles of diagnostic imaging and testing and their role in the 

diagnostic process. 

CE-7. Identify the patient's participation restrictions (disabilities) and activity limitations 

(functional limitations) to determine the impact of the condition on the patient 's  life . 
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CE-8. Explain the role and importance of functional outcome measures in clinical practice 

and patient health-related quality of life. 

CE-9. Identify functional and patient-centered quality of life outcome measures appropriate 

for use in athletic training practice. 

CE- 1 0. Explain diagnostic accuracy concepts including reliability, sensitivity, specificity, 

likelihood ratios. prediction values. and pre-test and post-test probabilities in the 

selection and interpretation of physical examination and diagnostic procedures. 

CE-1 1 .  Explain the creation of clinical prediction rules in the diagnosis and prognosis of 

various clinical conditions. 

CE- 1 2. Apply clinical prediction rules (eg, Ottawa Ankle Rules) during clinical examination 

procedures. 

CE- 1 3. Obtain a thorough medical history that includes the pertinent past medical history, 

underlying systemic disease. use of medications. the patient 's  perceived pain. and 

the history and course of the present condition. 

CE- 1 4. Differentiate between an initial injury evaluation and follow-up/reassessment as 

a means to evaluate the efficacy of the patient ' s  treatment/rehabilitation program, 

and make modifications to the patient's program as needed . 

C E- 1 5. Demonstrate the ability to modify the diagnostic examination process according to 

the demands of the situation and patient responses. 

CE-1 6. Recognize the signs and symptoms of catastrophic and emergent conditions 

and demonstrate appropriate referral decisions. 

C E- 1 7. Use c linical reasoning skills to formulate an appropriate clinical diagnosis for 

common il lness/disease and orthopedic injuries/conditions. 

C E- 1 8. Incorporate the concept of differential diagnosis into the examination process. 

CE-1 9. Determine criteria and make decisions regarding return to activity and/or sports 

participation based on the patient's current status. 

C E-20. Use standard techniques and procedures for the clinical examination of common 

injuries, conditions, illnesses, and diseases including, but not limited to: 

CE-20a. history taking 

CE-20b. inspection/observation 

CE-20c. palpation 

C E-20d. functional assessment 

C E-20e. selective tissue testing techniques I special tests 

CE-20f. neurological assessments (sensory. motor; reflexes, balance, cognitive function) 

CE-20g. respiratory assessments (auscultation, percussion, respirations, peak-flow) 

CE-20h. circulatory assessments (pulse, blood pressure, auscultation) 

CE-20i. abdominal assessments (percussion, palpation, auscultation) 

CE-20j . other clinical assessments (otoscope, urinalysis, glucometer, temperature, 

opthalmoscope) 
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CE-21 . Assess and interpret findings from a physical examination that is based on the patient ' s  

clinical presentation. This exam can include: 

CE-21 a. Assessment of posture, gait, and movement patterns 

CE-21 b. Palpation 

CE-2 1 c .  

CE-21 d. 

CE-21 e. 

CE-2 1 f. 

CE-21 9. 

CE-21 h. 

CE-21 i. 

CE-21j. 

Muscle function assessment 

Assessment of quantity and quality of osteokinematic joint  motion 

Capsular and ligamentous stress testing 

Joint play (arthrokinematics) 

Selective tissue examination techniques I special tests 

Neurologic function (sensory, motor, reflexes, balance, cognition) 

Cardiovascular function (including differentiation between normal and 

abnormal heart sounds, blood pressure, and heart rate) 

Pulmonary function (including differentiation between normal breath sounds, 

percussion sounds, number and characteristics of respirations, peak 

expiratory flow) 

CE-21 k. Gastrointestinal function (including differentiation between normal and 

abnormal bowel sounds) 

CE-21 1. Genitourinary function (urinalysis) 

CE-21 m. Ocular function (vision, ophthalmoscope) 

CE-21 n. Function of the ear, nose, and throat (including otoscopic evaluation) 

CE-21 o.  Dermatological assessment 

CE-21 p. Other assessments (glucometer, temperature) 

CE-22. Determine when the findings of an examination warrant referral of the patient. 

CE-23. Describe current setting-specific (eg, high school, college) and activity-specific 

rules and guidelines for managing injuries and illnesses. 

© 201 1 National Athletic Trainers ' Association 1 8  



Acute Care of Injuries and I l lnesses (AC) 

Athletic trainers are often present when injuries or other acute conditions occur or are the first 

healthcare professionals to evaluate a patient. For this reason. athletic trainers must be knowl

edgeable and skil led in the evaluation and immediate management of acute injuries and illnesses. 

The competencies identified in this section should be considered in  the context of the compe

tencies identified in other domains. For example. the knowledge and skills associated with the 

process of examination and documentation. while applicable for this domain. are not repeated 

here.  Likewise. the knowledge and skills associated with the administrative and risk management 

aspects of planning for an emergency injury/illness situation are not repeated here. 

K nowledge and Skills 

Planning 

AC- 1 .  Explain the legal. moral. and ethical parameters that define the athletic trainer's 

scope of acute and emergency care.  

AC-2. Differentiate the roles and responsibilities of the athletic trainer from other pre-hospital 

care and hospital-based providers, including emergency medical technicians/ 

para medics. nurses. physician assistants, and physicians. 

AC-3. Describe the hospital trauma level system and its role in the transportation 

decision-making process. 

Examination 

AC-4. Demonstrate the ability to perform scene. primary, and secondary surveys. 

AC-5. Obtain a medical history appropriate for the patient' s  ability to respond. 

AC-6. When appropriate. obtain and monitor signs of basic body functions including pulse ,  

blood pressure, respiration, pulse oximetry, pain, and core temperature. Relate 

changes in vita l signs to the patient 's status. 

AC-7. Differentiate between normal and abnormal physical findings (eg, pulse, blood 

pressure, heart and lung sounds, oxygen saturation. pain, core temperature) and 

the associated pathophysiology. 

Immediate Emergent Management 

AC-8. Explain the indications, guidelines, proper techniques, and necessary supplies for 

removing equipment and clothing in order to access the airway, evaluate and/or 

stabilize an athlete ' s  injured body part. 

AC-9.  Differentiate the types of airway adjuncts (oropharygneal airways [OPA] , nasopharyn

geal airways [NPA] and supraglottic airways [King LT-D or Combitube] J and 

their use in maintaining a patent airway in adult respiratory and/or cardiac arrest. 

AC- 1 0. Establish and maintain an airway, including the use of oro- and nasopharygneal 

airways, and neutral spine alignment in an athlete with a suspected spine injury 

who may be wearing shoulder pads, a helmet with and without a face guard, or 

other protective equipment. 
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AC-1 1 .  Determine when suction for airway maintenance is indicated and use according to 

accepted practice protocols. 

AC- 1 2. Identify cases when rescue breathing, CPR, and/or AED use is indicated according to 

current accepted practice protocols. 

AC-1 3. Utilize an automated external defibrillator (AED) according to current accepted 

practice protocols. 

AC- 1 4. Perform one- and two- person CPR on an infant. child and adult. 

AC- 1 5. Utilize a bag valve and pocket mask on a child and adult using supplemental oxygen. 

AC- 1 6. Explain the indications. application. and treatment parameters for supplemental 

oxygen administration for emergency situations. 

AC- 1 7. Administer supplemental oxygen with adjuncts (eg, non-rebreather mask. nasal cannula ) .  

AC- 1 8. Assess oxygen saturation using a pulse oximeter and interpret the results to guide 

decision making. 

AC- 1 9. Explain the proper procedures for managing external hemorrhage (eg. direct 

pressure. pressure points. tourniquets) and the rationale for use of each. 

AC-20. Select and use the appropriate procedure for managing external hemorrhage. 

AC-21 . Explain aseptic or sterile techniques, approved sanitation methods. and universal  

precautions used in the c leaning. closure. and dressing of wounds. 

AC-22. Select and use appropriate procedures for the cleaning, closure. and dressing of 

wounds, identifying when referral is necessary. 

AC-23. Use cervical stabilization devices and techniques that are appropriate to the 

circumstances of an injury. 

AC-24. Demonstrate proper positioning and immobilization of a patient with a suspected 

spinal cord injury. 

AC-25. Perform patient transfer techniques for suspected head and spine injuries utilizing 

supine log roll, prone log roll with push. prone log roll with pull, and lift-and-slide techniques. 

AC-26. Select the appropriate spine board, including long board or short board. and use 

appropriate immobilization techniques based on the circumstance of the patient ' s  injury. 

AC-27. Explain the role of core body temperature in differentiating between exertional 

heat stroke, hyponatremia. and head injury. 

AC-28. Differentiate the different methods for assessing core body temperature. 

AC-29. Assess core body temperature using a rectal probe. 

AC-30. Explain the role of rapid full body cooling in the emergency management of 

exertional heat stroke. 

AC-31 . Assist the patient in the use of a nebulizer treatment for an asthmatic attack. 

AC-32. Determine when use of a metered-dose inhaler is warranted based on a patient ' s  

condition .  
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AC-33.  Instruct  a patient in the use of a meter-dosed inhaler in the presence of asthma

related bronchospasm. 

AC-34. Explain the importance of monitoring a patient following a head injury, including 

the role of obtaining clearance from a physician before further patient participation .  

AC-35. Demonstrate the use of an auto-injectable epinephrine in the management of allergic 

anaphylaxis. Decide when auto-injectable epinephrine use is warranted based on 

a patient 's  condition. 

AC-36. Identify the signs, symptoms, inteNentions and, when appropriate, the 

return-to-participation criteria for: 

AC-36a. sudden cardiac arrest 

AC-36b. brain injury including concussion, subdural and epidural hematomas, 

second impact syndrome and skull fracture 

AC-36c. ceNical ,  thoracic, and lumbar spine trauma 

AC-36d. heat il lness including heat cramps, heat exhaustion, exertional heat stroke, 

and hyponatremia 

AC-36e. exertional sickling associated with sickle cell trait 

AC-36f. rhabdomyolysis 

AC-36g. internal hemorrhage 

AC-36h. diabetic emergencies including hypoglycemia and ketoacidosis 

AC-36i. asthma attacks 

AC-36j. systemic allergic reaction, including anaphylactic shock 

AC-36k. epileptic and non-epileptic seizures 

AC-361. shock 

AC-36m. hypothermia, frostbite 

AC-36n. toxic drug overdoses 

AC-360. local al lergic reaction 

I mmediate Musculoskeletal Management 

AC-37. Select and apply appropriate splinting material to stabilize an injured body area. 

AC-38. Apply appropriate immediate treatment to protect the injured area and minimize 

the effects of hypoxic and enzymatic injury. 

AC-39. Select and implement the appropriate ambulatory aid based on the patient 's  

injury and activity and participation restrictions. 

Transportation 

AC-40. Determine the proper transportation technique based on the patient ' s  condition 

and findings of the immediate examination .  

AC-41 . Identify the criteria used in the decision-making process to transport the injured 

patient  for further medical examination. 

AC-42. Select and use the appropriate short-distance transportation methods, such as the 

log roll or lift and slide, for an injured patient in different situations. 

Education 

AC-36. Instruct the patient in home care and self-treatment plans for acute conditions. 
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Therapeutic Interventions (Tl) 

Athletic trainers assess the patient's status using clinician- and patient-oriented outcome measures. 

Based on this assessment and with consideration of the stage of healing and goals. a therapeutic in

tervention is designed to maximize the patient's participation and health-related quality of life. 

A broad range of interventions, methods, techniques, equipment. activities using body move

ment, and medications are incorporated into this domain. These interventions are designed to en

hance function by identifying, remediating, and preventing impairments and activity restrictions 

(functional limitations) to maximize participation. Rehabilitation is conducted in a wide variety of 

settings (eg, aquatic, clinic) with basic and contemporary equipment/modalities and on a wide 

range of patients with respect to age, overall health. and desired level of activity. Therapeutic in

terventions also include the use of prescription and nonprescription medications. For this reason, 

the athletic trainer needs to be knowledgeable about common prescription and nonprescription 

drug indications, adverse reactions, and interactions. 

The competencies identified in this section should be considered in the context of the compe

tencies identified in other content areas. For example, the knowledge and skills associated with the 

process of examination and documentation, while applicable for this content area,  are not in

cluded here. 

Thera peutic interventions include: 

• Techniques to reduce pain 

• Techniques to limit edema 

• Techniques to restore joint mobility 

• Techniques to restore muscle extensibility 

• Techniques to restore neuromuscular function 

• Exercises to improve strength, endurance. speed, and power 

• Activities to improve balance, neuromuscular control, coordination. and agility 

• Exercises to improve gait, posture. and body mechanics 

• Exercises to improve cardiorespiratory fitness 

• Functional exercises (eg, sports- or activity-specific) 

• Exercises which comprise a home-based program 

• Aquatic therapy 

• Therapeutic modalities 

superficial thermal agents (eg, hot pack, ice) 

electrical stimulation 

therapeutic ultrasound 

diathermy 

therapeutic low-level laser and light therapy 

mechanical modalities 

- traction 

- intermittent compression 

- continuous passive motion 

- massage 

- biofeedback 

• Therapeutic medications (as guided by applicable state and federal law) 
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Knowledge and Skills 

Physic al Rehabilitation and Therapeutic Modalities 

T l - 1 .  Describe and differentiate the physiological and pothophysiologicol responses to 

inflammatory and non-inflammatory conditions and the influence of these responses 

on the design .  implementation. and progression of a therapeutic intervention. 

Tl-2. Compare and contrast contemporary theories of pain perception and pain modulation .  

Tl-3.  Differentiate between palliative and primary pain-control interventions. 

Tl-4. Analyze the impact of immobilization, inactivity. and mobilization on the body 

systems (eg, cardiovascular. pulmonary, musculoskeletol) and injury response. 

Tl-5.  Compare and contrast the variations in the physiological response to injury and 

heal ing across the lifespan. 

Tl-6 .  Describe common surgical techniques, including interpretation of operative reports, 

and any resu lting precautions. contraindications. and comorbidities that impact 

the selection and progression of a therapeutic intervention program.  

Tl-7.  Identify patient- and clinician-oriented outcomes measures commonly used to 

recommend activity level. make return to ploy decisions, and maximize patient 

outcomes and progress in the treatment pion. 

Tl-8. Explain the theory and principles relating to expected physiological response (s) 

during and following therapeutic interventions. 

Tl - 9. Describe the laws of physics that ( l )  underlay the application of thermal, mechanical, 

electromagnetic .  and acoustic energy to the body and (2) form the foundation for 

the development of therapeutic interventions (eg. stress-strain. leverage, 

thermodynamics. energy transmission and attenuation. electricity) . 

Tl - 1 0. Integrate self-treatment into the intervention when appropriate, including instructing 

the patient regarding self-treatment plans. 

Tl - 1 1 .  Design therapeutic interventions to meet specified treatment goals. 

Tl - 1 1 a. Assess the patient to identify indications. contraindications, and precautions 

applicable to the intended intervention. 

Tl - 1 1 b. Position and prepare the patient for various therapeutic interventions. 

Tl - 1 1 c .  Describe the expected effects and potential adverse reactions to  the patient. 

Tl - 1 1 d .  Instruct the patient how to correctly perform rehabilitative exercises. 

Tl - 1 1 e.  Apply the intervention. using parameters appropriate to the intended outcome.  

Tl- 1 l f. Reassess the patient to determine the immediate impact of the intervention .  

Tl - 1 2. Use the results of on-going clinical examinations to determine when a therapeutic 

intervention should be progressed. regressed or discontinued. 

Tl - 1 3. Describe the relationship between the application of therapeutic modalities and the 

incorporation of active and passive exercise and/or manual therapies, including 

therapeutic massage. myofasciol techniques. and muscle energy techniques. 

Tl - 1 4 . Describe the use of joint mobilization in pain reduction and restoration of joint mobility. 
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Tl - 1 5. Perform joint mobilization techniques as indicated by examination findings. 

Tl- 1 6 . Fabricate and apply taping. wrapping. supportive. and protective devices to 

facilitate return to function. 

Tl - 1 7. Analyze gait and select appropriate instruction and correction strategies to facilitate 

safe progression to functional gait pattern . 

Tl - 1 8. Explain the relationship between posture. biomechanics. and ergodynamics and 

the need to address these components in a therapeutic intervention. 

Tl - 1 9. Identify manufacturer. institutional. state. and/or federal standards that influence 

approval, operation, inspection, maintenance and safe application of therapeutic 

modalities and rehabilitation equipment. 

Tl-20. Inspect therapeutic equipment and the treatment environment for potential 

safety hazards. 

Therapeutic Medications 

Tl-21 . Explain the federal. state. and local laws. regulations and procedures for the proper 

storage. disposal. transportation, dispensing (administering where appropriate) , 

and documentation associated with commonly used prescription and nonprescription 

medications. 

Tl-22. Identify and use appropriate pharmaceutical terminology for management of 

medications, inventory control. and reporting of pharmacological  agents commonly 

used in an athletic training facility. 

Tl -23. Use an electronic drug resource to locate and identify indications. contraindications. 

precautions. and adverse reactions for common prescription and nonprescription 

medications. 

Tl-24. Explain the major concepts of pharmacokinetics and the influence that exercise might 

have on these processes. 

Tl-25. Explain the concepts related to bioavailability. half-life. and bioequivalence (including 

the relationship between generic and brand name drugs) and their relevance to the 

patient, the choice of medication. and the dosing schedule. 

Tl-26 . Explain the pharmacodynamic principles of receptor theory. dose-response 

relationship, placebo effect. potency. and drug interactions as they relate to the 

mechanism of drug action and therapeutic effectiveness. 

Tl -27. Describe the common routes used to administer medications and their advantages 

and disadvantages. 

Tl -28. Properly assist and/or instruct the patient in the proper use. cleaning. and storage of 

drugs commonly delivered by metered dose inhalers. nebulizers. insulin pumps. or 

other parenteral routes as prescribed by the physician. 

Tl -29. Describe how common pharmacological agents influence pain and healing and 

their influence on various therapeutic interventions. 
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Tl-30. Explain the general therapeutic strategy, including drug categories used for 

treatment, desired treatment outcomes, and typical duration of treatment, for the 

following common diseases and conditions: asthma, diabetes, hypertension, 

infections, depression, GERO, allergies, pain, inflammation, and the common cold. 

Tl-3 1 . Optimize therapeutic outcomes by communicating with patients and/or appropriate 

healthcare professionals regarding compliance issues, drug interactions, adverse 

drug reactions, and sub-optimal therapy. 
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Psychosocial Strategies and Referral  (PS) 

Athletic trainers must be able to recognize clients/patients exhibiting abnormal social. emotional, 

and mental behaviors. Coupled with recognition is the ability to intervene and refer these individ

uals as necessary. Additionally, athletic trainers appreciate the role of mental health in injury and 

recovery and use interventions to optimize the connection between mental health and restoration 

of participation. 

K nowledge and Skills 

Theoretical Background 

PS- 1 .  Describe the basic principles of personality traits, trait anxiety. locus of control, 

intrinsic and extrinsic motivation. and patient and social environment interactions 

as they affect patient interactions. 

PS-2. Explain the theoretical background of psychological and emotional responses to 

injury and forced inactivity (eg, cognitive appraisal model, stress response model) . 

PS-3. Describe how psychosocial considerations affect clinical decision-making related 

to return to activity or participation (eg, motivation, confidence ) .  

PS-4. Summarize and demonstrate the basic processes of effective interpersonal and 

cross-cultural communication as it relates to interactions with patients and others 

involved in the healthcare of the patient. 

PS-5. Summarize contemporary theory regarding educating patients of all ages and 

cultural backgrounds to effect behavioral change. 

Psychosocial Strategies 

PS-6. Explain the importance of educating patients. parents/guardians, and others 

regarding the condition in order to enhance the psychological and emotional 

well-being of the patient. 

PS-7. Describe the psychological techniques (eg. goal setting. imagery, positive self-talk. 

relaxation/anxiety reduction) that the athletic trainer can use to motivate the patient 

during injury rehabilitation and return to activity processes. 

PS-8. Describe psychological interventions (eg, goal setting. motivational techniques) 

that are used to facilitate a patient' s  physical. psychological, and return to activity needs. 

PS-9. Describe the psychosocial factors that affect persistent pain sensation and 

perception (eg, emotional state. locus of control. psychodynamic issues, sociocultural  

factors. personal values and beliefs) and identify multidisciplinary approaches for 

assisting patients with persistent pain. 

PS- 1 0. Explain the impact of sociocultural issues that influence the nature and quality of 

healthcare received (eg, cultural competence, access to appropriate healthcare 

providers, uninsured/underinsured patients, insurance) and formulate and implement 

strategies to maximize client/patient outcomes. 
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Mental Health and Referral 

PS- 1 1 .  Describe the role of various mental healthcare providers (eg, psychiatrists, 

psychologists, counselors, social workers) that may comprise a mental health 

referral network. 

PS- 1 2. Identify and refer clients/patients in need of mental healthcare. 

PS- 1 3. Identify and describe the basic signs and symptoms of mental health disorders (eg, 

psychosis, neurosis; sub-clinical mood disturbances (eg, depression, anxiety) ; and 

personal/social conflict (eg, adjustment to injury, family problems, academic or 

emotional  stress, personal assault or abuse, sexual assault or harassment) that may 

indicate the need for referral to a mental healthcare professional. 

PS- 1 4. Describe the psychological and sociocultural factors associated with common 

eating disorders. 

PS - 1 5.  Identify the symptoms and clinical signs of substance misuse/abuse, the psycho

logical and sociocultural factors associated with such misuse/abuse, its impact on 

an  individual 's health and physical performance, and the need for proper referral 

to a healthcare professional. 

PS- 1 6. Formulate a referral for an individual with a suspected mental health or substance 

abuse problem. 

PS- 1 7. Describe the psychological and emotional responses to a catastrophic event, the 

potential need for a psychological intervention and a referral plan for al l  parties 

affected by the event. 

PS- 1 8. Provide appropriate education regarding the condition and plan of care to the 

patient and appropriately discuss with others as needed and as appropriate to 

protect patient privacy . 
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Healthcare Administration (HA) 

Athletic trainers function within the context of a complex healthcare system. Integral to this func

tion is an understanding of risk management, healthcare delivery mechanisms, insurance, reim

bursement, documentation, patient privacy, and facility management. 

K nowledge and Skills 

HA- 1 .  Describe the role of the athletic trainer and the delivery of athletic training services 

within the context of the broader healthcare system. 

HA-2. Describe the impact of organizational structure on the daily operations of a 

healthcare facility. 

HA-3. Describe the role of strategic planning as a means to assess and promote 

organizational improvement. 

HA-4. Describe the conceptual components of developing and implementing a basic 

business plan .  

HA-5. Describe basic healthcare facility design for a safe and efficient clinical practice setting. 

HA-6.  Explain components of the budgeting process including: purchasing ,  requisition, 

bidding, request for proposal, inventory, profit and loss ratios. budget balancing, 

and return on investments. 

HA-7. Assess the value of the services provided by an athletic trainer (eg, return on 

investment) . 

HA-8. Develop operational and capital budgets based on a supply inventory and needs 

assessment; including capital equipment, salaries and benefits, trending analysis, 

facility cost, and common expenses. 

HA-9. Identify the components that comprise a comprehensive medical record. 

HA- 1 O. Identify and explain the statutes that regulate the privacy and security of medical records. 

HA-1 1 .  Use contemporary documentation strategies to effectively communicate with 

patients, physicians, insurers, colleagues, administrators, and parents or family members. 

HA- 1 2. Use a comprehensive patient-file management system for appropriate chart 

documentation, risk management, outcomes, and billing . 

HA- 1 3. Define state and federal statutes that regulate employment practices. 

HA- 1 4. Describe principles of recruiting, selecting, hiring, and evaluating employees. 

HA- 1 5. Identify principles of recruiting, selecting, employing, and contracting with physicians 

and other medical and healthcare personnel in the deployment of healthcare services. 

HA- 1 6. Describe federal and state infection control regulations and guidelines, including 

universal precautions as mandated by the Occupational Safety and Health Adminis

tration (OSHA),  for the prevention, exposure, and control of infectious diseases. and 

discuss how they apply to the practicing of athletic training. 

HA-1 7. Identify key regulatory agencies that impact healthcare facilities, and describe 

their function in the regulation and overall delivery of healthcare.  
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H A- 1 8. Describe the basic legal principles that apply to an athletic trainer's responsibilities. 

H A- 1 9. Identify components of a risk management plan to include security, fire, electrical 

and equipment safety, emergency preparedness, and hazardous chemicals. 

H A-20. Create a risk management plan and develop associated policies and procedures 

to guide the operation of athletic training services within a healthcare facility to 

include issues related to security, fire, electrical and equipment safety, emergency 

preparedness, and hazardous chemicals. 

HA-21 . Develop comprehensive, venue-specific emergency action plans for the care 

of acutely injured or ill individuals. 

HA-22. Develop specific plans of care for common potential emergent conditions (eg, 

asthma attack, diabetic emergency) . 

H A-23. Identify and explain the recommended or required components of a pre-participa

tion examination based on appropriate authorities ' rules, guidelines, and/or 

recommendations. 

HA-24. Describe a plan to access appropriate medical assistance on disease control, 

notify medical authorities, and prevent disease epidemics. 

HA-25. Describe common health insurance models, insurance contract negotiation, and 

the common benefits and exclusions identified within these models. 

HA-26. Describe the criteria for selection, common features, specifications, and required 

documentation needed for secondary, excess accident, and catastrophic health 

insurance.  

HA-27. Describe the concepts and procedures for revenue generation and reimbursement. 

HA-28. Understand the role of and use diagnostic and procedural codes when documenting 

patient care. 

HA-29. Explain typical administrative policies and procedures that govern first aid and 

emergency care .  

HA-30. Describe the role and functions of various healthcare providers and protocols that 

govern the referral of patients to these professionals. 
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Professional  Development and Responsibi l ity (PD) 

The provision of  high quality patient care requires that the athletic trainer maintain current com

petence in the constantly changing world of healthcare. Athletic trainers must also embrace the 

need to practice within the limits of state and national regulation using moral and ethical judgment. 

As members of a broader healthcare community, athletic trainers work collaboratively with other 

healthcare providers and refer clients/patients when such referral is warranted. 

Knowledge and Skills 

P D- 1 .  Summarize the athletic training profession ' s  history and development and how 

current athletic training practice has been influenced by its past. 

PD-2. Describe the role and function of the National Athletic Trainers '  Association and its 

influence on the profession. 

PD-3.  Describe the role and function of the Board of Certification, the Commission on 

Accreditation of Athletic Training Education. and state regulatory boards. 

PD-4. Explain the role and function of state athletic training practice acts and registration, 

licensure, and certification agencies including ( 1 )  basic legislative processes for the 

implementation of practice acts, (2)  rationale for state regulations that govern 

the practice of athletic training, and (3) consequences of violating federal and 

state regulatory acts. 

PD-5.  Access. analyze. and differentiate between the essential documents of the national  

governing, credentialing and regulatory bodies, including, but not limited to.  the 

NATA A thletic Training Educational Competencies. the BOC Standards o f  Professional 

Practice. the NATA Code of Ethics. and the BOC Role Delineation Study/Practice Analysis. 

PD-6 .  Explain the process of  obtaining and maintaining necessary local. state, and national  

credentials for the practice of athletic training.  

PD-7. Perform a self-assessment of professional competence and create a professional 

development plan to maintain necessary credentials and promote life-long learning 

strategies. 

PD-8.  Differentiate among the preparation, scopes of practice. and roles and responsibilities 

of healthcare providers and other professionals with whom athletic trainers interact. 

PD-9 .  Specify when referral of  a client/patient to another healthcare provider i s  warranted 

and formulate and implement strategies to facilitate that referral .  

PD- 1 0. Develop healthcare educational programming specific to the target audience 

(eg, clients/patients. healthcare personnel. administrators. parents. general public ) .  

PD-1 1 .  Identify strategies to educate colleagues, students, patients. the public. and other 

healthcare professionals about the roles, responsibilities. academic preparation. 

and scope of practice of athletic trainers. 

P D- 1 2. Identify mechanisms by which athletic trainers influence state and federal healthcare 

regulation. 
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Clinical Integration Proficiencies (CIP) 

The clinical integration proficiencies (CIPs) represent the synthesis and integration of knowledge, 
skills, and clinical decision-making into actual client/patient care . The CIPs have been reorgan
ized into this section (rather than at the end of each content area) to reflect their global nature. 
For example, therapeutic interventions do not occur in isolation from physical assessment. 

In most cases, assessment of the CIPs should occur when the student is engaged in real client/pa
tient care and may be necessarily assessed over multiple interactions with the same client/patient. 
In a few instances, assessment may require simulated scenarios, as certain circumstances may 
occur rarely but are nevertheless important to the well-prepared practitioner. 

The incorporation of evidence-based practice principles into care provided by athletic trainers 
is central to optimizing outcomes. Assessment of student competence in the CIPs should reflect 
the extent to which these principles are integrated. Assessment of students in the use of Founda
tional Behaviors in the context of real patient care should also occur. 

Prevention & Health Promotion 

CIP-1. Administer testing procedures to obtain baseline data regarding a client's/patient's 
level of general health (including nutritional habits, physical activity status, and body 
composition). Use this data to design, implement. evaluate, and modify a program 
specific to the performance and health goals of the patient. This will include instruct
ing the patient in the proper performance of the activities, recognizing the warning 
signs and symptoms of potential injuries and illnesses that may occur, and explaining 
the role of exercise in maintaining overall health and the prevention of diseases. Incor
porate contemporary behavioral change theory when educating clients/patients 
and associated individuals to effect health-related change. Refer to other medical 
and health professionals when appropriate. 

CIP-2. Select, apply, evaluate. and modify appropriate standard protective equipment, 
taping, wrapping, bracing, padding, and other custom devices for the client/patient 
in order to prevent and/or minimize the risk of injury to the head, torso, spine, and 
extremities for safe participation in sport or other physical activity. 

CIP-3. Develop, implement, and monitor prevention strategies for at-risk individuals (eg, 
persons with asthma or diabetes, persons with a previous history of heat illness, 
persons with sickle cell trait} and large groups to allow safe physical activity in a 
variety of conditions. This includes obtaining and interpreting data related to 
potentially hazardous environmental conditions, monitoring body functions (eg, 
blood glucose, peak expiratory flow, hydration status}, and making the 
appropriate recommendations for individual safety and activity status. 
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Clinical Assessment & Diagnosis I Acute Care I Therapeutic Intervention 

CIP-4. Perform a comprehensive clinical examination of a patient with an upper extremity, 
lower extremity, head, neck, thorax, and/or spine injury or condition. This exam should 
incorporate clinical reasoning in the selection of assessment procedures and interpre
tation of findings in order to formulate a differential diagnosis and/or diagnosis, 
determine underlying impairments, and identify activity limitations and participation 
restrictions. Based on the assessment data and consideration of the patient's goals, 
provide the appropriate initial care and establish overall treatment goals. Create and 
implement a therapeutic intervention that targets these treatment goals to include, 
as appropriate, therapeutic modalities, medications (with physician involvement 
as necessary), and rehabilitative techniques and procedures. Integrate and interpret 
various forms of standardized documentation including both patient-oriented and 
clinician-oriented outcomes measures to recommend activity level. make return to 
play decisions, and maximize patient outcomes and progress in the treatment plan. 

CIP-5. Perform a comprehensive clinical examination of a patient with a common illness/condition 
that includes appropriate clinical reasoning in the selection of assessment procedures and 
interpretation of history and physical examination findings in order to formulate a differential 
diagnosis and/or diagnosis. Based on the history, physical examination, and patient goals, 
implement the appropriate treatment strategy to include medications (with physician 
involvement as necessary). Determine whether patient referral is needed, and identify 
potential restrictions in activities and participa-tion. Formulate and communicate the 
appropriate return to activity protocol. 

CIP-6. Clinically evaluate and manage a patient with an emergency injury or condition to include 
the assessment of vital signs and level of consciousness, activation of emergency action 
plan, secondary assessment, diagnosis, and provision of the appropriate emergency care 
(eg, CPR, AED, supplemental oxygen, airway adjunct, splinting, spinal stabilization, control 
of bleeding). 

Psychosocial Strategies and Referral 

CIP-7. Select and integrate appropriate psychosocial techniques into a patient's treatment 
or rehabilitation program to enhance rehabilitation adherence. return to play, and 
overall outcomes. This includes. but is not limited to, verbal motivation, goal setting, 
imagery, pain management, self-talk, and/or relaxation. 

CIP-8. Demonstrate the ability to recognize and refer at-risk individuals and individuals with 
psychosocial disorders and/or mental health emergencies. As a member of the manage
ment team, develop an appropriate management plan (including recom-mendations 
for patient safety and activity status) that establishes a professional helping relationship 
with the patient, ensures interactive support and education, and encourages the athletic 
trainer's role of informed patient advocate in a manner consistent with current practice 
guidelines. 

Healthcare Administration 

CIP-9. Utilize documentation strategies to effectively communicate with patients, physicians, insur
ers. colleagues, administrators, and parents or family members while using appropriate ter
minology and complying with statues that regulate privacy of medical records. This includes 
using a comprehensive patient-file management system (including diagnostic and proce
dural codes) for appropriate chart documentation, risk management, outcomes, and billing. 
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UMary Advising Manual 
Athletic Training Major 4 yr. Degree Plan 

Athletic Training Pre-Admission Courses are in BOLD prinC Sophomore year needs to be 

completed in correct sequence for the student to be able to be admitted into the program 

Freshman: 
ALU/HSL 122 
ART ---
BIO 103 
ENG 121/COM 1 10 
PED 157 
PED 159 
POL 101/ANT 171 

ANT 171/POL 101 
ATH 121  
ATH 151 
ATH 238 
ENG 121/COM 1 10 
HPS 206 
THE 

Fall 
Freshman Leadership Seminar/HSL ( 1  or 2 credits) 
Art Core (ART 108, 1 15, 1 16, MUS 196, ENG 130) 
General Biology (Math-Science) 
College Comp II/Oral Communcations 
First Aid (1/2 of sememster) 
Personal and Community Health (1/2 of sememster) 
Responsible Citzenship (Core)/Culture Anthropology (Core) 

Spring 
Culture Anthropology (Core)/Responsible Citzenship (Core) 
Intro to Athletic Training 
Intro to Athletic Training Taping Tech 
Prevention & Care of Athletic Injuries 
College Comp II/Oral Communcations 
Medical Terminology 
Theology (Core 104, 108, 1 10) 

Spring Credits 
Total Freshman Credits 

1 
3 
4 
3 
1 
3 
3 

18 

3 
1 
1 
2 
3 
2 
3 

15 
33 

-- - -----· ---·- -- -· - --- -------�----- -·---�·�� ,.--.,.,...,�.-� �;j 
Sophomore: 
ATH 243 
BIO 207 
CIS 101 
PHI 108 
PSY 201 

THE/PHI 
ATH 200 
ATH 244 
ATH 3 14 
BIO 208 
PED 360 

Junior: 
ATH 300 
ATH 327 
ATH 329 
ATH 353 
MAT 180 

ATH 305 
ATH 3 16 
ATH 3 19 
ATH 328 

� ,._�.· ... .-.:l:.:. .. I..:.:__: :./··· .. �;a;...:��� 
Fall 
Intro to Clinical Education in Athletic Training I 
Human Anatomy and Physiology I (Math-Science) 

Intro to Computers 
Search for truth 
Introduction to Psychology (Social and Behavioral Science) 

Spring Required core (THE wel lness) 
Intro to Clinical Experience 
Intro to Clinical Education in Athletic Training II 
Advanced Techniques in Athletic Training 
Human Anatomy and Physiology II (Math-Science) 
Biomechanical and Kinesiological Studies 

Fall Credits 

Spring Credits 
Total Sophomore Credits 

Fall 
Clinical Experience I 
Evaluative Procedures in Athletic Training I 
Therapeutic Modalities in Athletic Training 

General Medical Conditions in Athletic Training 
Elementary Statistics/Applied Statistics (Liberal Arts) 

Spring 
Clinical Experience II 
Basic Pharmacology for Human Performance Sciences 
Therapeutic Exercise in Athletic Training 
Evaluative Procedures in Athletic Training II 

AT Major 4 yr Degree 

Fall Credits 

2 
4 
3 
3 
3 

15 

3 
1 
3 
3 
4 
4 

18 
33 

1 
4 
3 
3 
4 

15 

1 
3 
3 
2 



Senior: 
ATH 400 

ATH 441 
ATH 453 
ATH 354 
EXS 336 

ALU 499 
ATH 317 

ATH 405 
PHY 3xx 
ATH 454 
PHI/TH 

UMary Advising Manual 
Athletic Training Major 4 yr. Degree Plan 

Life Span Development (Social Science) 

Fall 
Clinical Experience III 
Practicum in Athletic Tra ining (or spring) 
Athletic Training Senior Capstone I 
Healthcare Administration 
Exercise Physiology 

Spring 
Senior Outcomes Assessment: HPS 
Sports Nutrition for Health and Performance 
Clinical Experience IV 
Psychology of Injury 
Athletic Training Senior Capstone II 
Core 

3 

Spring Credits 12 
Total Junior Credits 27 

1 
1 
3 
3 
4 

Fall Credits 12 

0 
3 
1 
3 
3 

3 
Spring Credits 13 

Total Senior Credits 25 
Total Credits 118 

The prospective student must have successfully completed the following courses with a g rade of B or 
better to be admitted into the professional program : ATH 151, 238, 243; and PED 157; 
successfully completed the following courses with a grade of C- or better: BIO 103, 207; H PS 206; 
PED 159; have a minimum cumulative GPA of 2.5 on a 4.0 scale for Required course work 
(including transfer courses); and maintain First Aid and Emergency Cardiac Care Certification. 

Athletic Training Education Program Professional Course Requirements: 
ATH 200,244,300,305,314,316,317 ,319 ,327 ,3 28,329 ,353,354,400,405,441,453,454 
EXS 336; PSY 201,207; MAT 180 

Wellness Minor Requirements: H PS 310, PSY 207, ATH 317 or SCI 224, THE 302, 320, 363 
Electives (8 Credits chosen among the following courses: ATH 238, BUS 215, 
362, 371, 381; EXS 302; PSY 307, 308, 406; PED 159, 267, 326; THE 215 or 315). 

Application and Admission to the U-Mary Physical Therapy Program Core Requirements: 
BIO 207,208, 209; PSY 207,406; CHE 109 or 111, 110 or 112, PHY 204, 304 
GPA above 3.5 recommended in these courses 

CURRICULUM SUBJECT TO CHANGE 

AT Major 4 yr Degree 



UNDAT 

.S. in Athletic Training 

uired 127 credits (36 of which must be numbered 300 or above, and 60 of which must be from a 4-year institution) 
luding: 

I. Essential Studies Requirements (see University ES listing). 

II. The following curriculum: 

Pre-Admission Courses 

The student must earn a letter grade of C or better in the following courses to be admitted in the program. 

BIOL 150 
& !SOL 

General Biology I 
and General Biology I Laboratory 

The student must earn a letter grade of B or better in the following courses to be admitted in the program. 

FMED 101 Orientation to Athletic Training 

E~lEQ ?Q7 Prevention and Care of Athletic Injuries 

FMED 207L Laborator; Prevention and Care of Athletic Injuries 

4 

1 

2 

1 

At the time of application to the Athletic Training Program, the student must have completed or be enrolled in all of the 
above courses. In addition, the student must show proof of First Aid and CPR certifications or enrollment in: 

I KIN 110 First Aid and CPR 

Core Courses 

The following core courses are required for the S.S. in Athletic Training: 

EM 121 
121L 

ENGL 110 

ENGL 130 

MED 205 

PHYS 161 

PHYS 162 

PSYC 111 

psyc 241 

PSYC 250 

General Chemistry I 
and General Chemistry I Laboratory -

Fundamentals of Public Speaking ..,. 
·~--------

Co 11 e g e Composition I .,,. 

Composition II: Writing for Public Audiences 

Medical Terminology 

Introductory College Physics I (includes lab) ... 

Introductory College Physics II (includes lab)"• 

Introduction to Psychology "" 

Introduction to Statistics "~ 

Developmental Psychology 

1 

4 

3 
·---·-------· 

3 

3 

1 

4 

4 

3 

4 

4 
------------------------------j 

soc lJQ Introduction to Sociology •• 3 

Arts & Humanities Requirement ... 9 

Electives 16 

Total Credits 61 



Professional Courses 

The following are essential professional courses to become an entry-level athletic trainer: 

I ANAT 204 na omy or arame 1ca ersonne ., 
l ... 

FMED 205 Anatomy for Athletic Trainers 2 I 

A f p d. IP 

I 
FMED 208 Procedures in Athletic Training 1 

I FMED 208L Laboratory Procedures in Athletic Training 1 

FMED 200 Understanding Medicine 3 I 
FMED 211 Beginning Clinical Practicum I in Athletic Training i I 

I 

FMED 213 Beginning Clinical Practicum in Athletic Training 1 I 
FMED 311 Intermediate Cl inical Practicum I in Athletic Training 2 i 

I 

FMED 312 Medical Aspects of Sports 2 I 
---j 

FMED 313 Intermediate Clinical Practicum II in Athletic Training 2 : 
I 

FMED 320 Athletic Training Modalities 2 i 
I 

FMED 320L Laboratory Athletic Training Modalities 1 I 
' 

FMED 321 Athletic Training Rehabilitation Techniques 2 I 
FMED 321L Laboratory Athletic Injury Rehabilitation Techniques 1 ! 
FMED 343 Organizational Administration of Athletic Training 3 ! 

2 I FMED 411 Advanced Clinical Practicum I in Athletic Training 
I 

FMED 413 Advanced Clinical Practicum II in Athletic Training 2 I 
FMED 481 Athletic Injury Assessment 4 i 

' FMED 491 Seminar in Athletic Training 
2 1 

FMED 497 Internship in Athletic Training 3 I 
NUTR 240 Fundamentals of Nutrition 3 I 

I 
KIN 332 Biomechanics 3 I 
KIN 402 Exercise Physiology 3 I 

! 

PPT 301 Human Physiology 4 

PPT 320 Pharmacology in Sport 2 



Courses 

FMED 101. Orientation to Athletic Training. 1 Credit. 
Overview of the field of athletic training. Survey of the role of the athletic trainer. Films, lectures, and observation in 

ical settings. F,S. 

ED 200. Understanding Medicine. 3 Credits. 
n overview of the broad parameters of family medicine. Guest speakers are brought in to discuss various facets ·of 

medicine. S. 

FMED 205. Anatomy for Athletic Trainers. 2 Credits. 
A course to learn and palpate human anatomy structures and their functions. Prerequisite: Deparment consent. F. 

FMED 207. Prevention and Care of Athletic Injuries. 2 Credits. 
An introductory course into the care and treatment of athletic injuries. Corequisite: FMED 207L F,S. 

FMED 207L. Laboratory Prevention and Care of Athletic Injuries. 1 Credit. 
A practical laboratory to develop athletic taping skills taught in FMED 207. Corequisite: FMED 207. F,S. 

FMED 208. Procedures in Athletic Training. 1 Credit. 
This course serves as an orientation class for incoming sports health majors. Policies and procedures as well as record 
kee ping are covered. Prerequisites: FMED 207 and FMED 207l. Corequisite: fl.!ED 205 and FMED 208l. F. 

FMED 208L. Laboratory Procedures in Athletic Training. 1 Credit. 

A course designed to allow students to get practical experiences in injury management, modality usage and record 
keeping skills taught in FMED 208. Prerequisites: FMED 207 and fl.IED 207L. Corequisite: FMED 205 and FMED 208. F. 

FMED 211. Beginning Clinical Practicum I in Athletic Training. 1 Credit. 
A clinical course designed to aliow the student to develop specified clinical competencies in a directed, progressive 
manner. Prerequisites: FMED 101, FMED 207 and FMED 207L. Corequisi te: FMED 208 and FMED 208L F. 

FMED 213. Beginning Clinical Practicum in Athletic Training. 1 Credit. 
A clinical course designed to allow the student to develop specified clinical competencies in a directed, progressive 
manner. Prerequisites: FMED 208 and FMED 208L S. 

D 311. Intermediate Clinical Practicum I in Athletic Training. 2 Credits. 
linical course des igned to allo·...- the student to develop specified clinical competencies in a directed progressive 

anner. Prerequisite: FMED 213. F. 

FMED 312. Medical Aspects of Sports. 2 Credits. 
A course desig ned to introduce students to various medical spec.ia lities and medical problems and their effects on 
athletic participation. Prerequisite: Permission of instructor. F. 

FMED 313. Intermediate Clinical Practicum II in Athletic Training. 2 Credits. 
A clinical course designed to allow students to develop specified clinical competencies in a directed progressive 
manner. Prerequisite: FMED 481. Corequisite: FMED 320, FMED 321 and FMED 321L. S . 

FMED 320. Athletic Training Modalities. 2 Credits. 
A course designed to present the theoretical and applied principles and techniques fo r the application of modalities in 
sports injury care. Prerequisite: FMED 481. S. 

FMED 320L. Laboratory Athletic Training Modalities. 1 Credit. 
A course designed to practice the theoretical and applied principles and techniques for the application of modalities in 

sports injury care. Prerequisite: FMEP 481. Corequisite: FMEP "l20. S. 

FMED 321. Athletic Training Rehabilitation Techniques. 2 Credits. 
A course designed to explain the principles and techniques of rehabilitation as they apply to athletic injuries. 
Prerequisite: FMED 481. Corequisite: FMED 321L. S. 

FMED 321L. Laboratory Athletic Injury Rehabilitation Techniques. 1 Credit. 
A course designed to allow students practical skill development of rehabilitation techniques utilized in athletic injury 
care as taught in FMED 321. Prerequisite: FNED 481. Corequisite: FMED 321. S. 

FMED 343. Organizational Administration of Athletic Training. 3 Credits. 
urse designed to acquaint students with the theories and principles of administration. Administrative functi ons as 
relate to the athletic trainer will be explained. Prerequisite: Senior standing or consent of instructor. S. 



FMED 411. Advanced Clinical Practicum I in Athletic Training. 2 Credits. 
A clinical course designed to allow the student to develop specified clinical competencies in a directed progressive 
manner. Prerequisite: FMED 313. F. 

FMED 413. Advanced Clinical Practicum II in Athletic Training. 2 Credits. 
A clinical course designed to allow the student to develop specified clinical competencies in a directed progressive 
manner. Prerequisite: FMED 313 . S. 

FMED 481. Athletic Injury Assessment. 4 Credits. 
A course designed to instruct the student in the theories and skills of injury evaluation. Prerequisite: FMED 213. F. 

FMED 491. Seminar in Athletic Training. 2 Credits. 
Advanced work in athletic training to include surgical and conservative injury management, rehabilitation and injur; . 
Repeatable to 4 credits. Prerequisite: Permission of instructor. F,S. 

FMED 494. Directed Studies in Athletic Training. 1-4 Credits. 
An in-depth study in a subject area selected by the student under tutorial supervision. Repeatable to 6 credits. 
Prerequisite: Instructor approval. F,S. 

FMED 497. Internship in Athletic Training. 3 Credits. 
Off campus athletic training experience designed to expose the student to alternate concepts of care. Repeatable up to 
6 credits with instructor permission. Prerequisite: FMED 313. F,S,SS. 



UND PT 

Doctor of Physical Therapy (D.P.T.) 

Admission Requirements 

Pre-Physical Therapy 

Prior to admission, a minimum of 90 semester hours of credit from an approved college or university is required. 
Students should be broadly educated in the sciences and humanitie.s. The Department of Physical Therapy recognizes 
that, since physical therapy deals with people, an understanding of literature, art, history, ethics, and philosophy is an 
adjunct to a physical therapist. Science and humanities are both viewed as necessary for the practice of physical 
therapy. 

The following list of courses and credits indicates the core prerequisites all applicants must complete prior to admission 
to the physical therapy program. It is strongly recommended that students be computer literate prior to entering the 
professional program. Students may take additional electives from any field of study; however, the depth of the pre
physical therapy education should demonstrate that students have progressed from simple to complex studies in at 
least one content area . This requirement might typically be demonstrated by a discipline major, but in any case should 
demonstrate a basic comprehensiveness and integrity of study within a particular content area. This does not suggest 
that a separate undergraduate degree must be awarded; however, the breadth and depth in a discipline should be 
demonstrated. Course credits equivalent to a minor, i.e., approximately 20 credits at UNO, in a particular discipline 
could accomplish this requirement. The prospective student should include eight (8) credits frnm upper level courses, 
i.e., 300 and/or 400 numbers. 

• Two semesters of General Biology (8 er.) 

• Two semesters of General Chemistry (8 er.) 

• Two semesters of General Physics (8 er.) 

• One semester of Human Anatomy (3 er.) 

• One semester of Human Physiology (3 to 4 er.) 

• One seme.ster of Introductory Psychology (3 er.) 

• One semester of Developmental Psychology (3 to 4 er.) 

• One semester of Abnormal Psychology (3 er.) 

• One semester of a Public Speaking course (3 er.) 

• One semester of an undergraduate statistics course (3 er.) 

• Essential Studies requirements 

All of th e prerequisite coursework must be completed before entering the professional program; however, the 
prospective student may be enrolled in pre-professional coursework at the time of application. Students must apply for 
the profess ional program through the PTCAS system. WICHE-eligible students should apply through the WICHE 
certification process. Please refer'to the UNO-PT website at: www.med .und.edu/physical-therapy for application 
details. 



Admission Requirements 

Acceptance is on a competitive basis, with the major determ inant being the basic science gra d e  point average. The 

basic science GPA is defined as:  biology (eight semester credits), chemistry (eight semester credits), physics (eight 

semester credits), anatomy (three semester credits), physiology (four semester credits), a n d  psychology (seven 

sem ester credits). In addition to the science GPA, GRE score, and cumu lative GPA, an interview and letters of 

reference will  be considered in the a d mission process. Prospective students are expected to complete at least 60 hours 

of physical therapy observation prior to application. 

The applicant m ust meet the School of Graduate Studies's current minimum general admission rquirements as 

published in the g rad uate catalog.  

1 .  Completion of the application for a d m ission to the professional program and UNO School of Graduate Studies 

application form . 

2. Submission of score from the Graduate Record Examination General Test. 

3. Satisfy the School of Graduate Studies' Engl ish Language Proficiency requirements as published in the graduate 

catalog.  

4 .  Applicants who have received their bachelors or masters degree in the United States or Eng lish-speaking Canada 

are not required to submit the TOEFL or I ELTS. 

Degree Requ i rements 

1. Students m ust be formally a ccepted i nto the professional education compon ent of the DPT and e nd orsed b y  the 

Chair  of Physical Therapy.  NOTE : Acceptance by the U N O  Office of Adm issions or the School of Graduate Studies 

d oes not constitute a ccepta nce into the profession a l  prog ram i n  Physical Therapy. 

2. The professiona l  education component of the DPT wil l  require three academic years and two sum mer sessions 
fol lowing com pletion of the pre-physical thera p y  entran ce req uirements .  

3 .  N o  stud e n t  will be a l lowed t o  rem ain i n  the progra m  or complete t h e  full-ti m e  clinical experiences u n l ess h e/sh e  

atta ins a letter gra d e  of a t  least �c i n  t h e  m ajor courses. 

4. To a dvance to can d i d a cy, the student m ust successfully com plete t h e  first year compre hensive examinat ion,  a n d  

m aintain a cumulative S chool o f  Gra duate Stud ies GPA of > 3 . 0 0  AND/OR a s u m m e r  session G P A  of > 3 . 0 0 .  

Stu d e n ts w h o  fail t o  a dv a n ce t o  ca n d id a cy d uring t h e  first year wi l l  b e  d ismissed from t h e  professional progra m .  

5.  After a d v a n cement t o  can d i d a cy, t h e  stu d ent i s  expected t o  m a i ntain a cu mulative G PA of > 3 . 0 0 .  T h e  S chool o f  

Gra d u ate Studies wi l l  m onitor t h e  cumulative GPA, which m ust b e  > 3 . 0 0 .  I f  t h e  cum u lative GPA i s  n o t  > 3 . 00,  

the S ch ool of Gra d u ate Studies policies for probation a n d  dismissal for G PA wi l l  g overn the student's status.  

6 .  Students i n  the professional  program should be aware that there are specia l  requirements for cl inica l  unifom1s, 

professional  liability insurance, m ed ical  insurance, i m m u nizations, CPR certification,  and com pletion of a cri m i n a l  

b a ckground check. These requ irements m ust be m e t  prior t o  a n y  clinical contact with pati ents. T h e  stu d e n t  will  

a lso be responsible for travel, housi n g ,  and food costs, i n  addition to the payment of tuition and fees, d u ri n g  the 

full-tim e  cl inica l  experience semesters .  The m ajority of these experiences wil l  be completed a t  g eo g ra p hi c a l  

locations other t h a n  the City of G ra n d  Forks. 

7. Prospective students should b e  a wa re that a felony conviction m ay affect a gra d uate's a bil ity to obtain a 

professional  license to practice physical thera py. 

8. The faculty reserves the rig ht to place on professional  probation or to cancel the registration of any stu d e n t  in 

Physical Therapy whose perform ance i n  the classroom or the cl inic is unsatisfactory. 



Pre-Physical Therapy 

I ENGL 110 College Composition I 

I ENGL 120 

I or ENGL 125 I 
COMM 110 Fundamentals of Public Speaking 

Fine Arts and Humanities 
~ 

BIOL 150 General Biology I 
& BIOL 151 and General Biology II 

CHEM 121 General Chemistry I 
& CHEM 122 and General Chemistry II 

Social Science 

PSYC 111 Introduction to Psychology 

PHYS 161 Introductory College Physics I 
& PHYS 162 and Introductory College Physics II 

ANAT 204 Anatomy for Paramedical Personnel 

PPT 3 01 Human Physiology 

I PSYC 250 Developmental Psychology 

PSYC 270 Abnom1al Psychology 

Statistics 

Cognate/Minor (required) 

Electives {required, minimum of 20 with emphasis in a single discipline) 

Bachelor of General Studies Degree with Health Studies Option 

This degree will be available to Physical Therapy students who: 

1. do not already have a baccalaureate degree, 

2. have completed at least 30 of the 90 pre-Physical Therapy credits at UND before beginning Professional Year One, 

3. have successfully completed fall and spring semesters of Professional Year One. 

The BGS degree would nom1ally then be awarded at the end of the spring semester of Professional Year One if the 
student has completed all general UNO graduation requirements: 

1. 125 total credits, 

2. 60 credits from 4-year schools, including at least 30 from UND, 

3. 36 upper-level credits, 

4. all essential studies requirements. 
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Professional Program - Physical Therapy 

~f :ssional Yea ; 1 

~ tot•N•otioo T0<hoiqm I 

PT 402 P f IC f ro ess1ona ommumca ion an dB h . e av1or ---
PT 422 Anatomy for Physical Therapy 

PT 423 Neuroscience for Physical Therapy 

PT 510 Integrated Clinical Experience 

PT 513 Intervention Techniques II 

Spring 

I PT 409 Clinical Pathology I 

PT 412 Biomechanics and Kinesiology 

PT 413 Exercise in Health and Disease 

PT 415 Motor Control 

PT 417 Clinical Exam and Evaluation I 

PT 426 Manual Therapy I 

PT 510 Integrated Clinical Experience 

Summer 

PT 410 Clinical Pathology II 

PT 512 Therapeutic Agents 

PT 514 Case Management I 

PT 510 Integrated Clinical Experience 

PT 519 Electrotherapy and Electrodiagnosis 

Professional Year 2 

Fall 

PT 521 Critical Inquiry I 

PT 528 Clinical Education I 

PT 529 Clinical Education II 

Spring 

Administration in Physical Therapy 

Lifespan I 

PT 524 Psychological Aspects of Disability 
1------------

PT 525 Clinical Examination and Evaluation II 

PT 527 Critical Inquiry II 

Cardiopulmonary Physical Therapy 

Evidence in Practice 

Electives 

---- - -----·---- ·- - -·=-··1 

"'··;: I 
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Summer 

PT 535 Lifespan II 2 

PT 562 Readings: Physical Therapy 2 

£Lill Research in Physical Therapy 2 

PT 592 Case Management II 2 

Electives 1-2 
.. 

Professional Year 3 ·. 
·-

Fall 

EL5.ll Applied Movement Science and Rehabilitation Procedures 4 

PT 526 Manual Therapy II 2. 

PT 539 Prevention and Wellness 2 

PT 541 Clinical Examination and Evaluation Ill 3 

Electives 1-3 
.. 

Spring ,_. 
.eug Clinical Education III 9 

PT 553 Clinical Education IV 9 

PT 995 Scholarly Project 1 

Total Credits: 122-130 



cJ 51 
Courses 

PT 5 10 .  I ntegrated Clinical Experience. 1 Credit. 

S hort-term clinical experience to provide hands-on experience for students to a pply knowledge learned d u ring the first 

year of the professional prog ram .  Experiences wil l  be set up in acute care, sub-acute care, long-term care, out- patient 

orthopedic, or a rural site. Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum is the prerequisite. F,S,SS. 

PT 5 1 1 . App lied Movement Science and Rehabilitation Procedu res. 4 Credits. 

Integration of clinical eva luation, functional goals, and treatment planning for ind ividuals with neurolog ical and m ultiple 

m usculoskeletal dysfunction. The primary focus i s  on rehabilitation ski l ls including assessment, exercise, handling 

techniqu es, functional activities, equipment prescription, patient education, and ADLs, as wel l  as community m obi lity 

and governm ental services. Laboratory. Prerequisite : Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curricul u m .  

P T  5 12. Therapeutic Agents. 3 Credits. 

Theory and a p pl ication of various hydrotherapy, phototherapy, and thermotherapy m odalities in Physica l Therapy, 

including heat,  l ight, sou nd,  and water. Laboratory. Prerequisite: Registered i n  Professional Physical Therapy 

Curricul u m .  

PT 5 1 3 .  Intervention Techniques II .  3 Credits. 

Theory and practical application of introductory patient care techniques in physical therapy. Laboratory. Prerequisite:  

Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curricul u m .  

PT 5 14 .  Case Management I. 2 Credits. 

Theory a n d  practical application of introductory patient care techniques in physical therapy. Laboratory. Prere q uisite: 

Registered in  Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 5 19.  Electrotherapy and Electrodiagnosis. 2 Credits. 

Theory and appl ication of therapeutic electrical currents, biofeedback, electromyography, and nerve con d u ction 

velocity in physical therapy. Laboratory Prere quisite : Registered i n  Professional Physical Therapy Cu rriculum. 

PT 521. Critical Inquiry I. 1 Credit. 

Introduction to the collection of cl in ical d ata leading to a case study report. Prerequisite: Registered i n  Professio nal  

Physical Therapy Curricul u m .  

PT 522.  Administration in Physical Therapy. 3 Credits. 

Lectures/discussion and seminar formats used to explore concepts of administration procedures as appl ied to Physical 

Therapy and the health care del ivery system. Prerequisite: Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curricu l u m .  

PT 523. lifespan I .  3 Credits. 

Course focus is on rehabilitation issues related to pediatrics including the characteristics of disabl i n g  conditions, 

d evelopmental evaluation and intervention, the use of adaptive equipment, legal issues, and strategies to promote 

collaborative service provision to chi ld ren and fami l ies.  Laboratory. Prerequisite:  Registered in Professional Physical 

Therapy Curriculum.  

PT 524.  Psychological Aspects of Disability. 2 Credits. 

Readings and discussion course. Study of psychological coping mechanisms, reactions, and motivational factors 

pertinent to p eople with d isabil ities. Review of adjustment problems u nique to specific disabilities and/or d isease 

processes, including term inal  i l lness. Prerequisite:  Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 525. Clinical Exa mination and Evaluation II. 3 Credits. 

E m phasis i s  g iven to physical therapy examination, evaluation, and diagnoses as related to an advanced dynamic 

biomechanical evaluation. Also included wil l  be the integration of NMS and support systems; clinical reasoning resulting 

in referral a n d/or modifi e d  physical therapy interventions; and the com munication of findings and reco m mendations. 

Lecture & Laboratory. Prerequisite: Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curricu lum.  F,S. 



PT 5 2 6 .  Manual  Thera py II. 2 Credits. 

Theory a n d  a pplication of m a nual  therapy skills for examination and intervention techniques, including thrust and 
nonthrust m anipulations of the spine, pelvis, and associated areas. Laboratory. Prerequisite : Registered in Professional 
Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 527. Critical Inquiry II.  2 Credits. 

Application, analysis, a n d  evaluation of clinical decisionmaking components, strategies, and skills. Preparation of a 
clinical case study to be presented in o ra l  a n d  written forms. Prerequisite : Registered in Professional Physical Therapy 
Curriculu m .  

PT 5 2 8 .  Clinical Educatio n I. 9 Cred its. 

The first in a sequence of four full-time clinical  experiences in selected physical therapy provider centers throughout 
the United States. Prerequisit e :  Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 5 29. Clinical Education II. 9 Credits. 

The seco n d  in a sequence of four ful l-time clinical experiences in selected physical therapy provider centers throughout 
the United States. Prerequisite: Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 5 3 5 .  Lifespan II. 2 Credits. 

E..xamine the factors and forces that affect life quality in later years. The physiological, psychological, and sociological 
aspects of aging will be considered, including those influences in the cultural context that enhance and impede 
continued growth of the person. Laboratory. Prerequisite: Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 5 3 7 .  Strategies Early Intervention. 2 Credits. 

This course is designed to review current practices in early intervention. Course materials will focus on characteristics 
of disabling conditions that influ ence growth and development of motor skills, cognition, and educational development. 
Em phasis will be on collaborative service provision with an interdisciplinary approach. Topics also covered include: 
current issues, assessment of the chi ld/family unit, and legislative guidelines for service provisio n .  Prerequisite : 
Reg istered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 538. Advanced Topics in Pediatric Physical Therapy. 3 Credits. 

This course is designed to present current a n d  advanced topics relating to pediatric physical therapy clients and their 
fam ilies. Prerequisite : Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 539. Prevention a nd Well ness. 2 Credits. 

The theory a n d  practice of prev e ntion of injur/, maintenance and improvement of wellness, a n d  promotion of health 
and healthy behaviors a cross the l ifespan. Concepts are applied to the general, athletic, a n d  industrial populations, 
'Nith a view to interdiscipl inary involvement in wellness optimizatio n .  Prerequisite : Registered in Professional  Physical 
Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 540.  Cardiopulmonary Physical Therapy. 2 Credits. 

This course is  d esigned to expand the theoretical understand ing and clinical application of cardiopulmonary physical 
t herapy exa mination, evaluation, 'd iagnosis, prognosis, intervention and outcomes. lab·orator,-.  Prerequisite : 
Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 5 4 1 .  Clinical Examination and Evaluation Ill. 3 Credits. 

Emphasizes patient/client m anagement elements of exa mination and evaluation. Emphasis is given to systems 
s creening, physical therapy diag noses, a n d  clinical reasoning resulting in referral a n d  /or modified physical therapy 
interventions. Emphasis is a lso given to t h e  communication of findings. laboratory. Registered in Professional Physical 
Therapy Curricu lum is  the prerequisite. F. 

PT 549. Adva n ced Applied Anatomy/Clinical Kinesiology. 2 Credits. 

Study of applied anatomy a n d  its importance to research and clinical application, particularly as related to Physical 
Thera py. Prerequisite: Registere d  in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. 



PT 552. Clinical Education III. 9 Credits. 

The third i n  a sequence of four ful l-t ime clinica l  experiences in selected physical therapy provider centers throughout 

the United States. Prerequisite :  Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curricul u m .  

PT 5 53. Clinical Education IV. 9 Credits. 

The fourth in a sequence of four full-tim e  clin ical experiences in selected physical therapy provider  centers throu ghout 

the United States. Prerequisite: Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 561. Seminar:Physical Therapy. 1-4 Credits. 

This course serves to focus stud ent attention toward graduate study in Physical Therapy. Explore and d iscuss areas of 

interest for students and faculty. May repeat to 4 credits maxi m u m .  Prerequisite : Registered in Professional Physical 

Therapy Curriculum.  

PT 562. Readings:Physical Thera py. 1-4 Credits. 

Review of current l iterature pertinent to Physical Therapy; critical exam ination of design, content, and valid ity of 

conclusions. Prerequisite : Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculu m .  

P T  5 7 2 .  Teaching Experience i n  Physical Therapy. 1 - 4  Credits. 

Supervised experience in University teaching in Physical Therapy. Projects in curriculum d evelopment, form ulation of 

teaching/learning objectives, teaching materials, evaluation tc;>ols, and experience i n  com p etency-based learning 

environm ent. Prerequisite : Registered i n  Professional Physical Therapy Curriculu m .  

P T  5 8 3 .  Critical Inquiry III. 1 Credit. 

Introduction to research instruments including surveys, electrical and m echanical instrumentation critical to research 

m ethods. Includes discussion of validation, calibration, and reliability of instruments used in physical therapy research. 

Stud ents d evelop a proposal for their scholarly projects and complete IRB use of human subject forms .  Prerequisite : 

Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculu m .  

P T  5 8 4 .  Evidence in Practice. 2 Credits. 

Appl ication of qual itative and q uantitative research d esigns. Interpretation of statistical tests used in evi d e n ce-based 

m ed icine. Critical review of current articles related to d iagnosis, prognosis, therapy, harm, cost, systematic reviews, 

m eta-analysis, and cl inical practice guidel ines. Application of evidence to physical therapy practice. Prereq uisite: 

Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculu m .  S.  

PT 590. Directed Studies:Clinical Concepts in P hysical Thera py. 1-12 C redits. 

Individua lized study of a p articular area of interest for the stud ent approved by his/her m ajor a dvisor and su pervised 

by p receptors with specia lty and/or recognized expertise in the area of interest. Study m a y  inc lude l ibrary resea rch, 

cl inica l  research, discussion/sem i nars, projects, and d i rected cl inical experience.  Prere q u isite : Registered in 

Professional  Physical Therapy Curriculu m .  

PT 5 9 1 .  Research in P hysical Therapy. 2 Credits. 

Students d evelop the abi l ity to effectively and a ccurately interpret and comm u n icate results/cli nical  outcomes as a 

component of the written Scholarly Project. Fre q uent g roup and/or i ndividual  m eetings with the a dvisor incorporate 

p e e r  review d iscussion t o  facilitate stud e nt d evelopmen t  of professional written and oral com m u n i cation skil ls .  

Prere q u i site : Registered i n  Professional Physical Thera py Curricul u m .  SS.  

PT 5 92. Case M anagement II.  2 C redits. 

Case m a n a g e me nt, with e m phasi s  on the teaching and learning process and techniques targ eted to prom ote a n d  

optimize physical therapy services, inc luding a d vocacy. Strategies appropriate f o r  confl i ct resolution are introduced.  

Professional  development as a practitioner  of physical thera py is emphasized through intro d u ction and prelim in a ry 

d evelopment of a portfol io.  Prerequisite : Registered in Professional Physical The rapy Curricul u m .  

PT 9 95 .  Scholarly Project. 1 Credit. 

Students provide  a final written and o ra l  report to the faculty on the results of their col laborative Scholarly Project. 

Prere q u i site : Reg istered i n  Professional Physica l Thera py Curricu lum.  

PT 996.  Contin uing E n rollm ent. 1-12 Credits. 

PT 997.  Research III:Independent Stu dy. 2 Credits. 



UNDOT 

Master of Occupational Therapy (M.O.T.) 

Admission Requirements 

Pre-Occupational Therapy 

A pre-OT student typically spends the first two years as a pre-major at the University of North Dakota to complete the 
program prerequisites. In the beginning of the sophomore year when the student is complet ing the required courses as 
li s ted below, he/she must make written application for admission to the professional occupational therapy program. 
The CLEP in natural sciences will not meet the Biology and Chemistry requirements in Occupational Therapy. Students 
s hould carefully check all CLEP exams for potential acceptance at UNO. A student must have at least a C in all 
prerequis ite courses . The student must also obtain a minimum of a C in a ll professional tevel courses. 

The following courses are required to be taken prior to professional program: 

I ENGL 110 College Composition I 3 

ENGL 120 3 

or ENGL 125 
-

COMM 110 Fundamentals of Public Speaking 3 

BIOL 150 General Biology I 4 

& 150L and General Biology I Laboratory 

or BIOL 151 Genera l Biology II 

& 151L and General Biology II Laboratory 

CHEM 115 Introductory Chemistry 4 

& 115L and Introductor/ Chemistr,r Laboratory 

or CHEM 121 General Chemistry I 

& 121L and General Chemistr/ I Laboratory 

MATH 103 College Algebra 3 

PSYC 111 Introduction to Psychology 3 

PSYC 241 Introduction to Statistics 
M 

4-3 
l 
I Sociological Statistics 
I or SOC 326 

I PSYC 250 Developmental Psychology 4 

PSYC 270 Abnormal Psychology 3 

ANAT 204 Anatomy for Paramedical Personnel 3 

ANAT 204L Anatomy for Paramedical Personnel Laboratory 2 

soc 110 Introduction to Sociology 3 

PPT 301 Human Physiology 4 

Introduction to Occupational Therapy 2 

Arts and Humanities E.lectives - 9 

Total Credits 57- 56 



* As a prerequisite for PSYC 241 Introduction to Statistics, student needs to take MATH 103 College Algebra . 

**When completing Arts and Humanities courses, it is required that the nine credit hours be in two departments and 
you must have a minimum of three credits in fine arts as part of the requirements of the Essential Studies program 
at the University of North Dakota. You also want to ensure that you have fulfilled the global diversity requirement. 
More information on Essential Studies graduation requirements can be found at: 
http://www.und.edu/dept/registrar/EssentialStudies/esindex.html. 

Admission Requirements 

Professional Program 

Admission to the professional program in occupational therapy is on a competitive basis with consideration given to 
pre-professional performance in the sciences, general graduation requirements, leadership potential, volunteer work 
and personal qualifications. Each application is thoroughly reviewed. This review includes the applicant's academic 

record (must have minimum overall GPA of 2.75 based on a 4 point scale), pattern of withdrawals, incompletes, etc., 
elective coursework, volunteer and/or work experience, references, essay and a personal interview. 

A prerequisite for admission to the UND Professional Program at the Year I level will be 60 hours of observation with a 
professional occupational therapy supervisor and should be distributed over the three required areas (Psychosocial, 
Physical Dysfunction, Pediatric). 

Year Ill Professional Program 

The applicant must meet the School of Graduate Studies' current minimum general admission requirements as 

published in the graduate catalog. Admission to the School of Graduate Studies requires: 

1. Acceptance into the Professional Occupational Therapy program. 

2. Successful completion of OT Professional Year I and II. 

3. Completion of the School of Graduate Studies application forms. 

4. Overall GPA of 2.75 or a 3.0 in both junior and senior years. 

5. Satisfy the School of Graduate Studies' English Language Proficiency requirements as published in the graduate 
catalog . 

6. Letter of endorsement from the Chair or Graduate Director of the Department that assures automatic 
advancement in status from the undergraduate program to the graduate program. The letter of endorsement will 
be written for students in good academic and professional standing in the program 

It is important to be aware that a felony conviction may affect a graduate's ability to sit for the National Board for 
Certification in Occupational Therapy (NBCOT) certification examination or to attain state licensure as an Occupational 
Therapist. You will be asked to respond to the following questions when registering for the NB COT exam: 

• Have you ever been charged with or convicted of a felony? 

• Have you ever had any professional license, registration or certification revoked, suspended or subject to 
probationary conditions by a regulatory authority or certification board? 

• Have you ever been found by any court, administrative or disciplinary proceeding to have committed negligence, 
malpractice, recklessness, or willful or intentional misconduct, which resulted in harm to another? 

Information regarding NBCOT's process of screening applicants for Character Review may be found at: www.nbcot.org. 
If you have any questions, the department will assist you in this process. 

Many fieldwork facilities are requiring proof of immunizations, drug testing, fingerprints, and/or criminal background 
checks. It is the responsibility of the student to check the fieldwork information and to pay the cost for each process . 



Degree Requirements 

Bachelor of General Studies Degree with Health Studies Option 

The BGS Health Studies degree is available to OT students who: 

1. have completed their pre-OT work either at UNO or at another institution. 

2. have successfully completed the first two years of the OT professional sequence. 

The BGS degree would nom1ally then be awarded at the end of the Professional Year Two, prior to beginning the 
Graduate School career, if the student has completed a ll general UNO graduation requirements, including: 

1. 125 total credits, 

2. 60 credits from 4-year schools, including at least 30 from UND, 

3. 36 upper-level credits, 

4 . all essential studies requirements. 

Students seeking the Master of Occupational Therapy degree a t the University of North Dakota must satisfy all general 
requirements set forth by the School of Graduate Studies as well as particular requirements set forth by the 
Occupational Therapy Department. 

To maintain graduate student status, the professional level Year III student is required to maintain a GPA of at least 
3.0 for all work completed in Yea.r III. Students who were previously on academic or professional probation will be 
dismissed from the School of Graduate Studies if placed on one additional probation within the professional program. 

M.O. T Curriculum Sequence 

School of Graduate Studies - Schedule A 

Professional Year 1 

Fall Credits 

OT423 Fundamentals of Neuroscience for Occupational Therapy 3 

.ill.A2.5. Occupational Therapy with Infants and Pre-School Children 4 

OT427 Orientation to Occupational Therapy Theory 3 

OT428 Quantitative Rsrch Methods-0 T 3 

OT431 Medical Science I 2 

Spring 

Muscle Function 4 

I 

I OT429 _ _____ o_c_c_u_p_a_ti_o_n_a_l_T_h_e_r_a_p_y_w_•i_th_ s_c_h_o_o_l_A_g_e_C_h_il_dr_e_n_ a_n_d_Y_o_u_n_g_ A_d_u_lt_s ___________ ~·-4-~ 

430 Psychosocial Aspects of Occupational Therapy for Children, Adolescents and Young 4 1--- Adults 

I OT 432 Medical Science II 3 

Group Leadersh ip Skills in Occupational Therapy 2 

Practicum: Children/ Adolescents 1 

Summer 

Anatomy Occupational Therapy s 

Personal/Professional Developmnt 1 



Pr.ofessional Year 2 I 

I Fall 

OT454 Gerontic Occupational Therapy 2 

OT456 Psychosocial Aspects of OT with the Maturing Adult 4 

I OT458 Qualitative Research Methods for Occupational Therapy ., 
.... 

OT460 Introduction to Management and Leadership 2 

OT463 Psychosocial Dysfunction Seminar and Practicum Integration 3 

OT469 Interprofessional Health Care 1 j 

Fall anq Spring Semester Electives: 
I 

OT489 Independent Projects 

l~ OT490 Occupational Therapy Seminar 

OT493 Workshop 
1-: I 

OT494 Directed Study in Occupational Therapy 
I 

OT496 Community Experience 1-4 

OT497 Cooperative Education 1-6 

OT 593 Teaching Experience in Occupational Therapy 1-3 
I 

Spring I 

OT 451 Multicultural Competency in Occupational Therapy 3 
! 

OT452 Assistive Technology I 3 

OT453 Physical Aspects of OT with the Maturing Adult 5 I 
---

OT 461 Management in the U.S. Healthcare System 2 

OT462 Physical Dysfunction Seminar and Practicum Integration 3 

OT480 Introduction to Scholarly Writing in Occupational Therapy 1 I 
Summer I 
Elective Only Semester: I 
OT488 Elective Field Work in Occupational Therapy 

~I OT 497 Cooperative Education 6 

OT 593 Teaching Experience in Occupational Therapy 1-3 I 
Professional Year 3 

Fall 

Required Core Courses: 

Occupation and Vocation 3 

Innovative Management and Leadership 3 

Principles of Education in Occupational Therapy 3 

Integration of Occupational Therapy Theory ·3 



Fall Electives: 

OT 49 3 'Norkshop 1-12 

OT 508 Therapeutic Procedures and Modalities in Occupational Therapy 2 

OT 582 Graduate Practicum 1-3 

OT 589 Readings in Occupational Therapy 1-2 
-

OT 593 Teaching Experience in Occupational Therapy 1-3 

OT 599 Special Topics in Occupational Therapy 1-2 

I Spring 

OT 585 fieldwork in Psychosocial Dysfunction 9 
or OT 587 or Fieldwork in Physical Dysfunction 

OT 995 Scholarly Project in Occupational Therapy 2 
or OT 997 or Independent Study 

OT 589 Readings in Occupational Therapy 1-2 

Summer 

.o:u.a!i Fieldwork in Psychosocial Dysfunction 9 
or OT 587 or Fieldwork in Physical Dysfunction 

Total Credits: 123-

171 

School of Graduate Studies - Schedule B 

Professional Year 1 J -- ---· I 

Fall Credits I 
OT 423 Fundamentals of Neuroscience for Occupational Therapy 3 

OT 425 Occupational Therapy with Infants and Pre-School Children 4 I 
OT 427 Orientation to Occupational Therapy Theory 3 I 
OT428 Quantitative Rsrch Methods-a T 3 

OT431 Medical Science I 2 

Spring 

OT424 Muscle Function 4 

I OT429 Occupational Therapy with School Age Children and Young Adults 4 

OT 430 Psychosocial Aspects of Occupational Therapy for Children, Adolescents and Young 4 

Adults 

OT432 Medical Science II 3 
I 

OT433 Group Leadership Skills in Occupational Therapy 2 

I OT 438 Practicum: Children/ Adolescents 1 

I Summer 

,-OT 42;---- Anatomy Occupational Therapy 5 

I OT 426 Personal/Professional Developmnt 1 



Professional Year 2 

Fall 

OT452 Assistive Technology I 

OT453 Physical Aspects of OT with the Maturing Adult 

OT458 Qualitative Research Methods for Occupational Therapy 

OT460 Introduction to Management and Leadership 

OT462 Physical Dysfunction Seminar and Practicum Integration 

Fall and Spring Semester Electives: 

OT489 Independent Projects 

OT490 Occupational Therapy Seminar 

.QI.A.23. Workshop 

OT494 Directed Study in Occupational Therapy 

.QLil§. Community Experience 

OT497 Cooperative Education 

OT 593 Teaching Experience in Occupational Therapy 

Spring 

OT451 Multicultural Competency in Occupational Therapy 

OT454 Gerontic Occupational Therapy 

OT456 Ps chosocial As ects of OT with the Maturin y p g Adult 

Management in the U.S. Healthcare System 

Psychosocial Dysfunction Seminar and Practicum Integration 

Interprofessional Health Care 

Introduction to Scholarly Wri ting in Occupational Therapy 

Summer 

Elective Only Semester: 

Elective Field Work in Occupational Therapy 

Cooperative Education 

Teaching Experience in Occupational Therapy 

Fieldwork in Psychosocial Dysfunction 
or Fieldwork in Physical Dysfunction 

Scholarly Project in Occupational Therapy 
or Independent Study 

Readings in Occupational Therapy 

-

3 

5 

3 

2 

3 

1-3 

1 

1-6 

1 

1-4 

1-6 

1-3 

3 

2 

4 

2 

' 3 

1 

1 

3-9 

1-6 

1-3 

9 

2 

1-2 

• 



Required Core Courses: 

OT 504 Occupation and Vocation ,• 3 

OT 507 Innovative Management and Leadership 3 
--

OT 509 Principles of Education in Occupational Therapy 3 

OT 515 Integration of Occupational Therapy Theory 3 

Spring 

Spring Semester Electives: 

OT493 Workshop 1-12 

~ Therapeutic Procedures and Modalities in Occupational Therapy 2 

OT 582 Graduate Practicum 1-3 
>-

OT 589 Readings in Occ.upational Therapy 1-2 

OT 593 Teaching Experience in Occupational Therapy 1-3 

OT 599 Special Topics in Occupational Therapy 1-2 

Summer 

OT 585 Fieldwork in Psychosocial Dysfunction 9 
or OT 587 or _Fieldwork in Physical Dysfunction 

Total Credits: 123-

OT 200. Introduction to Occupational Therapy. 2 Credits. 
History, scope, objectives, and functions of Occupational Therapy. F,S. 

OT 422. Anatomy Occupational Therapy. 5 Credits. 

171 

Detailed study of human anatomy, with an emphasis on skeletal musde, its vasculature, and the peripheral nervous 
system. The laboratory portion of the course allows for a direct study of the human form through dissection of human 
cadavers. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. SS. 

OT 423. Fundamentals of Neuroscience for Occupational Therapy. 3 Credits. 
Survey of the major theories of behavior, cognition, and neurological disorders based on e.xperimental findings in 
neuroanatomy, neurophysiology, and neurobiology. Laboratory included. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors 
only. F. 

OT 424. Muscle Function. 4 Credits. 
The study of musculature acting on the extremities and trunk. Theory and techniques of musculoskeletal evaluation 
with analysis of normal and pathological human motion. Laboratory included. Prerequis ite: Occupational Therapy 
majors only. S. 

OT 425. Occupational Therapy with Infants and Pre-School Children. 4 Credits. 
Emphasis on reflexes, sensory systems, neurodevelopmental systems, illness and trauma, assessment procedures, 
treatment techniques, families and intervention teams, and treatment outcomes. Laboratory included. Prerequisite: 
Occupational Therapy majors only. F. 

OT 426. Personal/Professional Developmnt. 1 Credit. 
Promote self-awareness and interpersonal communication skills including basic listening skills, ability to provide 
meaningful feedback and appropriate group membership skills. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. SS. 

OT 427. Orientation to Occupational Therapy Theory. 3 Credits. 

Orientation to human occupation, occupational performance assessment, theoretical practice models, and core 

processes in occupa tional therapy. prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. F. 



OT 428. Quantitative Rsrch M ethods-0 T. 3 Credits. 

Design and implem entation of q u antitative research, the evaluation of quantitative research studies, the i nterpretation 

of statistics as appl ied to occupational therapy, and the process of presentation and publication of q u a ntitative 

resea rch projects. Laboratory inclu ded.  Prerequisit e :  Occupational  Therapy majors only. F. 

OT 429. Occupational Therapy with School Age Children and Young Adults. 4 Credits. 

Normal and a bnorm a l  h u m a n  developm ent, d isease and disabil ity, school age through young a d ulthood . Emphasi s  on 

assessment, intervention planning and program outcom es for individuals with disabilities i n  a v a ri ety of practice 

settings including school, com m u n ity, and medicine .  Laboratory included.  Prereq uisite: Occupational Thera py m ajors 

only. S.  

OT 430. Psychosocial Aspects of Occu pational Therapy for Children, Adolescents and Young Adults. 4 

C red its. 

Psychosocial d evelopment a n d  interruptions to d evelopment in children, adolescents, and young a d u l ts, with e m phasis 

on OT evaluation, treatment  planning and implem entation, and treatment outcomes. Laboratory included.  Prere q u isite : 

Occupational Therapy m ajors only. S .  

O T  431.  Medical Science I.  2 Credits. 

First i n  a two-semester sequence of courses, which covers human body, systems and disease and d isabil ity groups 

d iscussed from al l  aspects of com prehensive reha bilitation. Included are chronic i l lness, neurologica l  a n d  orthopedic  

conditions, gen eral m edicine and surgery, and sensory d isabil ities across the lifespan. Prereq uisite: Occupational 

Therapy m ajors only. F. 

OT 432. Medical Science II. 3 Credits. 

Second in  a two-semester sequence of courses, which covers human body, systems and d isease a n d  d isabi l ity groups 

d iscussed from a l l  aspects of com p rehensive rehabilitation . Included a re chronic i l lness, neurologica l  and orthopedic 

conditions, general m ed i ci n e  and surg e ry, and sensory d isabil ities across the lifespan.  Integration included.  

Prerequisite: Occupational  Therapy m ajors only. S.  

OT 433. Group Leadership Skills i n  Occupational  Therapy. 2 Credits. 

Didactic and experiential learning in a smal l  g roup setti n g .  Provides students with opportu n ities t o  function as group 

facilitators in a variety of practice settings.  Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only.  S.  

OT 438. Practicum:Children/ Ado lescents. 1 Credit. 

Observation and experience in  a u niversity-approved pediatric and/or adolescent facility; supervised by occupational 

therapists, educators, and all ied h ea lth professionals. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy m ajors only. S.  

OT 451.  M ulticultural Com petency in Occupational Therapy. 3 Credits. 

Develop an understa nding of and a n  a ppreciation for social-cultural and ethnic diversity and use that und erstanding to 

address issues, solve problems, and shape civic, personal,  and professional behavior. To recogn ize that diversity is 

intimately tied to the concepts of culture, race, language, i dentity and i nter-group dynam ics, as wel l  as its appl ications 

to complex situations. These concepts are presented within the context of providing OT services. Prerequisite: 

Occupational Therapy m ajors only. S. 

OT 452. Assistive Technology I. 3 Credits. 

Introductory study of assistive technology devices and products, assessment, and application m ethods focuses on 

ada ptations, modifications, and technology systems and services that assist individuals with d isabi l ities in greater 

independence and accessibi lity across the l ifespan. La boratory included.  Prerequisite : Occupational Therapy majors 

only. F,S .  

O T  453. Physical Aspects o f  O T  with the M aturing Adult. 5 Credits. 

Study of the OT process as appl ied to physical dysfunction of the maturing adult. Em phasis is on OT evaluation, 

p lanning,  implem entation of treatment, and treatm ent outcomes. Laboratory includ ed.  Prerequisite : Occupational  

Therapy majors only.  F, S .  

OT 4 5 4 .  Gerontic Occupatio nal  Therapy. 2 Credits. 

Occu pational perspectives of the elderly, including age-related changes, assessment and intervention strategies and 

the rol e  of occupational therapy in prevention and wel lness programs.  Laboratory inclu d e d .  Prerequisite:  Occupational 

Therapy majors only. F,S. 



OT 456. Psychosocial Aspects of OT with the Maturing Adult. 4 Credits. 

Psychosocial development and interruptions to development in the maturing adult with emphasis on OT evaluation, 
treatment planning and implementation, and treatment outcomes. Laboratory included. Prerequisite: Occupational 
Therapy majors only. F,S. 

OT 458. Qualitative Research Methods for Occupational Therapy. 3 Credits. 
Design and implementation of qualitative research, evaluation of qualitative research studies, analysis and 
interpretation of qualitative data, and the process of publication and presentation of qualitative research projects. 

Laboratory included. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. F. 

OT 460. Introduction to Management and leadership. 2 Credits. 
Introduction to the management practices necessary to direct a quality health service and provide the knowledge and 
s kills needed for entry-level leadership positions in OT practice. Focus is on clinical reasoning and critical analysis in 
administrative and management functions. Laboratory included. Prerequisite: Occupat ional Therapy majors only. F. 

OT 461. Management in the U.S. Healthcare System. 2 Credits. 
Provide an overview of health services system in the US and current trends and issues facing OT within this system. 
Content includes: federal and state roles, reimbursement of health care ser.•ices, regulation, community services, 
health service providers, consultative, non-traditional areas of practice, service delivery models, legalities, and health 
policy advocacy. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. S. 

OT 462. Physical Dysfunction Seminar and Practicum Integration. 3 Credits. 
The student begins to integrate and synthesize the theoretical knowledge of physical function/ dysfunction with clinical 
practice. It requires the application of foundational knowledge, tools and the theory of practice inherent in the role of 
an OT. Occupational therapy experiences in facilities, supervised by registered occupational therapists, qualifi ed health 
professionals and university faculty. Prerequisites: OT 422, OT 423, OT 424, OT 425, OT 426, OT 427, OT 428, 
OT 429, OT 430, OT 431, OT 432, OT 433 and OT 438. F,S. 

OT 463. Psychosocial Dysfunction Seminar and Practicum Integration. 3 Credits. 
Integration and synthesizing of theoretical knowledge with clinical experience toward the application of therapeutic use 
of self, self-evaluation, and communication skills in professional development. Occupational therapy experiences in 
mental health field facilities, supervised by registered occupational therapists, qualified health professionals and 
universi ty faculty. Prerequisites: OT 422, OT 423, OT 424, OT 425, OT 426, OT 427, OT 428, OT 429, OT 430, OT 431, 
OT 432, OT 433 and OT 438. F,S. 

OT 469. Interprofessional Health Care. 1 Credit. 
A process-learning course intended to provide experience in building a team of health professionals from different 
professions. The focus is on learning to work effectively with an interprofessional health care team. Emphasis is placed 
on effective teamwork, the unique contributions of different professions, patient or family centered approach in health 
care deliver,•, and awareness of potentia l medical errors. F,S. 

OT 480. Introduction to Scholarly Writing in Occupational Therapy. 1 Credit. 
This course is designed to provide students with an understanding of the expectations and mechanics of scholarly 
writing. It is the first step for the development of a scholarly paper that is a requirement of the MOT program. The 
course outcome is the development of a proposal in an area of interest to the student(s) which has been approved and 
supervised by a faculty advisor to meet the first requirement of OT 995 Scholarly Project in OT or OT 997 Independent 
Study. Course content includes the mechanics of writing, development, content and format of the scholarly paper; the 
use of appropriate resources; and a review of how to use the Publication Manual of the American Pscyhological 
Association and the OT department's graduate student manuals. S. 

OT 488. Elective Field Work in Occupational Therapy. 3 -18 Credits. 
Application of occupational therapy in evaluation and treatment in optional areas of student special interest in selected 
fieldwork facilities. Variable credits, repeatable, with maximal total of 18 credits. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy 
majors only. F,S,SS. 

OT 489. Independent Projects. 1-3 Credits. 
Individual study and/or research in a particular area of interest for the students 'Nith approval of a super.•ising faculty 
member. Elective for OT majors. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only . 



OT 490. Occupational Therapy Seminar. 1 Credit. 
Foundational knowledge relevant to the preparation of an independent study proposal. Serves as the basis for OT 494: 

Directed Study in Occupational Therapy. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. F. 

OT 493. Workshop. 1-12 Credits. 
A workshop course with topics dictated by faculty and student interests primarily for but not confined to continuing 
education. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. On demand. 

OT 494. Directed Study in Occupational Therapy. 1 Credit. 
Development of the proposal in an area of interest to the student approved and supervised by faculty. Serves as th e 
basis for OT 997: Independent Study or OT 995: Scholarly Project in OT. Prerequisi te: Occupational Therapy majors 
only. s. 

OT 496. Community Experience. 1-4 Credits. 
Student initiates and participates in off-campus professional learning activities related to .OT under joint faculty and on
site professional supervision. Prerequisite: Permission of Department. F,S,SS. 

OT 497. Cooperative Education. 1-6 Credits. 
Qualified students are employed by selected facilities to further understanding of occupational therapy and health 
related service provision . Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. F,S,SS. 

OT 504. Occupation and Vocation. 3 Credits. 
Application of assessment and problem-solving skills necessary for remediation/rehabilitation of occupational 
performance deficits in the work realm. Laboratory included. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. F,S. 

OT 507. Innovative Management and Leadership. 3 Credits. 
Develop and demonstrate an understanding of the skills necessary to plan, implement and evaluate programs and 
material for educational, consultation and private practice. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. F,S. 

OT 508. Therapeutic Procedures and Modalities in Occupational Therapy. 2 Credits. 
Occupational therapy theory and application of specific neuromuscular techniques and modalities to promote 

musculoskeletal function. Laboratory included. Prerequisite : Occupational Therapy majors only. F,S. 

OT 509. Principles of Education in Occupational Therapy. 3 Credits. 
Explores the methods and strategies used to develop, implement and evaluate education programs for students in 
academia and clinical settings, for patients/clients, businesses and professional staff. Information and discussion focus 
on the theory and research relevant to education in a variety of settings. Prerequisite : Occupational Therapy majors 
only. F,S. 

OT 515. Integration of Occupational Therapy Theory. 3 Credits. 
Analysis and applications of theoretical perspectives to occupational therapy process with individuals, groups, and 
service delivery systems. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. F,S. 

OT 582. Graduate Practicum. 1-3 Credits. 
Supervised experience in a variety of OT practice settings. Students are afforded the opportunity to gain practical, on
the-job experience working in an area that matches the focus of their graduate study. Students will be supervised by 
on-site personnel. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. F,S,SS. 

OT 585. Fieldwork in Psychosocial Dysfunction. 9 Credits. 

Application of occupational therapy in evaluation andtuniversity of North Dakota treatment in psychosocial dysfu nction 
fieldwork facilities. Three months full -time. Prerequis ite: Occupational Therapy majors only . 

OT 587. Fieldwork in Physical Dysfunction. 9 Credits. 
Application of occupational therapy in evaluation and trea tment in physical dysfunction fieldwork facilities. Three 
months full -ti me. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. 
OT 589. Readings in Occupational Therapy. 1- 2 Credits. 

Selected readings in the student's area of interest with oral and/or written reports. Prerequ isite: Occupational Therapy 
majors only. F,S,SS. 



OT 593. Teaching Experience in Occupational Therapy. 1-3 Credits. 

Supervised experience in higher education teaching in OT. Projects in course/curriculum development, writing course 

objectives, writing and de livering lectures a nd learning activities, and d eveloping assessment tools for the classroom. 

Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. f,S,SS. 

OT 599. Special Topics in Occupational Therapy. 1-2 C redits. 

A series of lectures, discussions, a nd/or laboratory experiences d eveloped around one or more specific topics in 

occupational therapy. Prerequisite : Occupational Therapy majors only. F,S,SS. 

OT 995. Scholarly Project in Occupational Therapy. 2 Credits. 

A collaborative investigation of relevant professional topic and production of a scholarly report with approval oft h e  

major faculty. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. 

OT 996. Continuing Enrollment. 1-12 Credits. 

OT 9 97. Independent Study. 2 Credits. 

Prerequisite.: Occupational Therapy majors only. 

OT 998. Thesis. 1-15 Credits. 
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A BILL for an Act to amend and reenact sections 43-39-01 and 43-39-04 and subdivision d of 

subsection 1 of section 43-39-10 of the North Dakota Century Code, relating to the regulation of 

athletic trainers; and to provide a penalty. 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA: 

SECTION 1. AMENDMENT. Section 43-39-01 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

amended and reenacted as follows: 

43-39-01. Definitions. 

1. "Athletic trainer" means apersonan individual with specific qualifications set forth in 

• section 43-39-05, who is providing athletic training services in accordance with the 

individual's education. 

• 

2. "Athletic training" means doing any of the practiceofprevention,recognition,evaluation, 

management, treatment, and disposition ofathletic injuries. The term also means 

rehabilitation of athletic injuries, if underthe orderofa licensed physician. The term 

includes organization and administration ofeducational programs, athleticfacilities, 

andthe education and counseling ofthe publiccomprehensive managementofinjuries 

and illnesses to prevent, clinicallvevaluate, assess. provide immediate care, treat, 

rehabilitate.and recondition.following under the guidance of a physician: 

a. 

Q,_ 

c. 

st 
e. 

preventing, recognizing and evaluating injuries and illnesses sustained while 

participating in physical activity; 

managing and administering the initial treatment of injuries or illnesses sustained 

while participating in physical activity; 

giving emergency care or first aid for an injury or illness sustained while 

participating in physical activity; 

rehabilitating injuries or illnesses sustained while participating in physical activity; 

rehabilitating and physically reconditioning injuries or illnesses that impede or 

prevent an individual from returning to participation in physical activity, if the 



JI:< individual recently participated in, and intends to return to participation in, physical 

activity; 

f. establishing or administering risk management. conditioning , and injury 

prevention programs; or 

9:. referring a patient or client to an appropriate health care provider as needed. 

3. "Physical activity" means activity that requires physical strength, agility, range of 

motion, repetitive motion, speed, or stamina, including participation in exercise, sports, 

games, recreation, wellness, or fitness. 

M. "Board" means the North Dakota board of athletic trainers established in section 

43-39-02. 

45. "Physician" means adoctorofmedicinean individual licensed topracticeas a physician 

under chapter 43-17. 

SECTION 2. AMENDMENT. Section 43-39-04 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

amended and reenacted as follows: 

43-39-04. Unlawful practice 

1. NGA person may not practice athletic training or hold that person out as being an 

athletic trainer in this state unless that person is an individual licensed in accordance 

with this chapter. 

• 

2. NG6 person may not consult, teach, or supervise or hold that person out as being able • 

to consult, teach, or supervise athletic training curricular courses in this state unless 

that person is an individual licensed in accordance with this chapter or chapter 43-171 

or possesses a degree in a health-related field . 

3. NG6 person may not represent that person as being a licensed athletic trainer or use 

in connection with that person's name any letters, words, or insignia indicating or 

implying that the person is a licensed athletic trainer unless that person is an individual 

licensed in accordance with this chapter. 

SECTION 3. AMENDMENT. Subdivision d of subsection 1 of section 43-39-1 O of the North 

Dakota Century Code is amended and reenacted as follows: 

d. Is guilty of treating or undertaking to treat ailmentsofhumanbeingsan 

individual's injury or illness, except as authorized pursuant to this chapter, or 

undertaking to practice independent of the orderdirectionguidance of a licensed 

physician.L or is guilty of any act derogatory to the dignity and morals of the 

profession of athletic training. • 
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A BILL for an Act to amend and reenact sections 43-39-01 and 43-39-04 and subdivision d of 

subsection 1 of section 43-39-10 of the North Dakota Century Code, relating to the regulation of 

athletic trainers; and to provide a penalty. 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA: 

SECTION 1. AMENDMENT. Section 43-39-01 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

amended and reenacted as follows: 

43-39-01. Definitions. 

1. "Athletic trainer" means apersonan individual with specific qualifications set forth in 

section 43-39-05, who is providing athletic training services in accordance •.vith the 

individual's education. 

2. "Athletic training" means doing any of the practice of prevention , recognition, evaluation, 

management, treatment, and disposition ofathletic injuries. Theterm also means 

rehabilitation of athletic injuries, ifunderthe orderofa licensed physician . Theterm 

includes organization and administration ofeducational programs, athleticfacilities, 

and the education and counseling of the publiccomprehensive managementofinjuries 

and illnessesto prevent, clinicallyevaluate. assess. provide immediate care. treat. 

rehabilitate. and recondition.following under the guidance of a physician: 

a. preventing, recognizing and evaluating injuries and illnesses sustained while 

participating in physical activity; 

~ managing and administering the initial treatment of injuries or illnesses sustained 

while participating in physical activity; 

c. giving emergency care or first aid for an injury or illness sustained while 

participating in physical activity; 

d. rehabilitating injuries or illnesses sustained while participating in physical activity; 

e. rehabilitating and physically reconditioning injuries or illnesses that impede or 

prevent an individual from returning to participation in physical activity. if the 



individual recently participated in, and intends to return to participation in. physical 

activity; 

f. establishing or administering risk management. conditioning, and injury 

prevention programs; or 

9..:. referring a patient or client to an appropriate health care provider as needed. 

3. "Physical activity" means activity that requires physical strength. agility, range of 

motion. repetitive motion. speed, or stamina. including participation in exercise. sports, 

games. recreation. wellness. or fitness. 

M . "Board" means the North Dakota board of athletic trainers established in section 

43-39-02. 

45. "Physician" means adoctorofmedicinean individual licensed topracticeas a physician 

under chapter 43-17. 

SECTION 2. AMENDMENT. Section 43-39-04 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

amended and reenacted as follows: 

43-39-04. Unlawful practice 

1. NeA person may not practice athletic training or hold that person out as being an 

athletic trainer in this state unless that person is an individual licensed in accordance 

with this chapter. 

2. Ne6 person may not consult, teach, or supervise or hold that person out as being able 

to consult, teach, or supervise athletic training curricular courses in this state unless 

that person is an individual licensed in accordance with this chapter or chapter 43-17, 

or possesses a degree in a health-related field . 

3. Ne6 person may not represent that person as being a licensed athletic trainer or use 

in connection with that person's name any letters, words, or insignia indicating or 

implying that the person is a licensed athletic trainer unless that person is an individual 

licensed in accordance with this chapter. 

SECTION 3. AMENDMENT. Subdivision d of subsection 1 of section 43-39-10 of the North 

Dakota Century Code is amended and reenacted as follows: 

d. Is guilty of treating or undertaking to treat ailmentsofhumanbeingsan 

individual's injury or illness. except as authorized pursuant to this chapter, or 

undertaking to practice independent of the orderdirectionguidance of a licensed 

physiciani or is guilty of any act derogatory to the dignity and morals of the 

profession of athletic training. 

• 
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Chairman Weisz and members of the H uman Services Committee, my name is 

Shane Goettle and I represent the North Dakota Ath letic Trainers Association .  

We have provided a handout for our witness l ine-up today. Members of the 

athletic trainers profession wil l  discuss their h istory in this state, as wel l  as their 

education and tra ining. I just want to briefly set the stage and walk you through the bil l .  

I n  the last three decades since the Ath letic Tra iners Practice Act was first 

establ ished by the legislature,  the number of athletic tra iners i n  North Dakota has slowly 

increased, and they have become more visible and familiar to the publ ic. There are now 

around 1 77 Ath letic Trainers i n  the State of North Dakota . They are certainly more 

vis ible, and the publ ic is now far more fami liar with and confident i n  the services 

performed by athletic trainers. This familiarity has a lso increased demand for individual 

services, even from non-athletes who are ,  nevertheless, seeking services to restore and 

achieve physica l activity goals after an injury. The current Practice Act, however, has 

not kept up  with the times. 

As you carry out your  role as policy-makers, I would suggest that your primary 

task is N OT to spend your t ime preserving or building fences to between the various 

health professions, but rather to ask: " Is the publ ic protected? Put another way :  " Is the 

individual performing this particu lar health related service adequately educated and 

tra ined to del iver qual ity care to the patient?" 
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Again ,  that's the purpose of the Practice Act: to ensure, i n  th is case, that Athletic 

Tra iners are properly educated and tra ined to dea l with the injuries and medical issues 

that they encounter-in short, to protect the integrity of the l icense to practice and protect 

the publ ic 

We recogn ize there is overlap a nd some level of healthy competition among the 

health professions. We submit this is a good thing .  Competition,  fi rst and foremost, 

g ives patients options and choices. A dynamic health care system should foster healthy 

competition and choice, provided on ly that the ind ividual performing the service is 

adequately educated and trained to address the i njuries or i l lnesses that present 

themselves with in  the scope of their field .  

Ath letic trainers have NO intent to request, seek or insist that their services 

expand i nto b i l l ing-this is NOT their goa l .  Rather, they seek some defin itional changes 

in N DCC § 43-39-01 that wi l l  accurately reflect who they are and what they do as a 

profession i n  today's modern hea lth system .  

The b i l l  you have before h a s  changed considerably since we first introd uced it. 

That is a result  of extensive conversations and input from physicians, occupational 

therapists, and physica l  therapists. You wi l l  hear from physicians today who are 

supporting the b i l l .  We are offering amendments as wel l ,  attached to my testimony, that 

were requested by both the occupational therapists and physica l  therapists, but did not 

make it i nto the Senate version of the b i l l .  We u nderstand  these amendments wi l l  

address the remain ing concerns of the occupational therapists, whi le admittedly not a l l  

of the physica l  therapists concerns.  We u rge you to adopt those amendments. F ina l ly ,  

you wi l l  hear from the physical therapists, who sti l l  have concerns about the bi l l .  We 
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believe those concerns can be addressed through the regulatory process and a member 

of the licensure board will speak to that today as well. 

Accompanying my testimony is a matrix that shows what states in this region of 

the country have in place for athletic trainers. Our immediate neighboring states of 

Montana, South Dakota and Minnesota have not yet modernized their acts. Wisconsin 

and Michigan have, however, and in looking at both of these modernization efforts, we 

zeroed in on the Wisconsin model for the definition of "athletic training" that you see 

proposed to you today. 

Let me now walk through the act: 

The first thing to understand about the structure of the bill before you is that it is 

anchored around two concepts: 

1) Everything that Athletic Trainers would be permitted to do would be under 

the "guidance" of a physician. This is different than present, which 

technically only puts rehabilitation under the "direction" of a physician. We 

struggled to find the right word to describe this working relationship 

between physicians and athletic trainers that has evolved over the years. 

Once we agreed to put everything under this term "guidance," the 

physicians, who work with athletic trainers on a daily basis, agreed to 

support the bill you see before you today. 

2) You will note that nearly all the activity the proposed bill would allow to be 

done as "athletic training" in this state is tied to a definition of "physical" 

activity", which is defined in the bill. I will get to that in a moment. 

Let me walk through the bill with you: 

Page 1, line 8 - "an individual" - recommended by legislative council 
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Page 1, lines 9-10 - the amendment we have offered removes the underlined words 

"services in accordance with the individual's education." We are deleting this 

phrase at the request of both OTs and PTs. 

Page 1, line 11, Start using the Wisconsin model so the "Athletic training" means "doing 

any of" those things itemized in Section 2, a-f. 

Page 1, lines 11-16, as I mentioned earlier, it's important to keep in mind as we go 

through the rest of the bill that one of the anchors is that everything the athletic 

trainers do under this proposal would be "under the guidance of a physician" If 

you look carefully under the struck language, you will note that presently only the 

"rehabilitation of athletic injuries" is under the "order" of a physician. Currently 

other activities that athletic trainers perform in the health care service industry are 

not under a physician. However, in practice, athletic trainers work day in and day 

out with physicians. So we struggled to capture just the right term to describe 

their relationship. Working with the physicians, we arrived at "guidance". We 

believe this term encompasses the relationship when athletic trainers are 

deployed in the field covering athletic events, charity softball tournaments, 

special olympics events, etc, while also respecting the close working relationship 

athletic trainers have with physicians in the clinical setting where they work 

directly with physicians to rehabilitate those persons with physical activity goals. 

Page 1-2, a-e, the other anchor you can note is that in a-e, found on page 1, lines 17, 

through page 2 line 4, is the term "physical activity" (which is defined on page 2, 

line 10). A-F follow the Wisconsin statute word-for-word, which also anchors A-E 

under the definition of "physical activity." Let me just quickly walk through each 
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(walk through a-f). EXAMPLES, twin athletes, non-athletic injuries with athletic 

goals, screenings, etc. 

Page 2, lines 7, g, is an addition to the Wisconsin model. We inserted this referral 

provision as a result of our meetings and discussion with OT and PT. The 

captures the very important point that ATs routinely refer treatment to other 

health care professionals as part of their day-to-day activity. 

Page 2, lines 4-12, we define the anchor term "physical activity" This is where we part 

just a bit from the Wisconsin model. The Wisconsin model states that "physical 

activity" is "vigorous" participation, in exercise, sports, etc. We noted an 

immediate question and problem that arises with the term "vigorous". What does 

THAT mean? Is an athlete who sprains an ankle in the locker room engaged in 

"vigorous" activity? Is a bowler engaged in "vigorous" activity? Must the athletic 

trainer questions the "vigorousness" of the activity goals in order to treat? That 

seemed to trade one problem for another. So, after thorough discussion with 

both OTs and PTs, the OTs at least offered that if we replace "vigorous " with 

what you see now, that: "Physical activity means activity that" (instead of 

"vigorous") , is activity "that requires physical strength, agility, range of motion. 

repetitive motion, speed, or stamina". We felt that was an acceptable 

compromise, and fits well with what the athletic trainers wanted to accomplish in 

terms of their goals. You will hear later from the athletic trainers themselves how 

this proposed definition gets to the heart of what they do, without having to ask 

first, "are you an athlete?" in order to treat that person as a client. 

Page 2, lines 13-27, these are all changes recommended by legislative council. 
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Page 3, lines 1-3, legislative council recommended deleting "ailments" and replacing 

with the language you see here. We also changed "order" . To be consistent , 

we have offered amendments that would replace "order" or "direction" with 

"guidance". Again , this is in accord with our discussion with physicians, OTs and 

PTs. 

That completes my testimony, Mr. Chairman. Before I introduce the rest of the 

presenters, I would stand for any questions, but you might want to hold some of your 

questions for the experts who you will hear from shortly, who will address the topics you 

see on our agenda. 

6 



- . 
PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO SENATE BILL NO. 2295 

Page 1, line 9, remove" services in accordance with the" 

Page 1, line 10, remove "individual's education" 

Page 3, line 3, replace "direction" with "guidance" 

Renumber accordingly 
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SB 2295 
NORTH DAKOTA ATHLETIC TRAINERS PRESENTATION OUTLINE 

Legislative Sponsors 

Shane Goettle, NDTA Lobbyist: 
Overview of issues 
Explanation of bill 

Steve Westereng NDATA president: 
Background 
Licensing 
Role in Health Systems 
Need for Changing Scope of Practice 

Brandy Currie, NDATA Vice President and Educator: 
History and education of certified athletic trainers 
CAATE guidelines 
Educational competencies 
Domains of clinical practice. 
Role of athletic trainers and lack of availability 

Heather Golly, Licensure board and Educator: 
Licensure board/Regulation 
Specific Education competencies, especially in regard to "illnesses" 
Comparison of education background 

Damian Schlinger, Athletic Trainers Licensure Board: 
Licensure board's role: updating rules and regulations 

Additional speakers in support of the bill: 
Steve Churchill - Physical Therapist and Athletic Trainer 
Robyn Gust - Athletic Trainer (Maybe presenting) 
Dr. Mattern - Trinity Health, Minot, ND 
Dr. Mann - UND Medical School 
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Neighboring States and their Practice Acts 

STATE DEFINITION OF DEFINITION OF ATHLETIC DEFINTION OF ATHLETIC DEFINITION OTHER 
ATHLETE TRAINER TRAINING OF DEFINITIONS 

ATHLETIC 
INJURY 

~igan "Athletic trainer" means an "Practice of athletic training" means 
individual engaged in the practice the treatment of an individual for risk 
of athletic training. management and injury 

prevention, the clinical evaluation and 
assessment of an individual for an 
injury or illness, or both, the 
immediate care and treatment of an 
individual for an injury or illness, or 
both, and the rehabilitation and 
reconditioning of an individual's injury 
or illness, or both, as long as those 
activities are within the rules 
promulgated under section 17904 and 
performed under the direction and 
supervision of an individual licensed 
under part 170 or 175. The practice of 
athletic training does not include the 
practice of physical therapy, the 
practice of medicine, the practice of 
osteopathic medicine and surgery, the 
practice of chiropractic, or medical 
diaqnosis or treatment 

STATE DEFINITION OF DEFINITION OF A TH LET IC DEFINTION OF ATHLETIC DEFINITION OTHER 
ATHLETE TRAINER TRAINING OF DEFINITIONS 

ATHLETIC 
INJURY 

Wisconsin "Athletic trainer" means an "Athletic training" means doing any of "Physical 
!.--..,, individual who engages in athletic the following: activity" 

training. (a) Preventing, recognizing and means 
evaluating injuries or illnesses vigorous 
sustained while participating in participation 
physical activity. in exercise, 
(b) Managing and administering the sports, 

initial treatment of injuries or illnesses games, 
sustained while participating in recreation, 
physical activity. wellness, 
(c) Giving emergency care or first aid fitness, or 

for an injury or illness sustained while employment 
participating in physical activity. activities. 
(d) Rehabilitating and physically 

reconditioning injuries or illnesses 
sustained while participating in 
physical activity. 
(e) Rehabilitating and physically 
reconditioning injuries or illnesses that 
impede or prevent an individual from 
returning to participation in physical 
activity, if the individual recently 
participated in, and intends to return to 
participation in, physical activity. 
(f) Establishing or administering risk 

management, conditioning, and injury 
prevention programs. 

---



STATE DEFINITION OF DEFINITION OF ATHLETIC DEFINTION OF ATHLETIC DEFINITION OTHER 
ATHLETE TRAINER TRAINING OF DEFINITIONS 

ATHLETIC 
INJURY 

Minnesota "Athlete" means a Athletic trainer" means a person Athletic training by a registered athletic "Athletic 
person who engages in athletic training trainer under section 148.7808 includes the injury" 
participating in under section 148.7806 and is activities described in paragraphs (a) to (e). means an "--

exercises, sports, registered under section 148. 7808. (a) An athletic trainer shall: injury 
games, or 

(1) prevent, recognize, and evaluate 
sustained by 

athletic injuries; 
recreation (2) give emergency care and first aid; a person as 
requiring physical (3) manage and treat athletic injuries; and a result of 
strength, agility, (4) rehabilitate and physically recondition the person's 
flexibility, range of athletic injuries. participation 
motion, speed, or The athletic trainer may use modalities in exercises, 
stamina. such as cold, heat, light, sound, electricity, sports, 

exercise, and mechanical devices for games, or 
treatment and rehabilitation of athletic recreation 
injuries to athletes in the primary requiring 
employment site. 
(b) The primary physician shall establish physical 

evaluation and treatment protocols to be strength, 

used by the athletic trainer. The primary agility, 
physician shall record the protocols on a flexibility, 
form prescribed by the board. The protocol range of 
form must be updated yearly at the athletic motion, 
trainer's registration renewal time and kept speed, or 
on file by the athletic trainer. stamina. 
(c) At the primary employment site, except 
in a corporate setting, an athletic trainer 
may evaluate and treat an athlete for an 
athletic injury not previously diagnosed for 
not more than 30 days, or a period of time 
as designated by the primary physician on 
the protocol form, from the date of the 
initial evaluation and treatment. 
Preventative care after resolution of the 

·~ 

injury is not considered treatment. This 
paragraph does not apply to a person who 
is referred for treatment by a person 
licensed in this state to practice medicine 
as defined in section 147.081 , to practice 
chiropractic as defined in section 148.01 , to 
practice podiatry as defined in section 
153.01, or to practice dentistry as defined 
in section 150A.05 and whose license is in 
good standing. 
(d) An athletic trainer may: 
(1) organize and administer an athletic 
training program including, but not limited 
to, educating and counseling athletes; 
(2) monitor the signs, symptoms, general 
behavior, and general physical response of 
an athlete to treatment and rehabilitation 
including, but not limited to, whether the 
signs, symptoms, reactions, behavior, or 
general response show abnormal 
characteristics; and 
(3) make suggestions to the primary 
physician or other treating provider for a 
modification in the treatment and 
rehabilitation of an injured athlete based on 
the indicators in clause (2). 
(e) In a clinical, corporate, and physical 
therapy setting, when the service provided 
is, or is represented as being, physical 
therapy, an athletic trainer may work only 

l under the direct supervision of a physical 
therapist as defined in section 148.65. 



STATE DEFINITION OF DEFINITION OF ATHLETIC DEFINTION OF ATHLETIC DEFINITION OTHER 
ATHLETE TRAINER TRAINING OF DEFINITIONS 

ATHLETIC 
INJURY 

South "Athletic trainer," a person with 
,.........__~ta specific qualifications as set forth in 

§ 36-29-3, whose responsibility is 
the prevention, evaluation, 
emergency care, treatment, and 
reconditioning of athletic injuries 
under the direction of the team or 
treating physician. The athletic 
trainer may use cryotherapy, which 
includes cold packs, ice packs, 
cold water immersion, and spray 
coolants; thermotherapy, which 
includes topical analgesics, moist 
hot packs, heating pads, infrared 
lamp, and paraffin bath; 
hydrotherapy, which includes 
whirlpool ; and therapeutic exercise 
common to athletic training which 
includes stretching and those 
exercises needed to maintain 
condition; in accordance with a 
physician's written protocol. Any 
rehabilitative procedures 
recommended by a physician for 
the rehabilitation of athletic injuries 
which have been referred and all 
other physical modalities may be 

,,_....-.. administered only following the 
prescription of the team or referring 
phvsician; 

STATE DEFINITION OF DEFINITION OF ATHLETIC DEFINTION OF ATHLETIC DEFINITION OTHER· 
ATHLETE TRAINER TRAINING OF DEFINITIONS 

ATHLETIC 
INJURY 

Montana "Athlete" means a "Athletic trainer" means an "Athletic training" means the practice "Athletic 
person who individual who is licensed to of prevention, recognition, injury" 
participates in an practice athletic training. assessment, management, treatment, means a 
athletic activity that disposition, and reconditioning of physical 
involves exercises, athletic injuries. The term includes the injury 
sports, or games following: received by 
requiring physical (a} the use of heat, light, sound, an athlete. 
strength, agility, cold, electricity, exercise, 
flexibility, range of reconditioning, or mechanical devices 
motion, speed, or related to the care and conditioning of 
stamina and the athletes; and 
exercises, sports, (b} the education and counseling of 
or games are of the public on matters related to athletic 
the type conducted training. 
in association with 
an educational 
institution or a 
professional, 
amateur, or 
recreational sports 

~ club or 
orqanization. 
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NORTH DAKOTA ATHLETIC TRAINERS' ASSOCIATION 

Mr. Chairman and members of the House Human Services Committee, 

My name is Steven Westereng and I am the Director of the University of North Dakota Division of 
Sports Medicine. Today, I am speaking with you on behalf of the North Dakota Athletic Trainers 
Association as their President. 

The members of the N DATA support the changes that are being proposed to the North Dakota law 
regu lating athletic trainers in SB 2295. 

Athletic trainers are health care professionals who are l icensed by the State of North Dakota. By 
definition,  Athletic Trainers (ATs) are healthcare professionals who collaborate with physicians.  The 
services provided by ATs comprise prevention ,  emergency care, clin ical d iagnosis, therapeutic 
i ntervention and rehabil itation of injuries and medical conditions. (National Athletic Trainers 
Association)  

North Dakota law regu lating athletic trainers was first adopted in1 983. I n  the last 32 years, the 
education and train ing for the profession has changed dramatical ly. Previously, a prospective 
candidate d id not have to go through an accredited curriculum at a col lege or un iversity to sit for the 
national board exam as one does now. Competencies are educational areas students are requ ired to 
be taught by faculty of these curricu lums.  The number of competencies has gone up by 60% ( 1 75 to 
290). These include areas in evidence based medicine, mental health, biostatistics, epidemiological 
data and others. In addition to education prior to becoming certified and licensed, an athletic trainer is 
required to have 50 continuing education units over a 2 year period including 1 0  hours in evidence 
based medicine by the Board of Certification, I nc (BOC) .  The BOC also has a Standard of 
Professional Practice which m ust be upheld by the athletic trainer to continue to work in the 
profession. 

Athletic Trainers are now more integrated into every major medical institution in this state. The public 
is now more famil iar and confident with the services performed by athletic trainers. This fami l iarity has 
a lso increased demand for individual  services, even from non-athletes who are, nevertheless, seeking 
services to restore and achieve physical activity goals after an injury. Because of the ·knowledge of 
athletic trainers, health care facil ities in the state have employed us to work along with physicians in 
their daily practice. 

The purpose of the Practice Act amendment is to ensure Athletic Trainers are properly educated and 
trained to deal with injuries and medical issues they encounter. It protects the integrity of the l icense to 
practice. This sets a standard and protects the public, who, when seeking services, has a right to a 
competent and professional standard of care. The Practice Act should not be used to constrain or l imit 
the profession to boundaries that are tighter than warranted by education and training-rather, it 
should reflect current education and training. The Practice Act should not be used to constrain patient 
choice or to limit healthy competition within the field of health care services. The Practice Act should 
not be used to constra in where Athletic Trainers work. The Practice Act should not be something that 
needs to be "worked around" ( i .e .  practicing under other titles such as "ergonomic specialist" or  
"physician extenders", which require no additional education or train ing) .  Yet, this is the current state 
of affairs with regard to the present Practice Act 

We believe SB 2295 is a good bi l l  and the North Dakota Athletic Trainers Association asks this 
committee for a "do pass" recommendation. 

Thank you for your time and consideration .  I would be happy to answer any of your questions .  
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ATHLETIC TRAINERS 
Athletic Trainers (ATs) are highly qual ified, multi-skilled health care 

professionals. ATs are under the all ied health professions category as 

defined by Health Resources Services Administration (HRSA) and 

Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) . The services 

provided by ATs are comprised of prevention, emergency care, cl inical 

d iagnosis, therapeutic intervention, and rehabil itation of injuries and 

medical conditions. Athletic Trainers are an essential part of a health 

care team. 

Prol11si1111 1racllc1 and aducadon 
• Evidence-based practice and health promotion 

• Prevention measures to ensure h ighest quality of care 

• Clinical examination and diag nosis 

• Immediate and acute care of injury and i l lness, especially in emergencies 

• Treatment, rehabil itation and reconditioning 

• Therapeutic intervention 

• Psychosocial strategies and referral 

• Health care administration 

• Ethical and legal practice, cultural competence 

• Professionalism and patient-centered approach 

There are 1 77 Athletic Trainers working in a variety 

of settings in  North Dakota i ncluding secondary schools, 

college/universities, and professional sports; occupa
tional health departments; cl i nics with specialties in  

sports medicine, medical fitness and wel lness; and 
physician offices working as physican extenders. 



G Oil• To accuratelv reflect who we are 
• and what we do as a profession 

2009 Joint Statement on Cooperation: 
National Athletic Trainers' Association and the 

American Phvsical Therapv Association 
• Ag ree that l eg al scope of practice is determined by 

legislatu re and reg u l atory bod ies 

• Neither organ ization wi l l  make false or mis lead i ng 

statements referri ng to the other as "not q ual ified " 

• Members of both organ izations s hould respect the rig hts , 

knowledge and ski l ls  of the othe r  profession and com pete 

honestly and eth ical ly i n  the health care marketplace 

ATHlETIC 
TRAINING 

There is overlap in the services 

provi ded by 3 d ifferent professions. 

We bel ieve th is overlap serves the publ ic ,  

i n  a g ood way, by giving patients health care 

options and empowering patient choice. 
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NORTH DAKOTA ATHl.ETlC TRAINERS' ASSOCIATION 

Chairmen Weisz and members of the House Human Services Committee, my name is Sara Bjerke 

and I am Executive Director of the North Dakota Ath letic Tra iners' Assocation.  Since becoming an 

ath letic tra iner  20 years ago, I have been privileged to work in a variety of settings inc lud ing youth, 

midd le school, h igh school; D ivision I I  and Division I; a mateur  and semi-professional;  and  m ed ica l 

fitness. 

I am h ere as an executive board member of the N DATA and  as an  athletic tra iner in  the state of 

North D akota, to support the changes that are being  proposed to North Dakota law regul at ing 

ath letic tra iners in  SB2295. 

I wou ld  l i ke to sta rt off by provid ing the committee with m ore i nformation regarding Ath l etic 

Tra iners (ATs). We a re hea lth care professionals who col laborate with physicians. Ath letic training 

is recogn ized by the American M edical  Association (AMA) as a health care profession. ATs a re 

under the a l l ied hea lth p rofessions category as defined by Heath Resources Services 

Administration ( HRSA) and  Department of Health and Human  Services ( H HS) .  We also have NP I  

(Nationa l  Provider Identifier) n u mbers. 

The statutory title of "ath letic trainer" is a misnomer. Ath l etic trainers p rovide medical services to 

a l l  types of people - not just ath letes participating in sports - and do not train people as personal 

o r  fitness tra iners do. However, the profession conti nues to embrace its p roud culture and h i story 

by reta in ing the tit le .  I n  other countries, ath letic therapist a nd physiotherapist are s imi lar  titles. 

The AT p rofession was fou nded on p roviding medical servi ces to ath letes. The Nationa l  Ath letic 

Tra iners' Assocation, the parent organ ization to the N DATA, represents more than 35,000 

members in the U .S .  and i nternationa l ly. There a re approximately 42,000 ATs practicing in the U.S .  

There a re students in  325 accredited col legiate academic p rograms. 

There a re four  accredited col l egiate academic programs in North Dakota that students can enrol l  

in to become an Ath letic Tra iner: M inot State, North Dakota State; Un iversity of Mary, and  

U n iversity of  North Dakota. Va l ley City State i s  a lso in  the p rocess of  becoming an accred ited 

ath letic tra in ing edu cationa l  p rogram .  

There a re 177 l i censed Ath letic Tra iners in  the state o f  North Dakota working in  a variety of 

settings. All col leges/un iversities in the state have ath letic tra iners p rovid ing health care to 

students/ath letes. Som e  ATs a re employed by health systems/hospitals and provide medica l  

coverage of events at secondary schools. Altru, Sanford a n d  Trinity Hea lth Systems have ath l etic 

tra iners working  in  their  orthopedic/sports medici ne  c l in ics as physican extenders. There a re a few 

working in industri a l  settings p rovid ing prevention a nd wel l ness care for workers. Those a re just a 

few exam ples of where Ath letic Tra iners a re working across the state. 

Thank  you for you r  t ime and  consideration.  We bel ieve S B  2295 is a good b i l l  and ask this 

committee for a "do pass" recommendation. Now I woul d  be  happy to address any questions at 

this time. 

tJ / 



NORTH DAKOT/\ ATHLETIC TRAINERS' ASSOCIATION 

Chairman and members o f  the H ouse Human Services Committee, my name is 
Alyssa Sorensen and I am the Secretary /Treasurer for the North D akota Athl etic 
Trainers' Association and also the Assistant Athletic Trainer at Valley City State 
University. I am here today on behalf of the North D akota Athletic Trainers' 

Association. 

O ccupational and industrial workers are at risk o f  acute and overuse on - the - job 
injuries. Their work environment requires special skills often including heavy 

lifting, carrying, movement and physical stress. Athletic trainers (ATs) can assist 
both employers and employees with services, including ergonomics assistance, 

injury prevention, stretching programs, early recognition program, onsite physical 
rehabilitation, working with aging workforce, wellness and safety. (NAT A) 

At the industrial l evel, providing care for the employees is very important. Often, the 
athletic trainer acts as an integral part of the overall health and safety team, 
providing proper referral, early intervention and expediting the care of the worker. 

They o ften work in conjunction with safety personnel, facility management, union 

representatives, ergonomists, physicians and other health care providers. The 

athletic trainer works with the employees to show proper stretching and exercise 
routines to prevent and treat i njuries and medical conditions. A Ts are often the "on 

-site" contact for physicians and other therapists, and are the first l ine of defense in 

injury prevention. With overall production being the key part to an i ndustry 
surviving, often times the company loses sight o f  th e actual employee working the 

productio n  line. The athleti c  trainer is an advocate for the employees to ensure their 
overall health and wellness is kept a top priority. 

Industry is maximizing production and income, while reducing costs and boosting 
worker productivity. Athletic trainers improve these outcomes. With the athletic 
trainer initially assessing an injury and providing proper referral, it saves overall 

cost to the company. 

One great example right in North Dakota can be seen at John Deere in Valley City, 

North Dakota; where there was a 70% OSHA reduction of injuries once they hired 

an athletic trainer (Erin Welken, John Deere, Valley C ity) . 1 0 0 %  o f  the companies 
who had hired an athletic trainer, reported that the athletic trainer provides a 
favorable return-on-investment (ROI) (NATA), further 68% of the companies 

indicated that the athletic trainer helped to decrease restricted workdays and 
worker's compensation claims for musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs) by more than 

25%.  



Large industrial plants have multiple shifts and one athletic trainer cannot b e  there 

all 24 hours of the day. H owever, the athletic trainer can train employees to act as 
part of an emergency response team. They can treat minor i nj uries, are CPR/ AED 
certified. They understand concussions. This is  also a huge asset to the community 
as there are now more individuals trained in emergency response. 

North D akota has a growing industrial economy. Farm machine and equipment 

productio n, the Bakken oil fields, the Falkirk mine, etc. make up a vast portion of 
North D akota employment opportunities. These settings can only improve 
production and efficiency with the addition of an athleti c  trainer. Even though these 
athletic trainers are not working with ''athletic ''. injuries their knowl edge and 

educatio n, specifi cally in ergonomics and injury management, make them an 
i ntegral p art of the health care team. 

Thank you for your tim e  and consideration. I would be happy to address any 
questions. 

··--



March 2 1 , 201 5 

Robin Tracy 
3935 Dakota Drive 
Grand Forks, ND 58201 
701 -746-5779 

Dear ND House of Representatives Human Services Committee, 

I am writing to ask you for your support of SB2295, to amend the Athletic Training 
Practice Act, currently before the Human Services Committee. As a dual 
credentialed/licensed physical therapist and athletic trainer, I am in favor of the 
amendment. The amendment more accurately describes the functions of a licensed 
athletic trainer and while it updates the practice act, it doesn't expand the scope of 
practice. 

I am an assistant professor in the Athletic Training Program at UNO and have held my 
position at UNO for 20 years. The UNO students, along with all athletic training 
students in accredited athletic training programs, are taught competencies in the 
comprehensive management of injuries and illnesses and then tested on competencies 
on the certification exam. This training includes recognizing , managing and being part 
of the treatment team for individuals with i l lnesses and injuries. · My experience working 
with both athletic training and physical therapy students in the clinical setting has shown 
they have equivalent skills and knowledge in the evaluation,  rehabil itation and testing of 
athletes and physically active patients. I feel that athletic trainers have gone through 
the training, testing and competencies to practice athletic training as stated in SB2295. 

For the above reasons, I ask you to pass SB2295 and I thank you for your time and 
consideration in this matter. Feel free to contact me if you have any questions or 
concerns. 

Respectfully submitted , 

� f!T�AT� 
Robin Tracy, PT, ATC, D�CS

. 

UNO-Center for Sports Medicine 
2751 2nd Ave N, Stop 901 3  
Hyslop Room 1 44 
Grand Forks, ND 58202-901 3  
Office: 701 -777-6732 

Fax: 701 -777-2536 
Cell: 701 -746-5779 

robin.tracy@med.und.edu 



NORTH DAKOTA ATHLETIC TRAINERS' ASSOCIATION 

Mister Chairman and members of the House Human Services Committee, my name is Brandy Currie. 

I am Vice President of the North Dakota Athletic Trainers' Association as well the Curriculum 

Coordinator and Instructor at the University of Mary in Bismarck North Dakota. Additionally, I am 

employed by Sanford Health in Bismarck as an athletic trainer working in a local high school. I am 

here today on behalf of the North Dakota Athletic Trainers' Association and as an athletic training 

educator within the state. 

We support the changes that are being proposed to the Century Code regulating athletic trainers in 

8822 95. 

The code provisions regulating athletic trainers was first adopted in 1 983. At that time, athletic trainers 

were mostly thought of as professionals who attended the sidelines of athletic events. But our 

profession, along with our education and training, has changed dramatically in the past 32 years, as 

has our role in delivering quality health care. 

An accredited curriculum, established by the Commission on Accreditation of Athletic Training 

Education or CAATE, has since been adopted and educational competencies are used to guide 

teaching practices and student learning. These competencies are used as a standard measure of 

what students must be educated in upon completion of an entry-level Athletic Training education 

program. Knowledge, understanding and proficiency of the content of these competencies are 

essential for successful completion of our national board exam. 

Professional, or entry-level Athletic Training education, uses a competency-based approach in both 

classroom and clinical settings. Using a medical-based education model, Athletic Training students 

are educated to provide comprehensive client/patient care in five domains of clinical practice: 

1 .  prevention; 

2 .  clinical evaluation and diagnosis; 

3. immediate and emergency care: 

4. treatment and rehabilitation; and 

5. organization and professional health and well-being. 

The educational requirements for CAATE-accredited Athletic Training education programs include 

\ 



acquisition of knowledge, skills, and clinical abilities along with a broad scope of foundational 

behaviors of professional practice. Students complete an extensive clinical learning requirement that 

is embodied in the clinical integration proficiencies (professional, practice-oriented outcomes) as 

identified in the Athletic Training Education Competencies put forth by CAATE. 

Students are required to participate in a minimum of two years of academic clinical education. 

Throughout these experiences, students must gain clinical experiences with a variety of patient 

populations who vary by age and types of activities, and who are at risk for both musculoskeletal and 

general medical conditions. This clinical experience prepares future athletic trainers to provide care to 

a diverse population of patients who sustain injuries in a number of ways outside the traditional 

"athletic" realm. 

This formal education allows athletic trainers to work in a variety of patient settings such as colleges 

and Universities, hospital and clinical, occupational health, military, performing arts, physician 

extender, professional sports, public safety and secondary schools. The roles of the athletic trainers in 

these settings vary slightly ,  but generally include: prevention; early recognition of injuries; triage; 

immediate care of injuries, proper referral as needed; and general patient education. 

While these roles are dictated by the educational standards presented, many of them are not always 

available to professionals in the state of North Dakota. In short, what my students are learning in the 

classroom cannot legally be translated into professional services in this state. The language of our 

current practice act creates confusion as to how athletic trainers can fill these roles in our state and 

has therefore limited the use of athletic trainers in these environments. In addition, it creates a level of 

uncertainty in terms of the legality in how they are practicing. This is obviously frustrating to future 

professionals as well as current professionals in our state. Some states have already amended their 

practice acts and numerous others are currently reviewing their practice acts to address this confusion 

and allow athletic trainers to work in the ways outlined by their education. In light of that, many 

students are actively pursuing work in other states besides North Dakota. We are forcing our highly 

qualified allied healthcare professionals to leave our state in order to work in their area of interest. 

Updating the language of the Century Code is simply that, it modernizes the code to more accurately 

reflect our education. It is not an expansion of services, it simply allows us to do what we are trained 

to do. 

We believe this bill is a good bill and the North Dakota Athletic Trainers' Association asks this 

committee for a "do pass" recommendation. 

Thank you for your time and consideration. I would be happy to address any questions. 

Brandy Currie, M. Ed, ATC, LAT 



TO: North Dakota Senate Human Service Committee 

FROM: Jeremiah Penn, MD 

DATE: March 23, 2015 

SUBJECT: Senate Bill No. 2295 

Mister Chairman and members of the House Human Services Committee, my name is Dr. Jeremiah 

Penn. I am a family medicine physician with specialized training in primary care sports medicine. I am 

writing this letter in support of Senate Bill No. 2295, which amends the North Dakota Century Code as it 

pertains to the profession of athletic training. 

J currently work at MidDakota Clinic in Bismarck, ND. I received my family medicine training through the 

University of North Dakota Center for Family Medicine in Bismarck and my sports medicine training 

through the Kaiser Permanente Primary Care Sports Medicine Fellowship in Fontana, CA. I currently 

volunteer as team physician with the University of Mary and have worked closely with most of the high 

school athletic trainers in the Bismarck area. I feel my close contact with the athletic training 

educational program at the University of Mary and frequent interactions with numerous athletic trainers 

qualifies me to comment on this bill. 

I am in support of this bill because I feel it updates our Century Code with a more accurate description of 

how athletic trainers in our state actually practice. With the large number of high school and college 

athletes training and competing every day in our state, there is no possible way physicians can deal with 

every one of their issues. Having well qualified athletic trainers as the point of entry into the health 

system is an excellent way to initiate care for these athletes. After athletes have been evaluated, 

protocols to return them to optimal performance must be initiated and for many of them, the most 

practical way to return to optimal health is through daily visits with their athletic trainer. 

One of the concerns I have heard about this bill is that it may provide athletic trainers the ability to 

function without medical oversight. While I think the education athletic trainers receive has broadened 

significantly, I do not think their training comes close to the breadth and depth of that of a physician. 

That is why I think it is important to note that although it is not explicitly stated in our Century Code, all 

athletic trainers are expected to work under a physician. Athletic trainers are regulated under the Board 

of Certification for Athletic Training. This board has seven standards of practice. The first of these seven 

standards is the following: Direction - The Athletic Trainer renders service or treatment under the 

direction of a physician. 

I feel that this bill clarifies the relationship of an athletic trainer with a physician and allows them to feel 

comfortable providing the services they have been trained for. I know the athletic trainers I work with 

value our relationship as a part of a health care team. I would encourage the committee of offer this bill 

a "do pass" recommendation. If I can answer any questions or offer clarification, please contact me on 

.--.... my cell phone at (701)-527-3358. Thank you for your consideration. 

3 



March 24, 201 5  
House Human Services Committee, Representative Robin Weisz, Chairman 
Testimony on SB 2295 from Nick Walker 

Good morning, Chairman Weisz and Members of the House Human Services Committee.  
My name is Nick Walker and I am the head girls' basketball coach at  Legacy High School 
and head girls track coach at Century High School. I am here in favor of SB 2295. 

I have been in the district now for 7 years and I fully understand the importance of having 
an athletic trainer in our building, at practice, and at sporting events. I believe that our kids 
in our schools are put in a great position by having the athletic trainers in our building. They 
care for injuries when needed and help prevent injuries by doing rehab or preventative 
measures to help our athletes be safe. I believe as a coach that it would be beneficial to all 
of our students and staff if the term "athletic injury" was changed to "Injury". This way, our 
athletic trainers would be able to help our kids that are injured in a non-sporting endeavor in 
or outside of the school day. This would also help to ensure that they are seen by a 
medical professional when we all know that some of our kids would not be afforded that 
opportunity if it wasn't for the medical professional in our school. Once again, I cannot 
express the respect I have for the athletic trainers in the school. They are key component of 
the safety and well-being of our kids in school. 

Thank you for your time. I urge you give SB 2295 a do pass recommendation. I am glad to 
answer your questions, 

Nick Walker 
.·--- Bismarck Public Schools 



TO: North Dakota Senate Human Service Committee 

FROM: Tim Jeulson, MD 

DATE: March 23, 2015 

SUBJECT: Senate Bill No. 2295 

Mister Chairman and members of the House Human Services Committee, thank you for 
taking the time to review SB 2295. I wish that I could be present with you, but I was 
already committed to my patients who had scheduled on the day that this bill will be 
discussed. My name is Tim Juelson and I am an orthopaedic surgeon practicing in 
Bismarck, ND, at the Bone & Joint Center. I am certified by the American Board of 
Orthopaedic Surgery and also completed an orthopaedic sports surgery fellowship with 
Dr. Andrews where we worked directly with many athletic trainers. I am privileged to 
have earned the first certificate of added qualification in orthopaedic sports surgery in 
North Dakota. My specialty focuses mostly on prevention, management, and treatment of 
sports related injuries. During my fellowship in Florida athletic trainers were directly 
involved in all aspects of patient care. 

You have heard from some of the athletic trainers today, so I will be brief with my 
testimony in support of SB2295. Over the past years I have had the privilege of working 
with some of the certified athletic trainers whom you have heard from today. We have 
had many patients in common, particularly with my responsibilities to various high 
schools and the University of Mary athletes. Athletic trainers provide a valuable service, 
predominantly with management of injuries both simple and complex. Their role is both 
valuable and certainly has room for expansion into the future. 

The bill before you today is representative of current athletic trainer's capability and 
scope of practice. Physicians are still involved in their supervision and it recognizes their 
current abilities. In discussion with the North Dakota Medical Association, there are no 
objections to SB2295. 

Thank you for your time, and please let me know if there are any questions I can answer. · 
My email is tjuelson@bone-joint.com and work number is 701-530-8800. 



A Sampling of I l lnesses Addressed in Educational Competencies 

PHP-14. Assess weight loss a n d  hyd ration status using weight charts, urine color cha rts, or  

specific gravity measurements to determine a n  ind ivid ual's abi l ity to participate in physical 

activity in a hot, h u m i d  environme nt. 

PHP-15. Use a gluco mete r to monitor b lood glucose levels, determine pa rticipation status, and 

m a ke refe rra l decisions.  

PHP-16. U se a pea k-flow meter to m on itor a patient's asthma sym ptoms, determine 

participation status, and make refe rra l decisions. 

AC-36. Identify the signs, symptoms, interventions a nd, when appropriate, the return-to

participation c riteria for: 

AC-36a. sudden ca rd ia c  arrest 

AC-36b. brain injury including concussion, subdura l  and epidura l  hematomas, second i m pact 

syndrome a nd skul l  fracture 

AC-36c. cervical, thoracic, and l u m ba r  spine tra u ma 

AC-36d. heat i l lness incl uding heat cram ps, heat exhaustion, exertional a nd hyponatre m ia 

AC-36e. exertiona l sickling associated with sickle cel l  trait 

AC-36f. rhabdomyolysis 

AC-36g. i nternal hemorrhage 

AC-36h. dia betic emergencies including hypoglycemia and ketoacidosis 

AC-36i. asthma attacks 

AC-36j. systemic a l lergic reaction, including ana phylactic s hock 

AC-36k. e pi le ptic a n d  non-epileptic seizures 

AC-361. shock 

AC-36m. hypothermia, frostbite 

AC-36n.  toxic d rug overdoses 

AC-360. local a l lergic reaction. 
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?reface 

The 5th edition of the Athletic Training Education Competencies (Competencies) provides educa

tional program p ersonnel and others with the knowledge, skills, and clinical abilities to be mastered 

by students enrolled in professional athletic training education programs. Mastery of these Compe

tencies provides the entry-level athletic trainer with the capacity to provide athletic training services 

to clients and p atients of varying ages, lifestyles, and needs. 

The Commission on Accreditation of Athletic Training Education (CAATE) requires that the Com

petencies be instructed and evaluated in each accredited professional athletic training education 

program. The Competencies serve as a companion document to the accreditation standards, which 

identify the requirements to acquire and maintain accreditation, published by CAATE. 

The Professional Education Council (PEC) of the NATA was charged with creating the 5th edition of the 

Competencies. The PEC developed and executed a systematic plan to draft the Competencies a nd 

to solicit and integrate feedback from multiple sources as the draft was revised .  First, the PEC orches

trated an initial open call for feedback on the 4'h edition of the Competencies. Next, groups of subject

matter experts, including practicing athletic trainers, educators, and administrators, were identified.  In 

addition to the feedback on the 41h edition, these subject-matter experts considered today's health

care system, current best practice in athletic training, and their own expertise in creating an initial draft 

of the S'h edition. Many conversations ensued and subsequent drafts were submitted. Following revi

sion for form and consistency of language, a draft of the Competencies was again posted for open 

feedback. This valuable feedback was considered in its entirety by the PEC, and final revisions were 

made. 

We thank the members of the PEC for their untiring efforts in revising this document to reflect the 

changing needs of athletic training education. The advice, cooperation, and feedback from the 

Board of Certification and the CAATE have also been instrumental in this process. Finally, the diligent 

and perceptive feedback that was received from stakeholders during the public comment periods 

was instrumental in creating a document that ensures that entry-level athletic trainers are prepared 

to work in a c hanging healthcare system. Together we are improving healthcare by improving the 

education of athletic trainers. 

- NATA Executive Committee for Education, December 201 0  
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Introduction 

This document is to be used as a guide by administrative. academic. and clinical program per

sonnel when structuring all facets of the education experience for students. Educational program 

personnel should recognize that the Competencies are the minimum requirements for a student's 

professional education. Athletic training education programs are encouraged to exceed these 

minimums to provide their students with the highest quality education possible. In addition, pro

grams should employ innovative, student-centered teaching and learning methodologies to con

nect the classroom, laboratory and clinical settings whenever possible to further enhance 

professional preparation. 

The acquisition and clinical application of knowledge and skills in an education program must rep

resent a defined yet flexible program of study. Defined in that knowledge and skills must be ac

counted for in the more formal classroom and laboratory educational experience. Flexible in that 

learning opportunities are everywhere. Behaviors are identified, discussed, and practiced through

out the educational program. Whatever the sequence of learning, patient safety is of prime impor

tance; students must demonstrate competency in a particular task before using it on a patient. This 

begins a cycle of learning, feedback, refinement, and more advanced learning. Practice with con

cepts by gaining clinical experience with real life applications readies the student for opportunities 

to demonstrate decision-making and skill integration ability, Clinical Integrated Proficiencies (CIP) . 

CIPs are designed to measure of real life application. Students should be assessed in their perform

ance of CIPs on actual patients. If this is not possible, standardized/simulated patients or scenarios 

should be used to measure student proficiency. 

Also, inherent in this document is the understanding that a comprehensive basic and applied sci

ence background is needed for students to develop appropriate levels of professional competence 

in the discipline-specific knowledge and skills described in this document. 

All facets of the educational programs must incorporate current knowledge and skills that represent 

best practice. Programs must select such content following careful review of the research literature 

and consideration of the needs for today's entry-level practitioner. Because the knowledge within a 

profession is dynamic, information regarding current best practice is fluid and requires on-going ex

amination and reflection. 
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Summary of Major Changes included in 5ch Edition 

• The 1 2  content areas of the previous edition have been reorganized into 8 to eliminate 

redundancies and better reflect current practice.  

The pathology content area was eliminated, and these competencies are addressed 

throughout other content areas. 

The risk management/prevention and nutritional considerations content areas were 

combined to form the new Prevention and Health Promotion {PHP) content area. This 

c hange was made to reflect the current emphasis on prevention and wellness across 

health care a n d  the lifespan. 

The orthopedic clinical exam/diagnosis and medical conditions/disabilities content areas 

were combined to form the Clinical Examination and Diagnosis (CE) content area. This 

change was made to emphasize that athletic trainers use one standard clinical examina

tion model that changes based on the findings and needs of the patient. 

The therapeutic modalities, conditioning and rehabilitative exercise and pharmacology 

content areas were combined to form one content area that incorporates all aspects of 

Therapeutic Interventions (Tl}. 

A new content area was added to provide students with the basic knowledge and skills 

related to Evidence-Based Practice (EBP). The importance of using EBP concepts and 

principles to improve patient outcomes is being emphasized throughout the health care 

system and is reflected within this new content area. 

• The Acute Care (AC) content area has been substantially revised to reflect contemporary 

practice. 

The addition of skill in assessing rectal temperature, oxygen saturation, blood glucose 

levels, a n d  use of a nebulizer and oropharyngeal and nasopharyngeal airways reflects 

recommendations of NATA position statements that are published or in development. 

• The content areas now integrate knowledge and skills, instead of separate sections for cogni

tive and psychomotor competencies. The action verb used in each competency statement 

identifies the expected outcome. In some places, knowledge is the expectation and not skill 

acquisition. For example, acute care competency #9 (AC-9) requires that athletic training 

students be knowledgeable a bout the various types of airway adjuncts including oropharyn

geal airways (OPA) . nasopharyngeal airways (NPO) and supraglottic airways. However. the 

accompanying skill competency AC- 1 0  does not require skill acquisition in the use of the 

supraglottic airways. 

• The Clinical Integration Proficiencies (CIP), which are ideally assessed in the context of real 

patient care, have been removed from the individual content areas and reorganized into a 

separate section .  This reorganization reflects clinical practice and demonstrates the global 

nature of the Proficiencies. For example, rather than just assessing students' ability to examine 

a real patient in a real clinical setting, the new CIPs require that students demonstrate the 

ability to exa mine and diagnose a patient, provide appropriate acute/emergent care, plan 

and implement appropriate therapeutic interventions, and make decisions pertaining to safe 

return to participation.  This a pproach to student assessment better reflects the comprehensive 

nature of real patient care. 

© 201 1 National Athletic Trainers ' Association 
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Comparison of the Role Delineation Study I Practice 
Analysis, seh Ed and the Competencies 

The Role Delineation Study/Practice Analysis, 61h ed {RDS/PA} of the Board of Certification serves 

as the blue print for the certification examination. As such, the Competencies must include all tasks 

{and related knowledge and skills} included in the RDS/PA. Working with the BOC, we compared 

the RDS/PA with this version of the Competencies and can confidently state that the content of the 

RDS /PA is incorporated in this version. 

© 201 1 Notional Athletic Trainers' Association 
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. ....--.... 

5th Edition Competencies - Project Tea m  Members 

Professional Education Council: Lou Fincher, EdD, ATC- Chair 

David W. Carr, PhD, ATC; Ron Courson, ATC, PT, NREMT; Jolene Henning, EdD, ATC; 

Marsha Grant-Ford, PhD, ATC; Luzita Vela, PhD, ATC; Alice Wilcoxson. PhD, ATC,  PT 
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Team Leader: Lou F incher 

Doug Casa, PhD, AT 

University of Conne 

Paula Maxwell. P h D  

James Madison Uni 

Acute Care of lnjur" 
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Team Leader: Ron C 

Dean Crowell, MA, 

A thens Ortho Clinic 

Gianluca Del Rossi. 

University of South F, 

Michael Dillon, .A.TC 

University o f  Georgi 

Jim Ellis. M D  

Greenvil/e, SC 

Francis Feid , Med. M 

Pittsburgh, PA 

Kevin Guskiewicz, P 

UNC-Chapel Hill 

Glen Henry, MS, N R  

Athens Technical C 

::. FACSM 

ticut 

ATC 

ersify 

,5 

ourson 

MaryBeth Horodyski. EdD, ATC 

University of Florida 

Jim Kyle, M D  

Morgantown, WV 

Robb Rehberg, PhD, ATC, N REMT 

William Paterson University 

Erik Swartz, PhD, ATC 

University of New Hampshire 
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Orthopedic Clinical Medical Conditions 

Assessment & Diagnosis & Disabilities 

Team Leader: Jolene Henning Team Leader: David Carr 

Sara Brown, MS, ATC Micki Cuppett. EdD, ATC 

Boston University University of South Florida 

Wes Robinson, ATC Randy Cohen, ATC, DPT 

University of Maryland University of Arizona 

Jim Schilling, PhD, ATC ,  CSCS Doug Gregory, MD, FAAP 

University of Southern Maine Suffolk, VA 

C had Starkey, PhD, ATC Katie Walsh, EdD, ATC 

Ohio University East Carolina University 
· ·-··-·· --

Therapeutic Modalities/Conditioning Pharmacology 

Rehabilitative Exercise 

Team Lea ders: Luzita Vela & Team Leader: David Carr 

Marsha Grant ford 

Craig Denegar, PhD, ATC ,  PT Micki Cuppett, EdD, ATC 

University of Connecticut University of South Florida 

Lennart Johns. PhD, ATC Doug Gregory, MD, FAAP 

Ouinnipiac University Suffolk, VA 

Ken Knight PhD. ATC, FACSM Joel Houglum, PhD 

Brigham Young University South Dakota State University 

S ayers John Miller, PhD, ATC. PT Greg Ke uter, ATC 

Pennsylvania State University SportPharm 

Mark Merrick. PhD, ATC Diedre leaver Dunn. PhD, ATC 
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Foundational Behaviors of Professional Practice 

These basic behaviors permeate professional practice and should be incorporated into 

instruction and assessed throughout the educational program .  

Primacy o f  the Patient 

0 Recognize sources of conflict of interest that can impact the client's/patient's health . 

• Know a nd a pply the commonly accepted standards for patient confidentiality. 

• Provide the best healthcare available for the client/patient. 

• Advocate for the needs of the client/patient. 

Team Approach to Practice 

• Recognize the unique skills a nd abilities of other healthcare professionals. 

• Understand the scope of practice of other healthcare professionals. 

• Execute duties within the identified scope of practice for athletic trainers. 

• Include the patient (and family, where appropriate) in the decision-making process. 

• Work with others in effecting positive patient outcomes. 

Legal Practice 

• Practice athletic training in a legally competent manner. 

• Identify and conform to the laws that govern athletic training. 

• Understand the consequences of violating the laws that govern athletic training. 

Ethical Practice 

• Comply with the NATA ' s  Code of Ethics and the BOC' s  Standards of Professional Practice. 
• Understand the consequences of violating the NATA ' s  Code of Ethics and BOC 's  Standards of 

Professional Practice. 

• Comply with other codes of ethics, as applicable. 

Advancing Knowledge 

Critically examine the body of knowledge in athletic training and related fields. 

Use evidence-based practice as a foundation for the delivery of care. 

Appreciate the connection between continuing education and the improvement of athletic 

training practice. 

Promote the value of research and scholarship in athletic training. 

Disseminate new knowledge in athletic training to fellow athletic trainers, clients/patients, 

other healthcare professionals, and others as necessary. 

Cultural Competence 

• Demonstrate awareness of the impact that clients' /patients' cultural differences have on their 

attitudes and behaviors toward healthcare. 

• Demonstrate knowledge, attitudes, behaviors, and skills necessary to achieve optimal health 

outcomes tor diverse patient populations. 

• Work respectfully and effectively with diverse populations and in a diverse work environment. 

Professionalism 

• Advocate for the profession. 

• Demonstrate honesty and integrity. 

• Exhibit compassion and empathy. 

• Demonstrate effective interpersonal communication skills. 
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Evidence-Based Practice (EBP) 

Evidence-based practitioners incorporate the best available evidence, their clinical skills, and the 

needs of the patient to maximize patient outcomes. An understanding of evidence-based practice 

concepts and their application is essential to sound clinical decision-making and the critical exam

ination of athletic training practice. 

Practicing in an evidence-based manner should not be confused with conducting research. 

While conducting research is important to the profession of athletic training, developing the abil

ity to conduct a research project is not an expectation of professional education. This section fo

cuses on the knowledge and skills necessary for entry-level athletic trainers to use a systematic 

approach to ask and answer clinically relevant questions that affect patient care by using review 

and application of existing research evidence. One strategy, among others, is to use a five-step ap

proach: l )  creating a clinically relevant question; 2) searching for the best evidence; 3) critically 

analyzing the evidence; 4) integrating the appraisal with personal clinical expertise and patients' 

preferences; and 5) evaluating the performance or outcomes of the actions. Each competency 

listed below is related to such a systematic approach and provides the building blocks for em

ploying evidence-based practice. Other specific evidence-based practice competencies have 

also been included in appropriate content areas. 

All items listed in parentheses (eg) are intended to serve as examples and are not all encompassing 

or the only way to satisfy the competency. 

Knowledge and Skills 

EBP - 1 .  Define evidence-based practice as  it relates to athletic training clinical practice. 

EBP-2. Explain the role of evidence in the clinical decision making process. 

EBP-3. Describe and differentiate the types of quantitative and qualitative research, research 

components, and levels of research evidence. 

EBP-4. Describe a systematic approach (eg, five step approach) to create and answer a 

clinical question through review and application of existing research. 

EBP-5. Develop a relevant clinical question using a pre-defined question format (eg, PICO= 

fatients, Intervention, .Comparison, Outcomes; PIO = fatients, lntervention, Outcomes) . 

EBP-6. Describe and contrast research and literature resources including databases and online 

critical appraisal libraries that can be used for conducting clinically-relevant searches. 

EBP-7. Conduct a literature search using a clinical question relevant to athletic training 

practice using search techniques (eg, Boolean search, Medical Subject Headings) 

and resources appropriate for a specific clinical question. 

EBP-8. Describe the differences between narrative reviews, systematic reviews, and meta

analyses. 

EBP-9. Use standard criteria or developed scales (eg, Physiotherapy Evidence Database 

Scale [PEDro] . Oxford Centre for Evidence Based Medicine Scale) to critically appraise 

the structure, rigor, and overall quality of research studies. 

EBP - 1 0. Determine the effectiveness and efficacy of an athletic training intervention utilizing 

evidence-based practice concepts. 
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E B P - 1 1 .  Explain the theoretical foundation of clinical outcomes assessment (eg, disablement, 

health-related quality of life) and describe common methods of outcomes 

assessment in athletic training clinical practice (generic, disease-specific, 

region-specific, and dimension-specific outcomes instruments) . 

EBP- 1 2. Describe the types of outcomes measures for clinical practice (patient-based and 

clinician-based) as well as types of evidence that are gathered through outcomes 

assessment (patient-oriented evidence versus disease-oriented evidence ) .  

EBP - 1 3. Understand t h e  methods o f  assessing patient status and progress (eg, global rating o f  

change, minimal clinically important difference, minimal detectable difference) with 

clinical outcom es assessments. 

EBP - 1 4.  Apply and interpret clinical outcomes to assess patient status, progress, and change 

using psychometrically sound outcome instruments. 
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Prevention and Health Promotion (PHP) 

Athletic trainers develop and implement strategies and programs to prevent the incidence 

and/or severity of injuries and illnesses and optimize their clients' /patients' overall health and qual

ity of life. These strategies and programs also incorporate the importance of nutrition and physical 

activity in maintaining a healthy lifestyle and in preventing chronic disease (eg, diabetes, obesity, 

cardiovascular disease) .  

Knowledge and Skills 

General Prevention Principles 

PHP- 1 .  Describe the concepts {eg, case definitions, incidence versus prevalence, exposure 

assessment, rates) and uses of injury and illness surveillance relevant to athletic training. 

PHP-2. Identify and describe measures used to monitor injury prevention strategies [eg, injury 

rates and risks, relative risks, odds ratios, risk differences, numbers needed to treat/harm) . 

PHP-3. Identify modifiable/non-modifiable risk factors and mechanisms for injury and illness. 

PHP-4. Explain how the effectiveness of a prevention strategy can be assessed using clinical 

outcomes, surveil lance, or evaluation data. 

PHP-5. Explain the precautions and risk factors associated with p hysical activity in persons 

with common congenital and acquired abnormalities, disabilities, and diseases. 

PHP-6. Summarize the epidemiology data related to the risk of injury and il lness associated 

with participation in physical activity. 

Prevention Strategies and Procedures 

PHP-7. Implement disinfectant procedures to prevent the spread of infectious diseases and to 

comply with Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) and other federal 

regulations. 

PHP-8. Identify the necessary components to include in a preparticipation physical examination 

as recommended by contemporary guidelines (eg, American Heart Association, 

American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Sports Medicine & Fitness) . 

P HP-9. Explain the role of the preparticipation p hysical exam in identifying conditions that 

might predispose the athlete to injury or illness. 

PHP- 1 0. Explain the principles of the body' s  thermoregulatory mechanisms as they relate to 

heat gain and heat loss. 

PHP- 1 1 .  Explain the principles of environmental illness prevention programs to include acclimation 

and conditioning, fluid and electrolyte replacement requirements. proper practice and 

competition attire, hydration status, and environmental assessment (eg, sling 

psychrometer. wet bulb globe temperatures [WBGD . heat index guidelines ) .  

PHP- 1 2. Summarize current practice guidelines related t o  physical activity during extreme 

weather conditions [eg, heat, cold, lightning, wind) . 

PHP- 1 3. Obtain and interpret environmental data {web bulb globe temperature [WBGT) , sling 

psychrometer, lightning detection devices) to make clinical decisions regarding the 

scheduling, type, and duration of physical activity. 
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P H P - 1 4. Assess weight loss and hydration status using weight charts, urine color charts, or 

specific gravity measurements to determine an individual's a bility to participate in 

physical activity in a hot, humid environment. 

P H P - 1 5. Use a glucometer to monitor blood glucose levels, determine participation status, 

and make referral decisions. 

P H P- 1 6. Use a peak-flow meter to monitor a patient's asthma symptoms, determine participation 

status, and make referral decisions. 

P H P - 1 7. Explain the etiology and prevention guidelines associated with the leading causes of 

sudden death during physical activity, including but not limited to : 

P H P - 1 7a. Cardiac arrhythmia or arrest 

P H P ·  1 7b.  Asthma 

P H P - 1 7c. Traumatic brain injury 

P H P - 1 7d. Exertional heat stroke 

P H P - 1 7e. Hyponatremia 

P H P- 1 7f. Exertional sickling 

P H P - l 7g. Anaphylactic shock 

P H P - l 7h. Cervical spine injury 

P H P- 1 7i. lightning strike 

P H P - 1 8. Explain strategies for communicating with coaches, athletes, parents, administrators, 

and other relevant personnel regarding potentially dangerous conditions related to 

the environment, field, or playing surfaces. 

P H P - 1 9. Instruct clients/patients in the basic principles of ergodynamics and their relationship 

to the prevention of i l lness and injury. 

Protective Equipment and Prophylactic Procedures 

P H P - 20. Summarize the basic principles associated with the design, construction, fit, 

maintenance, and reconditioning of protective equipment. including the rules and 

regulations established by the associations that govern its use. 

P HP-21 . Summarize the principles and concepts related to the fabrication, modification, and 

appropriate application or use of orthotics and other dynamic and static splints. 

P H P - 22. Fit standard protective equipment following manufacturers' guidelines. 

P H P -23. Apply preventive taping and wrapping procedures, splints, braces, and other special 

protective devices. 

Fitness/Wellness 

P H P -24. Summarize the general principles of health maintenance and personal hygiene. 

including skin care, dental hygiene. sanitation, immunizations, avoidance of infectious 

and contagious diseases, diet. rest, exercise, and weight control. 

P H P -25. Describe the role of exercise in maintaining a healthy lifestyle and preventing chronic 

disease. 
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PHP-26. Identify and describe the standard tests, test equipment, and testing protocols that 

are used for measuring fitness, body composition, posture, flexibility, muscular strength, 

power, speed, agility, and endurance. 

PHP-27. Compare and contrast the various types of flexibility, strength training, and cardiovas

cular conditioning programs to include expected outcomes, safety precautions, 

hazards, and contraindications. 

PHP-28. A dminister and interpret fitness tests to assess a client's/patient's physical status and 

readiness for physical activity. 

PHP-29. Explain the basic concepts and practice of fitness and wellness screening. 

PHP-30. Design a fitness program to meet the individual needs of a client/patient based o n  

the results o f  standard fitness assessments and wellness screening. 

PHP-31 . Instruct a client/patient regarding fitness exercises and the use of muscle strengthening 

equipment to include correction or modification of inappropriate, u nsafe, or  danger

ous lifting techniques. 

General Nutrition Concepts 

PHP-32. Describe the role of nutrition in enhancing performance ,  preventing injury or illness, 

and maintaining a healthy lifestyle. 

PHP-33. Educate clients/patients on the importance of healthy eating, regular exercise, and 

general preventative strategies for improving or maintaining health and quality of life. 

PHP-34. Describe contemporary nutritional intake recommendations and explain how these 

recommendations can be used in performing a basic dietary analysis and providing 

appropriate general dietary recommendations. 

PHP-35. Describe the proper intake, sources of, and effects of micro- and macronutrients 

on performance, health, and disease. 

PHP-36. Describe current guidelines for proper hydration and explain the consequences of 

i mproper fluid/electrolyte replacement. 

PHP-37. Identify, analyze, and utilize the essential components of food labels to determine 

the content, quality, and appropriateness of food products. 

PHP-38. Describe n utritional principles that apply to tissue growth and repair. 

PHP -39. Describe cha nges in dietary requirements that occur as a result of changes in an 

individual 's  health, age, and activity level. 

PHP-40. Explain the physiologic principles and time factors associated with the design and 

planning of pre-activity and recovery meals/snacks and hydration practices. 

P HP-41 . Identify the foods and fluids that are most appropriate for pre-activity, activity, and 

recovery meals/snacks. 

Weight Management and Body Composition 

P HP-42. Explain how changes in the type and intensity of physical  activity influence the 

energy and nutritional demands placed on the client/patient. 
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P H P -43. Describe the principles and methods of body composition assessment to assess a 

client's/patient's health status and to monitor changes related to weight managem ent, 

strength training, injury, disordered eating. menstrual status, and/or bone density status. 

P H P -44. Assess body composition by vali9ated techniques. 

P HP -45. Describe contemporary weight management methods and strategies needed to 

support activities of daily life a nd physical activity. 

Disordered Eating a n d  Eating Disorders 

PH P-46. Identify and describe the signs, symptoms, physiological, and psychological responses 

of clients/patients with disordered eating or eating disorders. 

P H P -47. Describe the method of appropriate management and referral for clients/patients 

with disordered eating or eating disorders in a manner consistent with current practice 

guidelines. 

Performa nce Enhancing and Recreational S upplements and Drugs 

PH P -48. Explain the known usage patterns, general effects, and short- and long-term adverse 

effects for the commonly used dietary supplements, performa nce enhancing drugs, 

and recreational drugs. 

PH P -49. Identify which therapeutic drugs, supplements, and performance-enhancing 

substances are banned by sport and/or workplace organizations in order to properly 

advise clients/patients about possible disqualification and other consequences. 
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Clinical Examination and Diagnosis (CE) 

Athletic trainers must possess strong clinical examination skills in order t o  accurately dia g nosis 

and effectively treat their patients. The clinical examination is an on-going process, repeated to 

some extent each time the patient is treated. The development of  these skills requires a thorough 

understanding of a natomy, physiology, and biomechanics. Athletic trainers must also apply clini

cal-reasoning skills throughout the physical examination process in order to assimilate data, s elect 

the a ppropriate assessment tests, and formulate a differential diagnosis. 

The competencies identified in this section should be considered in the context of the compe

tencies identified in other domains. For example, the knowledge and skills associated with a c ute 

care and therapeutic interventions, while applicable for this domain, are not repeated here. 

The clinical examination process is comprehensive and may include a review of the systems and 

regions identified below based on the patient's relevant history and examination findings. Con

sideration must also be given to the patient's  behavioral and cognitive status and history; com

petencies a ddressing this content area are included elsewhere. 

Systems and Regions 

a. Musculoskeletal 

b. lntegumentary 

c. Neurological 

d. Cardiovascular 

e. Endocrine 

f. Pulmonary 

g. Gastrointestinal  

h. Hepatobiliary 

i. Immune 

j. Renal and urogenital 

k. The face. including maxillofacial region and mouth 

I . Eye, ear, nose, and throat 

Knowledge and Skills 

CE- 1 .  Describe the normal structures and interrelated functions o f  the body systems. 

CE-2. Describe the norma l  anatomical, systemic, and physiological changes associated 

with the lifespan. 

CE-3. Identify the common congenital and acquired risk factors and causes of 

musculoskeletal injuries and common illnesses that may influence physical a ctivity 

in pediatric, adolescent, adult, and aging populations. 

C E-4. Describe the principles and concepts of body movement. including normal 

osteokinematics and arthrokinematics. 

C E-5. Describe the influence of pathomechanics on function. 

CE-6. Describe the basic principles of diagnostic imaging and testing and their role in the 

diagnostic process. 

C E-7. Identify the patient's participation restrictions (disabilities) and activity limitations 

(functional limitations) to determine the impact of the condition on the patient' s  life. 
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C E-8. Explain the role and importance of functional outcome measures in clinical practice 

and patient health-related quality of life. 

CE-9.  Identify functional and patient-centered quality of life outcome measures appropriate 

for use in athletic training practice. 

C E - 1 0. Explain diagnostic a ccuracy concepts including reliability, sensitivity, specificity, 

likelihood ratios, prediction values, and pre-test and post-test probabilities in the 

selection and interpretation of physical examination a nd diagnostic procedures. 

C E - 1 1 .  Explain the creation of clinical prediction rules in the diagnosis a nd prognosis of 

various clinical  conditions. 

CE- 1 2. Apply clinical prediction rules (eg. Ottawa Ankle Rules) during clinical  examination 

procedures. 

CE- 1 3. O btain a thorough medical history that includes the pertinent past medical history, 

underlying systemic disease, use of medications, the patient's perceived pain, and 

the history and course of the present condition .  

C E -1 4. Differentiate between an initial injury evaluation and follow-up/reassessment as 

a means to evaluate the efficacy of the patient's treatment/rehabilitation program, 

and make modifications to the patient's program as needed. 

C E- 1 5. Demonstrate the ability to modify the diagnostic examination process according to 

the demands of the situation and patient responses. 

CE- 1 6 . Recognize the signs and symptoms of catastrophic a nd emergent conditions 

and demonstrate a ppropriate referral decisions. 

C E- 1 7. Use clinical reasoning skills to formulate an appropriate clinical diagnosis for 

common illness/disease and orthopedic injuries/conditions. 

C E- 1 8. Incorporate the concept of differential diagnosis into the examination process. 

CE- 1 9. Determine criteria a nd make decisions regarding return to activity and/or sports 

participation based on the patient' s  current status. 

CE-20. Use standard techniques and procedures for the clinical examination of common 

injuries, conditions, illnesses, and diseases including, but not limited to: 

CE-20a. history taking 

CE-20b. inspection/observation 

CE-20c. palpation 

CE-20d. functional assessment 

C E-20e. selective tissue testing techniques I special tests 

CE-20f. neurological assessments (sensory. motor, reflexes, balance. cognitive function) 

C E-20g. respiratory assessments (auscultation, percussion. respirations. peak-flow) 

C E-20h. circulatory assessments (pulse, blood pressure. auscultation) 

CE-20i. abdominal assessments (percussion. palpation. auscultation) 

CE-20j. other clinical assessments (otoscope, urinalysis, glucometer, temperature, 

opthalmoscope) 
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CE-21 . Ass.ess and interpret findings from a physical examination that is based on the patient' s 

clinical presentation. This exam can include: 

C E-21 a. Assessment of posture, gait, and movement patterns 

C E-21 b. Palpation 

C E-21 c. Muscle function assessment 

C E-21 d. Assessment of quantity and quality of osteokinematic joint motion 

C E-21 e. Capsular and ligamentous stress testing 

CE-2 1 f. Joint play (arthrokinematics) 

CE-21 g. Selective tissue examination techniques I special tests 

C E-21 h. Neurologic function (sensory, motor, reflexes, balance, cognition) 

C E-21 i. Cardiovascular function [including differentiation between normal and 

a bnormal heart sounds, blood pressure, and heart rate) 

CE-21j. Pulmonary function (including differentiation between normal breath sounds, 

percussion sounds, number and characteristics of respirations, peak 

expiratory flow) 

C E-21 k. Gastrointestinal function {including differentiation between normal and 

a bnormal bowel sounds) 

CE-21 1. Genitourinary function (urinalysis) 

C E-21 m. Ocular function (vision, ophthalmoscope) 

CE-21 n .  Function o f  t h e  e a r:  nose, and throat (including otoscopic evaluation) 

C E-21 o. Dermatological assessment 

CE-21 p. Other assessments (glucometer, temperature) 

C E-22. Determine when the findings of an examination warrant referral of the patient. 

CE-23. Describe current setting-specific (eg, high school, college) and a ctivity-specific 

rules and guidelines for managing injuries and illnesses. 
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Acute Care of Injuries and I l lnesses (AC) 

Athletic trainers are often present when injuries or other acute conditions occur or are the first 

healthcare professionals to evaluate a patient. For this reason, athletic trainers must be knowl

edgeable and skilled in the evaluation a nd immediate management of acute injuries and illnesses. 

The competencies identified in this section should be considered in the context of the comp e

tencies identified in other domains. For example, the knowledge and skills associated with t h e  

process o f  examination and documentation, while applicable for this domain, are not repeated 

here. Likewise, the knowledge and skills associated with the administrative and risk management 

aspects of planning for an emergency injury/illness situation are not repeated here. 

Knowledge and Skills 

Planning 

AC- 1 .  Explain the legal. moral, a nd ethical parameters that define the athletic trainer's 

scope of acute and emergency care .  

AC-2. 

AC-3. 

Differentiate the roles and responsibilities of the athletic trainer from other pre-hospital 

care a n d  hospital-based providers, including emergency medical technicians/ 

paramedics, nurses, physician assistants, and physicians. 

Describe the hospital trauma level system and its role in the transportation 

decision-making process . 

Examination 

AC-4. Demonstrate the ability to perform scene, primary, and secondary surveys. 

AC-5. Obtain a medical history appropriate for the patient's ability to respond. 

AC-6.  When appropriate, obtain and monitor signs of basic body functions including pulse, 

blood pressure, respiration, pulse oximetry, pain, and core temperature. Relate 

changes in vital signs to the patient's status. 

AC-7. Differentiate between normal and abnormal physical findings (eg, pulse, blood 

pressure, heart and lung sounds, oxygen saturation, pain, core temperature) and 

the associated pathophysiology. 

Immediate Emergent Management 

AC-8. Explain the indications, guidelines, proper techniques, and necessary supplies for 

removing equipment and clothing in order to access the airway, evaluate and/or 

stabilize an athlete ' s  injured body part. 

AC-9.  Differentiate the types of airway adjuncts (oropharygneal airways [OPAJ , nasophoryn

geol airways [NPA] a nd supraglottic airways [King LT-D or Combitube] ) and 

their use in maintaining a patent airway in adult respiratory and/or cardiac arrest. 

AC- 1 0. Establish and maintain an airway, including the use of oro- and nasopharygneal 

airways, and neutral spine alignment in an athlete with a suspected spine injury 

who may be wearing shoulder pads, a helmet with and without a face guard, or 

other protective equipment. 
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AC-1 1 .  Determine when suction for airway maintenance is indicated and use according to 

accepted practice protocols. 

AC-1 2. Identify cases when rescue breathing, CPR, and/or AED use is indicated according to 

current accepted practice protocols. 

AC-1 3. Utilize a n  automated external defibrillator (AED) according to current accepted 

practice protocols. 

AC-1 4. Perform one- and two- person CPR on an infant, child and adult. 

AC-1 5. Utilize a bag valve a nd pocket mask on a child and adult using supplemental oxygen. 

AC- 1 6. Explain the indications, application, and treatment parameters for supplemental 

oxygen administration for emergency situations. 

AC-1 7. Administer supplemental oxygen with adjuncts (eg, non-rebreather mask, nasal cannula) .  

AC-1 8. Assess oxygen saturation using a pulse oximeter and interpret the results to guide 

decision making. 

AC- 1 9. Explain the proper procedures for managing external hemorrhage (eg, direct 

pressure, pressu re points, tourniquets) and the rationale for use of each. 

AC-20. Select and use the appropriate procedure for managing external hemorrhage. 

AC-21 . Explain aseptic or sterile techniques, approved sanitation methods, a nd u niversal 

precautions used in the cleaning, closure, and dressing of wounds. 

AC-22. Select and use a ppropriate procedures for the cleaning, closure, and dressing of 

wounds, identifying when referral is necessary. 

AC-23. Use cervical stabilization devices and techniques that are appropriate to the 

circumstances of a n  injury. 

AC-24. Demonstrate proper positioning and immobilization of a patient with a suspected 

spinal cord injury. 

AC-25. Perform patient transfer techniques for suspected head and spine injuries utilizing 

supine log roll, prone log roll with push, prone log roll with pull, and lift-and-slide techniques. 

AC-26. Select the appropriate spine board, including long board or short board, and use 

a ppropriate immobilization techniques based on the circumstance of the patient's injury. 

AC-27. Explain the role of core body temperature in differentiating between exertional 

heat stroke, hyponatremia, and head injury. 

AC-28. Differentiate the different methods for assessing core body temperature. 

AC-29. Assess core body temperature using a rectal probe. 

AC-30. Explain the role of rapid full body cooling in the emergency management of 

exertional heat stroke. 

AC-31 . Assist the patient in the use of a nebulizer treatment for an asthmatic attack. 

AC-32. Determine when use of a metered-dose inhaler is warranted based on a patient ' s  

condition. 
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AC-33. Instruct a patient in the use of a meter-dosed inhaler in the presence of asthma

related bronchospasm. 

AC-34. Explain the importance of monitoring a patient following a head injury, including 

the role of obtaining cleara nce from a physician before further patient participation. 

AC-35. Demonstrate the use of a n  auto-injectable epinephrine in the management of allergic 

anaphylaxis. Decide when auto-injectable epinephrine use is warranted based on 

a patient's  condition. 

AC-36. Identify the signs. symptoms. interventions and. when appropriate, the 

return-to-participation criteria for: 

AC-36a. sudden cardiac arrest 

AC-36b. brain injury including concussion, subdural and epidural hematomas, 

second impact syndrome and skull fracture 

AC-36c. cervical. thoracic, and lumbar spine trauma 

AC-36d. heat illness including heat cramps, heat exhaustion, exertional heat stroke, 

and hyponatremia 

AC-36e. exertional sickling associated with sickle cell trait 

AC-36f. rhabdomyolysis 

AC-369. internal hemorrhage 

AC-36h. diabetic emergencies including hypoglycemia and ketoacidosis 

AC-36i. asthma attacks 

AC-36j. systemic allergic reaction, including anaphylactic shock 

AC-36k. epileptic and non-epileptic seizures 

AC-361. shock 

AC-36m. hypothermia, frostbite 

AC-36n. toxic drug overdoses 

AC-360. local allergic reaction 

Immediate Musculoskeletal Management 

AC-37. Select and apply appropriate splinting material to stabilize an injured body area. 

AC-38. Apply a ppropriate immediate treatment to protect the injured area and minimize 

the effects of hypoxic and enzymatic injury. 

AC-39. Select and implement the appropriate ambulatory aid based on the patient's 

injury and activity and participation restrictions. 

Transportation 

AC-40. Determine the proper transportation technique based on the patient's condition 

and findings of the immediate examination. 

AC-41 . Identify the criteria used in the decision-making process to transport the injured 

patient for further medical examination. 

AC-42. Select and use the appropriate short-distance transportation methods, such as the 

log roll or lift and slide, for an injured patient in different situations. 

Education 

AC-36. Instruct the patient in home care and self-treatment plans for acute conditions. 
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Therapeutic Interventions (Tl) 

Athletic trainers assess the patient's  status using clinician- and patient-oriented outcome measures. 

Based on this assessment and with consideration of the stage of healing and goals, a therapeutic in

tervention is designed to maximize the patient's participation and health-related quality of life. 

A broad range of interventions, methods, techniques, equipment, activities using body move

ment, and medications are incorporated into this domain. These interventions are designed to en

hance function by identifying, remediating. and preventing impairments and activity restrictions 

(functional limitations) to maximize participation. Rehabilitation is conducted in a wide variety of 

settings (eg, aquatic, clinic) with basic and contemporary equipment/modalities and on a wide 

range of patients with respect to age, overall health, and desired level of activity. Therapeutic in

terventions also include the use of prescription and nonprescription medications. For this reason, 

the athletic trainer needs to be knowledgeable about common prescription and nonprescription 

drug indications. adverse reactions, and interactions. 

The competencies identified in this section should be considered in the context of the compe

tencies identified in other content areas. For example, the knowledge and skills associated with the 

process of examination and documentation, while applicable for this content area, are not in

cluded here. 

Therapeutic interventions include: 

• Techniques to reduce pain 

• Techniques to limit edema 

• Techniques to restore joint mobility 

• Tec hniques to restore muscle extensibility 

• Techniques to restore neuromuscular function 

• Exercises to improve strength. endurance, speed. and power 

• Activities to improve balance, neuromuscular control, coordination, and agility 

• Exercises to improve gait, posture, and body mechanics 

• Exercises to improve cardiorespiratory fitness 

• Functional exercises (eg, sports- or activity-specific) 

• Exercises which comprise a home-based program 

• Aquatic therapy 

• Therapeutic modalities 

superficial thermal agents (eg, hot pack, ice) 

electrical stimulation 

therapeutic ultrasound 

diathermy 

therapeutic low-level laser and light therapy 

mechanical modalities 

- traction 

- intermittent compression 

- continuous passive motion 

- massage 

- biofeedback 

• Therapeutic medications (as guided by applicable state and federal law) 
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Knowledge and Skills 

Physical Rehabilitation and Therapeutic Modalities 

Tl- 1 .  Describe and differentiate the physiological and pathophysiologica l  responses to 

inflammatory and non-inflammatory conditions and the influence of these responses 

on the design, implementation, and progression of a therapeutic intervention .  

Tl-2. Compare and contrast contemporary theories of pain perception and pain modulation. 

Tl-3. Differentiate between palliative and primary pain-control interventions. 

Tl-4. Analyze the impact of immobilization, inactivity, and mobilization on the body 

systems (eg, cardiovascular, pulmonary, musculoskeletal) and injury response. 

Tl-5. Compare and contrast the variations in the physiological response to injury and 

healing across the lifespan. 

Tl-6. Describe common surgical techniques, including interpretation of operative reports, 

and any resulting precautions. contraindications. and comorbidities that impact 

the selection and progression of a therapeutic intervention program .  

Tl-7. Identify patient- and clinician-oriented outcomes measures commonly used to 

recommend activity level, make return to play decisions. and maximize patient 

outcomes and progress in the treatment plan. 

Tl-8. Explain the theory a n d  principles relating to expected physiological  response(s) 

during and following therapeutic interventions. 

Tl-9. Describe the laws of physics that ( 1 )  underlay the a pplication of thermal, mechanical, 

electromagnetic. a nd acoustic e nergy to the body and (2) form the foundation for 

the development of therapeutic interventions (eg, stress-strain, leverage, 

thermodynamics, energy transmission and attenuation. electricity) . 

Tl - 1 0. Integrate self-treatment into the intervention when appropriate, including instructin g  

the patient regarding self-treatment plans. 

Tl- 1 1 .  Design therapeutic interventions to meet specified treatment goals. 

Tl- 1 1 a. Assess the patient to identify indications, contraindications, and precautions 

applicable to the intended intervention .  

Tl-1 1 b .  Position a nd prepare the patient for various therapeutic interventions. 

Tl- 1 1 c .  Describe the expected effects and potential adverse reactions to the patient. 

Tl- 1 1  d. Instruct the patient how to correctly perform rehabilitative exercises. 

Tl- 1 1 e. Apply the intervention. using parameters appropriate to the intended outcome. 

Tl- 1 1  f. Reassess the patient to determine the immediate impact of the intervention.  

Tl - 1 2. Use the results of on-going clinical examinations to determine when a therapeutic 

intervention should be progressed, regressed or discontinued. 

Tl - 1 3. Describe the relationship between the a pplication of therapeutic modalities and the 

incorporation of active and passive exercise and/or manual therapies, including 

therapeutic massage. myofascial techniques, and muscle energy techniques. 

Tl- 1 4. Describe the use of joint mobilization in pain reduction and restoration of joint mobility. 
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Tl- 15.  Perform joint mobilization techniques as indicated by examination findings. 

Tl- 1 6. Fabricate and a pply taping, wrapping, supportive, a nd protective devices to 

facilitate return to function. 

Tl- 1 7. Analyze gait and select a ppropriate instruction and correction strategies to facilitate 

safe progression to functional gait pattern. 

Tl- 1 8. Explain the relationship between posture, biomechanics, and ergodynamics and 

the need to address these components in a therapeutic intervention. 

Tl-1 9. Identify m anufacturer, institutional, state, a nd/or federal standards that influence 

a pproval, operation, inspection, maintenance and safe a pplication of therapeutic 

modalities and rehabilitation equipment. 

Tl-20. Inspect therapeutic equipment and the treatment environment for potential 

safety hazards. 

Therapeutic Medications 

Tl-21 . Explain the federal, state, a nd local laws, regulations and procedures for the proper 

storage, disposal, transportation. dispensing (administering where a ppropriate) .  

and documentation associated with commonly used prescription and nonprescription 

medications. 

Tl-22. Identify and use a ppropriate pharmaceutical terminology for management of 

medications, inventory control. and reporting of pharmacological a gents common ly 

used in a n  athletic training facility. 

Tl-23. Use an electronic drug resource to locate and identify indications, c ontraindications. 

precautions, and advers e  reactions for common prescription and nonprescription 

medications. 

Tl-24. Explain the major concepts of pharmacokinetics and the influence that exercise might 

have on these processes. 

Tl-25. Explain the concepts related to bioavailability, half-life, and bioequivalence (including 

the relationship between generic a nd brand name drugs) and their relevance to the 

patient. the choice of medication, and the dosing schedule. 

Tl-26. Explain the pharmacodynamic principles of receptor theory, dose-response 

relationship, placebo effect, potency, and drug interactions as they relate to the 

mechanism of drug action and therapeutic effectiveness. 

Tl-27. Describe the common routes used to administer medications and their advantages 

and disadvantages. 

Tl-28. Properly assist and/or instruct the patient in the proper use, cleaning, and storage of 

drugs commonly delivered by metered dose inhalers, nebulizers, insulin pumps, or 

other parenteral routes as prescribed by the physician. 

Tl-29. Describe how common pharmacological agents influence pain and healing and 

their influence on various therapeutic interventions. 
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Tl-30. Explain the general therapeutic strategy, including drug categories used for 

treatment. desired treatment outcomes. and typical duration of treatment, for the 

following common diseases and conditions: asthma, diabetes, hypertension, 

infections, depression, GERD, allergies, pain, inflammation. and the common cold. 

Tl-3 1 .  Optimize therapeutic outcomes by communicating with patients and/ or appropriate 

healthca re professionals regarding compliance issues, drug interactions. adverse 

drug reactions, and sub-optimal therapy. 
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Psychosocial  Strategies and Referral (PS) 

Athletic trainers must be able to recognize clients/patients exhibiting abnormal social, emotional, 

a n d  mental behaviors. Coupled with recognition is the ability to intervene and refer these individ

uals as necessary. Additionally, athletic trainers a ppreciate the role of mental health in injury and 

recovery and use interventions to optimize the connection between mental health a n d  restoration 

of participation. 

Knowledge and Skills 

Theoretical Background 

PS-1 .  Describe the basic principles of personality traits, trait a nxiety, locus of control, 

intrinsic a nd extrinsic motivation, and patient and social environment interactions 

as they a ffect patient interactions. 

PS-2. Explain the theoretical background of psychological and emotional responses to 

injury and forced inactivity (eg, c ognitive appraisal model, stress response model} . 

PS-3. Describe how psychosocial considerations affect clinical decision-making related 

to return to activity or participation {eg, motivation, confidence) . 

PS-4. Summarize and demonstrate the basic processes of effective interpersonal and 

cross-cultural communication as it relates to interactions with patients and others 

involved in the healthcare of the patient. 

PS-5. Summarize contemporary theory regarding educating patients of al l  ages and 

cultural backgrounds to effect behavioral change. 

Psychosocial Strategies 

PS-6. Explain the importance of educating patients, parents/guardians, and others 

regarding the condition in order to enhance the psychological and emotional 

well-being of the patient. 

PS-7. Describe the psychological techniques (eg, goal setting, imagery, p ositive self-talk, 

relaxation/anxiety reduction)  that the athletic trainer can use to motivate the patient 

during injury rehabilitation end return to activity processes. 

PS-8. Describe psychological interventions (eg, goal setting, motivational techniques) 

that are used to facilitate a patient's physical, psychological, and return to activity needs. 

PS-9. Describe the psychosocial factors that affect persistent pain sensation and 

perception (eg, emotional state, locus of control, psychodynamic issues, sociocultural 

factors, personal values and beliefs) and identify multidisciplinary approaches for 

assisting patients with persistent pain. 

PS- 1 0. Explain the impact of sociocultural issues that influence the nature and quality of 

healthcare received (eg, cultural competence, access to appropriate healthcare 

providers, uninsured/underinsured patients, insurance) and form ulate and implement 

strategies to maximize client/patient outcomes. 
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Mental Health and Referral 

PS - 1 1 .  Describe the role o f  various mental healthcare providers (eg, psychiatrists, 

psychologists, counselors, social workers) that may comprise a mental health 

referral network. 

PS- 1 2. Identify and refer clients/patients in need of mental healthcare. 

PS- 1 3. Identity and describe the basic signs and symptoms of mental health disorders (eg, 

psychosis, neurosis; sub-clinical mood disturbances (eg, depression, anxiety) ; and 

personal/social conflict (eg, adjustment to injury, family problems. academic or 

emotional stress. personal assault or abuse, sexual assault or harassment) that may 

indicate the need for referral to a mental healthcare professional. 

PS - 1 4. Describe the psychological and sociocultural factors associated with common 

eating disorders. 

P S - 1 5. Identify the symptoms and clinical signs of substance misuse/abuse. the psycho

logical and sociocultural factors associated with such misuse/abuse, its impact on 

on individual 's  health and physical performance, and the need for proper referral 

to a healthcare professional .  

PS - 1 6. Formulate a referral for an individual with a suspected mental health or substance 

abuse problem. 

PS- 1 7. Describe the psychological and emotional responses to a catastrophic event, the 

potential need for a psychological intervention and a referral plan for all parties 

affected by the event. 

PS- 1 8. Provide a ppropriate education regarding the condition and plan of care to the 

patient and appropriately discuss with others as needed and as a ppropriate to 

protect patient privacy. 
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Healthcare Administration (HA) 

Athletic trainers function within the context of a complex healthcare system. Integral to this func

tion is an understanding of risk management, healthcare delivery mechanisms, insurance, reim

bursement, documentation, patient privacy, and facility management. 

Knowledge and Skills 

HA- 1 .  Describe the role of the athletic trainer and the delivery of athletic training services 

within the context of  the broader healthcare system. 

HA-2. Describe the impact of organizational structure on the daily operations of a 

healthcare facility. 

HA-3. Describe the role of strategic planning as a means to assess and promote 

organizational improvement. 

HA-4. Describe the conceptual components of developing and implementing a basic 

business plan. 

HA-5. Describe basic healthcare facility design for a safe and efficient clinical practice setting. 

HA-6. Explain components of the budgeting process including: purchasing, requisition, 

bidding, request for proposal, inventory, profit and loss ratios, budget balancing, 

and return on investments. 

HA-7. Assess the value of the services provided by an athletic trainer (eg, return on 

investment) . 

HA-8. Develop operational and capital budgets based on a supply inventory and needs 

assessment; including capital equipment, salaries and benefits, trending analysis, 

facility cost, and common expenses. 

HA-9. Identify the components that comprise a comprehensive medical record. 

HA- 1 0. Identify and explain the statutes that regulate the privacy and security of medical records. 

HA- 1 1 .  Use contemporary documentation strategies to effectively communicate with 

patients, physicians, insurers. colleagues. administrators, and parents or family members. 

HA- 1 2. Use a comprehensive patient-file management system for appropriate chart 

documentation, risk management, outcomes, and billing. 

HA- 1 3. Define state and federal statutes that regulate employment practices. 

HA- 1 4. Describe principles of recruiting, selecting, hiring, and evaluating employees. 

HA- 1 5. Identify principles of recruiting, selecting, employing, and contracting with physicians 

and other medical and healthcare personnel in the deployment of healthcare services. 

HA- 1 6. Describe federal and state infection control regulations and guidelines. including 

universal precautions as mandated by the Occupational Safety and Health Adminis

tration (OSHA) , for the prevention, exposure, and control of infectious diseases, and 

discuss how they apply to the practicing of athletic training. 

HA- 1 7. Identify key regulatory agencies that impact healthcare facilities, and describe 

their function in the regulation and overall delivery of healthcare. 

© 201 1 National Athletic Trainers' Associalion 

-._ 



HA- 1 8. Describe the basic legal principles that a pply to an athletic trainer's responsibilities. 

HA- 1 9 .  Identify components o f  a risk management plan t o  include security, fire. electrical 

and equipment safety, emergency preparedness, and hazardous chemicals. 

HA-20. Create a risk management plan a nd develop associated policies and procedures 

to guide the operation of athletic training services within a healthcare facility to 

include issues related to security, fire, electrical and equipment safety, emergency 

preparedness, and hazardous chemicals. 

HA-2 1 .  Develop comprehensive, venue-specific emergency action plans for the care 

of acutely injured or ill individuals. 

HA-22. Develop specific plans of care for common potential emergent conditions (eg, 

asthma attack, diabetic emergency) . 

HA-23. Identify and explain the recommended or required components of a pre-participa

tion exa mination based on a ppropriate a uthorities' rules, guidelines, and/or 

recom mendations. 

HA-24. Describe a plan to access appropriate medical assistance on disease control, 

notify medical authorities, and prevent disease epidemics. 

HA-25. Describe com mon health insurance models, insurance contract negotiation. and 

the commo n  benefits and exclusions identified within these models. 

HA-26. Describe the criteria for selection, common features, specifications, a nd required 

documentation needed for secondary, excess accident, and catastrophic health 

insurance. 

HA-27. Describe the concepts and procedures for revenue generation and reimbursement. 

HA-28. Understand the role of and use diagnostic and procedural codes when documenting 

patient care. 

HA-29. Explain typical administrative policies and procedures that govern first aid and 

emergency care. 

HA-30. Describe the role and functions of various healthcare providers and protocols that 

govern the referral of patients to these professionals. 
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Professiona l  Development and Responsibility (PD) 

The provision o f  high quality patient care requires that the athletic trainer maintain current com

petence in the constantly changing world of healthcare .  Athletic trainers must also embrace the 

need to practice within the limits of state and national regulation using moral and ethical judgment. 

As members of a broader healthcare community, athletic trainers work collaboratively with other 

healthcare providers and refer clients/patients when such referral is warranted. 

Knowledge and Skills 

PD- 1 .  Summarize the athletic training profession 's history and development and how 

current athletic training practice has been influenced by its past. 

PD-2. Describe the role a nd function of the National Athletic Trainers' Association and its 

influence on the profession .  

PD-3. Describe the role and function of the Board of Certification, the Commission on 

Accreditation of Athletic Training Education, and state regulatory boards. 

PD-4. Explain the role and function of state athletic training practice acts and registration, 

licensure, and certification agencies including ( 1 )  basic legislative processes for the 

implementation of practice acts, (2) rationale for state regulations that govern 
the practice of athletic training, and (3) consequences of violating federal a nd 

state regulatory acts. 

PD-5. Access, analyze, and differentiate between the essential documents of the national 

governing, credentialing and regulatory bodies, including, but not limited to, the 

NATA Athletic Training Educational Competencies . the BOC Standards of Professional 

Practice, the NATA Code of Ethics, and the BOC Role Delineation Study/Practice Analysis. 

PD-6. Explain the process of obtaining and maintaining necessary local.  state. and national 

credentials for the practice of athletic training.  

PD-7. P erform a self-assessment of professional competence and create a professional 

development plan to maintain necessary credentials and promote life-long learning 

strategies. 

PD-8. Differentiate among the preparation, scopes of practice, and roles and responsibilities 

of healthcare providers and other professionals with whom athletic trainers interact. 

PD-9. Specify when referral of a client/patient to another healthcare provider is warranted 

and formulate and implement strategies to facilitate that referral .  

PD-1 0. Develop healthcare educational programming specific to the target audience 

(eg, clients/patients, healthcare personnel. administrators, parents. g eneral public) .  

PD- 1 1 .  Identify strategies to educate colleagu es, students, patients, the public, and other 

healthcare professionals about the roles, responsibilities. academic preparation, 

and scope of practice of athletic trainers. 

PD-12. Identify mechanisms by which athletic trainers influence state and federal healthcare 

regulation. 
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Clinical Integration Proficiencies (CIP) 

The clinical integration proficiencies (CIPs) represent the synthesis and integration of knowledge, 
skills, and clinical decision-making into actual client/patient care. The CIPs have been reorgan
ized into this section (rather than at the end of each content area) to reflect their global nature. 
For example, therapeutic interventions do not occur in isolation from physical assessment. 

In most cases, assessment of the CIPs should occur when the student is engaged in real client/pa
tient care and may be necessarily assessed over multiple interactions with the same client/patient. 
In a few instances, assessment may require simulated scenarios, as certain circumstances may 
occur rarely but are nevertheless important to the well-prepared practitioner. 

The incorporation of evidence-based practice principles into care provided by athletic trainers 
is central to optimizing outcomes. Assessment of student competence in the CIPs should reflect 
the extent to which these principles are integrated. Assessment of students in the use of Founda
tional Behaviors in the context of real patient care should also occur. 

Prevention & Health Promotion 

CIP-1. Administer testing procedures to obtain baseline data regarding a client's/patient's 
level of general health (including nutritional habits, physical activity status, and body 
composition). Use this data to design, implement, evaluate, and modify a program 
specific to the performance and health goals of the patient. This will include instruct
ing the patient in the proper performance of the activities, recognizing the warning 
signs and symptoms of potential injuries and illnesses that may occur, and explaining 
the role of exercise in maintaining overall health and the prevention of diseases. Incor
porate contemporary behavioral change theory when educating clients/patients 
and associated individuals to effect health-related change. Refer to other medical 
and health professionals when appropriate. 

CIP-2. Select. apply, evaluate, and modify appropriate standard protective equipment, 
taping, wrapping, bracing, padding, and other custom devices for the client/patient 
in order to prevent and/or minimize the risk of injury to the head, torso, spine, and 
extremities for safe participation in sport or other physical activity. 

CIP-3. Develop, implement, and monitor prevention strategies for at-risk individuals {eg, 
persons with asthma or diabetes, persons with a previous history of heat illness, 
persons with sickle cell trait) and large groups to allow safe physical activity in a 
variety of conditions. This includes obtaining and interpreting data related to 
potentially hazardous environmental conditions, monitoring body functions (eg, 
blood glucose, peak expiratory flow, hydration status), and making the 
appropriate recommendations for individual safety and activity status. 

© 2011 National Athletic Trainers' Association 



Clinical Assessment & Diagnosis I Acute Cqre I Therapeutic Intervention 

CIP-4. Perform a comprehensive clinical examination of a patient with an upper extremity, 
lower extremity, head, neck, thorax, and/or spine injury or condition. This exam should 
incorporate clinical reasoning in the selection of assessment procedures and interpre
tation of findings in order to formulate a differential diagnosis and/or diagnosis, 
determine underlying impairments, and identify activity limitations and participation 
restrictions. Based on the assessment data and consideration of the patient's goals, 
provide the appropriate initial care and establish overall treatment goals. Create and 
implement a therapeutic intervention that targets these treatment goals to include, 
as appropriate, therapeutic modalities, medications {with physician involvement 
as necessary), and rehabilitative techniques and procedures. Integrate and interpret 
various forms of standardized documentation including both patient-oriented and 
clinician-oriented outcomes measures to recommend activity level, make return to 
play decisions, and maximize patient outcomes and progress in the treatment plan. 

CIP-5. Perform a comprehensive clinical examination of a patient with a common illness/condition 
that includes appropriate clinical reasoning in the selection of assessment procedures and 
interpretation of history and physical examination findings in order to formulate a differential 
diagnosis and/or diagnosis. Based on the history, physical examination, and patient goals, 
implement the appropriate treatment strategy to include medications (with physician 
involvement as necessary). Determine whether patient referral is needed, and identify 
potential restrictions in activities and participa-tion. Formulate and communicate the 
appropriate return to activity protocol. 

CIP-6. Clinically evaluate and manage a patient with an emergency injury or condition to include 
the assessment of vital signs and level of consciousness, activation of emergency action 
plan, secondary assessment. diagnosis, and provision of the appropriate emergency care 
(eg, CPR, AED, supplemental oxygen, airway adjunct, splinting, spinal stabilization, control 
of bleeding). 

Psychosocial Strategies and Referral 

CIP-7. Select and integrate appropriate psychosocial techniques into a patient's treatment 
or rehabilitation program to enhance rehabilitation adherence, return to play, and 
overall outcomes. This includes, but is not limited to, verbal motivation, goal setting, 
imagery, pain management, self-talk, and/or relaxation. 

CIP-8. Demonstrate the ability to recognize and refer at-risk individuals and individuals with 
psychosocial disorders and/or mental health emergencies. As a member of the manage
ment team, develop an appropriate management plan (including recom-mendations 
for patient safety and activity status) that establishes a professional helping relationship 
with the patient, ensures interactive support and education, and encourages the athletic 
trainer's role of informed patient advocate in a manner consistent with current practice 
guidelines. 

Healthcare Administration 

CIP-9. Utilize documentation strategies to effectively communicate with patients, physicians, insur
ers, colleagues, administrators, and parents or family members while using appropriate ter
minology and complying with statues that regulate privacy of medical records. This includes 
using a comprehensive patient-file management system (including diagnostic and proce
dural codes) for appropriate chart documentation, risk management, outcomes, and billing. 
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Members of the House Human Services Committee: 
Representative Robin Weisz, Chairman Representative Dwight Kiefert 
Representative Curt Hofstad, Vice Chairman Representative Gail Mooney 
Representative Bert Anderson Representative Naomi Muscha 
Representative Dick Anderson Representative Kylie Oversen 
Representative Rich Becker Representative Todd Porter 
Representative Chuck Damschen Representative jay Seibel 
Representative Alan Fehr 

Mister Chairman and members of the House Human Services Committee: 
I would like to first take the time to thank you for hearing SB 2295 which is an 
important piece of legislation for the practice of Athletic Training in the State of 
North Dakota. I am an Associate Professor at Minot State University and I serve as 
the Program Director for the Athletic Training Program. I have practiced athletic 
training for almost 20 years with all but two of those years spent in North Dakota. In 
addition I have had the pleasure of being appointed to the North Dakota Li censure 
Board of Athletic Trainers. It is my passion to teach new athletic trainers how to 
work within the scope of practice and provide services that keep their athletes or 
patients safe. I am speaking to you today as an educator of athletic training students 
to urge you to support SB 2295. The intent of the bill is to provide updated language 
that reflects the education of athletic trainers, to protect the public of the state of 
North Dakota, and to protect the Athletic Trainer. 

Opponents of the bill would like to see the language of the bill remain as it was 
constructed in the early SO's. I would like to address this point as a licensure issue 
from the position of Chair of the North Dakota Board of Athletic Trainers and as an 
educator. The inclusion of the current wording eases the job of deciding if an 
individual is practicing within their scope of practice. This wording in essence 
allows the Board of Athletic Trainers the ability to consult a document titled Athletic 
Training Educational Competencies to determine if a person is working within their 
scope of practice. This document is a continually updated document based on 
research conducted by the Professional Education Council (PEC) of the National 
Athletic Trainers Association that establishes the competencies that entry-level 
athletic trainers must possess. These competencies are used by the CAA TE (the 
body that accredits athletic training education programs) to determine the 
curriculum for education, what must be taught, tested, and mastered by the students 
of athletic training programs before they can obtain eligibility for taking the Board 
of Certification, Inc. Exam. The first set of competencies was developed in 2004 and 
due to the rapid increase of knowledge; we are currently on the 5th edition. From a 
licensure standpoint, these competencies are easy to interpret and one can quickly 
determine if someone is practicing within the individual's education. Examples from 
the Athletic Training Competencies showing how it lends clarity from a licensure and 
education standpoint are following: 

PHP-14. Assess weight loss and hydration status using weight charts, urine 
color charts, or specific gravity measurements to determine an individual's 
ability to participate in physical activity in a hot, humid environment. 
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PHP-15. Use a glucometer to monitor blood glucose levels, determine 
participation status, and make referral decisions. 
PHP-16. Use a peak-flow meter to monitor a patient's asthma symptoms, 
determine participation status, and make referral decisions . 
... AC-36. Identify the signs, symptoms, interventions and, when 
appropriate, the return-to-participation criteria for: 
AC-36a. Sudden cardiac arrest 
AC-36b. Brain injury including concussion, subdural and epidural 
hematomas, second impact syndrome and skull fracture 
AC-36c. Cervical, thoracic, and lumbar spine trauma AC-36d. Heat illness 
including heat cramps, heat exhaustion, exertional and hyponatremia 
AC-36e. Exertional sickling associated with sickle cell trait AC-36f. 
Rhabdomyolysis AC-36g. Internal hemorrhage AC-36h. Diabetic 
emergencies including hypoglycemia and ketoacidosis AC-36i. Asthma 
attacks AC-36j. Systemic allergic reaction, including anaphylactic shock 
AC-36k. Epileptic and non-epileptic seizures AC-361. shock AC-36m. 
Hypothermia, frostbite AC-36n. Toxic drug overdoses AC-360. Local allergic 
reaction. Page 13 and 191. 

"In the US healthcare arena, the half-life of medical knowledge has been measured to 
be jive years with the amount of information doubling every 18 months. Therefore, the 
BOC performs a role delineation study or practice analysis approximately every jive 
years and requires that A Ts report CE activities every two years to encourage and 
assure an A T's ongoing competence in the ever changing landscape of healthcare 
knowledge and skill. "2 Again, the updated wording in this bill would allow the Board 
of Athletic Trainers a document to consult for licensure purposes and this bill would 
produce a document that has an extended lifespan eliminating the necessity to draft 
new changes as frequently as every legislative session to keep up with the changes 
in medical knowledge. 

Another point of discussion by the opposition is the use of the term illness in the 
proposed bill, as you can see from the previous paragraph there are a number of 
illnesses (more conditions are noted in the competencies document) that an athletic 
trainer must have an in-depth knowledge of in order to appropriately care for their 
patient. If during a practice, game, rehabilitation or training session a 
diabetic/asthmatic/sickle cell individual starts to have problems the athletic trainer 
must have the knowledge and the skills to manage care for this individual, prevent 
further damage, know when to refer to another medical professional or perform 
immediate care. An individual returning to activity after an illness requires special 
consideration regarding the amount, the intensity, and the type of activities a 

1 Retrieved on February 9th 2015 from 
http://www.nata.org/sites/default/files/Sth Edition Competencies.pdf, Athletic Training 
Educational Competencies 5th Ed. 
2 Retrieved on February 9th 2015 from 
http: //www.bocatc.org/images I stories I athletic trainers /boc certification maintenance requireme 
nts 1402df.pdf Certification Maintenance for Certified Athletic Trainers. 
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patient is performing in addition to monitoring how the patient is tolerating the 
return to activity. Examples of these situations would be a diabetic individual that 
has a newly fitted insulin pump and is now dealing with getting back into activity, or 
a newly diagnosed asthmatic learning how and when to utilize their inhaler during 
activity. Athletic training students must cover comprehensive classroom instruction 
on these topics as well as hands-on-clinical education experiences in settings that 
introduce students to a variety of general medical conditions. Our students are 
required to complete rotations in general medical areas that include the UND Center 
for Family Medicine with physicians seeing various illnesses and conditions, the 
Trinity Health/ Diabetes & Nutrition Counseling Center seeing patients with 
diabetic or other nutritional disorders, as well as receiving instruction from Dr. 
Verhey a Critical Care, Pulmonology, Internal Medicine Specialist on working with 
asthmatic patients as well as other conditions. Other physicians the students are in 
contact with include Dr. Messerly, a pediatrician; Dr. Krohn a Family Practice 
physician; and Dr. Mattern, who holds a Certificate of added qualifications in Sports 
Medicine and is a Family Medicine Physician, teaches the Medical Conditions course 
at Minot State University providing an in-depth view of illnesses our students my 
encounter in their careers. 

The question regarding the education of athletic trainers versus physical therapists 
continues to be raised during the discussion of SB 2295. The doctorate of physical 
therapy program is a 3 + 3 program (3 years generals+ 3 years content/clinical) 
Just to give you a comparison between the two professions 2008 15.7% of physical 
therapist APTA members reported having a Doctorate, 37.6% reported having a 
masters, and 11.6% were in transition-to DPT3. Contrast that to the same time frame, 
the NATA member profile revealed that 70% of Athletic Trainers reported having a 
master's or a doctorate at that time4. And, as important, by comparison to the DPT is 
a master's degree; the master's degree for athletic trainers is 6 years of education, ( 4 
years of Bachelor's+ 2 years of master's) same as a DPT. 

In addition a portion of those Athletic Trainers reported having a Doctorate ( 4 years 
of Bachelor's+ 2 years of master's+ average PHD program length is 4 years), or 10 
years. Our students are observing in the athletic training room their first semester 
in their introductory courses and once admitted to the program start practicing 
their skills under the supervision of a certified athletic trainer for the remainder of 
their four year degree. At Minot State University this equates to 10-20 hours per 
week, depending on their education level, for three years with actual patients. 

As an educator of athletic training students I would like to ask for this committee to 
recommend a "Do Pass" on SB 2295. 

3 Retried February 6, 2015 from 
http: (/www.moveforwardpt.com/asset.axd?id=995 7519d-8110-4620-ab54-clc972e9562e (2011, 
APTA, Today's Physical Therapist: A comprehensive Review ofa 21st-Century Health Care Profession . 
Page. 29) 
4 Retrieved from http://www.nata.org/sites/default/files/AT Facts.pdf on February 6, 2015 in the 
NATA Fact Sheet published in 2009. 
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Thank you for your time and I would be happy to answer any questions you may 
have regarding athletic training education. 

Heather Golly, PhD, ATC, CSCS 



UNDAT 

S.S. in AthJetic Training 

Required 127 credits (36 of which must be numbered 300 or above, and 60 of which must be from a 4-year institution) 
including: 

I. Essential Studies Requirements (see University ES listing). 

IL The following curriculum: 

Pre-Admission Courses 

The student must earn a letter grade of C or better in the following courses to be admitted in the program. 

I BIOL 150 
& 150L 

General Biology I 
and General Biology I Laboratory 

The student must earn a letter grade of B or better in the following courses to be admitted in the program. 

r-;;~D 101 Orientation to Athletic Training 1 

FMED 207 Prevention and Care of Athletic Injuries 2 
!------- -------- -- ------------------------------~ 

FMED 207L Laborator,• Prevention and Care of A:thletic Injuries 1 
-·-·----- ·--·-------------·---~---·----· 

At the time of application to the Athletic Training Program, the student must have completed or be enrolled in ail or the 
above courses. In addition, the student must show proof of .First Aid and CPR certifications or enrollment in: 

I[ KIN 110 First Aid and CPR 
·-"·----------------------

1 

Core Courses 

The following core courses are required for the B.S. in Athletic Training: 

CHEM 121 
c<. 121L 

i COMM 110 
1---

General Chemistry I 
and General Chemistry I Laboratory' -

Fundamentals of Public Speaking ""' 

4 

3 
-------·--·-- · ··· · ---------~---··- · ·- ---·---·---- --

l_!~~~-----c_o1_1 e_g_e_ c_o_m_p_o_s_it_i o_n_r _·~---------------------------3-; 
I ENGL 130 Composition II: Writing for Public Audiences 3 
r----- -·-- -----·------ ----- - ------------------------ ------------; 
i MED 205 Medical Tem1inology 1 

t PHYS 161 Introductory College Physics I (includes lab) ~· 4 

r ~~vs 162 Introductory College Physics II (includes lab) "'' 4 
r------------ - - ------------------------- --------
1 PSYC 111 Introduction to Psycliology "" 3 
r------·-----....._ _____ ·-·---- ----------------··· -··--------------------··-r•-·· .. -·---- --~------4 

I psyc 241 Introduction to Statistics "" 4 ! 
.------------------------------ ---------------------------------------------1 
J PSYC 250 Developmental Psychology 4 ! 

l~~~~i!E~-=~-~---· --·-·--~;r~d:;;ion to Sociol~gy ., -·=~~~~-----------===-- 3 I 
ll Arts & Huma~~t!es Requir:_~enC~-------------- ·-------- ------ - ____ !_~ 
1 Electives __ · -·----~~J i- To~,-~;~d;;~· - ··-··-··---·---·-·-··--··-·- ---·-·----· ----· ----- -·--·-·-- ' 
L -· - --· -- ·- -------·--- -·· ·----· ··- . -··- --·-~!-. ! 



Professional Courses 

The following are essential professional courses to become an entry-level athletic trainer: 

t ANAT 204 Anatomy for Paramedical Personnel 

I 
FMED 205 Anatomy for Athletic Trainers 

--~~~- 208 _ ____ Procedures in Athletic Traini_n_g _ ______ _ 

.:-I 
i I 

- ----------·····--·---·-·----, 
1 j 

I FMED 208L Laboratory Procedures in Athletic Training 1 l 
! FMED 200 Understanding Medicine 3 j 

-------------------·----- ·---! I ! FMED 211 Beginning Clinical Practicum I in Athletic Training 1 I 
i-----------
l--F_M_E_o_ 2_1 _3 _____ B_e_g_i _n n_i_n_g_c_l_i n_i c_a_l_P_ra_ct_i cu_m_i_n_A_t_h_I e_t_ic_T_ra_ i n_i_n g ______________ ___ __:_ __ , ! 

FMED 311 Intermediate Clinical Practicum I in Athletic Training 2 i 

l. ~!.:'_~~_!~~ - ____ 11'_1edical Aspects of s_p_o_rts________ 2 l 
l-=F:':M'.:::E'.:::D:=:3::1::3 _ ___ _:I::_n:.::.te::.:rm:..:.::..e::.:d::.:i.:.at:.:e:_.:.C::_lin:.:.i:.::.c.:a:_l P:_ra:_::_:ct::_i:.::.c.:u::_m:_I::.:I:_:i.:_n_:A..:.t::_h.:_le:.:t.:_ic:_T.:_ra:_::_:in:_:i::.:n::..g _ ______ __;_-'----·---··-·--·-·------2-1 

FMED 320 Athletic Training Modalities 2 

FMED 320L Laboratory Athletic Training Modalities 1 
------- --···· ·-·-··--·-- ------·- ·-·---·-·- ------- - ----------. 

FMED 321 Athletic Training Rehabilitation Techniques 2 ! 
FMED 321L Laboratory Athletic lnjury Rehabilitation Techniques r FMED343 -----0-rg_a_n_i-za-ti-_o_n_a_l_A_d_m-in-is_t_ra_t-io_n_o_f_A-th_l_e-ti_c_T_ra_i_n_in_g _ _ 

l FMED 411 Advanced Clinical Practicum I in Athletic Training 

I FMED 413 Advanced Clinical Practicum II in Athletic Training 2 

I FMED 481 Athletic Injury Assessment 4 

I FMED 491 Seminar in Athletic Training 
-====--------=~.:::....:.:_:_:_:::.:_:_::.::..::_:_:_::::.:.::.:_:::__ _____ _ ____ ______ . ________ ..... .... . . 2 i 

---- 1 
I F[>IED 497 Internship in Athletic Training 3 

I 
NUTR 240 ! [_:'.:=::::::=::::.._ _ _ __ __:_F:u~n:da:m:::..::e:n:ta:l:s~o~f~N~u:t~r~it~io~n:__ _________________________ 3 

KIN 332 Biomechanics ? ; ., I 

Exercise Physiology 3 I 
-------! 

PPT 301 Human Physiology 4 

PPT 320 Pharmacology in Sport 2 

-..__. 



Courses 

~ FMED 101. Orientation to Athletic Training. 1 Credit. 
Overview of the field of athletic training. Survey of the role. of the athletic trainer. Films, lectures, and obser•ation in 
clinical settings. F,S. 

FMEO 200. Understanding Medicine. 3 Credits. 
An overview of the broad parameters of family medicine. Guest speakers are brought in to discuss various facets of 
medicine. S. 

FMED 205. Anatomy for Athletic Trainers. 2 Credits. 
A course to learn and palpate human anatomy structures and their functions. Prerequisite: Oeparment oons~mt. F. 

FMED 207. Prevention and Care of Atldetic Injuries. 2 Credits. 
An introductory course into the care and treatment of athletic injuries. Corequisite: FMED 207L F,S. 

FMED 207L Laboratory Prevention and Care of Athletic Injuries. 1 Credit. 
A practical laboratory to develop athletic taping skills taught in FMED 207. Corequisite: FMED 207. F,S. 

FMED 208. Procedures in Athletic Training. 1 Credit. 
This course serves as an orientation dass for incoming sports health majors. Policies and procedures as well as record 
keeping are covered. Prerequisites: FMED 207 and FMED 20iL Corequisite: FMEO 205 and FMED 208L. F. 

FMED 20BL Laboratory Procedures in Athletic Training. 1 Credit. 

A course designed to allow students to get practical experiences in injury management, modality usage and record 
keeping skills taught in FMED 208. Prerequisites: FNED 207 and FMEO 207L Corequisite: FMED 205 ana FMED 208. F. 

FMED 211. Beginning Clinical Practicum I in Athletic Training. 1 Credit. 
A clinical course designed to allow the student to develop specified clinical competencies in a directed, progre.."Sive 
manner. Prerequisites: R•1ED 101, FMED 207 and FMED 207L Corequisite: FMED 208 and FMED 208l. F. 

FMED 213. Beginning Clinical Practicum in Athletic Training. 1 Credit. 
A clinical course designed to allow the student to develop specified clinical competencies in a directed, progressive 

,-.. manner. Prerequisites: FMED 208 and FMED 208L S. 

FMED 311, Intermediate Clinl'cal Practicum I in Athletic Training. 2 Credits. 
A clinical course designed to allow the student to develop specified clinical competendes in a directed progressive 
manner. Prerequisite: FMED 213. F. 

FMED 312. Medical Aspects of Sports. 2 Credits. 
A course designed to introduce students to various medical specialities and medical problems and their effects on 
athletic participation. Prerequisite: Permission of instructor. F. 

FMED 313. Intermediate Clinical Practicum II in Athletic Training. 2 Credits. 
A clinical course designed to allow students to develop specified clinical competencies in a directed progressive 
manner. Prerequisite: FMED 481. Corequisite: FMED 320. FMED 321 a~d FMED 321L. S. 

FMED 320. Athletic Training Modalities. 2 Credits. 
A course designed to present the theoretical and applied princip[es and techniques for the application o.f modalities in 
sports injury care. Prerequisite: FMED 481. S. 

FMED 320L Laboratory Athletic Training Modalities. 1 Credit. 
A course designed to practice the theoretical and applied principles and techniques for the applic<ition of modalities in 

sports injury care. Prerequisite: EMFD 4fll. Corequisite: HIED )20. S. 

FMED 321. Athletic Training Rehabilitation Techniques. 2 Credits. 
A course designed to explain the principles and techniques of rehabilitation as they apply to athletic injuries. 
Prerequisite: R•1ED 481. Corequisite: FMED 321L. S. 

FMED 321L. Laboratory Athletic Injury Rehabilitation Tedmiques. 1 Credit. 
A course designed to allow students practical skill development of rehabilitation techniques utilized in athletic injury 
care as taught in FMED 321. Prerequisite: FMED 481. Corequisite: HIED 321. s. 

FMED 343. Organizational Administration of Athletic Training. 3 Credits. 

A course designed to acquaint students with the theories a.nd principles of administration. Administrative functions as 
they relate to the athletic trainer will be explained. Prerequisite: Senior standing or consent of instructor. S. 



FMED 411. Advanced Clinical Practicum I in Athletic Training. 2 Credits. 

A clinical course designed to allow the student to develop specified clinical competencies in a directed progressive 
manner. Prerequisite: FMED 313. f. 

FMED 413. Advanced Clinical Practicum II in Athletic Training .• 2 Credits. 

A clinical course designed to allow the student to develop specified clinical competencies in a directed progressive 
manner. Prerequisite: FMED 313. S. 

FMED 481. Athletic Injury Assessment. 4 Credits. 

A course designed to instruct the student in the theories and skills of injury evaluation. Prerequisite: FMED 213. f. 

FMED 491. Seminar in Athletic Training. 2 Credits. 

Advanced work in athletic training to include surgical and conservative injury management, rehabilitation and injury. 
Repeatable to 4 credits. Prerequisite: Permission of instructor. F,S. 

FMED 494. Directed Studies in Athletic Training. 1-4 Credits. 

An in-depth study in a subject area selected by the student under tutorial supervision. Repeatable to 6 credits. 
Prerequisite: Instructor approval. f,S. 

FMED 497. Internship in Athletic Training. 3 Credits. 

Off campus athletic training experience designed to expose the student to alternate concepts of care. Repeatable up to 
6 credits with instructor permission. Prerequisite: FMED 313. F,S,SS. 



UND PT 

Doctor of Physical Therapy (D.P.T.) 

Admission Requirements 

Pre-Physical Therapy 

Prior to admission, a minimum of 90 semester hours of credit from an approved college or university is required. 
Students should be broadly educated in the sciences and humanities. The Department of Physical Therapy recognizes 
that, since physical therapy deals with people, an understanding of literature, art, history, ethics, and philosophy is an 
adjunct to a physical therapist. Science and humanities are both viewed as necessary for the practice of physical 
therapy. 

The following list of courses and credits .indicates the core prerequisites all applicants must complete prior to admission 
to the physical therapy program. It is strongly recommended that students be computer literate prior to entering the 
professional program. Students may take additional electives from any field of study; however, the depth of the pre
physical therapy education should demonstrate that students have progressed from simpte to complex studies in at 
least one content area. This requirement might typically be demonstrated by a discipline major, but in any case should 
demonstrate a basic comprehensiveness and integrity of study within a particular content area. This does not suggest 
that a separate undergraduate degree must be awarded; however, the breadth and depth in a discipline should be 
demonstrated. Course credits equivalent to a minor, i.e., approximately 20 credits at UNO, in a particular discipline 
could accomplish this requirement. The prospective student should include eight {8) credits from upper level courses, 
i.e., 300 and/or 400 numbers. 

• Two semesters of General Biology (8 er.) 

• Two semesters of General Chemistry (8 er.) 

• Two semesters of General Physics (8 er.} 

• One semester of Human Anafomy (3 er.) 

• One semester of Human Physiology {3 to 4 er.) 

• One semester of Introductory Psychology (3 er.) 

• One semester of Developmental Psychology (3 to 4 er.) 

• One semester of Abnormal Psychology (3 er.) 

• One semester of a Public Speaking course (3 er.) 

• One semester of an undergraduate statistics course (3 er.) 

• Essential Studies requirements 

All of the prerequisite coursework must be completed before entering the professional program; however, the 
prospective student ma}' be enrolled in pre-professional coursework at the time of application. Students must apply for 
the professional program through the PTCAS system. WICHE-eligible students should apply through the WICHE 
certification proc~ss. Please refer'to the UNO-PT website at: www.med.und.edu/physical-therapy for application 
details. 



Admission Requirements 
Acceptance is on a competitive basis, with the major determinant being the basic science grade point average. The 

basic science GPA is defined as: biology (eight semester credits), chemistry (eight semester credits), physics (eight 

semester credits), anatomy (three semester credits), physiology (four semester credits), and psychology (seven 

semester credits). In addition to the science GPA, GRE s core, and cumulative GPA, an interview a nd l etters of  

reference will be considered in  the admission process. Prospective students are expected to complete at  least 60 hours 

of physical therapy observation prior to application. 

The applicant must meet the School of Graduate Studies's current minimum general admission rquirements a s  

published in the graduate catalog . 

1. Completion of the application for admission to the professional program a n d  UNO School of Graduate Studies 

application form. 
2.  Submission of  score from the Graduate Record Examination General Test. 

3. Satisfy the School of Graduate Studies' English Language Proficiency requirements as published in the graduate 

catalog. 

4.  Applicants who have received their bachelors or masters degree in the United States or English-speaking Canada 

are not required to submit the TOEFL o r  IELTS. 

Degree Requirements 
1 .  Students must be formally accepted into the professional education component of the DPT a n d  e n d orsed by the 

Chair of Physical Therapy. NOTE: Acceptance by the UNO Office of Admissions o r  t h e  School of Grad ua te Studies 

d oes not constitute acceptance into the professional program in Physical Therapy. 

2. The professional education component of the DPT will require three academic years a nd two summer sessions; 

following completion of the pre-physical therapy entrance requirements. 

3. No student will be a l lowed to remain i n  the program or complete the full-ti m e  clinical experiences unless h e/she 

attains a letter grade of at  least �en i n  the m ajor courses. 

4. To advance to can d idacy, the student must successfully complete t h e  first year comprehensive examination, a n d  

maintain a cumulative School o f  Graduate Studies GPA of > 3 .00 AND/OR a s u m m e r  session GPA o f > 3.00. 

Students who fail to advance to candidacy during the first year will be dismissed from the professional pr09ram. 

5. After a dvancement to candidacy, the student is expected to maintain a cumulative GPA of > 3.00. The S chool of 

Graduate Studies will monitor t h e  cumulative GPA, which must be > 3 .00. If t h e  cum ul ative GPA is not > 3 .00, 

the School of Graduate Studies policies for probation and dismissal for GPA will g overn the student's status. 

6. Students in the professional program should be aware that there are special requireme n ts for clinical unifom1s, 

p rofessional  liability insurance, m edical insurance, immunizations, CPR certification, a n d  completion of a criminal 

b a ckgroun d  check. These requirements m ust b e  m et prior to a ny clinical contact with patients. The student wi l l  

also b e  responsible for travel, housing, and food costs, in a d d ition to the payment of tuition and fees, duri n g  the 

full-time clinical experience semesters. The majority of these experiences will be completed at geographical 

locations other than t h e  City of Grand Forks. 

7. Prospective students should be aware that a felony conviction may affect a graduate's ability to obtain a 

p rofessional  license to practice physical therapy. 

8. The faculty reserves the right to place on professional probation or to cancel the registration of an y  student in 

Physical Therapy w h ose performance in the classroom or the clinic is unsatisfactory. 



Pre-Physical Therapy 
-----1 

I ENGL 110 College Composition I 3 ' F ------------------------------- ----------------------------------------------------------------- -l 
1 ENGL 120 3 j 

I or ENGL 125 j 

1 -~0;~, 110-------F~ndamentals of Public Speaking _ ----------- --- ----- ----; ---1 
1 Fine Arts and Humanities " ----------------------------- --;1 

I
! BIOL 150 

& BIOL 151 

I 
CHEM 121 

&CHEM 122 
!----- --
1 Social Science 

General Biology I 8 
and General Biology H 

General Chemistry I 8 
and General Chemistry II 
-----··--, . .. ~--···~----.·-·---·-----------------· 

3 
-------------------

Introduction to Psychology 3 ~~::: 
I & PHYS 162 

Introductory College Physics I B I 
and Introductory CoUege Physics II I 

!-;~-;~~------~-~-a-to_m_y_f_o_r_P_a-ra_m_e_d-ic_a_l _P_e_rs_o_n_n_e_l--------------------------3-1 
~------------------------------------------------< I PPT 301 Human Physiology 4 I 
I PSYC 250 Developmental Psychology 
1------ --------- -- --- ------ ------------ -------- --------- ------------ ---·-··-----------------

4 

r~;~~~ Abnormol P>yoh~~ . : 

l_ _co~~a~~'."~_inor (required) _ ---------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------· 
I Electives {required, minimum of 20 with emphasis in a single discipline) 

Bachelor of General Studies Degree with Health Studies Option 

This degree will be available to Physical Therapy students who: 

1. do not already have a bacGalaureate degree, 

2. have completed at least 30 of the 90 pre-Physical Therapy credits at UNO before beginning Professional Year One, 

3. have successfully completed rat! and spring semesters of Professional Year One. 

The BGS degree would normally then be awarded at the end of the spring semester of Prnfessional Year One if the 
student has completed all general UNO graduation requirements: 

1. 125 total credits, 

2. 60 credits from 4-year schools, induding at least 30 from UNO, 

3. 36 upper-level credits, 

4. all essential studies requirements. 

t I 



Professional Program - Physical Therapy 

Year 1 

Credits 

Intervention Techniques I 2 

Professional Communication and Behavior 2 

Anatomy for Physical Therapy 5 

Neuroscience for Physical Therapy 

Integrated Clinical Experience 

Intervention Techniques Ir 

4 

4 

3 

3 

4 

2 

0-1 

3 

3 

2 

0-1 

2 

Professional Year 2 

Fall 

Critical Inquiry I 1 

Clinical Education I 9 

Clinical Education II 9 

PT 522 Administration in Physicai Therapy 3 
:-~~~------·-····-----------·-

PT 523 Lifespan I 3 

PT 524 Psychological Aspects of Disability 2 

PT 525 Clinical Examination and Evaluation II 3 

PT 527 Critical Inquiry II 2 

PT 540 Cardiopulmonary Physical Therapy 2 

£L5.8A Evidence in Practice 2 

Electives 0-2 



Summer 
------

PT 535 Lifespan II 2 

PT 562 Readings:Physical Therapy 

PT 591 Research in Physical Therapy 

PT 592 Case Management II 

Electives 

Professional Year 3 

Fall 

£Lill_ Applied Movement Science and Rehabilitation Procedures 4 

PT 526 Manual Therapy II 2 

PT539 Prevention and Wellness 2 

PT541 Clinical Examination and Evaluation Ill 3 

Electives 1-3 

Spring 

PT 552 Clinical i=A .. r~.;n 

PT 553 Clinical Education IV 9 

PT995 Scholarly Project 

, ___ ____ ____ 

Credits: 122-130 



C ourses 
PT 5 10.  Integrated Clinical Experience. 1 Credit. 

Short-term cl inica l  experience to provide hands-on experience for students to apply knowledge learned d u ring the first 

year of the professional progra m .  Experiences will be set up in acute care, sub-acute care, long-term care, out-patient 

orthopedic, or a rural site. Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum is the prerequisite. F,S,SS. 

PT 5 1 1 . Applied Movement Science and Rehabilitation Procedures. 4 Credits. 

I ntegration of clinical evaluation, functional goals, and treatment planning for individuals with neurological and m u ltiple 

m usculoskeletal dysfunction. The primary focus is on rehabilitation skills including assessment, exercise, handling 

techniques, functional activities, equipment prescription, patient education, and ADLs, as well as community mobility 

and governmental services. Laboratory. Prerequisite: Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curricu l u m .  

P T  5 12. Therapeutic Agents. 3 Credits. 

Theory and a pplication of various hydrotherapy, phototherapy, and thermotherapy modalities in  Physical Therapy, 

including heat, l ight, sound,  and water. Laboratory. Prerequisite: Registered in Professional Physical Therapy 

Curricu lum.  

P T  5 13.  Intervention Tec h n iq u es II. 3 Credits. 

Theory and practical application of introductory patient care techniques in physical therapy. Laboratory. Prerequisite: 

Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 5 14 .  Case Management I. 2 Credits. 

Theory and practical application of introductory patient care techniques in physical therapy. Laboratory. Prerequisite: 

Registered in  Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 5 19.  Electrotherapy and E lectrodiag nosis. 2 Credits. 

Theory and application of therapeutic electrical currents, biofeedback, electromyography, and nerve conduction 

velocity in  physical therapy. Laboratory Prerequisite : Registered in  Professional Physical Therapy Curricul u m .  

P T  521.  Critical Inqu iry I. 1 Credit. 

Introduction to the collection of clinical data leading to a case study report. Prerequisite: Registered in Profession a l  

Physical Therapy Curriculum.  

PT 5 22. Admin istration in Physical Therapy. 3 Credits. 

Lectures/discussion and seminar formats used to explore concepts of administration procedures as applied to Physical 

Therapy and the health care delivery system. Prerequisite: Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curricu l u m .  

P T  5 23 .  Lifespan I. 3 Credits. 

Course focus is on rehabilitation issues related to pediatrics including the characteristics of disabl ing conditions, 

developmental evaluation and intervention, the use of adaptive equipment, legal issues, and strategies to promote 

collaborative service provision to children and families. Laboratory. Prerequisite: Registered in Professional Physical 

Therapy Curriculum.  

PT 5 24.  Psychological Asp ects of D isability. 2 Credits. 

Readings and discussion course. Study of psychological coping mechanisms, reactions, and motivational factors 

pertinent to people with disabilities. Review of adjustment problems u nique to specific disabilities and/or d isease 

processes, including terminal  i l lness. Prerequisite: Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 525. Clinical Examination and Evaluation II. 3 Credits. 

Emphasis is given to physical therapy examination, evaluation, and diagnoses as related to an advanced dynamic 

biomechanical evaluation. Also included will  be the integration of NMS and support systems; clinical  reasoning resulting 

in  referral and/or modified physical therapy interventions; and the communication of findings and recommen dations. 

Lecture & Laboratory. Prerequisite : Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. F,S. 



,,..-...... 

PT 5 26. Manual Therapy II. 2 Credits. 

Theory a n d  application or manual therapy skills for examination and intervention techniques, including thrust and 

nonthrust manipulations of the spine, pelvis, and associated areas. Laboratory. Prerequisite: Registered in Professional 
Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 527. Critical Inquiry II. 2 Credits. 

Application, analysis, and evaluation of clinical decisionmaking components, strategies, and skills. Preparation of a 

clinical case study to b e  presented in oral and written forms. Prerequisite: Registered in Professional Physical Therapy 

C urriculum. 

PT 528. Clinical Education I. 9 Credits. 

The first in a sequence of four full-time clinical experiences in selected physical therapy provider centers throughout 

the United States. Prerequisite: Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 529. Clinical Education II. 9 Credits. 

The second in a sequence of four full-time clinical experiences in selected physical therapy provider centers throughout 

the United States. Prerequisite: Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 535. Lifespan II. 2 Credits. 

Bcamine the factors and forces that affect fife quality in later years. The physiological, psychological, and sociological 

aspects of aging will be considered, including those influences in the cultural context that enhance and impede 

continued growth of the p erson. Laboratory. Prerequisite: Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 537. Strategies Early Intervention. 2 Credits. 

This course is designed to review current practices in early intervention. Course materials will focus on characteristics 

of disabling conditions that influence growth and development of motor skills, cognition, and educational development. 

Emphasis will be on collaborative service provision with an interdisciplinary approach. Topics also covered include: 

current issues, assessment of the child/family unit, and legislative guidelines for service provision. Prerequisite: 

Registered in Professii:.nal Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 538. Advanced Topics in Pediatric Physical Therapy. 3 Credits. 

This cours e  is designed to present current and advanced topics relating to pediatric physical therapy clients and their 

families. Prerequisite.: Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 539. Prevention and Wellness. 2 Credits. 

The theory and practice of prevention of injur,', maintenance and improvement of wellness, and promotion of health 

and healthy behaviors across the lifespan. Concepts are applied to the g eneral, athletic, and industrial populations, 

with a view to interdisciplinary involvement in wellness optimization. Prerequisite: Registered in Professional Physical 

Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 540. Cardiopulmonary Physical Therapy. 2 Credits. 

This course is designed to expand the t heoretical understanding a n d  clinical application of cardiopulmonary physical 

therapy examination, evaluation, 'diagnosis, prognosis, intervention and outcomes. laborat·ory. Pre�equisite: 

Registered in Professional Physical Thera py Curriculum. 

PT 541. Clinical Examination and Evaluation Ill. 3 Credits. 

Emphasizes patient/client management elements of examination and evaluation. Emphasis is g iven to systems 
screening ,  p hysical therapy diagnoses, and clinical reasoning resulting in referral and /or modified p hysical therapy 

interventions. Em phasis is a lso given to the communication cf findings. Laboratory. Registered in Professional Ph•tsical 

Therapy Curriculum is the preteq uisite. F. 

PT 549. Advanced Applied Anatomy/Clinical Kinesiology. 2 Credits. 

Study of applied anatomy a n d  its importance to research and clinical application, particularly as related to Physical 

Therapy. Prerequisite: Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. 



PT 5 52. Clin ical Ed ucation III. 9 Credits. 

The third in a sequence of four full-time clinical experiences in selected physical therapy provider centers throughout 

the United States. Prerequisite: Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum.  

PT 553. Clinical Education I V .  9 Credits. 

The fourth in a sequence of four full-time clinical experiences in selected physical therapy provider centers throughout 

the United States. Prerequisite: Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 5 6 1. Seminar:Physical Therapy. 1-4 Credits. 

This course serves to focus student attention toward graduate study in Physical Therapy. Explore and discuss areas of 

interest for students and faculty. May repeat to 4 credits maximum. Prerequisite: Registered in Professional Physical 

Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 5 62. Rea d i ngs:Physical Therapy. 1-4 Credits. 

Review of current literature pertinent to Physical Therapy; critical examination of design, content, a n d  validity of 

conclusions. Prerequisite: Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 572. Teaching Experience in Physical Therapy. 1-4 Cred its. 

Supervised experience in University teaching in Physical Therapy. Projects in curriculum development, formulation of 

teaching/learning objectives, teaching materials, evaluation tc:>ols, and experience in competency-based learning 

environment. Prerequisite: Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 583. Critica l  I n q uiry III.  1 Credit. 

Introduction to research instruments including surveys, electrical and mechanical instrumentation critical to research 

methods. Includes discussion of validation, calibration, and reliability of instruments used in physical therapy research. 

Students develop a proposal for their scholarly projects and complete !RB use of human subject forms. Prerequisite : 

Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 584. Evidence in Practice. 2 Credits. 

Application of qualitative and quantitative research designs. Interpretation of statistical tests used in evidence-based 

medicine. Critical review of current articles related to diagnosis, prognosis, therapy, harm, cost, systematic reviews, 

meta-analysis, and clinical practice guidelines. Application of evidence to physical therapy practice. Prerequisite: 

Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum.  S. 

PT 590. D i rected Stu dies:Clinical Concepts i n  Physical Therapy. 1-12 C redits. 

Individualized study of a particular area of interest for the student a pproved by his/her major a dvisor and supervised 

by preceptors with specialty and/or recognized expertise in the area of interest. Study may incl u d e  library research, 

clinical research, d iscussion/seminars,  projects, and directed clinical experience. Prerequisite : Registered in 

Pr�fessional Physical Therapy Curriculu m .  

PT 5 9 1 .  Research i n  P hysical Therapy. 2 Credits. 

Students d evelop the abil ity to effectively and accurately interpret and communicate results/clinical outcomes a s  a 

component of the written Scholarly Project. Frequent group and/or i ndividual meetings with the advisor incorporate 

peer review discussion to facilitate student d evelopment of professional written and oral com m u n i cation skills. 

Prerequisit e :  Registered i n  Professional Physical Therapy Curriculu m .  SS. 

PT 592. Case Management Il. 2 Credits. 

Case management, with em phasis on the teaching and learning process and techniques targeted to promote a n d  

optimize physical therapy services, including advocacy. Strategies a ppropriate for conflict resolution a r e  introduced. 

Professional  development a s  a practitioner of physical therapy is emphasized through introduction a n d  prel iminary 

d evelopment of a portfolio. Prerequisite : Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curricul u m .  

P T  9 9 5 .  Scholarly P roject. 1 Credit. 

Students provide a final written and oral report to the faculty on the results of their collaborative Scholarly Project. 

Prerequisite : Registered in Professional Physical Therapy Curriculum. 

PT 996.  Continuing E n rol lment. 1-12 Credits. 

PT 997. Research III:Independent Study. 2 Credits. 



UNDOT 

Master of Occupational Therapy (M.O.T.) 

Admission Requirements 

Pre-Occupational Therapy 

A pre-OT student typically spends the first two years as a pre-major at the Universit')< of North Dakota to romplete the 
program prerequisites. In the beginning of the sophomore year when the student is completing the required courses as 
listed below, he/she must make written application for admission to the professional occupational therapy program. 
The CLEP in natural sdences will not meet the Biology and Chemistry requirements in Oo::upational Therapy. Students 
should carefully check a ll CLEP exams for potential acceptance at UND. A student must have at least a C in a!I 

prerequisite courses. The student must also obtain a minimum of a C in all profe.."'Sional level courses. 

The following courses are required to be taken prior to professional program~ 

l_E~~=~---------c_o_l_le_g_e_c_o_m_p_o_s_ia_·o_n_I _ _ __________ ________ ________ _ 

I ENGL 120 

' i 
I_ -~: =-~~L-=~-=--
1 COMM 110 

~I'. BIOL 150 

! & 150L 

I 
or BIOL 151 

& 151L 
1-- - --
1 CHEM 115 

or CHEM 121 

& 121L 

I MATH 103 

Fundamentals of Public Speaking 

General Biology I 
and General Biology I Laboratol)'-

General Biology II 
and General Biology II laboratory 

Introductory Chemistry 
and lntroductor/ Chemistr/ Laboratory 

General Chemistry I 
and General Chemistry 1 laboratory 

College Algebra 

3 i 
' i ··--;-1 

-:;! 
I 

4 

I 
) 

I 

I 

1--- --- -··•···---------- ----- ------
! PSYC 111 Introduction to Psychology 

PSYC 241 Introduction to Statistics ~ 4-3 I 
I 
i Sociological Statistics 

! or SOC 326 
!----·---------------·------------·-~-·----------·--------------- --~ i PSYC 250 Developmental Psychology 
i----------
1 PSYC 270 Abnom1al Psychology 3 I 
;---,---·-------------------- -----

::A::N=A=T=2=0=4~ ___ _ _:._A::_:n.:_a_::.to::.:m::.:· ~Y_:f.:_o.:_r_:_P.:_a:.:__:ramedical Person_~-~~--------··-·--·--- ·---~-I 
ANAT 204L 

soc 110 

Anatomy for Paramedical P-ersonnel laboratory 

Introduction to Sociology 

; PPT 301 Human Physiology 
1---··-·----------------·-----------·--------------·· 
i OT 200 Introduction to Occupational Therapy 

Arts and Humanities Electives "" 

Total Credits 

2 l 
--------- ----------·--i 

3 i 
--- --- --- -----i 

4 1 

2 

9 

57-56 

t '1 



"' As a prerequisite for PSYC 241 Introduction to Statistics, student needs to take MATH 103 College Algebra . 

""'When completing Arts and Humanities courses, it is required that the nine credit hours be in hvo departments and 
you must have a minimum of three credits in fine arts as part of the requirements of the Essential Studies program 
at the University of North Dakota. You also want to ensure that you have fulfilled the global diversity requirement. 
More information on Essential Studies graduation requirements can be found at: 
http://www.und.edu/dept/registrar/EssentialStudies/esindex.html. 

Admission Requirements 

Professional Program 

Admission to the professional program in occupational therapy is on a competitive basis with consideration given to 
pre-profeS!>ional performance in the sciences, general graduation requirements, leadership potential, volunteer work 
and personal qualifications. Each application is thoroughly reviewed. This review includes the applicant's academic 
record (must have minimum overall GPA of 2.75 based on a 4 point scale), pattern of withdrawal5, incompletes, etc., 
elective coursework, volunteer and/or work experience, references, essay and a personal interview. 

A prerequisite for admission to the UNO Professional Program at the Year I level will be 60 hours of observation with a 
professional occupational therapy supervisor and should be distributed over the three required areas (Psychosocial, 
Physical Dysfunction, Pediatric). 

Year Ill Professional Program 

The applicant must meet the School of Graduate Studies' current minimum general admission requirements as 
published in the graduate catalog. Admission to the School of Graduate Studies requires: 

1. Acceptance into the Professional Occupational Therapy program. 

2. Successful completion of OT Professional Year I and II. 

3. Completion of the School of Graduate Studies application forms. 

4. Overa ll GPA of 2.75 or a 3.0 in both junior and senior years. 

5. Satisfy the School of Graduate Studies' English Langua9e Proficiency requirements as published in the graduate 
cata!o9. 

6. Letter of endorsement from the Chair or Graduate Director of the Department that assures automatic 
advancement in status from the undergraduate program to the graduate program. The letter of endorsement will 
be written for students in good academic and professional standing in the program 

It is important to be aware that a felony conviction may affect a graduate's ability to sit for the National Board for 
Certification in occupational Therapy (NBCOT) certification examination or to attain.state licensure as an Occupational 
Therapist. You will be asked to respond to the following questions when registering for the NBCOT exam: 

• Have you ever been charged with or convicted of a felony? 

• Have you ever had any professional license, registration or certification revoked, suspended or subject to 
probationary conditions by a regulatory authority or certification board? 

• Have you ever been found by any court, administrative or disciplinary proceeding to have committed negligence, 
malpractice, recklessness, or willful or intentional misconduct, which resulted in harm to another? 

Information regarding NBCOT's process of screening applicants for Character Review may be found at: www.nbcot.org. 
If you have any questions, the department will assist you in this ·process. 

Many fieldwork facilities are requiring proof of immunizations, drug testing, fingerprints, and/or criminal background 
checks. It is the responsibility of the student to check the fieldwork information and to pay the cost for each process. 

,i 



Degree Requirements 

Bachelor of General Studies Degree with Health Studies Option 
The BGS Health Studies degree is available to OT students who: 

1. have completed their pre-OT work either at UNO or at another institution. 

2. have successfully completed the first two years of the OT professional sequence. 

The BGS degree would nom1ally then be awarded at the end of the Professional Year Two, prior to beginning the 
Graduate School career, if the student has completed all general UNO graduation requirements, including: 

1. 125 total credits, 

2. 60 credits from 4-year schools, including at least 30 from UND, 

3. 36 upper-level credits, 

4. all essential studies requirements. 

Students seeking the Master of Occupational Therapy degree at the University of North Dakota must satisfy all general 
requirements set forth by the School of Graduate Studies as well as particular requirements set forth by the 
Occ;upational Therapy Oepartmeni:. 

To maintain graduate student status, the professional level Year Ill student is required to maintain a GPA of at least 
3.0 for all work completed in Yea,r Ill. Students who were previously on academic or professional probation will be 
dismissed from the School of Graduate Studies if placed on one additional probation within the professional program. 

M.O. T Curriculum Sequence 

School of Graduate Studies - Schedule A 

i-!~~t:ss~!.~i,ve~~-1--------------------. - - - -· ------- ---' 

i-F_al_I _ _______ Credits~! 
[-~~~~~--------~~~damen-~als of Neuroscience for Occupational Therapy 3 
; - - - ------- ------ - ---- ---- -
! .QI..12.!i Occupational Therapy with Infants and Pre-School Children __ _ _ __ _ 4 .I 

[ OT 427 Orientation to Occupational Therapy Theory 3 j 
.

1

. ~T 428 Quantitative Rsrch Methods-0 T ·-------------- ----- --- 3-1 
OT 431 Medical Science I 2 i 

i Spring 
I ~T 4~~-------· ····· ;-lusde Function ··---------- ····- .. ...... · ·-------------

4 
t--.---··- ------·----------·---·----·--- ------ ---------------------·--·--------- --·--- - -; 
I OT 429 Oi;cupational Therapy with School Age Children and Young Adults 
~-------· 

OT433 ! _ ___ _ 

j OT 438 

i Summer 

Psychosocial Aspects of Occupational Therapy for Children, ,ll.d-olescents and Young 
Adults 

Medical Science II 

Group leadership Skills in Occupational Therapy 

Practicum: Children/ Adolescents 

4 

3 

2 

1 

. -·-- ·- ·-·············-···--·····-······-··-···-··-·-·----- ------- ---·----------------·--··--·~-·-·--~---·~- ----
j_ OT~~--- - _____ Ana~°.~~~?_c_c~_a_ti_o_n_a_I T_h_e_ra_ P_Y ________ ______ ____ _ 5 

i OT 426 Personal/Professional Developmnt 1 



Professional Year 2 
[------ - - --·--·---------- .. .- . ------··------- ---1 
! Fall 
1--··---------·····---· ·····-· ··-·····-·-- - - --- ---- - - - - --- ---- - ----··- ---i OT 454 Gerontic Occupational Therapy 

l OT 456 Psychosocial Aspects of OT with the Maturing Adult 

Qualitative Research Methods for Occupational Therapy 3 
·-------------------------·-····-····------ 1 

I OT460 Introduction to Management and Leadership 2 i 
1 ~ 
J OT 469 

Psychosocia l Dysfunction Seminar and Practicum Integration 

Interprofessional Health Care 

Fall anq Spring Semester Electives: 

--~1 
,J i 

1 

--- -------! 
1-3 OT 489 Independent Projects 

-------- --- - --------- ------------------ ----- - - - } 
~ Occupational Therapy Seminar -----··---- -=-~ 

! OT 493 Workshop 1- 6 I 
[ OT 494 Directed Study in Occupational Therapy 1 i 

J .QLJ2.§ Community Experience ·-·-~=~-1 
t~T 497 Cooperative Education ----1---6-1 
1------------ - - ------ -----------------------------
1 OT 593 Teaching Experience in Occupational Therapy 1- 3 

I Spring 

• OT 451 
!---===----· 
I OT 452 

OT453 

.QI§1 

OT462 

summer 

Multicultural Competency in Occupational Therapy 

Assistive Technology I 

Physical Aspects of OT with the Maturing Adult 
- ---

Management in the U.S. Healthcare System 

Physical Dysfunction Seminar and Practicum Integration 

Introduction to Scholarly Writing in Occupational Therapy 

Elective Only Semester: 

3 _________ .. _____ _ 
3 

5 

2 ! 

3 

1 

-·---- ! 

OT 488 Elective Field Work in Occupational Therapy 3-9 I 
1--------------- - - -------- --------- - - ------------' 

OT 497 Cooperative Education 1-6 l 
Teaching Experience in Occupational Therapy 

Professional Year 3 

---------- ---------l 
I 1-3 i 

·------- ·-- --------·--·--·-···----· .. ---------- ..... .. ...... ---
Fall 

Required Core Courses: 

Occupation and Vocation 3 

Innovative Management and Leadership 3 

OT 509 Principles of Education in Occupational Therapy 3 ----------- - ------------------ - ----·-----------·---··-------
OT 515 Integration of Occupational Therapy Theory 



l_:an Electives : ~--1 
! _oT_4_. -;_·~ -------- ·workshop 
I· 
I 

\ OT 508. _____ Th_ erapeutlc Procedures and Modalities in Occupational Therapy--·-·----- - .. -·-.. ----

3 i OT 582 Graduate Practicum 
r-=--·----- I i ~ Readings in Ocrupational Therapy 1-2 I 
,- --·----·------ ----- ,, ____ -·-- --.. ·---· -···---... .. ............ ---1 

Teaching Experience in Occupational Therapy 1-3 ! 
i OT 599 Special Topics in Occupational Therapy 1-2 j! 

I
I,, 

Spring 
1 .... .... -.. .. .. .............. ........... --.. ··- -··----.... --· --------- ------.. --·- ----·-···-----·----------- . -9---1! 

OT 585 Fieldwork in Psychosocial Dysfunction 
or OT 587 or Fieldwork in Physical Dysfunction 

Scholarly Project in Occupational Therapy 
or Independent Study 

Readings in Occupational Therapy 

2 

1-2 

i Summer r--------- ________ .. _. __ 
I fillifili Fieldwork in Psychosocial Dysfunction 9 

I or OT 587 or Fieldwork in Physical Dysfunction 

l
"---- ---

Total Credits: 123-

171 I 
''---- ------------------------------ --- ----------' 
School of Graduate Studies - Schedule B 

II·-Professional Year 1 [ 
.... --- - --- _____ , -------- -·-· ---~-- ~ -- -... ----------·------~ --------- ·---------- ---------·---- ·- -· -~----1 
Fall Credits I 

L,,_ ,___ - ---------- -- -------------------- -- ------------
! ~ Fundamentals of Neuroscience for Occupational Therapy 3 

OT 425 Occupational Therapy with Infants and Pre-School Children 4 I 
. OT 427 Orientation to Occupational Therapy Theory 3 I 
1-====-------------- ------------ - - - --- ------------- - -i 
I OT 428 Quantitative Rsrch Methods-a T 3 

I _O_T_4_3_1 Medical Science r 2 I 

I Spr~~~-------- ----------------.. -----·------- ---- - ----------- ' ~ OT_4_2~-------~·lusd:_ ~~~~~~~-------·------------------- - - ~I 
l OT 429 Occupational Therapy with School Age Children and Young Adults 4 1 

1-~~-4-30 --------P-sych~ocial Aspect~ of Occupational Therapy for Children, Adolescents am:l Young .. ;

3

1 

I 32 _:_ ::~~:, Sci~ '._I_-_-_-_·-------------- ---------
33 Group Leadership SkiHs in Q{X;upational Therapy 2 i 

i OT 438 Practicum:Children/Adolescents 1 j 

! __ sum~~~---- ------·------------.. ------------·---------- - -.--i 
I OT 422 Anatomy Occupational Therapy 

1
- - -·-----------·---------------.. -----

0T 426 Personal/Professional Developmnt 
1 --- " 

--------~ 

ti 



Professional Year 2 

~a_l_l _________________ _________ ·---------------~ 
I OT 452 Assistive Technology I 3 

Physical Aspects of OT with the Maturing Adult 5 

OT 458 Qualitative Research Methods for Occupational Therapy 3 

OT 460 Introduction to Management and Leadership 2 ,__ _____________________________________________ -----·------·· 
OT 462 Physical Dysfunction Seminar and Practicum Integration 3 

L Fall and Spring Semester Electives: 

OT 489 Independent Projects 1-3 

OT490 Occupational Therapy Seminar 1 r=-:··---·--· ---·----······-··-· 
.QI..423. Workshop 1-6 

Directed Study in Occupational Therapy 1 

Community Experience 1-4 

Cooperative Education 1-6 

Teaching Experience in Occupational Therapy 1-3 

Spring 

Multicultural Competency in Occupational Therapy 3 

.Gerontic Occupational Therapy 2 

I OT 456 i --- Psychosocial Aspects of OT with the Maturing Adult 4 

Management in the U.S. Healthcare System 2 

Psychosocial Dysfunction Seminar and Practicum Integration 3 
<---- ----·-·-----·--·-------·----··--·- - ---

Interprofessional Health Care 1 

Introduction to Scholarly Writing in Occupational Therapy 1 

Summer 

Elective Only Semester: 

Elective field Work in Occupational Therapy 3-9 
----------- - ·-- ------------------------------·--------- ---------

Cooperative Education 1-6 

Teaching Experience in Occupational Therapy 1-3 

Professional Year 3 
-----------------~----·---.. ----·- ----- ..... 

Fall 

OT 585 

or OT 587 

Fieldwork in Psychosocial Dysfunction 

or Fieldwork in Physical Dysfunction 
- - ----------------------·- -------·------··------- --

OT 995 

or OT 997 

Scholarly Project in Occupational Therapy 

or Independent Study 

Readings in Occupational Therapy 
-------------·-·----- ·----- --~--------- ---



<·-~-·-·--- --·---· --·---------- -
1 Required Core Courses: 

I OT 504 

r-~; 50~ --~--
1 OT 509 

Spring 

Occupation and Vocation 
_ _ ______________ ____ ,, ____ •·---• •-'••··~··•••••••••n••n••-•""" 

Inm~vative Management and Leadership 

Principles of Education in Occupational Therapy 

Integration of Occupational Therapy Theory 

I ·--·-···------ .. - ------------·---------
I Spring Semester Electives: 

3 

3 

3 

3 

!'-----·-·--·· --·--·- ····---------- -------------- ------
: ~ Workshop 1-12 

! .QLfillii Therapeutic Procedures and Modalities in Occupational Therapy 2 
r-- ------- ----------------- --------------- - -------

0 T 582 Graduate Practicum 1-3 

Readings in Occupational Therapy 1-2 

I OT 593 
i----· 
; OT 599 

Teaching Experience in Occupational Therapy 

Special Topics in Ot:cupational Therapy 

1-3 

1-2 ; ---
1 
I Summer 

I OT 58S _____ Fie-l-d·-.. r~~ki;;~~~~~d~I Dysfunction 

! or .QIJ!fil or _Fieldwork in Physical Dysfunction 
9 

j Total Credits: 123-

171 I 
' 
OT 200. Introduction to Occupational Therapy. 2 Credits. 
History, scope, objectives, and functions of Occupational Therapy. F,S. 

OT 422. Anatomy Occupational Therapy. 5 Credits. 
Detailed study of human anatomy, with an emphasis on skefetal musde, its vasculature, and the peripheral nervous 
system. The laboratory portion of the course allows for a direct study of the human form through dissection of human 
cadavers. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. SS. 

OT 423. Fundamentals of Neuroscience for Occupational Therapy. 3 Credits. 
Survey of the major theories of behavior, cognition, and neurological disorders based on experimental findings in 
neuroanatomy, neurophysiology, and neurobiology. Laboratory included. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors 
only. F. 

OT 424. Muscle Function. 4 Credits. 
The study of musculature acting on the extremities and trunk. Theory and tet:hniques of musculoskeletal evaluation 
with analysis of normal and pathological human motion. Laboratory included. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy 
majors only. S. 

OT 425. Occupational Therapy with Infants and Pre-School Children. 4 Credits. 
Emphasis on reflexes, S'ensory systems, neurndevelopmental systems, illness and trauma, assessment procedures, 
treatment techniques, families and intervention teams, and treatment outcome.s. Laboratory included. Prerequisite: 
Occupational Therapy majors only. F. 

OT 426. Personal/Pro·fessional Developmnt. 1 Credit. 
Promote self-awareness and interpersonal communication skills including basic tistening slci[ls, ability to provide 
meaningful feedback and appropriate group membership skills. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. SS. 

OT 427. Orientation to Occupationa) Therapy Theory. 3 Credits. 

Orientation to human occupation, occu pational performance assessment, theoretic:all p ractice models, and core 
processes in occupational therapy. prerequisite; Occupational Therapy majm-s only. F. 



OT 428. Quantitative Rsrch Methods-0 T. 3 Credits. 

Design and implementation of quantitative research, the evaluation of q u antitative research studies, the interpretation 

of statistics as applied to occupational  therapy, and the process of presentation a n d  publication of q u antitative 

research projects. Laboratory included.  Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. F. 

OT 429. Occupational Therapy with School Age Children and Young Adults. 4 Credits. 

Normal and a bnormal human development, disease and disability, school age through young adulthood. Emphasis on 

assessment, intervention planning and program outcomes for individuals with disabilities in  a variety o f  p ractice 

settings including school, community, and medicine. Laboratory included. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors 

only. S .  

O T  430. Psychosocial Aspects o f  Occupational Therapy for Children, Adolescents and Young Adults. 4 

Credits. 

Psychosocial development and interruptions to development in children, a d ol escents, and young a d ults, with emphasis 

on OT evaluation, treatment planning and implementation, a n d  treatment outcomes. Laboratory included. Prerequisite: 

Occupational Therapy m ajors only. S. 

OT 431. Medica l Science I. 2 Credits. 

First in a two-semester sequence of courses, which covers human body, systems and disease and disability groups 

discussed from all aspects of comprehensive rehabilitation. Included are chronic illness, neurological a nd orthopedic 

conditions, general medicine and surgery, and sensory disabilities across the lifespan.  Prerequisite: Occupatio n a l  

Therapy m ajors only. F. 

OT 432. Medical Science II. 3 Credits. 

Second in a two-semester sequence of courses, which covers human body, systems a nd disease a n d  disability groups 

discussed from all  aspects of comprehensive rehabilitation. Included are chronic illness, neurological and orthopedic 

conditions, general medicine and surgery, and sensory disabilities across the lifespan. Integration included. 

Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy m ajors only.  S. 

OT 433. Group leadership Skills in Occupational Therapy. 2 Credits. 

Didactic and experiential learning in a small  g roup setting. Provides students with opportunities to function as group 

facilitators in  a variety of practice settings. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy m ajors only. S .  

OT 438. P racticum:Children/Adolescents. 1 Credit. 

Observation a n d  experience in a university-approved pediatric and/or a d olescent facility; supervised by occupational 

therapists, educators, and allied health professionals. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy m ajors only. S .  

O T  451. M ulticultural Competency i n  Occupational Therapy. 3 Credits. 

Develop an understanding of and an appreciation for social-cultural and ethnic diversity a n d  use that understanding to 

a ddress issues, solve problems, a n d  shape civic, personal, and professional behavior. To recognize that d iversity is 

intimately tied to the concepts of culture, race, language, identity and inter-group dynamics, as well as its applications 

to complex situations. These concepts are presented within the context of providing OT s ervices. Prerequisite: 

Occupational Therapy majors only. S. 

OT 452. Assistive Technology I. 3 Credits. 

Introductory study of assistive technology devices and products, assessment, and a pplication methods focuses o n  

adaptations, modifications, a n d  technology system s  a n d  services that assist individuals with disabilities in  greater 

independence and accessibility across the lifespan. Laboratory included. Prerequisite : Occupational Therapy majors 

only. F,S. 

OT 453. Physical Aspects of OT with the Maturing Adult. 5 Credits. 

Study of the OT process as applied to physical dysfunction of the maturing adult. Emphasis is on OT evaluation, 

planning, implementation of treatment, and treatment outcomes. Laboratory included. Prerequisite: Occupational 

Therapy majors only. F,S. 

OT 454. Gerontic Occupational Therapy. 2 Credits. 

Occupational perspectives of the elderly, including a g e-related changes, assessment and intervention strategies and 

the role  of occupational therapy in prevention and wellness programs. Laboratory included. Prerequisite: Occupational 

Therapy m ajors only. F,S .  



OT 456. Psychosocial Aspects of OT with the Maturing Adult. 4 Credits. 
Psychosocial development and interruptions to development in the maturing adult with emphasis on OT evaluation, 
treatment planning and implementation, and treatment outcomes. laboratory included. Prerequisite: Occupational 
Therapy majors only. F,S. 

OT 458. Qualitative Research Methods for Occupational Therapy. 3 Credits. 
Design and implementation of qualitative research, evaluation of quatitative research studies, analysis and 
interpretation of qualitative data, and the process of publication and presentation of qualitative research prt)jects. 
Laboratory included. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. F. 

OT 460. Introduction to Management and Leadership. 2 Credits. 
Introduction to the management practices necessary to direct a quality health service and provide the knowledge and 
skills needed for entry-level leadership positions in OT practice. focus is on dinical reasoning a.nd critical analysis in 
administrative and management functions. Laboratory included. Prerequisite: Occupational Therap~r majors only. f. 

OT 461. Management in the U.S. Healthcare System. 2 Credits. 
Provide an overview of health services system in the US and current trends and issues facing OT within this system. 
Content includes: federal and state roles, reimbursement of health care services, regulation, community services, 
health service providers, consultative, non-traditional areas of practice, service delivery models, legalities, and health 
policy advocacy. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. S. 

OT 462. Physical Dysfunction Seminar and Practicum Integration. 3 Credits. 
The student begins to integrate and synthesize the theoretical knowledge of physical function/ dysfunction with clinical 
practice. It requires the application of foundational knowledge, tools and the theory of practice inherent in the role of 
an OT. Occupational therapy experiences in facilities, supervised by registered occupational therapists, qualified health 
professionals and university faculty. Prerequisites: OT 422, OT 423, OT 424, OT 425, OT 426, OT 427, OT 428, 
OT 429, OT 430, OT 431, OT 432, OT 433 and OT 438. F,S. 

OT 463. Psychosocial Dysfunction Seminar and Practicum Integration. 3 Credits. 
Integration and synthesizing of theoretical knowledge with clinical experience toward the application of therapeutic use 
of self, self-evaluation, and communication skills in professional development. Occupational therapy experiences in 
mental health field facilities, supervised by registered occupational therapists, qualified health professionals and 
university faculty. Prerequisites: OT 422, OT 423, OT 424, OT 425, OT 426, OT 427, OT 428, OT 429, OT 430, OT 431, 
OT 432, OT 433 and OT 438. F,S. 

OT 469. Interprofessional Health Care. 1 Credit. 
A prt)cess-learning course intended to provide experience in building a team of health professionals from different 
professions. The focus is on learning to work effectively with an interprofessionai health care team. Emphasis is placed 
on effective teamwork, the unique contributions of different professions, patient or family centered approach in health 
care delivery, and awareness of potential medical errors. F,S. 

OT 480. Introduction to Scholarly Writing in Occupational Therapy. 1 Credit. 
This course is designed to provide students with an understanding of the expectations and mechanics of scholarly 
writing. It is the first step for the development of a scholarly paper that is a requirement of the MOT program. The 
course outcome is the development of a proposal in an area of interest to the student(s) which has been approved and 
supervised by a faculty advisod:o meet the first requirement of OT 995 Scholarly Project in OT or OT 997 Independent 
Study. Course content includes the mechanics of writing, development, content and format of the scholarly paper; the 
use of appropriate resources; and a review of how to use the Publication Manual of the American Pscyhological 
Association and the OT department's graduate student manuals. S. 

OT 488. Elective Field Work in Occupational Therapy. 3-18 Credits. 
Application of occupational therapy in evaluation and treatment in optional areas of student special interest in selected 
fieldwork facilities. Variable credits, repeatable, with maximal total of 18 credits. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy 
majors only. F,S,SS. 

OT 489. Independent Projects. 1-3 Credits. 
Individual study and/or research in a particular area of interest for the students with approval of a supervising faculty 
member. Elective for OT majors. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors onl~'· 



OT 490. Occupational Therapy Seminar. 1 Credit. 
Foundational knowledge relevant to the preparation of an independent study proposal. Serves as the basis for OT 494: 
Directed Study in Occupational Therapy. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. F. 

OT 493. Workshop.1-12 Credits. 
A workshop c-0urse with topics dictated by faculty and student interests primarily for but not confined to continuing 
education. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. On demand. 

OT 494. Directed Study in Occupational Therapy. 1 Credit. 
Development of the proposal in an area of interest to the student approved and supervised by faculty. Serves as the 
basis for OT 997: Independent Study or OT 995: Scholarly Project in OT. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors 
only. S. 

OT 496. Community Experience. 1-4 Credits. 
Student initiates and participates in off-campus professional learning activities related to .OT under joint faculty and on· 
site professional supervision. Prerequisite: Permission of Department. F,S,SS. 

OT 497. Cooperative Education. 1-6 Credits. 
Qualified students are employed by selected facilities to further understanding of occupational therapy and health
related service provision. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. F,s,ss. 

OT 504. Occupation and Vocation. 3 Credits. 
Application of assessment and problem-solving skills necessary for remediation/rehabilitation of occupational 
performance deficits in the work realm. Laboratory included. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. F,S. 

OT 507. Innovative Management and Leadership. 3 Credits. 
Develop and demonstrate an understanding of the skills necessary to plan, implement and evaluate programs and 
material for educational, consultation and private practice. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. F,S. 

OT 508. Therapeutic Procedures and Modalities in Ocoipational Therapy. 2 Credits. 
Occupational therapy theory and application of specific neuromuscular techniques and modalities to promote 
musculoskeletal function. Laboratory included. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. F,S. 

OT 509. Principles of Education in Occupational Therapy. 3 Credits. 
Explores the methods and strategies used to develop, implement and evaluate education programs for students in 
academia and clinical settings, for patients/clients, businesses and professional staff. Information and discussion focus 
on the theory and research relevant to education in a variety of settings. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors 
only. F,S. 

OT 515. Integration of Occupational Therapy Theory. 3 Credits. 
Analysis and applications of theoretical perspectives to occupational therapy process with individuals, groups, and 
service delivery systems. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. F,S. 

OT 582. Graduate Practicum. 1-3 Credits. 

Supervised experience in a variety of OT practice settings. Students are afforded the opportunity to gain practical, on
the-job experience working in an area that matches the focus of their graduate study. Students will be supervised by 
on-site personnel. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. F,S,SS. 

OT 585. Fieldwork in Psychosocial Dysfunction. 9 Credits. 

Application of occupational therapy in evaluation andtuniversity of North Dakota treatment in psychosocial dysfunction 
fieldwork facilities. Three months full-time. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. 

OT 587. Fieldwork in Physical Dysfunction. 9 Credits. 
Application of occupational therapy in evaluation and treatment in physical dysfunction fieldwork facilities. Three 
months full-time. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. 
OT 589. Readings in Occupational Therapy. 1-2 Credits. 

Selected readings in the student's area of interest with oral and/or written reports. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy 
majors only. F,S,SS. 
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OT 593. Teaching Experience in Occupational Therapy. 1-3 Credits. 

Supervised experience in higher education teaching in OT. Projects in course/curriculum development, writing course 

objectives, writin g  a n d  delivering lectures and learning activities, and developing assessment toots for the classroom. 
Prerequisite: Occupational  Therap�r majors only. F,S,SS. 

OT 5.99.  Special Topics in Occupational Therapy. 1-2 Credits. 

A series of lectures, discussions, and/or laboratory experiences d eveloped around one or more specific topics in 
OC1;Upational therapy. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. F,S,SS. 

OT 995. Scholarly P roject in Occupational Therapy. 2 Credits. 

A collaborative investigation of relevan t  professional topic and production of a scholarly report with approval of the 

major faculty. Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy m ajors only. 

OT 996. Continuing Enrollment. 1-12 Credits. 

OT 997. Independent Study. 2 Credits. 

Prerequisite: Occupational Therapy majors only. 

OT 998. Thesis. 1-15 Credits. 

1--'1 
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UMary Advising Manual 
Athletic Training Major 4 yr. Degree Plan 

Athletic Training Pre-Admission Courses are in BOLD print, Sophomore year needs to be 

completed in correct sequence for the student to be able to be admitted into the program 

Freshman: 
ALUIHSL 122 
ART ---
BIO 103 
ENG 121/COM 1 10 
PED 157 
PED 159 
POL 101/ANT 171 

ANT 171/POL 101 
ATH 121 
ATH 151 
ATH 238 
ENG 121/COM 1 10 
HPS 206 
THE 

Sophomore: 
ATH 243 
BIO 207 
CIS 101 
PHI 108 
PSY 201 

THE/PHI 
ATH 200 
ATH 244 
ATH 314 
BIO 208 
PED 360 

Junior: 
ATH 300 
ATH 327 
ATH 329 
ATH 353 
MAT 180 

ATH 305 
ATH 316 

ATH 319 
ATH 328 

Fall 
Freshman Leadership Seminar/HSL ( 1  o r  2 credits) 
Art Core (ART 108, 1 15, 1 16, MUS 196, ENG 1 30) 
General Biology (Math-Science) 

College Comp II/Oral Communcations 
First Aid {l/2 of sememster) 
Personal and Community Health {1/2 of sememster) 
Responsible Citzenship (Core)/Culture Anthropology (Core) 

Spring 
Culture Anthropology (Core)/Responsible Citzenship (Core) 
Intro to Athletic Training 
Intro to Athletic Training Taping Tech 
Prevention & Care of Athletic Injuries 
College Comp II/Oral Communcations 
Medical Terminology 
Theology (Core 104, 108, 1 10) 

Spring Credits 
Total Freshman Credits 

Fall 
Intro to Clinical Education in Athletic Training I 
Human Anatomy and Physiology I (Math-Science) 

Intro to Computers 
Search for truth 
Introduction to Psychology (Social and Behavioral Science) 

Spring Required core (THE wel lness) 
Intro to Clinical Experience 
Intro to Clinical Education in Athletic Training II 
Advanced Techniques in Athletic Training 
Human Anatomy and Physiology II (Math-Science) 
Biomechanical and Kinesiological Studies 

Fall Credits 

Spring Credits 
Total Sophomore Credits 

Fall 
Clinical Experience I 
Evaluative Procedures in Athletic Training I 
Therapeutic Modalities in Athletic Training 
General Medical Conditions in Athletic Training 
Elementary Statistics/ Applied Statistics (Liberal Arts) 

Spring 
Clinical Experience II 

Basic Pharmacology for Human Performance Sciences 
Therapeutic Exercise in Athletic Training 
Evaluative Procedures in Athletic Training II 

AT Major 4 yr Degree 

Fall Credits 

1 
3 
4 
3 
1 
3 
3 

18 

3 
1 
1 
2 
3 
2 
3 

15 
33 

2 
4 
3 
3 
3 

15 

3 
1 
3 
3 
4 
4 

18 
33 

1 
4 
3 
3 
4 

15 

1 
3 
3 

2 



PSY 207 

Senior: 
ATH 400 
ATH 441 
ATH 453 
ATH 354 
EXS 336 

ALU 499 
ATH 317 
ATH 405 
PHY 310 
ATH 454 
PHI/TH 

UMary Advising Manual 
Athletic Training Major 4 yr. Degree Plan 

Life Span Development (Social Science) 
Spring Credits 

Total Junior Credits 

Fall 
Clinical Experience III 
Practicum in Athletic Training (or spring) 
Athletic Training Senior Capstone I 
Healthcare Administration 
Exercise Physiology 

Fall Credits 
Spring 
Senior Outcomes Assessment: H PS 
Sports Nutrition for Health a nd Performance 
Clinical Experience IV 
Psychology of Injury 
Athletic Training Senior Capstone II 
Core 

Spring Credits 
Total Senior Credits 

Total Credits 
Need 1 24 Credts to graduate 

3 
12 
27 

1 
1 
3 
3 
4 

12 

0 
3 
1 
3 
3 
3 

13 
25 

118 

The prospective student must have successful ly completed the following courses with a g rade of B or 
better to be admitted into the professional program :  ATH 151, 238, 243; and PED 157; 
successful ly completed the fol lowing courses with a g rade of C- or better: BIO 103, 207; HPS 206; 
PED 159; have a minimum cumulative GPA of 2.5 on a 4.0 scale for Required course work 
( including transfer courses); and maintain First Aid and Emergency Cardiac Care Certification.  

Athletic Training Education Program Professional Course Requirements: 
ATH 200,244,300,305,314,316,317 ,319 ,327 ,328,329 ,353,354,400,405,441,453,454 
EXS 336; PSY 201,207; MAT 180 

Wellness Minor Requirements: EXS 3 10, PSY 207, ATH 3 17 or SCI 224, THE 302, 320, 363 
Electives (8 Credits chosen among the following courses: ATH 238, BUS 215, 
362, 371, 381; EXS 302; PSY 307, 308, 406; PED 159, 267, 326; THE 215 or 315). 

Application and Admission to the U-Mary Physical Therapy Program Core Requirements: 
BIO 207,208, 209; PSY 207,406; CHE 109 or 111, 110 or 112, PHY 204, 304 
GPA above 3.5 recommended in these courses 

CURRICULUM SUBJECT TO CHANGE 

AT Major 4 yr Deg ree 
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Vice Chairman 
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This statement is on behalf of the North Dakota Board of Athletic Trainers in support of Senate Bill 2295 

and its amendments to North Dakota Century Code 43-39, the Athletic Trainer Practice Act. 

The North Dakota Board of Athletic Trainers was established to regulate the practice of Athletic 

Training in the State of North Dakota and protect the health and safety of the citizens of North Dakota. 

The members of this Board are appointed by the Office of the Governor. 

In order for our Board or any other regulatory board to perform well it must make clear determinations 

based on the statute and rules of the Board. What has occurred since the statute came into existence is 

that it has aged significantly to the point where it no longer allows us to properly regulate the practice of 

an Athletic Trainer. This bill seeks to rectify this issue by matching the statute language to the current 

educational base of Athletic Trainers. 

The lack of congruence between the educational base of the Athletic Trainer and the language in the 

statute creates uncertainty for the Board in the execution of its duties, and for the Athletic Trainer, in 

that we can find them practicing within the bounds of their professional education yet outside the 

bounds of the current statute. The current act also creates uncertainty for business looking to offer the 

services Athletic Trainers can provide. Can hospitals, clinics, schools, etc. hire the Athletic Trainer for 

the job or not? The current statute hurts businesses in that they can't hire qualified professionals 

already within the state. In this situation does the patient end up receiving care, delaying care, or not 

receive care at all? 

The Board of Athletic Trainers will react in accordance with our duties and alter our rules and 

regulations to match that of the new statute with the passing of this bill. The Board will take on the 

responsibility for receiving input from others in the healthcare community to flesh out rules that further 

refine the interpretation of this statute, with the main concern of ensuring people are properly trained to 

serve the public. 

The North Dakota Board of Athletic Trainers supports the amendments offered in this bill and 

respectfully requests a do-pass recommendation by this committee to protect and serve the healthcare 

needs of North Dakota citizens. 



Chairman Rep. Weisz 

Vice Chair Rep. Hofstad 
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House Human Services Committee 

Support testimony SB 2295 
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Rep. Fehr 

Rep. Keifert 

Rep. Mooney 

Rep. Muscha 

Rep. Oversen 

Rep. Porter 

Rep. Seibel 

My name is Robyn Gust and I am here today in support of SB 2295 in regard to updating the practice act 

for the athletic trainers of North Dakota. I have been a certified athletic trainer for 20 years, and very 

proud to have been licensed and working in my homes state of North Dakota for the past 15 years in 

Minot. I currently work with the physically active population in the secondary school, university and 

amateur setting and I am also on the Sports Medicine staff for the United Stated Deaf Olympic Team. 

Today I would like to address the committee in regards to concerns and questions that have been raised 

on Section 1, 43-39-01, in defining "athletic training" and how an athletic trainer would, under the 

guidance of a physician, prevent, recognize, evaluate, manage or provide rehabilitation or physical 

reconditioning for an illness. 

In the patient population I currently work with, our athletic trainers will "manage" illnesses on a regular 

basis, meaning we will work in conjunction with medical providers to ensure the well-being of patients 

with medical conditions. In the past year, I have personally worked with patients that have had asthma, 

iron deficiency anemia, sickle cell trait, heat illness, skin conditions, influenza, pneumonia and 

mononucleosis to name a few. 

It is my responsibility as an athletic trainer, and within my education, to evaluate a person that may 

present with any of the conditions that I listed as well as an unlimited amount more and understand 

what the appropriate course of action may be which usually involves a referral to an appropriate 

medical provider. Once that medical provider has evaluated and made a medical diagnosis, a plan of 

care is developed in which our athletic trainers are included. It is the responsibility of the athletic 

trainer to help manage the plan and ensure that the medical provider's recommendations are followed. 

We do not have the luxury to choose what type of condition may present itself or what type of medical 

condition that our athletes may have with any of the teams we work with. That is why it is built into our 

education that athletic trainers must be competent in injury/illness prevention and wellness protection 

as well as clinical evaluation and diagnosis. Both of these areas are domains of athletic training 

education and are national standards. 

Next I would like to speak to how an athletic trainer would be involved in rehabilitating an illness. In the 

past year, I had three college hockey players that were diagnosed with mononucleosis. The treatment 

plan from our medical director for that illness is at least 21 days of no activity and then a gradual 

progression back to activity if all signs and symptoms have cleared. They would not be allowed to jump 

back into playing hockey after 21 days of doing absolutely nothing but sleeping. It was my responsibility 

to follow the plan of care given to me by the treating physician. The days following the 21 days of rest, I 

reassessed the patients to determine if all signs and symptoms had cleared or if more rest was 

warranted. The next step is to develop a gradual exercise plan to safely return the patients to playing 

hockey. This was several check-ins with these patients over the course of several week before the 

I 



determination was made they were a ble to retu rn to fu l l  contact hockey. The same can be sa id for other 

i l lness or medical cond ition, besides mono, where a gradua l  p rogression is needed whi le a patients 

works toward return to their competitive physica l activity level .  Other examples of rehab i l itatio n  of 

i l lnesses that I have been a part of  a re asthma, iron deficiency a nemia, hernia surgeries, a ppendicitis 

surgery and heat i l l ness recovery. These a re not on ly cond itions that were recognized by ath letic 

tra iners, the athletic tra iners were involved in the rehabi l itation as wel l .  

This i l l ness portion is incl uded i n  SB 2295 and  is wel l  with in  the scope of  practice and education of  an 

athletic tra ine r. Ath letic tra iners do not diagnosis a person with a heart attack and then expect to do 

the surgery; that  is not withi n  our  scope of  p ra ctice and  education .  However, i t  is expected that an 

ath letic tra iner  is a ble to eva l uate a patient that  presents with chest pa in  and make the appropriate 

medical  referra l a nd be invo lved in the ma nage ment after that patient's p lan has been developed by a 

physic ian o r  appro priate medical  provider. 

I would a lso l ike to point out that this is i n  no way expand ing the scope of  practice of an athletic tra iner 

o utside of caring for the physica l ly active population. That is the demographic that our  education is 

specific to, and is c learly defined in  SB 2295. 

In closing I wou ld  l ike to say that i n  20 yea rs of  ath letic tra in ing, I wou ld  l ike to stand up here a nd tel l 

you that I am prepared for a nyth ing. I have completed the education, I continue to do more than the 

req u ired amount of continued education on a yea rly basis and continue to practice and hone my skil ls 

but I can honestly say that I am not a lways prepared for a nyth ing because we never know what may 

ha ppen, that is the nature of the job of an ath letic tra iner. Our motto for my department, and m ost 

ath letic tra iners, is to "pre pa re for the worst and hope for the best" . I n  my o rga n ization we try to 

accomp l ish that by working side by side with p hysicia ns, nurse practit ioners, occupationa l  thera pist, 

p hysica l  thera pist, exercise physio logist a nd ch iropractors to name a few. And we do th is  because it is i n  

the  best i nterest of our  patients, and  that i s  our  primary concern, and  wel l  with in  the  scope of a n  

athletic trainer. 

I than k  you for your t ime.  

Robyn Gust, M S/ATC 

M in ot, N D  

· ·�· 



M r. Cha i rman;  

M embers of  the House H uman Services Comm ittee; 
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M y  name is Dawn M attern a n d  I a m  a sports medicine a n d  fami ly physicia n  i n  M i not. I a m  the 

M edical  Director for our P hysical  Thera py, Occupational  Therapy, and Athletic Tra i n ing services. 

I u rge you r support for SB 2295. 

I a m  responsible for 12 staff ath letic tra i n e rs and 3 g ra d u ate assistant athletic tra i ners. I have 

set protocols and guidel ines for i nj u ries and i l l n esses that my ath letic trainers fo l low i n  thei r  

care o f  active patients. These p rotocols a n d  guidel ines encompass common maladies such as  

a n kle sprains, a nterior knee pain, shoulder  dislocatio ns, colds, sore throats, a n d  sk in  rashes. 

They wil l  a lso touch on asthma, d iabetes, sickle ce l l  a nemia,  a nd concussion. Each direct the 

ath letic tra i n e r  to refer the patie nt to a physician when the c l inica l cou rse does not fol low the 

expected treatment cou rse. Ath letic tra i n e rs a re a l lowed to use their education to assess, 

eval uate, diagnose, treat, rehabi l itate, a n d  refer. With knowledge regarding exercise and the 

various inju ries o r  i l l nesses, the athletic tra i n e r  is d u a l ly q u a l ified for activity recommendations. 

They a re not prescrib i ng inha lers, b ut may give a dvice regarding activity participation for 

patients with asthm a .  They are n ot prescribing insul in,  but may advise a diabetic athlete with a 

blood sugar over 400 to Tefra in  from activity a n d  fol low their physician's recommendations. 

Concussions have been re-defined and the knowledge regarding their side effects o r  long term 

effects expands with each passing week. A P ractice Act that does not demand the 

i ncorporation of new treatments as wel l  as i nformation on new i nj u ries or new i l lnesses wi l l  not 

ensu re the safety of affected patients. A scope of practice defined by o ne's education a l lows 

for fin ite bou nd a ries as  well as p rofessional  freedom. 

S B  2295 does n ot open the Ath l etic Tra i ners scope of practice, it  restricts it to their  ed ucation.  

It a lso ensu res p hysici a n  involvem e nt a n d  gu ida nce. This b i l l  does not m a ke a n  athletic tra in e r  

i nto a p hysica l  therapist, their knowledge m a y  overlap b u t  e a c h  i s  fundamenta l ly different a nd 

both have distin ct a nd d efined roles withi n  the healthcare system.  

I encourage you r  s u p port for S B  2295. 

Respectfu l ly subm itted, 

Dawn M attern M D  

I 
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I HOUSE HUMAN SERVICES COMMITTEE 
_ SB 2295 

REP. WEISZ AND MEMBERS OF THE COMMITIEE: 

My name is Jack McDonald. I'm appearing today on behalf of the North Dakota 
Physical Therapy Association (NDPTA) and the North Dakota Board of Physical 
Therapy to oppose SB 2295. 

This b ill makes major, major changes in the scope of practice of a medical 
profession with no accompanying proof that it is warranted or that it will result in greater 
public safety. 

The Athletic Trainers Act was enacted in 1 983 to set out the scope of practice of 
.th is profession and provide a method ·of regulation in order to protect public safety. The 
law at that time was carefully designed to match the training and work of athletic 
trainers. As you can see from some of the attachments to my testimony, our 
neighboring states of Minnesota, South Dakota and Montana have very similar statutes. 

The legislation before you this morning turns the scope of practice upside down. 
It not only removes the term "athletic" from the law - a bit of irony for a profession that 
calls itself athletic trainers - but also now says they can treat any illness or injury 
whatsoever. In other words you name, we treat it. Kind of a one stop shopping center 
for anything that ails mankind. 

The bill also allows athletic trainers to practice their expanded services virtual 
free of any supervision from a physician, again a provision you'll see from the 
attachments is unlike any other state in the country. 

We adamantly oppose this bill and ask that you g ive this bill a DO NOT PASS. At . 
the very least, there is a proposed amendment attached in the packet that you should 
consider as an alternative. 

Attached to my testimony are the definitions of athletic training from our 
neighboring states � South Dakota, Minnesota and Montana - that show the statutes 
and definitions all tie into the treatment of athletic injuries. Included in the packet are 
definitions from all the other states as well. 

· · ·� · 

If you have any questions, I will be happy to try to answer them. THANK YOU 
FOR YOUR TIME AND CONSIDERATION. 
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36-29- 1 . Defini_tions. Terms used in this 
chapter, unless the context otherwise requires, 
.mean: 

( 1 }  11Athletic trainer/1 a person with 
specific qualification? as set forth in § 36-29-3, 
whose responsibility is the prevention, 
evalu.ation, emergency care, treatment, and 
reconditioning of athletic injuries under th.e 
direction of the team or treating physician .  Th� 
athletic trainer may use cryotherapy, which . 
includes cold packs, ice packs,· cold water 
immersion, and spray coolants; thermotherapy, 
which includes topical analgesics, moist hot 
packs, heating pads, infrared lampl and 
paraffin bath; hydrotherapy, which includes 
whirlpool; a nd therapeutic exercise common 
to athletic training which includes stretching 
and those exercises needed to maintain . . 
condition; in accordance with a physician's 
written pr�tocol. Any rehabilitative procedures 
recommended by a physician for the . 
rehabilitation of athletic injuries which have 
been referred and all other physical modalities · 

may be administered only fallowing the . 
prescription of the team or ref erring physician; . 

(2} 11Board,1' �he Board of Medical , 
and Osteopa-thic Examiners as creoted by 
chapter 36-4. 

/ ____ .. , .;,.;:,;:S.@Y,,rce: SL 1 984, ch 255, § 1 .  
' · . ..,. tr • · ,  I "' Back to Top 
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37-36-101. Defmitiqns. 

Pre\Aous Section MCA Contents Part Contents Search Help Next Section 

. 
37-36-101. Definitions. As used in this chapter, the followmg definitions 

·apply: 
(1) "Athlete" means a person who participates in· an athletic ,a~tivity that 

involves exercises, sports, or games requiring physical strength, agility, 
flexibilify, range of motion, Speed, or stamina and the exercises, sports, _or 
games are of the type conducted in association with an educational 
institution or a professional, amateur, or recreational sports club or 
organization. 

- (2) "Athletic injtµY" means a physical injury received by an athlete. 
(3) "Athletic trainer" means an individual who is-licen,sed to practice 

athletic training. ---.. ... * ( 4) "Athletic training" means the practice of prevention, recognition, 
(- _, assessment, management, ·treatment, disposi~on, and teconditionffig of 
, · atJp_etic injuries. The term includes the following:. 

. ...--.... ...... 

(a) the use ofheat, light, soUn.d, cold, electricity, exercisy, reconditioning, 
or me.chanical devices related to the care and conditioning of athletes; and 

(b) the education and counseling of the public on matters related to 
athletic training. " 

(5) "Board" means the board of athletic trainers provided for in 2-15"'.' 
1771. 
· (6) "Department" means the department of labor and industry provided 
for in 2-15-1701. · 

(7). "Licensee" means an individual licensed under this chapter. 

History: En. Sec~ 2, Ch. 388, L. 2007. 

Provided by Montana Leg1"slative Sem"ces 

/ 

(3) 

l 

httn ://le2:.mt. e:ov /bills/mca/3 7 /36/37-36-101.htm. 
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148.7806 - 2014 l'linnesota Statutes 

2014 Minnesota Statutes 

148.7806 ATHLETIC TRAINING. 
Athletic training by a registered athletic trainer under section 148. 7808 includes the 
activities described in paragraphs (a) to (e). 

(a) An athletic trainer shall: 

(1) prevent, recognize, and evaluate athletic injuries; 

(2) give emergency care and first _aid; 

(3) manage and treat athletic injuries; and 

(4) rehabilitate and physically recondition athletic injuries. 

The athletic trainer may use modalities such as cold, heat, light, souµd, electricity, 
exercise, and mechanical devices for treatment and rehabilitation of athletic injuriei to 
athletes in the primary employment site. . · 

(b) The primary physician shall establish evaluation and treatment protocols to be 
used by the athletic trainer. The primary physician shall record the protocols on afonn 
prescribed by the board. The protocol form must·be updated yearly at the athletic trainer's 
registration renewal time and kept on file by the athletic trainer. 

( c) At the primary employment site, except in a corporate setting, fill athletic trainer 
may evaluate and treat an athlete for an athletic injury not previously diagnosed for not 
more than 30 days, or a period of time as designated by the primary physician on the 
protocol form, :from the date of the initial evaluation and treatment. Preventative care after 

. resolution of the injury is not considered treatment. This paragraph does not apply to a 
person who is referred for treatment by a person licensed in this state to practice medicine 
as defined in section 147.081, to practice chiropractic as defined in section 148.01, to 
practice podiatry as defined in section 153.01, or.to practice dentistiy as d!}fineq in section 
150A.05 and whose li~ense is in good standfug. 

( d) An athletic trainer may: 

(1) organize and administer an athletic training program including, but not limited to, 
educating and counseling athletes; 

(2) monitor the signs, symptoms, general behavior, and general physical response of 
an athlete to treatment ana rehabilitation including, but not limited to, whether the signs, 
symptoms, reactions, behavior, or general response show abnoi:mal characteristics; and 

(3) make suggestions to the primary physician or other treating provider for a 
modification in the treatment and rehabilitation of an injured athlete based on the 
indicators in clause (2). 

( e) In a clinical, corporate, and physical therapy setting, wben the servii;:e provided is,. 
or is represented as being, physical therapy, an athletic trainer may work only under the 
direct supervision of a physical therapist as defined in section 148.65. 

History: 1993 c 232 s 7 

Authenticate 

Copyright © 2014 by the Re.visor of Statutes, State of Minnesota. All rights reserved. 
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148.7802 DEFINITIONS. 
Subdivision 1. Applicability. The definitions in this. section apply to this chapter. 
Subd. 2. Approved continuing education program. . "Approved continuing 

education program" means a continuing education program that meets the continuing 
education requirements in section 148.7812 and is approved by the J:>oard. 

Subd. 3. Approved education program. "Approved education program" means a 
university, college, or other postsecondaiy education program of athletic training that, at 
the time the student completes the program, is approved or accredited by a nationally 
recognized accreditation agency for athletic training education programs approved by the 
board. 
¥ Subd. 4. _Athlete. i1Athlete11 means a person participating in exercises, sports, games, 
or recreation requiring physical strength, agility, flexibility, range of ~otion, speed, or 
stamina. · * Subd. 5 •. Athletic injury. "Athletic injury11 II!eans an injury sustained by a person as 
a result of the person's participation in exercises, sports, games, or recreation requiring 
physical strength, agility, flexibility, range pf motion, speed, or stamina. * Subd. 6. Athletic trainer. "Athletic _trainer11 means a person who engages i!1 athletic · 
training under section 148.7806 and is registered under section 148.7808. 

Subd. 7. Board. "Board" means the Board of Medical Practice. 
Subd. 8. Credential. "Credential" means a license, pennit, certification, registration, 

or other evidence of qualification or authorization to practice as an athletic trainer in this 
state or any other state. 

Subd. 9. Credentialing examination. "Credentialing examination11 means an 
examination adn:)inistered by the Board of Certification, or the board's recognized 
successor, for credentialing as an athletic trainer, or an examination for credentialing 
offered by a national testing service that is approved by the board. 

Subd. 10. Primary employment site. "Primary employment site" means the 
.institution, organization, corporation, or sports·team:where the athletic trainer is employed 
for the practice of athletic training. 

Subd. 11. Primary physician. "Primacy physician" means ~licensed medical 
physician who serves as a medical consultant to an athletic trainer, 

History: 1993 c232 s 3: 2014 c291art4s14.15 
~ 

Authenticate 

Copvright © 2014 by the Revisor of Statutes, State of Minnesota. All rights reserved. 

(5 ) 
https://www.revisor.mn.gov/statutes/?id 148.7802 



( 
\ - . 

"Athletic training" means the management ofathletic injuries and illnesses to prevent, evaluate, assess, 
provide immediate care on the field of play, treat, and recondition. practice of prevention, recognition, 
evaluation, management, treatment, and disposition of athletic injuries; The term also means 
rehabilitation of athletic injuries, if.under the eFdef supervision of a licensed physician. :rhe term 
includes organization and administration of education programs, athletic facilities, and the education 
and counqeling of the public. 

"Illness" means those illnesses sustained ·as a result of partidpation in athletic activities. 
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15.0488.04000 

Sixty-fourth 
Legislative Assembly 
of North Dakota 

Introduced by 

Senators Dever, Warner 

FIRST ENGROSSMENT 

ENGROSSED SENATE BILL NO. 2295 

Representatives Hofstad, Mooney, Rohr 

A BILL for an Act to amend and reenact sections 43-39-01 and 43-39-04 and subdivision d of 

subsection 1 of section 43-39-1 O of the North Dakota Century Code, relating to the regulation of 

athletic trainers; and to provide a penalty. 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA: 

SECTION 1. AMENDMENT. Section 43-39-01 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

amended and reenacted as follows: 

43-39-01. Definitions. 

1. "Athletic trainer" means a personan individual with specific qualifications set forth in 

section 43-39-05, who is providing athletic training services in accordance with the 

individual's education. 

2. "Athletic training" means doing any of the practice of prevention, recognition, 

evaluation, management, treatment, and disposition of athletic injuries. The term also 

means rehabilitation of athletic injuries, if under the order of a licensed physician. The 

term includes organization and administration of educational programs, athletic 

facilities, and the education and counseling of the public.following under the guidance 

of a physician: 

a. Preventing, recognizing, and evaluating injuries and illnesses sustained while 

participating in physical activity; 

b. Managing and administering the initial treatment of injuries or illnesses sustained 

while participating in physical activity; onthe field.ofplay 

c. Giving emergency care or first aid for an injury or illness sustained while 

participating in physical activity; 

d. Rehabilitating injuries or illnesses sustained while participating in physical 

activity; with a written order from a .physician. 

Cu) 15.0488.04000 
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e. Rehabilitating and physically reconditioning injuries or illnesses that impede or 

prevent an individual from returning to participating in physical activity, if the 

individual recently participated in, and intends to return to participation in, 

physical activity;with awritten order from a.physician 

f:. Establishing or administering risk management. conditioning, and injury 

prevention programs: or 

9.:. Referring a patient to an appropriate health care provider as needed. 

7 3. "Board" means the North Dakota board of athletic trainers established in section 

9 43-39-02. 

10 4. "Physical Activity" means vigorous activity that requires physical strength. agility, range 
of motion, repetitive motion, speed, and stamina, while participation in exercise. sports. 
games, recreation. wellness, or fitness. 

11 5. "Physician" means a doctor of medicinean individual licensed to practiceas a physician 

12 under chapter 43-17. 

13 SECTION 2. AMENDMENT. Section 43-39-04 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

14 amended and reenacted as follows: 

15 43-39-04. Unlawful practice. 

16 

17 

1. NGA person may not practice athletic training or hold that person out as being an 

athletic trainer in this state unless that person is an individual licensed in accordance 

18 with this chapter. 

19 2. NGA person may not consult, teach, or supervise or hold that person out as being able 

20 

21 

22 

to consult, teach, or supervise athletic training curricular courses in this state unless 

that person is an individual licensed in accordance with this chapter or chapter 43-17., 

or possesses a degree in a health-related field. 

23 3. NGA person may not represent that person as being a licensed athletic trainer or use 

24 in connection with that person's name any letters, words, or insignia indicating or 

25 implying that the person is a licensed athletic trainer unless that person is an individual 

26 licensed in accordance with this chapter. 

27 SECTION 3. AMENDMENT. Subdivision d of subsection 1 of section 43-39-1 O of the North 

28 Dakota Century Code is amended and reenacted as follows: 

(js) 
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d. Is guilty of treating or undertaking to treat ailments of human beingsan 

individual's injury or illness. except as authorized pursuant to this chapter, or 

undertaking to practice independent of the effie.Fdirection Guidance . of a licensed 
physician ..... 

or is guilty of any act derogatory to the dignity and morals of the profession of 

athletic training. 

2. An athletic trainer may purchase, store, and administer topical medications, including 
aerosol medications as part ofthe practice of athletic training as• defined he.rein, but 
shall not dispense or sell any of the medicatio.ns to patients. An athletic trainer shall 
comply with any regulation adopted by the United States pharmacopoeia specifying 

protocols for storage• of medications. 

(q) 
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Opposition to SB 2295 

Chairman Weisz and Members of the Human Services Committee 
My name is Vicky Steiner, District 37, City of Dickinson. 

--ff /0 
s 6 ~~q'5 

My son, Luke, is a spo1ts physical therapist in Dickinson. He was unable to be here today and 
asked me to submit his information. 

Dear Human Services Committee: 

The bill SB 2295 has been introduced to change the athletic trainers' practice act. There are two 
main points that I contend with. Currently the North Dakota athletic training practice act defines 
athletic training as the "prevention, recognition, evaluation, management, treatment, and 
disposition of athletic injuries" AND requires that rehabilitation of athletic injuries be done under 
the order of a licensed physician. 

SB 2295 would redefine athletic training as the "comprehensive management of injuries and 
illnesses to prevent, clinically evaluate, assess, provide immediate care, treat, rehabilitate, and 
recondition." 

1st contention - It changes the physician order requirement to "guidance" from a physician for the 
rehabilitation of athletic ittjuries. ''Guidance" is a broad tenn and for what cause is this part of 
the act even being changed? 

2nct contention - Also, the bill does not specify that trainers manage injuries and illnesses of 
athletes only. Therefore, the general population would be fair game for trainers to evaluate, 
diagnose, rehab, etc. Athletic trainer's education and clinical experience does not include 
evaluating and treating the general population (non-athletic). 

Those changes alone should send up red flags from both a safety and quality of care standpoint. 
It seems to me the way the act was written in the past was based on the amount and type of 
education/clinical experience an athletic trainer's program provides its students. Therefore the 
act contained the physician order requirement and the specific population (athletic) of whom 
they should manage care. So what has changed to allow an expanded scope of practice? I am 
unaware of any changes in athletic training programs which would warrant this expanded scope 
of practice. Also, if you compare the proposed changes to this act to all other state acts, it is the 
broadest language in the country regarding scope of practice for athletic trainers. 

Please consider a Do Not Pass recommendation on SB 2295. 

Luke Steiner, DPT 
Sports Medicine and Outpatient Therapy 
CHI - St. Joseph's Health 

\ 
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Chairman Weisz and members of the House Human Services Committee: 

My name is Kevin Axtman and I am a licensed physical therapist ·and 
athletic trajner in Bismarck. I currently work at the Borie and Joint Center. 
I have served on the North Dakota Board of Physical Therapy 1999-2009, 
and am currently Member At Large over 30,000 with the North Dakota 
Physical Therapy Association. I OPPOSE SB 2295. 

This same legislation was brought up and defeated during the 2013 
legislative session, and at that time the Senate Human Services Committee 
strongly urged the athletic trainers and physical therapists work together on 
some agreeable practice act language. . Unfortunately, the athletic trainers 
apparently decided to forgo that sugge$tion and to instead just come back 
with this legislation. After having very little say during the.initial Senate 
hearings, we have finaUy been able to have a meeting between the athletic 
trainers and physical therapists 3/17/2015. 

The athletic trainers have insisted that their intent is not to expand 
their scope, but to define what they are doing presently including working 
with occupational health. The proposed language in the revised SB No. 
2295 states otherwise. By deleting the "athletic" from "athletic injuries" 
throughout their practice act, an athletic trainer· can work with any "injuries 
or illnesses while participating in physical activity". By deleting the word 
"athletic", it expands their scope of practice to the general public regardless · 

·of the patient's health status, or the type of work setting an athletic trainer 
can practice, even treating without a written referral from a physician. This 
would allow broad expansion of their scope of practice, far beyond that of 
any other state. Please see the attachment in our packet listing the 
definitions of athletic training in all 50 states. · 

Minnesota lawmakers were presented similar legislation ir:i 2006 and 
voted "no" on the expansion of the athletic trainer's scope of practice. 
Minnesota lawmakers used findings from an independent scope of practice 
review team to help make this determination. 

The ND physical therapists in their most recent meeting with the 
athletic trainers, have offered considerable compromising .language which 

·" is similar to the Wisconsin athletic trainer's practice act. The physical 
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therapists have made concessions to the language that would allow the · 

elimination of the terms "athlete" and "athletic injuries11 from the athletic ( 
trainers practice act. Please note that .in Wisconsin, the athletic .trainers and 
physic?tl therapists worked for many months on this compromised 
language. · 

A copy of our compromise bil l  offered to the athletic trainers is 
i ncluded in your packet� 

Many of the suggested changes from the .physical therapist� are 
based on public S?tfety. These include a "written order from a physician11 
(section 43-39-01 ) , to ensure a medical doctor has seen the patient first, . 
most importantly in a clinical setting� And "vigorous activity" (section 43-39-
02), ensuring the patient is an active healthy individual and · not complex 
with co-morbidities. · 

Physical therapists, just like athletic trainers, have had to update their 
education curriculums to meet the ever-changing healthcare landscape. 
Currently athletic training is an entry level bachelors program, with clinical 
rotations done in an athletic setting. Occupational therapists have qn entry 
level Master's degree and physical the.rapists have an entry level Doctorate (_ 
degree, al l with clinical rotatiot:ls done.with the general public. 

The athletic trainers have stated they are loo.king at an entry Master's 
degree, in th$ next 1 5  years. The physical therapists updated their scope 
of practice in 2005 ohly after their  entry level Doctorate degree was well in 
place · · 

· · 

Athletic trainers should upgrade their education to include non
athletic injuries qnd including clinical evaluations, and then. update their _  
practice act, instead of .changing their scope now .to include whC\t they hope 
will be their training in the future. 

· 

. �::· . .  

Thank you for your  time a�d consideratior:i. If you have a�y qu$stions, 
I would be g lad to try t.o answer them. 

· -
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Chairman.Weisz and Committee Members: 

My name is Jeanne DeKrey. I have been l icensed as a physical 
therapist in North Dakota for 32 years and currently serve as Vice 
President of the North Dakota Board of Physical Therapy. I am here 
today to express my concerns about Senate Bill 2295 and the 
proposed changes it seeks. 

· 

For much ofthis background, I am using "Changes in Healthcare 
Professions' Scope of Practice: Legislative Concerns11 a 
collaboration document including Medicine, Nursing, PT, OT, Social 
Work, and Pharmacy. It is included in the packet you received. 
reference. 

Changes in scope of practice are inherent and necessarily evolving. 
Practice acts need to evolve as capabil ities change and inevitably 
lead to overlapping scopes of practice. 

As a member of the PT l icensing board ,  I recognize that the purpose 
of health care regulation must put public protection first, rather than 
professional self protection .. At the same time, from a public 
protection viewpoint it is paramount that the public be assured the 
providers are prepared to practice safely, effectively and competently. 

Practice acts should require licensees to demonstrate that they have 
the requisite training and competence to provide a service. As 
professions evolve, new techniques are developed, but not all 
practitioners are competent to perform these new techniques. While it 
is not realistic to require a ski l l  or activity to be taught in an entry-level 
program before it becomes part of a profession's scope of practice; 
the entry-level training program and its accompanying accrediting 
standards should provide the framework, including the basic 
knowledge and skills need�d, to acquire the new ski l l  once out in the 
field. There should also be competence assessment tools that 
indicate whether the practitioner is competent to perform advanced 
skills safely. 

· 
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My questions in regard to .SB 2295 are :  

1 .  Does current entry-level education prepare practitioners to 
safely, effectively and efficiently perform these skills with all 
individuals who are broadly classified as "physically active"? 
Would "vigorous physical activity" more closely align with the 
education, experience and scope of athletic training? 

2. How has the education, training and assessment within the 
profession expanded to include the knowledge base, skill set 
and judgments required to perform the proposed change in 
scope of practice? You wil l  hear additional testimony regarding 
educational preparation and would like to have you review how 
the UNO website describes their program. It is included in the 
packet. 

3. If the change in scope is an advanced skil l  that would not be 
tested on the entry-level licensure examination, how is 
competence in the new technique assured? 

Minnesota has used a version of this Scope of Practice document 
and an independent review process for this specific issue and did not 
adopt the changes being proposed in SB 2295. The language offered 
by SB 2295 has been either defeated or  significantly amended in 

· 

every other jurisdiction that has.considered it. 

The potential compromise of .addressing the areas of concern in rules 
rather than statute would seem to fall short. I wou ld urge you to vote 
against this bil l in its current form. 

· 

Thank you,  

Respectful ly submitted , 
Jeanne DeKrey, PT, DPT, PRC . 
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March 25, 2015- House Human Services Committee- SB 2295 ~J 1-'5\1. S 
CHASIRMAN WEISZ AND COMMITIEE MEMBERS 

Good afternoon. My name is Mary Dockter and I am Chair of the 
University of Mary's Physical Therapy Program, a position I have held since 
2010. I started my career in academia at the University of Mary in 1998, 
first as faculty member, and then as Director of Clinical Education. Prior to 
that, I worked clinically as a physical therapist (PT) in a variety of areas 
including acute, outpatient orthopedics, and home healthcare with patients 
across the lifespan and with a multitude of diagnoses. I am on several . 
national committees that deal with entry-level and advanced practice 
education for PT and thus, have a good understanding of didactic and 
clinical PT education. I am here to voice my opposition to SB 2295. 

I want to first state that I have great respect for athletic trainers. I 
have had the pleasure of working with a number of outstanding clinicians in 
the past, and currently work with a group of dedicated and .skilled AT 
educators. Additionally, our PT program benefits from having outstanding 
students matriculate into our doctoral PT program from the undergrad AT 
program at UMary, as well as other programs across the nation. On a 
typical year, approximately 30% of our students enter our program with an 
AT degree and we often advise high school students to take this route for 
their required pre-admission undergraduate degree. Faculty note that 
students with AT degrees are confident with their" patient interaction skills, 

. musculoskeletal assessment, and prescribing and performing certain 
interventions for conditions affecting the extremities. 

The PT education curriculum has two components: didactic and 
clinical. The didactic component includes classroom and laboratory 
experiences to assist the student in gaining the knowledge and skills 
required to manage patients across the lifespan, with a variety of complex 
diagnoses, and in a variety of settings. The didactic component is 
designed to provide students with the knowledge, skills, attitudes, and 
behaviors that are needed for entry into the practice of physical therapy 
(see document entitled Minimum Entry-Level Skills). However, the didactic 
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component cannot provide students with the opportunity to apply their 
knowledge, skil ls, attitudes, and behaviors in the "real world" of physical 
therapist practice. 

Our clinical education program at the University of Mary is 
representative of most physical therapy programs which includes a clinical 
education component that typically involves experiences in clinical sites 
away from, and outside the direct control of, the academic institution 
(CAPTE, Evaluative Criteria PT Programs, pg 4 ). Our clinical education 
program includes contracts w!th approximately 300-350 clinical sites 
throughout the nation and students are required to complete experiences in 
outpatient orthopedics; acute care; and in  neurorehabilitative settings. The 
students are introduced to medically complex and often times fragile 
patients with complex diagnoses and co-morbidities in multiple body 
systems. 

During this time in the cl inic, the students are directly mentored by 
l icensed phys_ical therapists with experience in  performing examination, 
evaluation, a·nd advanced screening prior to initiating rehabil itation through 
physical activities such as range of motion, strengthening, aerobic 
endurance/stamina, balance and/or agility training. 

In general ,  the clinical education courses account for at least one 
third of the curriculum. Clinical internships are critical to the development 
of competent, professional (entry-level) practitioners and are designed to 
maximize student learning . Faculty rely heavily on practitioners to design, 
implement, and assess student learning experiences and student 
performances, and utilize mechanisms to ensure students are exposed to a 
variety of PT settings, to communicate with clinical education faculty, to 
monitor the quality of the students' experiences, and to assess student 
performance. 

According to the 201 2-201 3  Biennial Accreditation Report, the average 
length of professional curriculum of DPT programs was 1 22.5 weeks (93.2 
didactic weeks, 35.6 dir.iical education  weeks). DPT programs on average 
required 230 credits (1 1 5  preprofessional , 1 1 6.3 professional). These are 



substantial increases from when PT professional programs were at a 
Master's Level (CAPTE, Evaluative Criteria PT Programs, pg 5). PT 
programs first transitioned from a Master's degree to a Doctoral degree in 
the mid-1 990's with all programs transitioned by 201 5. The main 
differences between the master's and doctoral level degrees include: 

• increased content in areas such as diagnostics, imaging, 
pharmacology, advanced practice skills (manual therapy, pediatrics, 
geriatrics), basic sciences (histology, patho logy), business practices, 
and health promotion 

• emphasis on evidence-based practice, case�based activities, and 
clinical decision-making 

• changes in the clinical education component such as increased 
hours,  longer rotations, and more roles 

• and changes in expected student outcomes including increased 
practice autonomy, professionalism, cl inical decision-making, and 
diagnostic skil ls. 

The main reason for the evolution from a master's to a doctoral level was 'in 
response to changing expectations for graduates resulting from significant 
changes in practice. One significant change is the ability for PTs to practice 
without referral in  some form in all 50 states. Clinicians must recognize 
and screen for conditions that require referral to another healthcare 
professional, as wel l  as how crucial it is to understand co-morbid conditions 
that may require a change in the normal plan of care. For instance, a 
female patient may come in  for examination and treatment of her knee. 
Further questioning reveals the patient has a history of falls, cancer with 
lymph nocle removal ,  osteoporosis, .depression, and is on medication for 
high blood pressure. All of these conditions g reatly affect how the PT wil l  
manage the knee injury. I n  fact, not taking into consideration the co-morbid 
conditions could cause the patient additional harm. 

I am not an athletic trainer and have not completed an AT academic 
program. However, I can speak with confidence that students in our 
program, who have completed AT coursework, do not have the background 
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knowledge and ski l ls in managing patients with complex medical conditions 
and multiple co-morbidities prior to completing the PT program. 

Therefore, I am opposed to the proposed language in SB2295. I would 
support language that is present in other states that defines AT scope of 
practice consistent with their educational preparation. 

Respectful ly, 

Mary Dockter, PT, PhD 
Fellow of the APTA Education Leadership Institute 
Professor and Chair, Department of Physical Therapy 
University of Mary 
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Good afternoon. My name is Missy Taylor and I am a ful l  time faculty 

member in the University of Mary's Physical Therapy Program, a position I 
have held since 201 0. I received my Bachelor's in Athletic Training from the 
Univ. of Mary in 2003 and then continued my education and received my 
Doctorate of Physical Therapy from the Univ. of Mary in 2006. 

Prior to my current position in academia, I worked as a physical 
therapist (PT) as wel l  as an athletic trainer (AT}. I provided athletic training 
coverage for high school sporting events in the evenings and on weekends 
and worked in acute care and inpatient rehabil itation as a PT during the 
day. I am currently a l icensed AT and PT. I received my board certification 
in neurology from the American Physical Therapy Association (APT A) in 
201 3. I have also served on several committees for the North Dakota 
Phy�ical Therapy Association (NDPTA). I am here today to voice my 
opposition to SB 2295. 

I have a great deal of respect for athletic trainers because I am one. I 
currently work with an outstanding group of AT educators at the University 
of Mary. Additionally, our PT program benefits from having AT students 
matriculate into our doctoral PT program, l ike I once did. Our PT students 
with AT degrees are well prepared and do very well building off of the 

· knowledge they gained in their respective AT programs. 

But having myself completed both AT and PT academic programs, I 
can confidently sQ.y that with only my AT degree I would not have 
possessed the necessary knowledge and skil ls or felt comfortable 
managing patients with complex medical conditions and co-morbidities. I 
gained the knowledge, skills, arid confidence through the three-year PT 
doctorate curriculum that included 32 weeks of hands on clinical 
experience working with complex patients. My clinical experiences in North 
Dakota hospitals and clin ics included intense learning and skil l 

.. ,.-.., development in acute care, orthopedics, pediatrics, and inpatient 
rehabil itation. 
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Through these experiences, I not only developed a passion for acute 
care and neurorehabi l itation, but also became competent in my ability to 
work with people who have co-morbidities as wel l  as to screen for 
conditions outside my scope of practice. 

Lastly, I have a personal story to share. My mother is 58 years old 
and has multiple myeloma, which is an incurable cancer of the blood that 
can lead to lesions of the bones. Her symptoms previous to her diagnosis 
were back and hip pain that mimicked a musculoskeletal condition .  A 
clinician must be able to recognize when a patient requires referral to 
another healthcare provider, which is what my mother needed. She 
currently, a long with the cancer, has medication-induced diabetes,_ 
degenerative disc disease, arthritis of the tailbone, and has a history of 
back surgery as wel l  as reoccurring episodes of vertigo. She continues to 
participate in regular physical activity. If she were to injure her knee now, I 
do not feel that an athletic trainer would have the background in 
pathophysiology to be able to effectively manage her condition along with 
her complex medical h istory. 

Therefore, I am opposed to the proposed language in SB 2295. I 
would support language that is consistent with current AT education and 
that is present in other state's practice acts. 

Respectfully, 

Missy Taylor PT, DPT, ATC, NCS 
Neurologic Certified Specialist 
Assistant Professor 
Department of Physical Therapy 
University of Mary 
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liORTH DAKOTA OCCUPATJOML THERAPY ASSOCIATIO\ 

P.O. BOX 14118 GRAND FORKS ND 58208-4118 

March 24, 201 5  
Dear Chairman Weisz & House Human Services Committee, 

On behalf of the North Dakota Occupational Therapy Association, I am testifying regarding 

Senate Bill 2295. The North Dakota Occupational Therapy Association has concerns regarding 

this bill in its current form. 

As you are aware, the athletic trainers in North Dakota proposed a bill during the 201 3  
legislative session which did not move forward. The Senate committee strongly recommended 

athletic trainers work with other professions outside the legislative session so that the bill could 

be worked on without significant time constraints. The North Dakota Occupational Therapy 

Association was not contacted outside the legislative session as the committee advised, but 

instead, we were approached at the beginning of this legislative session. We did work with the 

athletic trainers in the last several months and agreed upon language that we would not oppose. 

However, the bill that has been submitted to this committee does not include that language. 

Specifically, we agreed on the amendments proposed by the athletic trainers today, which are: 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO SENATE BILL NO. 2295 

Page 1 ,  line 9, remove " services in accordance with the" 
Page 1 ,  line 1 0, remove "individual' s  education" 
Page 3,  line 3,  replace "direction" with "guidance" 
Renumber accordingly 

If these amendments are made to the bill, the North Dakota Occupational Therapy Association is 

neutral on this bill. If the amendments are NOT made, we oppose the bill. 

Thank you for your time. 

Carol Olson, PhD, OTR/L, F AOTA 

North Dakota Occupational Therapy Association 
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B.S. in Athletic Training 

Introduction 
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The Department of Family Medicine offers the B.S.  in Athletic Training degree under the auspices of th� 
Division of Sports Medicine. This degree program was formally approved by the North Dakota Board of 

__.,,,,�her Education in September, 1 990. Athletic Training was recognized as an allied health field by the AMA 
June, 1 990. 

The degree program entails a four-year curriculum designed to prepare the student for an entry-level position in 
the field of athletic training. Upon completion of the curriculum, the student will be prepared to take the BOC 
Certification Examination. 

Admission to the curriculum is competitive. Students are selected using the following criteria: academic 
performance (2.75 GPA minimum), departmental application, references, 100 hours of directed observation, 
and completion ofFMed 101 ,  207, 207L, Biol 150 and 1 50L, and PXW 3 10. It is recommended that students 
applying for this program meet with the academic coordinator early in their freshman year. 

Students pursuing the Athletic Training degree are encouraged to utilize the electives in this program to 
prepare for advanced study. Suggested areas of study include: post-graduate study in exercise science, physical 
therapy or medicine. The Athletic Training program offered is accredited by the Commission on Accreditation 
of Athletic Training Education (CAATE). 

Requirements 

Required 127 credits (36 of which must be numbered 300 or above, and 60 of which must be from a 4-year 
institution) including: 

- I .  General Education Requirements (see University GER listing). 
2. The following curriculum: 

Pre-Admission Courses 
The student must earn C or better in the following courses to be admitted in the program: 



• Biol 150/1501. General Biology I and Laboratory. 4 credits. 

The student must earn B or better in the following courses to be admitted in the program. 

• FMed 10 1 .  Orientation to Athletic Training. 1 credit. 
• FMed 207. Prevention and Care of Athletic Injuries. 2 credits. 
• FMed 2071. Prevention and Care of Athletic Injuries Lab. 1 credit. 

At the time of application to the Athletic Training Program, the student must have completed or be 
enrolled in all of the above courses. In addition, the student must show proof of the First Aid and CPR 
certifications or enrollment in: 

• PXW 3 10. First Aid and CPR. 2 credits. 

Core Courses 

The following core courses are required for the B.S. in Athletic Training: 

• Chem 121 ,  1211. General Chemistry I/Laboratory. 4 credits.*  
• Comm 1 10. Fundamentals of Public Speaking. 3 credits.*. 
• Engl 110. College Composition I. 3 credits.*  
• Engl 120. College Composition II. 3 credits.* 
• Med 205. Medical Terminology. 1 credit. 
• Phys 161 ,  1 6  lL. Introductory College Physics I/Laboratory. 4 credits.* 
• Phys 162, 1 62L. Introductory College Physics II/Laboratory. 4 credits.*  
• Psyc 1 1 1 . Introduction to Psychology. 3 credits.* 
• Psyc 241 .  Statistics for Behavioral Science. 4 credits.* 
• Psyc 250. Developmental Psychology. 4 credits. 
• Soc 1 10. Introduction to Sociology. 3 credits.* 
• Arts & Humanities Requirement. 9 credits.*  
• Electives. 13  credits. 

*indicates course satisfies General Education Requirements. 

Professional Courses 

The following are essential professional courses to become an entry-level athletic trainer: 



Courses 

• Anat 204 & 204L. Anatomy for Paramedical Personnel and Lab. 5 credits. 
• FMed 208 .  Procedures in Athletic Training. 1 credit. 
• FMed 208L. Laboratory Procedures in Athletic Training. 1 credit. 
• FMed 200. Understanding Medicine. 3 credits. 
• FMed 21 1 .  Beginning Practicum I. 1 credit. 
• FMed 213 .  Beginning Practicum II. 1 credit. 
• FMed 3 1 1 .  Intermediate Practicum I. 2 credits. 
• FMed 3 12 .  Medical Aspects of Sports. 2 credits. 
• FMed 3 13 .  Intermediate Practicum II. 2 credits. 
• FMed 320. Athletic Training Modalities. 2 credits. 
• FMed 320L. Athletic Training Modalities Laboratory. 1 credit. 
• FMed 321 .  Athletic Training Rehabilitation Techniques. 2 credits. 
• FMed 321L. Athletic Training Rehabilitation Techniques Lab. 1 credit. 
• FMed 343 . Organizational Admin. in Athletic Training. 2 credits. 
• FMed 4 1 1 .  Advanced Practicum I. 2 credits. 
• FMed 413 .  Advanced Practicum II. 2 credits. 
• FMed 48 1 .  Athletic Injury Assessment. 4 credits. 
• FMed 491 .  Seminar in Athletic Training. 2 credits. 
• FMed 497. Internship in Athletic Training. 3 credits. 
• Nutr 240. Fundamentals of Nutrition. 3 credits. 
• PXW 332. Biomechanics. 4 credits. 

· 

• PXW 402. Exercise Physiology. 4 credits. 
• PXW 403. Health Education. 2 credits. 
• PPT 3 1 5. Human Pharmacology. 3 credits. 
• PPT 301 .  Human Physiology. 4 credits. 

101. Orientation to Athletic Training. 1 credit. Overview of the field of athletic training. Survey of the role 
of the athletic trainer. Films, lectures, and observation in clinical settings. F,S , 

200. Understanding Medicine. 3 credits. An overview of the broad parameters of family medicine. Guest 
speakers are brought in to discuss various facets of medicine. S 

207. Prevention and Care of Athletic lajuries. 2 credits. Corequisite: FMed 207L. An introductory course 
into the care and treatment of athletic inJ�.rries. F, S 

207L. Laboratory Prevention and Care of Athletic Injuries; 1 credit. Corequisite: FMed 207. A practical 
laboratory to develop athletic taping skills taught in FMed 207. F, S 

208. Procedures in Athletic Training. I credit. Prerequisites: FMed 207, 207L. Corequisites :  FMed 208L, 
Anat 204 and 204L. This course serves as an orientation class for incoming-sports heaith majors. Policies and 
procedures as well as record keeping are covered. F 

208L. Laboratory Procedures in Athletic Training. 1 credit. Prerequisites: FMed 207 and 207L. 
,..C..orequisite: FMed 208, Anat 204 and 204L. A course designed to allow students to get practical experiences in 

- .uy management, modality usage and record keeping skills taught in FMed 208. F 

211. Beginning Clinical Practicum I in Athletic Training. 1 credit. Prerequisites: FMed 207 and 207L, 
FMed 1 0 1 .  Corequisites: FMed 208 and 208L. A clinical course designed to allow the student to develop 
specified clinical competencies in a directed, progressive manner. F 



213. Beginning Clinical Practicum Il in Athletic Training. 1 credit. Prerequisites: FMed 208 and 208L. A 
clinical course designed to allow the student to develop specified clinical competencies in a directed, 
progressive manner. S 

311. Intermediate Clinical Practicum I in Athletic Training. 2 credits. Prerequisite: FMed 213 .  A clinical 
course designed to allow students to develop specified clinical competencies in a directed, progressive manner. __ . 

F 

312. Medical Aspects·. of �ports� 2 .�redit�, Prnre.qu�§it�; . f�.1)1].�§i,9!1. Q.f in_sw.9!.Q.:t:�A . .9911fs�ui�§!�e.d to 
inti:9d�ce �tµdents to various medical specialities ·and me.di cal prob�¢ms .�d thf;if effects on athl�tic: 
participation. F 

· · · , · · · .. -� · · · · · . .  · - ·"· - · -· - · · · ·  · 

313. Intermediate Clinical Practicum II in Athletic Training. 2 credits. Prerequisite: FMed 481 .  
Corequisites: FMed 320, 321, 321L. A clinical course designed to allow the students to develop specified 
clinical competencies in a directed progressive manner. S 

320. Athletic Training Modalities. 2 credits. Prerequisite: FMed 481 .  A course des���'�,.�(),pf�1���;�1J.e 
theoretical and applied principles and techniques for the application of modalities in·,§pgp:� g}j� .. £�e.} S 

320L. Laboratory Modalities in Athletic Training. 1 credit. Prerequisite: FMed 48 1 .  Corequisite: FMed 320. 
A course desi�e.Q.!9.PJ."l:!��i�e.Jhe theoretical and applied principles and techniques for the application of 
modalities in spgrts iJljl;llypare.� s 
321. Athletic Training Rehabilitation Techniques. 2 credits. Prerequisite: FMed 481 .  Corequisit� . . .  :P�ed 
3211:� . ./}. course designed to explain the principles and techniques of rehabilitation as they apply to'�1Jile.tic·. 
injuries} S 

321L. Laboratory Athletic Injury Rehabilitation Techniques. 1 credit. Prerequisite: FMed 481 .  Corequisik 
Fl\:1eg �f l� .. f} ... S()¥r:�$ _designed to allow students practical skill development of rehabilitation techniques utilized-
in ;:ithleticjpjury._s�e;;as taught in FMed 321 .  S 

343. Organizational Administration of Athletic Training. 2 credits. Prerequisite: Senior standing or consent 
of the instructor. A course desi�ed to acquaint students with the theories and principles of administration. 
Administrative functions as they relate to the athletic trainer will be explained. S 

411. Advanced Clinical Practicum I in Athletic Training. 2 credits. Prerequisite: FMed 3 13 .  A clinical 
course designed to allow students to develop specified clinical competencies in a directed, progressive manner. 
F 

413. Advanced Clinical Practicum II in Athletic Training. 2 credits. Prerequisite: FMed 3 13 .  A clinical 
course designed to allow the students to develop specified clinical competencies in a directed progressive 
manner. S 

481. Athletic Injury Assessment. 4 credits. Prerequisite: FMed 213.  A course designed to instruct the students 
in the theories and skills of injury evaluation. F 

491. Seminar in Athletic Training. 2 credits, repeatable to 4 credits. Permission of instructor. Advanced work 
in athletic training to include surgical and conservative injury management, rehabilitation and injury. F,S 

494. Directed Studies in Athletic Training. 1-4 credits. (Repeatable to maximum of 6 credits.) Prerequisites: 
Upper level status in athletic training or other allied health field, PT students, fourth year medical students, or 
instructor permission. An in-depth study in a subject area selected by the student under tutorial supervision. F,s·-



497. Internship in Athletic Training. 3 credits. Prerequisite: FMed 3 13. Off campus athletic training 
experience designed to expose the student to alternate concepts of care. Repeatable up to 6 credits with 
instructor pennission. F,S,SS 

ool ofMedicine & Health Sciences 
_ 1 N. Columbia Rd. Stop 9037 

Grand Forks, ND 58202-9037 

Quick links: 

Administrative Search Committee (/admin-search-committee/index.cfm) 
Library (http://undmedlibrary.org) I Resources (http://www.med.und.edu/resources) I Policies (/policies/index.cfm) 
Pathogen Exposure Checklist {/policies/immediate-action-checklist-and-forms.cfm) 
Mother's Room (/mothers-room.cfm) I HIPAA Training (http://www.webinservice.com/UniversityofND) 

Connect to SMHS O 

• Facebook (http://www.facebook.com/undsrnhs) 
• Twitter (http://www.twitter.com/undsrnhs) 
• Flickr (http://www.flickr.com/photos/undsrnhs) 
• YouTube (http://www.youtube.com/user/undsmhs) 

©201 5  University of North Dakota (http://und.edu) -

Report a copyright infringement (http://sits .ndus.edu/policies/digital-millennium-copyright-act-pc 
�,,...--....,_ 
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ATHLETIC TRAIN E R  SUPERVISION REQU IREMENTS FROM OTHE R  STATES 

under the direction .or referral, or both, of a licensed physician after meeting the requirements of the act 

and rules and regulations. Licensed athletic trainers fol low protocols approved jointly by the State Board 

of Medical Examiners and the Alabama Board of Athletic Trainers. Alabama 

direction" means the physicia n  a uthorizes a proced u re by a verbal order if the p hysicia n  is present 

o r  by written o rder, telecommunication, o r  athletic training treatme nt plans, p rotocols, o r  standing 

o rd e rs established by the p hysician if the physician is not p resent. Alaska 

performed under the direction of a licensed physician: Does notfocltide treating, assessing or 
evaluating a pers�n who sustains an injury under any circumstan�e other than duringparticipation in 
or,p!eparati9n .. for co�pe!itive ·t���. 01:".in'd!yidual :sports. Ar�zon� 

"DIRECTION OF A PHYSICIAN, DENTIST, OR HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONAL" MEANS THE PLANNING OF 
SERVICES WITH A PHYSICIAN, DENTIST, OR HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONAL; THE DEVELOPMENT AND 
APPROVAL BY THE PHYSICIAN, DENTIST, OR HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONAL OF PROCEDURES AND 
PROTOCOLS TO BE FOLLOWED JN THE EVENT OF AN INJURY OR ILLNESS; THE MUTUAL REVIEW OF 
THE PROTOCOLS ON A PERIODIC BASIS; AND THE APPROPRIATE CONSULTATION AND REFERRAL 
BETWEEN THE PHYSICIAN, DENTIST, OR HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONAL AND THE ATHLETIC TRAINER. 

Colorado 
with the consent and under the ·direction of a· health 'care provider ( 4) "Standing orders" means 
written protocols, recommendations and guidelines for treatment and care, furnished an.d signed by a 
health care provider specified under subdivision (1) of this section, to be followed in the practice of 
athletic training that may include, but not be limited to, (A) appropriate treatments for specific 
athletic injuries, (B) athletic injuries or other conditions requiring immediate referral to a licensed 
health care provider, and (C) appropriate conditions for the immediate referral to a licensed health 
care provider of injured athletes of a specified age or age group; Connecticut 

All treatment of athletic injuries requires a�pliysician's referral., except for minor sprains, strains, and 
contusions, first aid excluded. Treatm.ent of musculoskeletal injuries that are not defined as an 
"athletic injury" 'Y!lt��qll:fre direction fro.rrt � ph)r'sic�l therapi�t and direct supervision of every fifth 
treatment. An athletic trainer may not independently initiate, modify, or discontinue a physical 
therapy plan of care. Athletic training shall not include radiology, surgery, prescription drugs, or 
authorize the medical diagnosis of disease. Delaware 

"Stipyryisioh" means the easy availability of the supervisor to the athletic trainer, which includes the 
ability to communicate by telecommunications. Florida 

Nothing in this paragraph shaU be co
.
nstrued to expand th� �cope of practice of 

an at_hletic trainer b�y()rici - fhe.qet_�rmioaJfon c?f�Be -�d_\ilslrig . -aritj consefiJJ[lg 
physician as provided for in paragraph Georgia 

. · · ···· · ··· · · --·--·· ·---------------------------------------



"Treating physician" means a physician or osteopathic physician licensed under chapter 453 
who, within the licensee's scope of practice and individual competency, is responsible for the athletic 
training services provided by an athletic trainer and oversees the practice of athletic training by an 
athletic trainer. Hawaii 

and carries out the practice of athletic training under.the dire.ction of a designated Idaho licensed 
physician, registered with the board or a designated Idaho licensed chiropractic physician. 
This direction wil l  be provided by verbal order when the directing physician is present a nd by 
written order or by athletic tra in ing service p lans or protocols, as estab l ished by board rule, when 

the d irecting physician is not present. Idaho 

upon the .C:Hrediorl' of h is or her team physician or c°'nsulting phy�ician, carries out the 
practice of prevention/emergency care or physical ,  Witt{a physician, determination of when 
an athlete may safely return to ful l  participation post-injury; I l l inois 

under.the direction of a licensed physician, osteopath, podiatrist, or chiropractor. However, in a clinic 
acc�ssible to the general public, the term means practicing athletic training only upon the referral and 
order ofilicerised physician; osteopath, podiatrist, oi: chiropractor'; Indiana 

who, u pon th
·erad\Jite a nd cbilsent of a team physician, carries out the practice of prevention or 

physica l rehabi l itation, or both, of i njuries i ncurred by participating athletes at an educational 
institution, professional athletic organization, or other bona fide athletic organ ization. In carrying 
out these functions the ath letic tra iner is authorized to use whatever physical modal ities as a re -- · 

deemed necessary by a team physician; Kentucky 

under the general sl!pervision, of a physician carries out the practice of prevention, emergency 
management, and physical rehabilitation of injuries and sports-related conditions incurred by 
athletes. In carrying out these functions, the athletic trainer shall use whatever physical modalities are 
prescribed by a team physician or consulting physician, or both. General supervision" means the 
service is furnished and UI1der a physician's overall _direction control, but the physician's presence 
shall not be required during the provision of service. "Physical rehabilitation" means the care given to 
athletes following injury and recovery. These treatments and rehabilitation programs may consist of 
pre-established methods of physical modality use and exercise as prescribed by a team physician, 
consulting physician, or both. Louisiana 

EVALUATION AND TREATMENT PROTOCOL" MEANS A DOCUM ENT THAT IS EXECUTED BY 
A PHYSICIAN AND AN ATHLETIC TRAINER THAT MEETS THE REQUIREMENTS OF § 14-SD-11 OF 
THIS SUBTITLE. ) "PRACTICE ATHLETIC TRAIN I NG11 M EANS APPLICATION OF THE FOLLOWING 
PRINCIPLES AND METHODS FOR MANA() ING 0ATHLETICiNJlJRiEs"'i=oR)�;'cflvE'fr\lbiviouAlS-ANb 
ATH�ff.E?).N �QQI? qy�-��L�-_lj_�.:-.LIH __ U_f:'.!Qs�_ TH E  sugE�RV��19f\J QF A_�l<;:�-�-��p PH)'SICIAN :  
PRACTICE ATHLETIC TRAIN ING'1 DOES N OT I NCLUDE: ) EXCEPT FOR THE CON DITIONING OF AN 
ATHLETE UNDER THE SUPERVISION OF A TREATING PHYSICIAN, THE TREATMENT, 
R EHAB1urAT10N, oR REcoND1T10N1NG oF  f..Jor\JArHiJ�ffc-·1NTUR1Es CiR l>iSEAsr 
"SUPERVISION1' MEANS THE RESPONSIBI LITY OF A P HYSICIAN TO PROVIDE ONGOING AND 



.,.-�. 

IMMEDIATELY AVAILABLE INSTRUCTION THAT IS ADEQUATE TO ENSURE THE SAFETY AND 
WELFARE O F  A PATIENT AND IS APPROPRIATE TO THE SETTING. Maryland 

The primary physician shall establish evaluation and treatment protocols to be used 
by the athletic trainer. The primary physician shall record the protocols on a form 
prescribed by the board. The protocol form must be updated yearly at the athletic 
trainer's registration renewal time and kept on file by the athletic trainer. In  a 
cl inica l, corporate, and physical therapy setting, when the service provided is, or 
is represented as being, physical therapy, an ath letic trainer may work only under 
the direct supervision of a physica l therapist as defined in section 148.65. At the 
primary employment site, except in a corporate setting, an ath letic tra iner may 
eva luate and  treat an ath lete for an athletic inju ry not previously diagnosed for 
not more than 30 days, or a period of time as designated by the primary physician 
on the protocol form, from the date of the in itia l eva luation and treatment. 
Preventative care after resolution of the injury is not considered treatment . 
Minnesota 

as long as those activities are performed under the direction of a licensed physician, nurse 
practitioner or physician assistant. The practice of athletic training does not include the 
practice of physical therapy, the practice of medicine, the practice of osteopathic medicine 
and surgery, the practice of nurs ing or the practice of chiropractic. who, upon the advice, 
consent and oral or written prescriptions or referrals of a licensed physician, nurse 
practitioner or physician assistant, Mississippi 

and who, upon the direction of the team physician and/or consulting physician, 
practices prevention, emergency care, first aid, treatment, or physical rehabilitation 
ofinjuries incurred by athletes Missouri 
injuri�s Dl.int@�est�bli�hed with .aJi�ens�d;p1lysi9iap (lnp who'is Hceri.s,��/to, p�r{9fll.1 th� ' 
functions• set <Wt

. 
i.ll,/seFt,i911 ·7J-1,210· .��IJ ,athleti.c .p:(li11i11g .. is

.
p[oyi?e� ill a�h?·�_pit(l.l ·.guipat.ient 

department or clinic or an · outpatient-hased"mediCaI .faciiit§; 'the athletic trahitf wm ·perform the 
funptions describe.d in sectiori 71- 1 ,240 �ith a refe.rral frorri a lice.11sed physiC?i�nfor at�letictrairting; 
Nebr�ska 

and under the direction of a physician licensed in any state or in Canada. New 
--- Hampshire 



to ath letes under a p lan of care designed and overseen by a physician l icensed in 
this State, f."Supervision'' means thata· pbysicianlicensed ill this State is 
accessible to an  athletic tra iner, either o.n-site. or through voice cornrnljniQati9n, 
dur.in� gthletic tra ihing. New Jersey 

athletic trainer" means a person who, W'ifh flie �dvice and Consenfof a licel1s&d phy�iciall., practices 
the treatment, prevention, care and rehabilitation of injuries incurred by athletes; New Mexico 

to perform athletic training under the. sup�rvision of a physician .::ind liinits his Of: her practice to 
secondary schools, institutions of postsecondary education, professional athletic organizations, or a 
person who, under the supervision of a physician, carries out comparable functions on orthopedic 
athletic injuries, excluding spinal cord injuries, in a health care organization. Supervision of an 
athletic trainer by a physician shall be continuous but shall not be construed as requiring the physical 
presence of the supervising physician at the time and place where

. 
such services are performed. 

The sqope of work described hereiQ shalf not be constru�d as authorizing the .recondltioning of 
neurdlogic injuries, conditions or disease. New. York 

. . . . . . . . 

Athletic trainer. - A person who, under a written protocol with a physician licensed under Article 1 
of Chapter 90 of the General Statutes and fi led with the North Carolina Medica l Board, carries out 

the practice of care, prevention, a nd rehabilitation of i njuries incurred by athletes North 

Carolina 

The term also means rehabilitation of athletic injuries, if ,undef'th� ordeir i;lf a 119�n§ed • pflysic;:iah. 
North Dakota 

acute athletic injuries uponthereferral of an individual authorized under Chapter 
473 1 .  of the Revised Code to practice medicine and surgery, osteopathic medicine 
and surgery, or podiatry, a dentist licensed under Chapter 47 1 5 .  of the Revised 
Code, a physical therapist licensed under this chapter, or a chiropractor licensed 
under Chapter 4734. of the Revised Code Ohio 

. · · . · · · ·· · ·• · • ·.· · · ·  . .  · -

under the ·directi
.
oh of

.
� p�ysician, podiatrist or dentist, provide athletic training 

services to � physicfl,lly activ¢ person under the care of a physician, dentist or 
podiatrist. . 
Direction-Supervision over the actions of a certified athletic trainer by means of 
referral by prescription to treat conditions for a physically active person from a 
licensed physician, dentist or podiatrist or written protocol approved by a 
supervising physician, except that the physical presence of the supervising 
physician, dentist or podiatrist is not required if the supervising physician, 



�-

dentist or podiatrist is readily available for consultation by direct communication, 
radio, telephone, facsimile, telecommunications or by other electronic means. 
Physically activepers(Jn · An individual who participates in organized, individual 
or team sp9rts, ath1etic __ gf1.mes 9r recreational sports ac�ivities,, 

the direction of his or  her team physician and/or consu lting physician, ca rries out 
the practice of ath letic train ing to ath letic injuries incurred by athletes. no a�hlete 
shal l  receive athleti.c tr� ining service.s if c.lass ified as geriatric

''�y the consulting 
physician

-
. N

,
o athlete ;ba l l  receive

.
athletic tra in ing servkes if.ilcm-athlE!tic.oc cige

re lated conditions exi�for,develo -pthat render the individual  debi l itated -or non"" 
ath letic. Rhode Island 
upon the adv.ice and C()n�entof a l icE!ns�d physidan, carries out the practice of 
care, prevention, and physica l rehabi l itation of athletic injuries, South Carolina 

eva luation, e mergency care, treatment, and reconditioning of ath letic injuries 
under the d i rection of the team or treating physician Any rehabi l itative 
procedu res recommended by a physician for the rehabi l itation of athletic injuries 
which have been referred and a l l  other physica l  moda l ities may be administered 
only fol lowing_�rE! er�striptio_nof t,be �,earn or rc�ferripg physi_cJan;  South Dakota 

upon the advice, consent and oral or written prescriptions or referrals of a 
physician licensed under this title, carries out the practice of prevention, 
recognition, evaluation, management, disposition, treatment, or rehabilitation of 
athletic injuries Tennessee 
means the form o f  health care that includes the 
practice o f  preventing , recogni z ing , assessing,  
managing , treating , di spos ing o f ,  and reconditioning 
athleti c  inj uries  bnder the dire6tion of a physician 
Texas 

an injury s ustained by an athlete that affects the individua l's participation or 
performance in sports, games, recreation ,  o r  exercise; or  
(b) a condition that is within the scope of practice of an  athletic trainer id�ntifjed by-a 
d i recting phys ician :o r  physical·therapist as benefitting from athletic training services A 
directing p hysician shal l  provide direction to an athletic trainer by a verbal order when in 
the presence of the ath letic trainer and by written order  or by ath letic training service 

plans or protocols when a directing physician is not present. Utah 



Athletic training may only be applied in the "traditional setting" and the "clinical setting":  
(A) Without furthei referral, to athletes partiCipating in organized sports or athletic 
teams at an interscholastic, intramural, instructional, intercollegiate, amateur, or 
professional level. 
(B) Witli"hr�fertal from a physicfan, osteopathic physician, d�ritist/6r chir6pracf0r, 
to atMetes or tl}e physicallya9tive -who .have a1' ath��ti9 or Qrthopedic injiJry an.d ffa�y 
p�e11 .determi�eq, by _a p�ysi9ian's e��m!l1ation, to -�e free of an underlyi!lg patliol()gy 
thatwould affect' treairtient: 

"Orthopedic injury" means a disruption of musculoskeletal tissue continuity that is sustained 
by a physically active indivi.dual. An individual. with this type of injury may be treate.d by an 
athletic t.rainer g� '19i}g .as t,h� 1n�#vidµal dges'ne>t ·11�Y� a�y uncierlying pat49l9giesit,hfl� woµl�l. 
affect' ireatniel1t. 
(9) "Physically active individual" means an individual who is well conditioned, healthy, and 
free from underlying pathology, who participates in athletic or recreational activities which 
require physical skills and utilize strength, power, endurance, speed, flexibility, range of 
motion, or agility. 
"Referral" means sending a patient for treatment. 
( 1 1 )  "Settings" means any areas in which an athletic trainer may practice athletic training. 
These areas include: 

(A) "Traditional setting" means working with any organized sports or athletic teams 
at an interscholastic, intramural, instructional, intercollegiate, amateur, or 
professional level. 
(B) "Clinical setting" means an outpatient orthopedic or sports medicine clinic that 
employs one of the following: physician, osteopathic physician, chiropractor, or 
physical therapist. 

(12) "Underlying pathology" hieans·ahydisease process, including butnotlirrtited to 
neuromuscular disease, diabetes; spinal cord injuries; and systemic diseases. Vermont 

immediately upon the onset of such injury or condition; and subsequent 
treatment and rehabilitation of such injuries or conditions und�r 'the direction 
of the patient's physician Virginia 

An athletic trainer can practice athletic training through the consultation, referral ,  or 
of a licensed health care

. 
provider working within their scope

.
of practice. (b) 

"Athletic training'\does.:not•include: AnyTnedioal diagnosis; "Licensed•tiealth . care 
provider" means a physician, physician assistant, osteopathic 
physician, osteopathic physician assistant, advanced registered nurse practitioner, 
naturopath, physlc�-1 therapist, chiropractor, dentist, massage practitioner, 
acupuncturist, Washington 



a l icensee may provide ath letic tra ining to an  individual  without a referra l, except 
that a l icensee may not provide ath letic tra ining as described under s. 448.95 (5) 
(d) or (e) in an outpatient rehabi l itation setting unless the l icensee has obta ined a 
written referra l for the individua l  from a practitioner l icensed 

An injury or athletic-related illness or both that affects the athlete's participation or 
performance in sports, games and exercise related to participation with an 
educational institution or professional, amateur or recreational sports club or 
organization; and 
(B) A condition that is within the scope of practice of an athletic trainer identified 
by a directing physician as benefiting from athletic training services. Wyoming 



Alabama DEFINITION OF A LICENSED ATHLETIC TRAINER 

Any person licensed by the Alabama Board of Athletic Trainers as an athletic trainer and who practices athletic 
training on an athlete under the direction qr referral, or both, of a licensed physician after meeting the requirements of 
the act and rules and regulations. Licensed athletic trainers follow protocols approved jointly by the State Board of 
Medical Examiners and the Alabama Board of Athletic Trainers. 

DOMAINS OF ATHLETIC TRAINING These domains are categorized according to the major tacks comprising the 
role of the certified athletic trainer. There domains have been identified as those necessary to be effective in 
functioning as a certified athletic trainer. 

• Prevention of athletic injurie~/illnesses. 
Evaluation and reccignitio.n of ~tf)letic lnjurie!)lillnesses and medical referral. · 
First Aid and emergency care. 
Rehabilitation and reconditioning of attiletic inju~i~s. 
Organization and administration. 
Counseling 

• Guidance and education of athletes. 

Alaska Sec. 08.07 .030. Scope of practice of athletic trainers. (a) An athletic trainer may practiCe 
athletic training only under the direction ofa person licensed to practice medicine or osteopathy 
under AS 08.64. In this subsection, "direction" means the physician authorizes a procedure by a 
verbal order ifthe physician is present or by written order, tefocommµnication,pr athleJic traiJ!il'lg 
treatment plans, protocols, or standing orders established bythe physician if the physician isnot 
present. 
(b) An athletic trainer shall immediately refer an athlete to an appropriate licensed health care 
professional if the athletic trainer determines that athletic training is contraindicated or the symptoms 
or conditions present require treatment outside the scope of practice of an athletic trainer. 
( c) The practice of an athletic trainer includes 
(1) the treatment of an athlete for an athletic injury or illness preyention; 
(2) the clinical evaluation and assessment of an athlete .for an athletic injury or illness sustained or 
exacerbated while participating in an athletic or sport-relatedexercise or actiyity; 
(3) the immediate care and treatment of an athlete for an athletic injury or illness sustained or 
exacerbated while participating in an athlet,ic or sport-rdated exercise or activity; and 
( 4) the rehabilitation and reconditioning of an ath,lete from an athletic .· injury or illness sustained or 
exacerbated while participating in an athletic or sport-related exercise or activity. 

( d) In this section, "health care professional" has the meaning given to "health care provider" in AS 
09.65.300. 

Arizona (a) Includes the following activities performed under the direction of a licensed physician: 

(i) Examining, evaluating and testing a person to determine the person's injury status and the person's 
progress in recovery from athletic injuries. 

(ii) Using heat, cold, water, light, sound, electricity, passive or active exercise, massage or 
mechanical devices to treat, rehabilitate or recondition athletic injuries. 

(iii) Administering athletic training programs and facilities at the athletic training facility or at the 
site of athletic practice or competition. 

(iv) Education and counseling related to all aspects of the practice of athletic training. 



. " • , · .. This subdivision does not prevent the athletic trainer of a professional sports organization or 
an accredited educational institution from treating at the organization's or institution's athletic facility 
any injury of the type that occurs in sports regardless of the circumstances under which the injury 
was sustained. 

Arkansas 
17-93-401. Short title. 
This subchapter shall be known and may be cited as the "Arkansas Athletic Trainers Act". 
17-93-402. Definitions. 

For purposes of this subchapter, unless the context otherwise. requires: (1) ''Athlete" means an 
individual who is participating in 9rganized athletic or ~earn acti~i~ies atthe ·iriterscholastic; 
intramural, intercollegiate, or professional level, or sanctioned recreational sports activities; 

(2) "Athletic injury or illness" means an injury orillness sustained byJh~JtijiM¢ as a result of 
participation in those organized athletic or team activities which require physical strength, agility, 
flexibility, range of motion, speed, or stamina, or any comparable injury or illness to an athlete which 
prevents the person from participating in activities described in subdivision (1) of this section; 

(3) "Athletic trainer" means a person licensed by the state to engage in athletic training; 
(4) "Athletic training" means the prevention, recognition, evaluation, treatment, and rehabilitation of 
an athletic injury or illness and the organization and administration of exercise, conditioning, and 
athletic training programs; 
California No regulations found 
Colorado 

12-29.7-103. Definitions. As USED IN THIS ARTICLE, UNLESS THE CONTEXT OTHERWISE 
REQUIRES: 
(2) "ATHLETE"- MEANS A PERSON WHO, IN ASSOCIATION WITH AN EDUCATIONAL 

INSTITUTION, AN ORGANIZED COMMUNITY SPORTS PROGRAM OR EVENT, OR A 
PROFESSIONAL, AMATEUR, OR RECREATIONAL ORGANIZATION OR SPORTS CLUB, 
PARTICIPATES IN GAMES, SPORTS, RECREATION, OR EXERCISE REQUIRING PHYSICAL 
STRENGTH, FLEXIBILITY, RANGE OF MOTION, SPEED, STAMINA, OR AGILITY. 
(3) "ATHLETIC TRAINER" MEANS A PERSON REGISTERED TO PRACTICE ATHLETIC 

TRAINING UNDER THIS ARTICLE. 
(4) (a) "ATHLETIC . TRAINING" MEANS THE PERFORMANCE, PURSUANT TO THE 
DIRECTION OF A COLORADO LICENSED OR OTHERWISE LAWFULLY PRACTICING 
PHYSICIAN, DENTIST, OR HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONAL OF THOSE SERVICES 



THAT REQUIRE THE EDUCATION, TRAINING, AND EXPERIENCE REQUIRED BY THIS 
ARTICLE FOR REGISTRATION AS AN ATHLETIC TRAINER PURSUANT TO SECTION 12-29.7-
107. "ATHLETIC TRAINING" INCLUDES SERVICES APPROPRIATE FOR THE PREVENTION, 
RECOGNITION, ASSESSMENT, MANAGEMENT, TREATMENT, REHABILITATION, AND 
RECONDITIONING OF INJURIES AND ILLNESSES SUSTAINED BY AN ATHLETE: 
(I} ENGAGED IN SPORTS, GAMES, RECREATION, OR EXERCISE REQUIRING PHYSICAL 
STRENGTH, FLEXIBILITY, RANGE OF MOTION, SPEED, STAMINA, OR AGILITY; OR 
(II) THAT AFFECT AN ATHLETE'S PARTICIPATION OR PERFORMANCE IN SUCH SPORTS, 
GAMES, RECREATION, OR EXERCISE. 
(b) "ATHLETIC TRAINING" INCLUDES: 
(I) THE PLANNING, ADMINISTRATION, EVALUATION, AND MODIFICATION OF METHODS 
FOR PREVENTION AND RISK MANAGEMENT OF INJURIES AND ILLNESSES; 
(II) THE IDENTIFICATION AND APPROPRIATE 

·
. gA.� . ANJ? REFERRAL OF MEDICAL 

CONDITIONS AND DISABILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH ATHLETES; 
(Ill) THE RECOGNITION, ASSESSMENT, TREATMENT, MANAGEMENT, PREVENTION, 
REHABILITATION, RECONDITIONING, AND APPROPRIATE REFERRAL OF INJURIES AND 
ILLNESSES; 
(IV) THE USE OF THERAPEUTIC MODALITIES FOR WHICH THE ATHLETIC TRAINER HAS 
RECEIVED APPROPRIATE TRAINING AND EDUCATION; 
(V) THE USE OF CONDITIONING AND REHABILITATIVE EXERCISE; 
(VI) THE USE OF TOPICAL PHARMACOLOGICAL AGENTS, IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE 
ADMINISTRATION OF THERAPEUTIC MODALITIES AND PURSUANT TO PRESCRIPTIONS 
ISSUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THIS STATE, FOR WHICH THE ATHLETIC 
TRAINER HAS RECEIVED APPROPRIATE TRAINING AND EDUCATION; 
(VII) THE EDUCATION AND COUNSELING OF ATHLETE.S CONCERNING THE PREVENTION 
AND CARE OF INJURIES AND ILLNESSES; 
(VIII) THE EDUCATION AND COUNSELING OF THE GENERAL PUBLIC WITH RESPECT TO 
ATHLETIC TRAINING SERVICES; 
(IX) THE REFERRAL OF AN ATHLETE RECEIVING ATHLETIC TRAINING SERVICES TO 
APPROPRIATE HEALTH CARE PERSONNEL AS NEEDED; AND 



(X) THE PLANNING, ORGANIZATION, ADMINISTRATION, AND EVALUATION OF THE 

PRACTICE OF ATHLETIC TRAINING. 

(c) As USED IN THIS SUBSECTION (4), "INJURIES AND ILLNESSES" INCLUDES THOSE 

CONDITIONS IN AN ATHLETE FOR WHICH ATHLETIC TRAINERS, AS THE RESULT OF THEIR 

EDUCATION, TRAINING, AND COMPETENCY, ARE QUALIFIED TO PROVIDE CARE . . 

(5) "DIRECTION OF A PHYSICIAN, DENTIST, OR HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONAL" MEANS THE PLANNING 

OF SERVICES WITH A PHYSICIAN, DENTIST, OR HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONAL; THE DEVELOPMENT 

AND APPROVAL BY THE PHYSICIAN, DENTIST, OR HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONAL OF PROCEDURES 

AND PROTOCOLS TO BE FOLLOWED IN THE EVENT OF AN INJURY OR ILLNESS; THE MUTUAL REVIEW 

OF THE PROTOCOLS ON A PERIODIC BASIS; AND THE APPROPRIATE CONSULTATION AND REFERRAL 

BETWEEN THE PHYSICIAN, DENTIST, OR HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONAL AND THE ATHLETIC TRAINER. 

Connecticut 
Sec. 20-65f. Definitions. As used in this chapter: 

(1) "Athletic training" means the application or provision, with the consent and under the direction of 
a health care provider, of (A) principles, methods and procedures of evaluation, prevention, treatment 
and rehabilitation of athletic injuri~~ sustained by athletes, (B) appropriate preventative and 
supportive devices, temporary splinting and bracing, physical modalities of heat, cold, light massage, 
water, electric stimulation, sound, exercise and exercise equipment, (C) the organization and 
administration of athletic training programs, and (D) education and counseling to athietes, coaches, 
medical personnel and athletic communities in the area of the prevention and care of athletic in Juries. 
For purposes of this subdivision, "health care provider" means a person licensed to practice medicine 
or surgery under chapter 370, chiropractic under chapter 372, podiatry under chapter 375 or 
natureopathy under chapter 373; 

(2) "Athleticinjury" means any injury sustained by an athlete as a result of such athlet~;s 
participation in exercises, sports, games or recreation requiring strength, agility, flexibility, range of 
motion, speed or stamina, or any comparable injury that prevents such athlete from participating in 
any such activities; 

(3) "Athlete" means any person who is a member of any professional, amateur, school or other sports 
team, or is a regular participant in sports or recreational activities, including, but not limited to, 
training and practice activities, that require strength, agility, flexibility, range of motion, speed or 
stamina. For purposes of this subdivision, "regular" means not less than three times per week; 

(4) "Standing orders" means written protocols, recommendations and guidelines for treatment and 
care, furnished and signed by a health care provider specified under subdivision (1) of this section, to 
be followed in the practice of athletic training that may include, but not be limited to, (A) appropriate 
treatments for specific athletic injuries, (B) athletic injuries or other conditions requiring immediate 
referral to a licensed health care provider, and (C) appropriate conditions for the immediate referral 
to a licensed health care provider of injured athletes of a specified age or age group; 
Delaware · 
§ 2602. Definitions. 

As used in this chapter, unless the content requires otherwise, the following words shall have the 
following meanings: 
(1) "Athletic injury" is a musculoskeletal injury resulting from or limiting participation in or training 
for scholastic, recreational, professional or sanctioned amateur athletic activities. 

---· 

....._ .. 



(2) "Athletic trainer" means a person who is licensed by the State Examining Board of Physical 
Therapists and Athletic Trainers, to practice "athletic training," after meeting the requirements of this 
chapter and rules and regulations promulgated pursuant thereto. 
(3) "Athletic training" means the prevention evaluation and tr,eatment of athletic injuries by the 
utilization of therapeutic exercises and modalities such as heat, cold, light, air, water, sound, 
electricity, massage and non-thrust mobilizations. All treatment of attiletic injuries requires a 
physician's referral, except for minor sprains, strains, and contusions, first aid excluded. Treatment of 
musculoskeletal injuries that are not defined as an "athletic injury" will require direction from a 
physicaltherapist and direct supervision bf every fifth .treatment. An athletic trainer may not 
independently initiate, modify, or discontinue a physical therapy plan of care. Athletic training shall 
not include radiology, surgery, prescription drugs, or authorize the medical diagnosis of disease. 
(4) "Board" means the State Examining Board of Physical Therapists which shall administer and 
enforce this chapter. 
(5) "First aid" is emergency care and treatment of an injured person before definitive medical and 
surgical management can be secured. 
Florida 

468.70 Legislative intent.--It is the intent of the Legislature that athletes be assisted by persons 
adequately trained to recognize, prevent, and treat physical injuries sustained during ~thlettc 
activities. Therefore, it is the further intent of the Legislature to protect the public by licensing and 
fully regulating athletic trainers. 

468.701 Definitions.--As used in this part, the term: 

(1) "Athlete" means a person who participates in an athletic activity. 
(2) "Athletic activity" means the participation in an activity, conducted by an educational institution, 
a professional athletic organization, or an amateur athletic organization, involving exercises, sports, 
games, or recreation requiring any of the physical attributes of strength, agility, flexibility, range of 
motion, speed, and stamina. 
(3) "Athletic injuty" means an injury sustained which affects the athlete's ability to participate or 
perforfu ·in· athletic activity. 
(4) "Athletic trainer" means a person licensed under this part. 
(5) "Athletic training" means the recognition, prevention, and treatment of athletic injuries. 
(6) "Board" means the Board of Athletic Training. 
(7) "Department" means the Department of Health. 
(8) "Direct supervision" means the physical presence of the supervisor on the premises so that the 
supervisor is immediately available to the trainee when needed. 
(9) "Supervision" means the easy availability of the supervisor to the athletic trainer, which includes 
the ability to communicate by telecommunications. 
Georgia "43-5-1. Effective 7 /1 /08 
(1) 'Athletic injury' means any injury sustained by a person as a result of such 
person's participation in exercises, sports, games, or recreational activities, or 
any 
activities requiring physical strength, agility, flexibility, range of motion, speed, or 
stamina without respect to where or how the injury occurs. Nothing in this 
paragraph 
shall be construed to expand the scope of practice of an .athletic trainer beyond 
the 



determination of the advising and consenting physician as provided -for in 
paragraph 
(2) of this Code section. 
(2) 'Athletic trainer' means a person with specific qualifications, as set forth in 
Code 
Sections 43-5-7 and 43-5-8 who, upon the advice and consent of a physician, 
carries 
out the practice of prevention, recognition, evaluation, management, disposition, 
treatment, or rehabilitation of athletic injuries; and, in carrying out these functions, 
the 
athletic trainer is authorized to use physical modalities, such as heat, light, 
sound, 
cold, electricity, or mechanical devices related to prevention, recognition, 
evaluation, 
management, disposition, rehabilitation, and treatment. Nothing in this Code 
section 
shall be construed to require licensure of elementary or secondary school 
teachers, 
coaches, or authorized volunteers who do not hold themselves out to the public 
as 
athletic trainers. 
(3) 'Board' means the Georgia Board of Athletic Trainers." 
Hawaii 
Definitions. As used in this chapter: 

Athlete" means a person who prepares for or participates in organized sports or sports-related 
activities, amateur or recreational sports involving athletic competition, including interscholastic, 
intercollegiate, intramural, semiprofessional, or professional sports activities. 

"Athletic injury" means an injury that affects the preparation for or participation in 
organized sports or sports-related activities, or amateur or recreational sports involving athletic 
competition, including interscholastic, intercollegiate, intramural, semiprofessional, or professional 
sports activities. 

"Athletic trainer" means an individual, whether or not registered under this chapter, who 
engages in the practice of athletic training or represents oneself to be an athletic trainer. 
"Department" means the department of commerce and consumer affairs. 
Effective 070112 1 



"Director" means the director of commerce and consumer affairs. 
"Practice of athletic training" refers to the application by an athletic trainer, whether or not 

registered under this chapter and without regard to certification by any certifying body, of 
principles and methods to: 
(1) Prevent athletic ·ifijuries; 
(2) Recognize, evaluate, and assess athletic injuries and conditions; 
(3) Provide immediate care of athletic injuries, including common emergency medical care; 
(4) Treat, rehabilitate, and reconditic)n .8:Wetic llij11rie~; 
(5) Administer athletic training services and organization; and 

(6) :E4uc<M 'athietes; provided that the practice of athletic training does not include 
provision of medical services as defined in section 453-1, occupational therapy services as defined 
in section 457G-l, or physical therapy or physical therapy services as defined in section 461J-l. 

"Treating physician" means a physician or osteopathic physician licensed under chapter 453 
who, within the licensee's scope of practice and individual competency, is responsible for the 
athletic training services provided by an athletic trainer and oversees the practice of athletic 
training by an athletic trainer. 

Idaho 

(1) "Athlete" means a person who participates in exercises, sports, or games requiring physical 
strength, agility, flexibility, range of motion, speed or stamina and which exercises, sports or 
games are of the type generally conducted in association with an educational institution or 
professional, amateur or recreational sports club or organization. 

(2) "Athletic injury" means a physical injury, harm, hurt or common condition (such as heat 
disorders), incurred by an athlete, preventing or limiting participation in athletic activity, sports or 
recreation, which athletic trainers are educated to evaluate and treat or refer to the directing 
physician. 
(3) "Athletic trainer" means a person who has met the qualifications for licensure as set forth in this 
chapter, is licensed under this chapter, and carries out the practice of athletic training under the 
direction of a designated Idaho licensed physician, registered with the board or a designated Idaho 
licensed chiropractic physician. 
(4) "Athletic training" means the application by a licensed athletic trainer of principles and methods 
of: 
(a) Prevention of athletic injuries; 
(b) Recognition, evaluation and assessment of athletic injuries and conditions; 
( c) Immediate care of athletic injuries including common emergency medical situations; 
( d) Rehabilitation and reconditioning of athletic injuries; 
( e) Athletic training services administration and organization; and 
(f) Education of athletes. 
(5) "Board" means the Idaho state board of medicine. 
(6) "Board of athletic trainers" means the Idaho board of athletic trainers established in this chapter. 
(7) "Directing physician" means a designated person duly licensed to practice medicine in Idaho, 
registered with the board or a designated Idaho licensed chiropractic physician, who is responsible 



for the athletic training services provided by the athletic trainer and oversees the practice of athletic 
training of the athletic trainer, as established by board rule. This chapter does not authorize the 
practice of medicine or any of its branches by a person not so licensed by the board. 
(a) This direction wln be provided by verbal order when the dfrecting physic~wi)s present an4 by ·. 
written order or by athletic training service plans or protocols, as established qy boar~ ml~, wheri the 
directing physician is not present. 

Illinois 
Sec. 3. Definitions. As used in this Act: (1) "Department" means the Department of 
Professional Regulation. (2) "Director" means the Director of Professional Regulation. (3) 
"Board" means the Illinois Board of Athletic Trainers appointed by the Director. (4) 
"Licensed athletic trainer" means a person licensed to practice athletic training as defined in 
this Act and with the specific qualifications set forth in Section 9 of this Act who, upon the 
direction of his or her team physician or cons~ltingphysician, ca.rries out the practice of 
prevention/emergency care or physical reco"nditioning ·of injuries ~ incµrred by ath-letes 
participating in an athletic program conducted by an educational institution, professional 
athletic organization, or sanctioned amateur athletic organization employing the athletic 
trainer; or a person who, under the direction of a physician, carries out comparable 
functions for a health organization-based extramural program of athletic training services fqr 
athletes. Specific duties of the athletic trainer include but are not limited to: A. Supervision 
of the selection, fitting, and maintenance of protective equipment; 
B. Provision of assistance to the coaching staff in the development and implementation of 
conditioning programs; 
C. Counseling of athletes on nutrition and hygiene; 
D. Supervision of athletic training facility and inspection of playing facilities; 
E. Selection and maintenance of athletic training equipment and supplies; 
F. Instruction and supervision of student trainer staff; 



G. Coordination with a team physician to provide: (i) pre-competition physical exam and 
health history updates, 
(ii) game coverage or phone access to a physician or paramedic, 
(iii) follow-up injury care, (iv) reconditioning programs, and (v) assistance on all matters 
pertaining to the health and well-being of athletes. 
H. Provision of on-site injury care and evaluation as well as appropriate transportation, 
follow-up treatment and rehabilitation as necessary for all injuries sustained by athletes in 
the program; 
I. With a physician, determination of when an athlete may safely return to full participation 
post-injury; and 
J. Maintenance of complete and accurate records of all athletic injuries and treatments 
rendered. 
To carry out these functions the athletic trainer is authorized to utilize modalities, including, 
but not limited to, heat, light, sound, cold, electricity, exercise, or mechanical devices related 
to care and reconditioning. (5) "Referral" means the guidance and direction given by the 
physician, who shall maintain supervision of the athlete. (6) "Athletic trainer aide" means a 
person who has received on-the-job training specific to the facility in which he or she is 
employed, on either a paid or volunteer basis, but is not enrolled in an accredited athletic 
training curriculum. 
Indiana 
IC 25-5.1-1-3 Athletic trainer Sec. 3. "Athletic trainer" means an individual who is or may be 

employed by an educational institution, a professional or an amateur athletic organization, an athletic 
facility, or a health care facility to practice athletic training. 

··---------·· IC 25-5.1-1-4 
Athletic training Sec. 4. "Athletic training" means the practice of prevention, recognition, 
assessment, management, treatment, disposition, and reconditioning bf athletic injuries under the 
direction of a licensed physician, osteopath, podiatrist, or chiropractor. However, in a clinic 
accessible to the general public, the term means practicing athletictraining only upon the referral and 
order of a Iiceilseo physician, osteopath, podiatrist, or chiropractor. The term includes the following: 
(1) Practice that may be conducted by an athletic trainer through the use of heat, light, sound, 
cold, electricity, exercise, rehabilitation, or mechanical devices related to the care and the 
conditioning of athletes. (2) The organization and administration of educational programs and 
athletic facilities. (3) The education and the counseling of the public on matters related to athletic 
training. 
Iowa 

152D.1 Definitions. 
As used in this chapter, unless the context otherwise requires: 

1. "Board" means the board of examiners for athletic training created under chapter 14 7. 

2. "Licensed athletic trainer" means a person licensed under this chapter. 

3. "Practice of athletic training" mea11s .the I>revellt.ion~ ph.ysic~l .~v~Iuati?~· ~niergency care, .and 
physical reconditioning relating to injuties and iih1'esses incurred .tHroughsports.'"itiduced trauma, 
which occurs during the preparation for or participation in a sport~ competition or during a physicai 
training program, either of which is sponsored by an educational institution, amateur or professional 
athletic group, or other recognized organization, by a person who uses the title of licensed athletic 
trainer. 

Kansas 



65-6902. Definitions. As used in this act: 
(a) "Board" means the state board of healing arts. 
(b) "Athletic training" means the practice of injury prevention, physical evaluation, emergency 
care and referral or physical reconditioning relati11g to gtlJletic aptivity. 
(c) "Athletic trainer" means a person licensed under this act. 

History: L. 1995, ch. 146, § 2; L. 2004, ch. 24, § 2; July 1. 
Kentucky 
311.900 Definitions. 

(1) "Athletic trainer" means a person with specific qualifications, as set forth in KRS 311.916, who, 
upon the advice and consent of a team physician, carries out the practice of prevention or physical 
rehabilitation, or both, of injuries incurred by:participating athletes at an educational institution, 
professional athletic organization, or other bona fide athletic organization. In carrying out these 
functions the athletic trainer is authorized to use whatever physical modalities as are deemed 
necessary by a team physician; and (2) "Council" means the Kentucky Advisory Council on Athletic 
Trainers. 
Louisiana 
this Chapter, the following words and phrases have the meanings hereinafter ascribed to them: 

(1) "Athlete" means an individual designated as such by the board, an educational institution, a 
professional athletic organization, or other board-approved organization who participates in an 
athletic activity sponsored by such institution or organization. 
(2) "Athletic trainer" means an individual licensed by the board as an athletic trainer with the specific 
qualifications set forth in R.S. 37:3306.1 who, under the general supervision of a physician carries 
out the practice of prevention, emergency management, and physical rehabilitation ofinjuries and 
sports.;related conditions incurred by athletes. In carrying out these functions, the athletic trainer shall 
use whatever physical modalities are prescribed by a team physician or consulting physician, or both. 
(3) "Board" means the Louisiana State Board of Medical Examiners. 
(4) "Board approved organization" means one of the following: 
(a) Approved organization, including but not limited to the Amateur Athletic Union, the International 
Olympic Committee and its affiliates, the Pan American Sports Organization, the National Collegiate 
Athletic Association, the National Association of Intercollegiate Athletics, college and university 
intramural sports, and sports events of the National Federation of State High School Associations 
(b) An organization, whose athletic activity meets one or more of the following: 
(i) Has an officially-designated coach or individual who has the responsibility for athletic activities 
of the organization. 
(ii) Has a regular schedule of practices or workouts that are supervised by an officially-designated 
coach or individual. 
(iii) Is an activity generally recognized as having an established schedule of competitive events or 
exhibitions. 
(iv) Has a policy that requires documentation of having a signed medical clearance by a licensed 
physician or other board authorized health care provider as a condition for participation for the 
athletic activities of the organization. 
(5) "BOC" means the Board of Certification, Inc. or its successor. 
( 6) "CAA TE" means the Commission on Accreditation of Athletic Training Education or its 
successor. 



(7) "Educational institution" means a university, college, junior college, high school, junior high 
school, or grammar school, whether public or private. 
(8) "Emergency management" means the care given to an injured athlete under the general 
supervision of the team or consulting physician .. To accomplish this care, an athletic trainer may use 
such methods as accepted first aid procedures approved by the American Red Cross, the American 
Heart Association or protocol previously established by the athletic trainer and the team or consulting 
physicians. 
(9) "General supervision" means the service is furnished under a physician's overall direction and 
control, but the physician's presence shall not be required during the provision of service. 
(10) "Physician" means a person licensed to practice medicine by the board in the state who is 
qualified by training and experience to supervise an athletic trainer. 
(11) "Physical rehabilitation" means the care given to athletes following injury and recovery. These 
treatments and rehabilitation programs may consist of preestablished methods of physical modality 
use and exercise as prescribed by a team physician, consulting physician, or both. Physical 
rehabilitation also includes working cooperatively with and under the general supervision of a 
medical physician in respect to the following: 
(a) Reconditioning procedures. 
(b) Operation of therapeutic devices and equipment. 
(c) Fitting of braces, guards, and other protective devices. 
( d) Referrals to other physicians, auxiliary health services, and institutions. Referrals will be made 
with the agreement of the athlete or, in the case of a minor, with the agreement of a parent or 
guardian except when circumstances require emergency transfer and the parent or guardian is 
unavailable. 
(12) "Practice of prevention" shall include but is not limited to the following: 
(a) Working cooperatively with supervisors and coaches in establishing and implementing a program 
of physical conditioning for athletes. 
(b) Applying protective or injury-preventive devices such as taping, padding, bandaging, strapping, 
wrapping, or bracing. 
(c) Working cooperatively with supervisors, coaches, and a team physician or consulting physician in 
the selection and fitting of protective athletic equipment for each-athlete ahd constantly monitoring 
that equipment for safety. 
(d) Counseling and advising supervisors, coaches, and athletes on physical conditioning and training 
such as diet, flexibility, rest, and reconditioning. 
Maine 

1. Athlete. "Athlete" means a physically active individual training for or participating in an 
amateur, educational or professional athletic organization or any other association that sponsors 
athletic programs or events in the State. [1995, c. 275, §1 (new).] 

2. Athletic injury. "Athletic iri.jury1
' means a disruption of tissue continuity that is sustained by 

an athlete or recreational athlete when that injury: [1995, c. 275, §1 (new).] 

A. __ Resiiits frolll ~hat i~~iyid~al's_ participatiqli 'in of tra.in!ng fof sport,s~fitµess trainirrn. or other 
athletic Competition; or 

[1995, c. 275, §I (new).] 

B. Restricts or prevents that individual from participation in those activities. 

[1995, c. 275, §1 (new).] 

3. Athletic trainer. "Athletic trainer" means a person licensed by the department to use that title 
after meeting the requirements of this chapter. [1995, c. 275, §1 (new).] 



4. Athletic training. "Athletic training" means: [1995, c. 275, §1 (new).] 

A. Prevention of athletic injuries; [1995, c. 275, §1 (new).] 

B. R~cognition and evaluation of ~thletic injuri~s; [1995, c. 275, §1 (new).] 

C. Management, treatment and disposition of athletic injuries; [1995, c. 275, § 1 (new).] 

D. Rehabilitation of athletic injuries; [1995, c. 275, § 1 (new).] 

E. Organization and administrati_on of an athletic training program; and [1995, c. 275, § 1 (new).] 
F. Education and cou1,1seling 9f athletes, recreational athletes, coaches, family members, medical 
personnel and communities in the area of care and prevention ofathJetic injurie~. 
Maryland 
14-50-01. 
(A) IN THIS SUBTITLE THE FOLLOWING WORDS HAVE THE MEANINGS INDICATED. 
(8) "ATHLETE" MEANS AN INDIVIDUAL WHO PARTICIPATES IN AN ATHLETICACTIVITY. 
(C) "ATHLETICACTIVITY" MEANS EXERCISE, RECREATION, SPORT, COMPETITION, OR GAME 
THAT: 
(1) REQUIRES PHYSICAL STRENGTH, RANGE OF MOTION, 
FLEXIBILITY, CONTROL, SPEED, STAMINA, OR AGILITY; AND 
(2) IS .AS~OCIATED WITH AN EDUCATIONAL INSTITUTION ORA 
PROFESSIONAL, AMATEUR, OR RECREATIONAL SPORTS CLUB OR ATHLETIC 
ORGANIZATION. 
(D) "ATHLETIC INJURY" MEANS AN INJURY OR CONDITION SUSTAINED BY AN INDIVIDUAL 
THAT AFFECTS THE INDIVIDUAL'S AN ATHLETE'S' PARTICIPATION OR PERFORMANCE IN 
SPORTS, GAMES, RECREATION, EXERCISE, OR OTHER ACTIVITIES AN ATHLETIC ACTIVITY. 
(E) "BOARD" MEANS THE STATE BOARD OF PHYSICIANS. 
(F) "COMMITIEE" MEANS THE ATHLETIC TRAINER ADVISORY COMMITTEE ESTABLISHED 
UNDER § 14-SD-04 OF THIS SUBTITLE. 
(G) "EDUCATIONAL INSTITUTION" INCLUDES: 
(1) THE SCHOOLS IN THE PUBLIC ELEMENTARY AND SECONDARY EDUCATION SYSTEM 
OF THE STATE; 
(2) A NONCOLLEGIATE EDUCATIONAL INSTITUTION GOVERNED UNDER§ 2-206 OF THE 
EDUCATION ARTICLE; AND 
(3) AN INSTITUTION OF HIGHER EDUCATION AS DEFINED IN §10-101 OF THE 
EDUCATION ARTICLE. 
(H) "EVALUATION AND TREATMENT PROTOCOL" MEANS A DOCUMENT THAT IS EXECUTED BY 
A PHYSICIAN AND AN ATHLETIC TRAINER THAT MEETS THE REQUIREMENTS OF§ 14-SD-11 OF 
THIS SUBTITLE. 
(I) "LICENSE" MEANS A LICENSE ISSUED BY THE BOARD TO PRACTICE ATHLETIC TRAINING. 
(J) "LICENSED ATHLETIC TRAINER" MEANS AN INDIVIDUAL WHO IS LICENSED BY THE BOARD 
TO PRACTICE ATHLETIC TRAINING. 
(K) "NATIONAL CERTIFYING BOARD" MEANS THE NATIONAL ATHLETIC TRAINERS' 
ASSOCIATION BOARD OF CERTIFICATION, INC., OR ITS SUCCESSOR ORGANIZATION. 
(l) {1) "PRACTICE ATHLETIC TRAINING" MEANS APPLICATION OF THE FOLLOWING PRINCIPLES 
AND METHODS FOR MANAGINGA,THLETIC JNJURIES FOR AqlYE INDIVIDUALS AND ATHLETES 
IN GOOD OVERALL HEALTH UNDERTHESLJPE~Vl_SION OFAIICENSEDPHYSICIA,N: 

--



(I} PREVENTION; 
(II) CLINICAL EVALUATION AND ASSESSMENT; 
(Ill) IMMEDIATE CARE; AND 
(IV) TREATMENT, REHABILITATION, AND RECONDITIONING. 
(2) "PRACTICE ATHLETIC TRAINING" INCLUDES: 
{I) ORGANIZATION AND ADMINISTRATION OF AN ATHLETIC TRAINING PROGRAM; AND 
(II) INSTRUCTION TO COACHES, ATHLETES, PARENTS, MEDICAL PERSONNEL, AND 
COMMUNITY MEMBERS REGARDING THE CARE AND PREVENTION OF ATHLETIC 
INJURIES. 
(3) "PRACTICE ,ATH~ETICTRAINING" DOES NQTINCLUDE: 
(I) THE PRACTICE OF: 
1. CHIROPRACTIC, INCLUDING ADJUSTMENTS, 
MANIPULATION, OR HIGH VELOCITY MOBILIZATIONS OF THE SPINE OR 
EXTREMITIES; 
2. MASSAGE THERAPY; 
3. MEDICINE; 
4. OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY; OR 
5. PHYSICAL THERAPY; 
(II) THE RECQNDITIONING OF SYSTEMIC NEUROLQGIC IN,JURIES, CONDITIONS, OR 
DISEASE; OR 
(Ill) EXCEPT FOR THE CONDITIONING OF AN ATHLETE UNDER THE SUPERVISION OF A 
TREATING PHYSICIAN, THE TREATMENT, REHABILITATION, OR RECQNDfflONING OF 
NONATHLETICINJURIES OR DISEASE. 
"SUPERVISION" MEANS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF A PHYSICIAN TO PROVIDE ONGOING AND 
IMMEDIATELY AVAILABLE INSTRUCTION 
THAT IS ADEQUATE TO ENSURE THE SAFETY AND WELFARE OF A PATIENT AND IS 
APPROPRIATE TO THE SETTING. 

Massachusetts 
"Athletic trainer', any person who is duly licensed in accordance with this section as an athletic 

trainer and who limits his practice to schools, teams or organizations with whom he is associated and 
who is under the direction of a physician or dentist duly registered in the commonwealth. 
"Athletic training', the application of principles, methods and procedures of evaluation and treatment 
of ath(e!ic .inJuries, pre.conditioning, cond~tioning and r~conditigning of th~ a1hl~t~ through the use of 
appropriate preventative and supportive devices, temporary splinting and bracing, physical 
modalities of heat, cold, massage, water, electric stimulation, sound, exercise and exercise equipment 
under the discretion of a physician. Athletic training includes instruction i() ccmches~ a~hlety.S, parents, 
medical personnel and communities in the area of care and prevention of f1,th,l(f~ic. inj\iiieS.:' 
Michigan 
(a) "Athletic trainer" means an individual engaged in the practice of athletic training. 

(b) "Practice of athletic training" means the treatment of an individual for risk management and injury prevention, 
the clinical evaluation and assessment of an individual for an injury or illness, or both, the immediate care and 
treatment of an individual for an injury or illness, or both, and the rehabilitation and reconditioning of an individual's 
injury or illness, or both, as long as those activities are within the rules promulgated under section 17904 and 
performed under the direction and supervision of an individual licensed under part 170 or 175. The practice of 
athletic training does not include the practice of physical therapy, the practice of medicine, the practice of 
osteopathic medicine and surgery, the practice of chiropractic, or medical diagnosis or treatment. 



(2) In addition to the definitions in this part, article 1 contains general definitions and principles of construction 
applicable to all articles in this code and part 161 contains definitions applicable to this part. 

Sec. 17902. (1) Beginning on the effective date of the rules promulgated under section 17904, an individual shall not 
engage in the practice of athletic training unless licensed under this part or otherwise authorized to engage in the 
practice of athletic training under subsection (2). An individual licensed under this part shall not provide, offer to 
provide, or represent that he or she is qualified to provide any services that he or she is not qualified to perform by 
his or her education, training, or experience or that he or she is otherwise prohibited by law from performing. 

(2) Subsection (I) does not prohibit an individual licensed under any other part or any other act from performing 
activities that are considered the practice of athletic training so long as those activities are within the individual's 
scope of practice and the individual does not use the titles protected under subsection (3). 

(3) Beginning on the effective date of the rules promulgated under section 17904, an individual shall not use the 
titles "athletic trainer", "licensed athletic trainer", "certified athletic trainer", "athletic trainer certified", "a.t.", "a.t.l.", 
"c.a.t.", "a.t.c.", or similar words that indicate that the person is an athletic trainer unless the individual is licensed 
under this article as an athletic trainer. 
(2) The athletic training services specified in subrule (1) of this rule shall be performed under the direction and 
supervision of either an allopathic physician or an osteopathic physician and surgeon who shall be licensed under 
Part 170 or Part 175 of the code. 
(3) As used in subrule (2) of this rule and section 17901 (I) (b) of the code, "direction" means either a Written, 
electronic, or verbal order issued by a physician or authorized representative of a physician. The order shall comply 
with the requirements of the federal health insurance portability and accountability act of 1996. 

Minnesota 148.7806 Athletic training. 
Athletic training by a registered athletic trainer under section 148.7808 includes the activities 
described in paragraphs (a) to (e). 
(a) An athletic trainer shall: 
(I) prevent, recognize, and evaluate athletic injuries; 
(2) give emergency care and first aid; 
(3) manage and treat athletic injuries; and 
( 4) rehabilitate and physically recondition athletic injuries. 
The athletic trainer may use modalities such as cold, heat, light, sound, electricity, exercise, and 
mechanical devices for treatment and rehabilitation of athietic ·injuries to athletes in the primary 
employment site. 
(b) The primary physician shall establish evaluation and treatment protocols to be used by the athletic 
trainer. The primary physician shall record the protocols on a form prescribed by the board. The 
protocol form must be updated yearly at the athletic trainer's registration renewal time and kept on 
file by the athletic trainer. 
(c) At theprimary employment site, except in a corporate setting, an athletic trainer may evaluate and 
tre~t an athlete:for'an athletic 'injury not previously diagnosed for not more than 30 days, or a period 
of time as designated by the primary physician on the protocol form, from the date of the initial 
evaluation and treatment. Preventative care after resolution of the injury is not considered treatment. 
This paragraph does not apply to a person who is referred for treatment by a person licensed in this 
state to practice medicine as defined in 
section 147.081, to practice chiropractic as defined in section 148.01, to practice podiatry as defined 
in section 153.01, or to practice dentistry as defined in section 150A.05 and whose license is in good 
standing. 
( d) An athletic trainer may: 

(1) organize and administer an athletic training program including, but not limited to, 
educating and counseling athletes; 

..._ . . · 



(2) monitor the signs, symptoms, general behavior, and general physical response of an 
athlete to treatment and rehabilitation including, but not limited to, whether the signs, 
symptoms, reactions, behavior, or general response show abnormal characteristics; and 
(3) make suggestions to the primary physicianor other treating provider for a modification in 
the treatment and rehabilitation of an injured athlete based on the indicators in clause (2) 

( e) In a clinical, corporate, and physical therapy setting, when the service provided is, or is 
represented as being, physical therapy, an athletic trainer may work only under the direct 
supervision of a physical therapist as defined in section 148.65. 
Mississippi 
(b) "Athletic training" means the treqtm~nt qfan athlete for risk management and athletic 

injlJrypreve.ntion, the clinical evaluation and a~.\S~ss.rnent ofan . athl~te for an injury or 
illness, or both, the immediate care andtreatment for an injury or illness, or both, and the 
rehabilitation and reconditioning p(~D ~~thl~t~·-s injury or ill.n~~s, or both, as long as those 
activities are performed under the direction of a licensed physician, nurse practitioner or 
physician assistant. The practice of athletic training does not include the practice of physical 
therapy, the practice of medicine, the practice of osteopathic medicine and surgery, the 
practice of nursing or the practice of chiropractic. 
(c) "Athletic trainer" means a person licensed by the State Department of Health as an 
athletic trainer after meeting the requirements of this chapter and rules and regulations 
promulgated pursuant to this chapter, who, upon the advice, consent and oral or written 
prescriptions or referrals of a licensed physician, nurse practitioner or physician assistant, 
carries out the practice of athletic training, and in carrying out these functions the athletic 
trainer is authorized to use physical modalities, such as heat, light, sound, cold, electricity or 
mechanical devices related to prevention, recognition, evaluation, management, disposition, 
rehabilitation and treatment. An athletic trainer shall practice only in those areas in which 
the athletic trainer is competent by reason of training or experience that can be 
substantiated by records or other evidence found acceptable by the board in the exercise of 
the board's considered discretion. 
(d) ''Athletic injury" means any injury sustained by a person as a result of the person's 
participation in sports, games or recreational activities requiring physical strength, flexibility, 
range of motion, speed or stamina, or comparable injury. 
(e) "Athlete" means an individual who participates in .ex.~rcis.es, sp()rts, orcgarnes requiring 
physical strength, agility, flexibility, range of motion, speed or stamina; or anindi.vidual with 
an athletic injury that a licensed physician, nurse practiticmer;prptwsicia!l < ~s.sistant de~ms 
would benefit from athletic training services. 
(f) 
Missouri 
334.702. As used in sections 334.700 to 334.725, unless the context clearly requires otherwise, 
the 
following terms mean: 
(1) "Aihlete'i ra persb'n who partieipates in a sanctioned am~teur or professi6na1 sport .<>r 
recreational 
sport activity; 
(2) "Athletic trainer", a person who meets the qualifications of section 334. 708 and who, upon 
the 
direction of the team physician and/or consulting physician, practices prevention, emergency 
care, first · 



aid, treatment, or physical rehabilitation of injuries incurred by athletes in the manner, means, 
and 
methods deemed necessary to effect care or rehabilitation, or both; 
(3) "Board", the Missouri board for the healing arts; 
(4) "Committee", the athletic trainers advisory committee; 
(5) "Division", the division of professional registration of the department of economic 
development; 
(6) "Student athletic trainer", a person who assists in the duties usually performed by a licensed 
athletic 
trainer and who works under the direct supervision of a licensed athletic trainer. 
Montana (1) "AttiJete" means a person who participates in ari athl~tic a'ctivity that involves 
exercises, sports, or games requiring physical strength, agility, flexibility, range of 
motion, speed, or stamina and the exercises, sports, or games are of the type 
conducted in association with an educational institution or a professional, amateur, 
or recreational sports club or organization. 
(2) "Athleti_c injury" means a physical injury received by an athlete. 
(3) "Athletic trainer" means an individual who is licensed to practice athletic training. 
Nebraska 
For purposes of sections 71-1,238 to 71-1,242, unless the context otherwise requires: 

(1) Athletic trainer means a person who is responsible for the prevention, emergency care, first aid, 
treatment, and rehabilitation of athletic injuries under guidelines established with a licensed 
physician and who is licensed to perform the functions set out in section 71-1,240. When athletic 
training is provided in a hospital outpatient department or clinic or an outpatient-based medical 
facility, the athletic trainer will perform the functions described in section 71-1,240 with areferral 
from a licensed physician· for athletic training; 
(2) Athletic training means the prevention, evaluation, emergency care, first aid, treatment, and 
rehabilitation of athletic injuries utilizing the treatments set out in section 71-1,240; 
(3) Athletic injuries means the types of musculoskeletal injury or common illness and conditions 
which athletic trainers are educated to treat or refer, incurred by -athletes, which prevent or limit 
participation in sports or recreation; 
Nevada NRS 640B.015 "Athlete" defined. "Athlete" means a natural person who: 
1. Participates in an athletic activity conducted by: 
(a) An intercollegiate athletic association or interscholastic athletic association; or 
(b) A professional athletic organization; or 
( c) An amateur athletic organization; or 
2. Participates in a recreational sport activity that: 
(a) Has officially designated coaches; 
(b) Conducts.regularly sc;heduled practices ·orworkputs thatan~ 'stipehrised by .coaches; and 
( c) Has established schedules for competitive events or exhibitions. 
(Added to NRS by 2003, 894) 
NRS 640B.021 ":A:.fhJetic ·injury'' defined; "A.thl~tic jnjµry'' means an injury or athletic-related 
illness, or both, that a person sustains as a result of: 



----

I. His participation in an athletic activity conducted by: 
(a) An intercollegiate athletic association or interscholastic athletic association; or 
(b) A professional athletic organization; or 
( c) An amateur athletic organization; or 
2. His participation in a recreational sport activity that: 
(a) Has officially designated coaches; 
(b) Conducts regularly scheduled practices or workouts that are supervised by coaches; and 
( c) Has established schedules for competitive events or exhibitions. 

New Hampshire 
I. "Board" means the governing board of athletic trainers established in RSA 328-F. II. "Athletic 

trainer" means a person licensed under this chapter to practice athletic training. III. ''A.thlet.ic 
training" m~a.~s .the practice, with respect tojnjuries or con4itions in.curred. by j>articJpantS in 
organized or recreational sports; of: (a) Prevention; (b) Assessment and evaluation; ( c) Acute care, 
management, treatment and disposition; (d) Rehabilitation and reconditioning; and (e) Education, 
counseling and program administration, Provided such care is within the professional preparation and 
education of athletic trainers and under the direction of a physician licensed in any state or in 
Canada. 

New Jersey 
45:9-37.36 Definitions. 2.As used in this act: a."Advisory committee" means the Athletic Training 

Advisory Committee established in sect.ion5 of P.L.1984, c.203 (C.45:9-37.39); b."Athlete" means 
an individual Fh() particip11~es in .strenuous physical -exerci§~, physical conditioning, or a sport; 
c."Athletic trainer" means a person who practices athletic training; d."Athletic training" means and 
includes the practice of physical conditioning and reconditioning of athlet~~·and the prevention of 
injuries incurred PY athlet_es.: Athletic training shall also include the application of physical treatment 
modalities to athletes under a plan of care designed and overseen by a physician licensed in this 
State, as recommended by the advisory committee and defined in regulation by the board; e."Board" 
means the State Board of Medical Examiners; f."Supervision" means that a physician licen_sed in this 
State is accessible to an athletic trainer, either on-site or through voice communicatioJ1, during 
athletic training. 
New Mexico 
As used in the Athletic Trainer Practice Act [Chapter 61, Article14D NMSA1978]: 
A. "athlete;' means a person trained to participate in exercise. requiring physical ag'tjity ~ng stamina; 
B. "athletic trainer" means a person who, with the advice and consent of a licensed physician, 
practices the treatment, prevention, care and rehabilitation of injuries incurr~d _by ath~tes; 
C. "board" means the athletic trainer practice board; 
D. "department" means the regulation and licensing department; 
E. "district" means an area having the same boundaries as a congressional district in the state; and 
F. "licensed physician" means a chiropractor, osteopath or physician licensed pursuant to Articles 4, 
6or10 of Chapter 61NMSA1978. 

New York 
§ 8351. Definition. As used in this article "athletic trainer" means any person who is duly certified 
in accordance with this article to perform athletic training under the supervision of a physician and 
limits his or her practice to secondary schools;institutions of postsecondary edu.catlon, professional 
athletic, organizations: ora person who, u11der the supervision ofa physician, carries out comparable 
functions pn.;orthopedic athle.tic inJuries, excluding spihal cord injurie_s, in a health care organization. 
Supervision of an athletic trainer by a physician shall be continuous but shall not be construed as 



requiring the physical presence of the supervising physician at the time and place where such 
services are performed. 
The scope of work described herein shall not be construed as authorizingthe reconditioning of 
neurologic injuries, conditions or disease. 
§ 8352. Definition of practice of athletic training. The practice of the profession of athletic training 
is defined as the application of principles, methods and procedures for managing athletic injuries; 
which shall include the preconditioning, conditioning and reconditioning of an individual who has 
suffered an athletic injury through the use of appropriate preventative and supportive devices, under 
the supervision of a physician and recognizing illness and referring to the appropriate medical 
professional with implementation of treatment pursuant to physician's orders. Athletic training 
includes instruction to coac~es, athletes, parents, medical personnel and communities in the area of 
care and prevention of athletic wjuries. 
Thespope ofwork de.sc~iped. herein..~halJ notb~ ccmstt).ied as authori~i11gt4e reconditioning of 
neuro.logic injurie~, conditi9µs gr disea~e. 
North Carolina 
§ 90-523. Definitions. 

The following definitions apply in this Article: 
(1) Athletes.- Members of sports teams, including professional, amateur, and school teams; or 
participants in sports or recreational activities, including training and practice activities, that require 
strength, agility, flexibility, range ofmotion, ~peed, or stamina, . , .. ·• . . 
(2) Athletic trainer. - A person who, urider a writtenprotocolwith a physician Iicel1sed under Article 
1 of Chapter 90 of the General Statutes and filed with the North Carolina Medical Board, carries out 
the practice of care, prevention, and rehabilitation of injuries incurred py a,thletys, and who, in 
carrying out these functions, may use physical modalities, including heat, light, sound, cold, 
electricity, or mechanical devices related to rehabilitation and treatment. A committee composed of 
two members of the North Carolina Medical Board and two members of the North Carolina Board of 
Athletic Trainer Examiners shall jointly define by rule the content, format, and minimum 
requirements for the written protocol required by this subdivision. The members shall be selected by 
their respective boards. The decision of this committee shall be binding on both Boards unless 
changed by mutual agreement of both Boards. 
North Dakota 
CHAPTER 43-39 

ATHLETIC TRAINERS 
43-39-01. Definitions. 
1. "Athletic trainer" means a person with specific qualifications set forth in section 43-39-05, who 
is providing athletic training. 
2. "Athletic training" means the practice of prevention, recognition, evaluation, management, 
treatment, and disposition of athletic frifLiries. The term also means ret"la.~llltationof athletic 
injuries, ifi&iiatiJm:;i'§f~~ri1§'f~jn~~~igm"'~~i~~!lti The term includes organization and 
administration of educational programs, athletic facilities, and the education and counseling of 
the public. 
3. "Board" means the North Dakota board of athletic trainers established in section 43-39-02. 
4. "Physician" means a doctor of medicine licensed to practice under chapter 43-17. 
Ohio 
As used in sections 4755.60 to 4755.65 and 4755.99 of the Revised Code: 
(A) "Athletic training" means the practice of prevention, recognition, and assessment ofan atple!ic jnjWY and the 
complete management, treatment, disposition, and reconditioning of ~c;ute athie~ic mjuries upon the referral of an 
individual authorized under Chapter 4731. of the Revised Code to practice medicine and surgery, osteopathic 
medicine 



and surgery, or podiatry, a dentist licensed under Chapter 4715. of the Revised Code, a physical therapist licensed 
under · . 

this chapter, or a chiropractor licensed under Chapter 4734. of the Revised Code. Athletic training includes the 
administration of topical drugs that have been prescribed by a licensed health care professional authorized to 
prescribe 
drugs, as defined in section 4729.01 of the Revised Code. Athletic training also includes the organization and 
administration of educational programs and athletic facilities, and the education of and consulting with the public as 
it 
pertains to athletic training. 
(B) "Athletic trainer" means a person who meets the qualifications of this chapter for licensure and who is 
employed by an educational institution, professional or amateur organization, athletic facility, or health care facility 
to 
practice athletic training. 
(C) "The national athletic trainers association, inc." means the national professional organization of athletic 
trainers that provides direction and leadership for quality athletic training pra~tice, education, _and res~arch. 
(D) "Athletic injury'' means any injury sustained by an individual that affects'the ind1vi4µal's '1'ar:ticipation or 
performance . in sports, games, recreation, exercise, or other activity that req11ires physJ~~i str~n~,. agi{Jty, 
flexibility, 
speed, stamina, or range of motion. 

Oklahoma 
§59-526. Definitions. 

As used in the Oklahoma Athletic Trainers Act: 
1. "Athletic trainer" means a person with the qualifications specified in Section 530 of this title, 

whose major responsibility is the rendering of professional services for the prevention, emergency 
care, first aid and treatment of injuries incurred by an athlete by whatever methods are available, 
upon written protocol from the team physician or consulting physician to effect care, or 
rehabilitation; 

2. "Apprentice athletic trainer" means a person who assists in the duties usually performed by 
an athletic trainer under the direct supervision of a licensed athletic trainer; 

3. "Board" means the State Board of Medical Licensure and Supervision; and 
4. "Committee" means the Athletic Trainers Advisory Committee. · 
Oregon 
(1) "Athlete" means any individual participating in fitness training and·con9itioning, sports or 

other competitions, practices or activities requiring physical strength, agility, flexibility, range 
of motion, speed or stamina, generally conducted in association with .an .e~ucational 
institution, or professional or amateur sports activity. 
(2) "Athletic injury" means an injury occurring as the result of participating as an athlete. 
(3) "Board" means the Board of Athletic Trainers. 
(4) "Practice athletic training" means the application by a registered athletic trainer of 
principles and methods of: 

(a) Prevention of athletic injuries; 
(b) Recognition, evaluation and immediate care of athle,iif inj~ries; 



(c) Rehabilitation and reconditioning of athletic injuries; 
(d) Health care administration; and 
(e) Education and counseling. 

(5) "Registered athletic trainer'' means 
Pennsylvania Section 51.1. Athletic trainers. 
(a) General rule.--An athletic trainer certified by the board may, under the direction of a physician, podiatrist 
or dentist, provide athletic training services to a physically active person under the care of a physician, dentist 
or podiatrist. An athletic trainer certified under this section shall refer a physically active person with 
conditions outside the scope of athletic training services to a physician, dentist or podiatrist. 
This subchapter implements section 51.l of the act (63 
P. S. § 422.51a) to provide for the certification and practice 
standards of athletic trainers. 
§ 18.502. Definitions. 
The following words and terms, when used in this 
subchapter, have the following meanings, unless the 
context clearly indicates otherwise: 
Approved athletic training education programs-An 
athletic training education program that is accredited by 
a Board-approved Nationally recognized accrediting 
agency. 
Athletic training services-The management and provision 
of care of injuries to a physically active person, with 
the direction of a licensed physician. 
(i) The term includes the rendering of emergency care, 
development of injury prevention programs and providing 
appropriate preventative and supportive devices for the 
physically active person. 
(ii) The term also includes the assessment, management, 
treatment, rehabilitation and reconditioning of the 
physically active person whose conditions are within the 
professional preparation and education of a certified 
athletic trainer. 
(iii) The term also includes the use of modalities such 
as: mechanical stimulation, heat, cold, light, air, water, 
electricity, sound, massage and the use of therapeutic 
exercise, reconditioning exercise and fitness programs. 
(iv) The term does not include surgery, invasive procedures 
or prescription Of any med,lcation OLCOi}troHed 
substance. 
BOC-The Board of Certification, Inc., a National 
credentialing organization for athletic trainers. 
Certified athletic trainer-A person who is certified to 
perform athletic training services by the Board or by the 
State Board of Osteopathic Medicine. 
Direction-Supervision over the actions of a certified 
athletic trainer by means of referral by prescription to 
treat conditions for a physically active person from a 
licensed physician, dentist or podiatrist or written protocol 
approved by a supervising physician, except that the 
physical presence of the supervising physician, dentist or 
podiatrist is not required if the supervising physician, 
dentist or podiatrist is readily available for consultation 
by direct communication, radio, telephone, facsimile, telecommunications 
or by other electronic means. 
Physically active p erson-An individual who participates 
in organized, individual or team sports, athletic 
games or recreational sports activities. 

Rhode Island 
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(1) "Athletic trainer" means a person with the specific qualifications established in § 5-60-10 who, 
upon the direction of his or her teani physician and/or consulting physician, carries out the practice of 
athletic training to athletic injuries incurred by athletes in preparation of or participation in an athletic 
program being conducted by an educational institution under the jurisdiction of an interscholastic or 
intercollegiate governing body, a professional athletic organization, or a board sanctioned amateur 
athletic organization; provided, that no athlete shall receive athletic training services if classified.as 
geriatric by the consulting physician. No athlete shall receive athletic training services if non-athletic 
or age-related conditions exist or develop that render the individual 'debilitated or non.:.athletic. To 
carry out these functions, the athletic trainer is authorized to utilize modalities such as heat, light, 
sound, cold, electricity, exercise, or mechanical devices related to care and reconditioning. The 
athletic trainer, as defined in this chapter, shall not represent himself or herself or allow an employer 
to represent him or her to be, any other classification of healthcare professional governed by a 
separate and distinct practice act. This includes billing for services outside of the athletic trainer's 
scope of practice, including, but not limited to services labeled as physical therapy. 

South Carolina 
(a) "Athletic trainer" means a person with specific qualifications as set forth in Section 44-75-50 

who, upon .the advice and consent of a licensed physician, carries out the practice of care, prevention, 
and physical rehabilitation of athletic injuries, and who, in carrying out these functions, may use 
physical modalities, including, but not limited to, heat, light, sound, cold, electricity, or mechanical 
devices related to rehabilitation and treatment. (b) "Certificate" means official acknowledgment by 
the department that an individual has successfully completed educational and other requirements 
referred to in this act which entitle that individual to perform the functions and duties of an athletic 
trainer. (c) "Department" means the Department of Health and Environmental Control. (d) "Board" 
means the Board of Health and Environmental Control. 
South Dakota 
36-29-1. Definitions. Terms used in this chapter, unless the context otherwise requires, mean: 
(1) "Athletic trainer," a person with specific qualifications as set forth in§ 36-29-3, whose 
responsibility is the prevention, evaluation, emergency care, treatment, and reconditioning of athletic. 
injuries under the direction of the team or treating physician. The athletic trainer may use 
cryotherapy, which includes cold packs, ice packs, cold water immersion, and spray coolants; 
thermotherapy, which includes topical analgesics, moist hot packs, heating pads, infrared lamp, and 
paraffin bath; hydrotherapy, which includes whirlpool; and therapeutic exercise common to athletic 
training which includes stretching and those exercises needed to maintain condition; in accordance 
with a physician's written protocol. Any rehabilitative procedures recommended by a physician for 
the rehabilitation of athletic injuries which have been referred and all other physical modalities may 
be administered only following the prescription of the team or referring physician; 
Tennessee 
63-24-101. Chapter definitions. 

As used inthis chapter, unless the context otherwise requires: 
(1) 11AthieiiC'h1Jury" means any injury sustained by a person as a result of such person1s·participaii<:m 
in exercises, sports, games, or recreation requiri11gphysical strength, agility, flexibility, range of 
motion, speed, or stamina, or comparableathletic injury that prevents such person from participating 
in such activities; 
(2) "Athletic trainer" means a person with specific qualifications as set forth in this chapter, who, 
upon the advice, consent and oral or written prescriptions or referrals of a physician licensed under 
this title, carries out the practice of prevention, recognition, evaluation, management, disposition, 

.,..-. ..._ treatment, or rehabilitation of athletic injuries, and, in carrying out these functions the athletic trainer 
is authorized to use physical modalities, such as heat, light, sound, cold, electricity, or mechanical 



devices related to prevention, recognition, evaluation, management, disposition, rehabilitation, and 
treatment; an athletic trainer shall practice only in those areas in which such athletic trainer is 
competent by reason of training or experience that can b~ substantiated by records or other evidence 
found acceptable by the board in the exercise of the board's considered discretion; and 
(3) "Board" means the board of medical examiners. athletic trainers. 
Texas 

§ 451.001. DEFINITIONS . In this chapter: 
(1) "Athletic injury" means an injury sustained by a person as a result of 
the person's participation in an organized sport or sport-related exercise or 
activity, including interscholastic, intercollegiate, intramural, 
semiprofessional, and professional sports activities. 
(2) "Athletic trainer" means a person who practices athletic training, is 
licensed by the board, and may use the initials "LAT," "LATC," and "AT" to 
designate the person as an athletic trainer. The terms "sports trainer" and 
"licensed athletic trainer" are equivalent to "athletic trainer." 
(3) "Athletic training" means the form of health care that includes the 
practice of preventing, recognizing, assessing, managing, treating, disposing 
of, and reconditioning athletic' irr]uries· urider'>th.e dfrept'ion of · a.·· physician 
licensed in this state or another qualified, licensed health professional who 
is authorized to refer for health care services within the scope of the 
person's license. 

Utah 
(2) "Athlete" means an individual, referee, coach, or athletic staff member who 
participates in 
exercises, sports, or games requiring physical strength, agility, flexibility, range of 
motion, 
speed, or stamina, and the exercises, sports, or games are of a type generally 
conducted in association with an educational institution or professional, amateur, or 
recreational 
sports club or organization. 
(3) "Athletic injury" means: 
(a) an injury sustained by an athlete that affects the individual's participation or 
performance in sports, games, recreation, or exercise; or 
(b) a condition that is within the scope of practice of an athletic trainer identified by a 
directing physician or physical therapist as benefitting from athletic training services. 
(4) "Athletic trainer" means an individual who is licensed under this chapter and carries 
out the 
practice of athletic training. 
(5) "Board" means the Athletic Trainers Licensing Board created in Section 58-40a-201 

(6) "Directing physician" means a physician and surgeon licensed under Section 58-67-
301 , an 
osteopathic physician and surgeon licensed under Section 58-68-301 , a chiropractic 
physician 
licensed under Chapter 73, Chiropractic Physician Practice Act, a naturopathic 
physician 
licensed under Chapter 71, Naturopathic Physician Practice Act, or dentist licensed 
under 



Section 58-69-301 who, within the licensee's scope of practice and individual 
competency, is 
responsible for the athletic training services provided by the athletic trainer and 
oversees the 
practice of athletic training by the athletic trainer, as established by board rule. 
(7) The "practice of athletic training" means the application by a licensed and certified 
athletic 
trainer of principles and methods of: 
(a) prevention of athletic injuries; 
(b) recognition, evaluation, and assessment of athletic injuries and conditions; 
(c) immediate care of athletic injuries, including common emergency medical situations; 
(d) rehabilitation and reconditioning of athletic injuries; 
(e) athletic training services administration and organization; and 
(f) education ofathletes. 
58-40a-103. Duties of directing physician. 
A directing physician shall provide direction to an athletic trainer by a verbal order when 
in the 
presence of the athletic trainer and by written order or by athletic training service plans 
or 
protocols when a directing physician is not present. 
Vermont 
As used in this chapter: 



(4) 

"Licensed athletic trainer" means a person licensed in accordance with the provisions of this 
chapter. 

(5) "Conditioning" means programs designed to enhance the following physiological areas: 
flexibility, muscle strength, muscle endurance, neuromuscular coordination and cardio
respiratory endurance that will assist in improved athl~tic perforffial1ce specific to the sport in 
which the athlete participates. Conditioning includes programs used before the season, and 
programs to reestablish performance during the season. 

( 6) "Director" means the director of the office of professional regulation. 

(7) "Disciplinary action" or "disciplinary cases" includes any action taken by the administrative law 
officer established in section 129 of Title 3 against a licensed athletic trainer or applicant premised 
upon a finding of wrongdoing or unprofessional conduct. It includes all sanctions of any kind, 
denying, suspending or revoking licenses, issuing warnings, and other sanctions. 

(7) "Disciplinary action" or "disciplinary cases" includes any action taken by the 
administrative law officer established in section 129 of Title 3 against a licensed athletic 
trainer or applicant premised upon a finding of wrongdoing or unprofessional conduct. It 
includes all sanctions of any kind, denying, suspending or revoking licenses, issuing 
warnings, and other sanctions. 

(8) "Orthopaedic injury" means a disruption of musculoskeletal tissue continuity that is 
sustained by a physically active individual. An individual with this type of injury may be 
treated by an athletic trainer as long as the individual does not have any underlying 
pathologies that would affect treatment. 

(9) "Physically ~ctive fodlvidual1' means an individual who is well conditioned, healthy, and 
free from underlying pathology, who participates in athletic or recreational activities which 
require physical skills and utilize strength, power, endurance, speed, flexibility, range of 
motion, or agility. 

(10) "Referral" means sending a patient for treatment. 

(11) "Settings" means any areas in which an athletic trainer may practice athletic training. 
These areas include: 

(A) "Traditional setting" means working with any organized sports or athietfo teams 
at an interscholastic, intramural, instructional, intercollegiate, amateur, or 
professional level. 

(B) "Clinical setting" means an outpatient orthopaedic or sports medicine clinic that 
employs one of the following: physician, osteopathic physician, chiropractor, or 
physical therapist. 

(12)"Underlying pathology" means any disease process, including but not limited to 
neuromuscular disease, diabetes, spinal cord injuries, and systemic diseases. (Added 1997, 
No. 108 (Adj. Sess.), § 1, eff. Jan. 1, 1999; amended 1999, No. 133 (Adj. Sess.), § 31; 2003, 
No. 60, § 23.) 

§ 4152. 
Virginia 
"Practice of athletic training" means the prevention, recognition, evaluation, and treatment of 

injuries or conditions related to athletic or recreational activity that requires physical skill and utilizes 

. -----·· 



strength, power, endurance, speed, flexibility, range of motion or agility or a substantially similar 
,..-- injury or condition resulting from occupational activity immediately upon the onset of such injury or 

condition; and subsequent treatment and rehabilitation of such injuries or conditions under the 
direction of the patient's physician or under the direction of any doctor of medicine, osteopathy, 
chiropractic, podiatry, or dentistry, while using heat, light, sound, cold, electricity, exercise or 
mechanical or other devices. 
Washington 
"Athlete" means a person who participates in exercise, recreation, sport, or games 
requiring physical strength, range-of-motion, flexibility, body awareness and control, 
speed, stamina, or agility, and the exercise, recreation, sports, or games are of a type 
conducted in association with an educational institution or professional, amateur, or 
recreational sports club or organization. 
(2) "Athletic injury" means an injury or condition sustained by an athlete that affects the 
person's participation or performance in exercise, recreation, sport, or games and the 
injury or condition is within the professional preparation and education of an athletic 
trainer. 
(3) "Athletic trainer" means a person who is licensed under this chapter. An athletic 
trainer 
can practice athletic training through the consultation, referral, or guidelines of a 
licensed 
health care provider working within their scope of practice. 
(4)(a) "Athletic training" means the application of the following principles and methods 
as 
provided by a licensed athletic trainer: 
(i) Risk management and prevention of athletic injuries through preactivity screening 
Risk management and prevention of athletic injuries through preactivity screening 

and evaluation, educational programs, physical conditioning and reconditioning 
programs, application of commercial products, use of protective equipment, 
promotion of healthy behaviors, and reduction of environmental risks; 
(ii) Recognition, evaluation, and assessment of athletic injuries by obtaining a 
history of the athletic injury, inspection and palpation of the injured part and 
associated structures, and performance of specific testing techniques related to 
stability and function to determine the extent of an injury; 
(iii) Immediate care of athletic injuries, including emergency medical situations 
through the application of first-aid and emergency procedures and techniques for 
nonlife-threatening or life-threatening athletic injuries; 
(iv) Treatment, rehabilitation, and reconditioning of 'athletic injuries through the 
application of physical agents and modalities, therapeutic activities and exercise, 
standard reassessment techniques and procedures, commercial products, and 
educational programs, in accordance with guidelines established with a licensed 
health care provider as provided in section 8 of this act; and 
(v) Referral of an athlete to an appropriately licensed health care provider if the 
athletic injl:Jry requires further definitive care or the injury or condition is outside an 
athletic trainer's scope of practice, in accordance with section 8 of this act. 
(b) "Athletic training" does not include: 

,-, (i) The use of spinal adjustment or manipulative mobilization of the spine and its 
immediate articulations; 



(ii) Orthotic or prosthetic services with the exception of evaluation, measurement, 
fitting, and adjustment of temporary, prefabricated or direct-formed orthosis as 
defined in chapter 18.200 RCW; 
(iii) The practice of occupational therapy as defined in chapter 18.59 RCW; 
(iv) The practice of acupuncture as defined in chapter 18.06 RCW; 
(v) Any medical diagnosis; and 
(vi) Prescribing legend drugs or controlled substances, or surgery. 
(5) "Committee" means the athletic training advisory committee. 
(6) "Department" means the department of health. 
(7) "Licensed health care provider" means a physician, physician assistant, osteopathic 
physician, osteopathic physician assistant, advanced registered nurse practitioner, 
naturopath, physical therapist, chiropractor, dentist, massage practitioner, 
acupuncturist, 

occupational therapist, or pediatric physician and surgeon. 

West Virginia 

(a) "Board" means the West Virginia Athletic Training Licensure Board. 
(b) "Licensed athletic trainer" means a person licensed to practice the allied health care 

profession of athletic training under this article who practices or administers athletic training to 
any person. 

(c) "Athletic training" means the practice assessment, of management, treatment, disposition and 
reconditioning of athletic injunes. 

(d) "Athletic injury" means any injury sustained by an individual that affects the individual's 
participation or performance in sports, games, recreation, exercise or other activity that requires 
physical strength, agility, flexibility, speed, stamina or range of motion; or condition identified 

by a licensed physician as benefitting from athletic training services. 

Wisconsin 
448.95 Definitions. In this subchapter: 

(1) "Affiliated credentialing board" means the athletic trainers affiliated credentialing board. 
(4) "Athletic trainer" means an individual who engages in athletic training. 
(5) "Athletic training" means doing any of the following: 
(a) Preventing, recognizing and evaluating injuries or illnesses sustained while participating in physical 
activity. 
(b) Managing and administering the initial treatment of injuries or illnesses sustained while participating 
in physical activity. 
(c) Giving emergency care or first aid for an injury or illness sustained while participating in physical 
activity. 
( d) Rehabilitating and physically reconditioning injuries or illnesses sustained while participating in 
physical activity. 
(e) Rehabilitating and physically reconditioning injuries or illnesses that impede or prevent an individual 
from returning to participation in physical activity, if the individual recently participated in, and intends to 
return to participation in, physical activity. 
(f) Establishing or administering risk management, conditioning, and iajury prevention programs. 



{Sm) "Consulting physician" means a person licensed as a physician under subch. II who consults with an 
athletic trainer while the athletic trainer is engaging in athletic training. 
(6) "Licensee" means a person who is licensed as an athletic trainer under this subchapter. 
448.95(7)(7) "Physical activity" means vigorous participation in exercise, sports, games, recreation, 
wellness, fitness, or employment activities. 
Subject to sub. (1) (a), a licensee may provide athletic training to an individual without a referral, 
except that a licensee may not provide athletic training as described under s. 448.95 (5) (d) or (e) 
in an outpatient rehabilitation setting unless the licensee has obtained a written referral for the 
individual from a practitioner licensed or certified under subch. II, III, IV, V, or VII of this 
chapter; under ch. 446; or under s. 

Wyoming 
(i) "Athlete" means individuals associated with an educational institution, or a professional, amateur 

or recreational sports club or athletic organization participating in exercises, sports or games that 
require physical strength, agility, flexibility, range of motion, speed or stamina; 
(ii) "Athletic injury" means: 
(A) An injury or athletic-related illness or both that affects the athlete's participation or performance 
in sports, games and exercise related to participation with an educational institution or professional, 
amateur or recreational sports club or organization; and 
(B) A condition that is within the scope of practice of an athletic trainer identified by a directing 
physician as benefiting from athletic training services. 
(iii) "Board" means the state board of athletic training created under this chapter; 
(iv) "License" means a current document certifying the athletic trainer has met the qualifications 
required to perform the functions and duties of an athletic trainer in this state; 
(v) "Licensed athletic trainer" means a person licensed under this chapter who meets the 
qualifications set by the board and practices athletic training; 
(vi) "Practice of athletic training" means the application of the principles and methods of prevention, 
recognition, evaluation and assessment ofathletic injuries and illnesses, immediate care of athletic 
injuries including common injuries, medical emergencies, psychosocial intervention and referral, 
conditioning and rehabilitative exercise, nutritional aspects of injuries and illnesses, the use of 
therapeutic modalities, proper healthcare administration, professional development and the 
understanding and education of applications, precautions, interactions, indications and 
contraindications of pharmacology for athletes. "Practice of athletic training" does not include the 
practice of physical therapy as defined in W.S. 33-25-IOI(a)(i). 
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"Changes in Healthcare Professions' Scope of Practice: 
Legislative Considerations *11 

MN APTA supports the published document "Changes in Healthcare Professions' Scope of Practice: 
Legislative Concerns", a "collaborative effort in 2006 (revised 10/09), by representatives from six national 

healthcare regulatory organizations . . .  to assist legislators and regulatory bodies with making decisions about 

changes to healthcare professions' scopes of practice."* 

This document, based on reports from the Institute of Medicine and the Pew Healthcare Commission, 

proposed a process for addressing scope of practice which is focused on patient safety. This process gets to 

purpose of regulation which is to: 

1 .  "Ensure that the public is protected from unscrupulous, incompetent and unethical practitioners"; 

2. "Offer some assurance to the public that the regulated individual is competent to provide certain services 

in a safe and effective manner"; and 

3 .  "Provide a means by which individuals who fail to comply with the profession's standards can be 

disciplined, including the revocation of their licenses."* 

This document* states the argument for scope of practice changes should have a foundational basis within four 

areas: 

1 .  "An established history o f  the practice scope within the profession", 

2. Relationship of the practitioners' "education and training" to scope of practice, 

3.  "Supporting evidence" related to how the new or revised scope of practice benefits the public, and 

4. The capacity of the regulatory agency involved (an "appropriate regulatory environment") to effectively 

· manage modifications to scope of practice. 

MN APTA supports the premise stated in this document-"If a profession can provide support evidence in 

these areas, the proposed changes in scope of practice are likely to be in the public's  best interest."* 

MN APTA believes that overlapping scopes of practice are a reality in a rapidly changing healthcare 

environment. MN APTA supports the above stated criteria related to who is qualified to perform functions 

safely without risk of harm to the public are the only justifiable conditions for defining scopes of practice. 

* Changes in Healthcare Professions ' Scope of Practice: Legislative Considerations 
Developed by: 
.Federation of State Medical Boards (FSMB) 
National Council of State Boards ofNursing, Inc (NCSBN) 
Federation of State Boards of Physical Therapy (FSBPT) 
National Board for Certification in Occupational Therapy (NBCOT) 
Association of Social Work Boards (ASWB) 
National Association of Boards of Pharmacy (NABP) 

02/2010 
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Executive Summary 

This document is a result of a collaborative 
effort in 2006 by representatives from six 
healthcare regulatory organizations. It has 
been developed to assist legislators and 
regulatory bodies with making decisions 
about changes to healthcare professions' 
scopes of practice. 

Proposed changes to a healthcare professions' 
scope of practice often elicit strongly worded 
comments from several professional interest 

groups. Typical ly, these debates are perceived as turf battles between 
two or more professions, with the common refrain of "this is part of my 
practice so it can't be part of yours." Often lost among the competing 
arguments and assertions are the most important issues of whether this 
proposed change wil l  better protect the public and enhance consumers' 
access to competent healthcare services. 

Healthcare education and practice have developed in such a way that 
most professions today share some ski l ls or procedures with other 
professions. It is no longer reasonable to expect each profession to 
have a completely unique scope of practice, exclusive of a l l  others. We 
believe that scope of practice changes should reflect the evolution of 
abi lities of each healthcare discipline, and we have therefore attempted 
to develop a rational and useful way to make decisions when considering 
practice act changes. 

Based on reports from the Institute of Medicine1 and the Pew 
Healthcare Commission2 we propose a process for addressing scope 
of practice, which is focused on patient safety. The question that 
healthcare professionals must answer today is whether their profession 
can provide this proposed service in a safe and effective manner. If 
an issue does not address this question, it has no relevance to the 
discussion. 

1 Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century. The Institute of 
Medicine, National Academy Press, 2001. 

2 Reforming Healthcare Workforce Regulation: Policy Considerations for the 21st Century. 
Report of the Pew Health Professions Commission's Taskforce on Healthcare Workforce 
Regulation, December 1995, ix. 



This process gets to the heart of regulation which, according to Schmitt 
and Shimberg3, is intended to: 

1 .  " Ensure that the public is protected from unscrupulous, incompetent 
and unethical practitioners"; 

2. "Offer some assurance to the public that the regulated individual 
is competent to provide certain services in a safe and effective 
manner"; and 

3. "Provide a means by which individuals who fai l  to comply with the 
profession's standards can be disciplined, including the revocation 
of their licenses. " 

The argument for scope of practice changes should have a foundational 
basis within four areas: (1 ) an established history of the practice 
scope within the profession; (2) education and training; (3) supporting 
evidence; and (4) appropriate regulatory environment. If a profession 
can provide support evidence in  these areas, the proposed changes in 
scope of practice are l ikely to be in the publ ic's best interest. 

3 Demystifying Occupational and Professional Regulation: Answers to Questions You May 
Have Been Afraid to Ask, Schmitt, K. and Shimberg, B., Council on Licensure, Enforcement 
and Regulation, 1996. 
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Changes in Healthcare 
Professions' 
Scope of Practice: 
Legislative Considerations 

A. Purpose 

The purpose of this document is  to provide 
information and guidance for. legislative and 
regulatory agency decision making regarding 
changes in the scope of practice of healthcare 
professions. Specifical ly, the purpose is to: 

• Promote better consumer care across professions and 
competent providers; 

• Improve access to care; and 

• Recognize the inevitabil ity of overlapping scopes of practice. 

We envision this document as an additional  resource to be used by state 
legislatures, healthcare professions and regulatory boards in preparing 
proposed changes to practice acts and briefing legislators regarding 
those changes, just as various professions' model practice acts are used. 

B. Background 

This paper was a col laborative project developed by representatives of 
the regulatory boards of the fol lowing healthcare professions: medicine, 
nursing, occupational therapy, pharmacy, physical therapy and social 
work. It attempts to address scope of practice issues from a public 
protection viewpoint by determining whether a specific healthcare 
profession is capable of providing the proposed care in a safe and 
effective manner. 

We bel ieve that it is critical to review scope of practice issues broadly 
if our regulatory system is going to achieve the recommendations made 
by both the Institute of Medicine and the Pew Health Commission 
Taskforce on Healthcare Workforce Regulation. These reports urge 
regulators to al low for innovation in the use of all types of clinicians in  
meeting consumer needs in the most effective and efficient way, and to 
explore pathways to a l low al l  professionals to provide services to the full 
extent of their current knowledge, training, experience and skil ls. 



C. Historical Context 

The history of professional l icensure must be taken into account if 
one is to u nderstand the current regulatory system governing scope 
of practice. Physicians were the first health professionals to obtain 
legislative recognition and protection of their practice authority. The 
practice of medicine was defined in broad and undifferentiated terms 
to include all aspects of an individual's care. Therefore, when other 
healthcare professions sought legislative recognition, they were seen 
as claiming the abil ity to do tasks which were a lready included in the 
universal and implicitly exclusive authority of medicine. This dynamic 
has fostered a view of scope of practice that is conceptual ly faulty and 
potentially damaging. 

D. Introduction 

The scope of practice of a licensed healthcare profession is statutorily · 

defined in each state's laws in the form of a practice act. State 
legislatures have the authority to adopt or modify practice acts and 
therefore adopt or modify a particular scope of practice of a healthcare 
profession. Sometimes such modifications of practice acts are just the 
formal ization of changes already occurring in education or practice 
within a profession due to the results of research, advances in technology, 
and changes in societal healthcare demands, a mong other things. 

This process sometimes pits one profession against another before the 
state legislature. As an example, one profession may perceive another 
profession as "encroaching" into their area of practice. The profession 
may be economically or otherwise threatened and therefore opposes 
the other profession's legislative effort to change scope of practice. 
Proposed changes in scopes of practice that are supported by one 
profession but opposed by other professions may be perceived by 
legislators and the public as "turf battles. "  These turf battles are often 
costly and time consuming for the regulatory bodies, the professions 
and the legislators involved.4 Aside from guidance on scope of practice 
issues, this document may assist in preventing costly legislative battles; 
promote better consumer care and collaboration among regulatory 
bodies, the professions and between competent providers; and improve 
access to care. 

4 Strengthening Consumer Protection: Priorities for Healthcare Workforce Regulation, Report 
from Pew Health Professions Commission, 1998. 
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The Purpose of Regulation 

Before providing information regarding 
scope of practice decisions, we must ask the 
very basic question, "What is the purpose 
of regulation?" According to Schmitt and 
Shimberg,5 regulation is intended to: 

1 .  " Ensure that the public is protected from 
unscrupulous, incompetent and unethical 
practitioners"; 

2. "Offer some assurance to the public that 
the regulated individual is competent to 

provide certain services in a safe and effective manner"; and 

3. " Provide a means by which individuals who fai l  to comply with the 
profession's standards can be disciplined, including the revocation 
of their l icenses." 

A. Defining Scope of Practice 

A 2005 Federation of State Medical Boards report defined scope 
of practice as the " Definition of the rules, the regulations, and the 
boundaries within which a fully qualified practitioner with substantial  
and appropriate training, knowledge, and experience may practice in 
a field of medicine or surgery, or other specifically defined field. Such 
practice is a lso governed by requirements for continuing education 
and professional accountabil ity. " 6  

B .  Assumptions Related t o  Scope of Practice 

In attempting to provide a framework for scope of practice decisions, 
basic assumptions can be made: 

1 .  The purpose of regulation - public protection - should 

have top priority in scope of practice decisions, rather than 

professional self-interest. This encompasses the belief that the 
public should have access to providers who practice safely and 
competently. 

5 Demystifying Occupational and Professional Regulation: Answers to Questions You May 
Have Been Afraid to Ask, Schmitt, K. and Shimberg, B., Council on Licensure, Enforcement 
and Regulation, 1996. 

6 Assessing Scope of Practice in Health Care Delivery: Critical Questions in Assuring Public 
Access and Safety, Federation of State Medical Boards, 2005. 



2. Changes in scope of practice are inherent in our current 

healthcare system. Healthcare and its delivery are necessarily 
evolving. These changes relate to demographic changes (such 
as the aging of the "baby boomers"); advances in technology; 
decreasing healthcare dollars; advances in evidence-based 
healthcare procedures, practices and techniques; and many other 
societal and environmental factors. Healthcare practice acts also 
need to evolve as healthcare demands and capabil ities change. 

3. Collaboration between healthcare providers should be the 

professional norm. Inherent in this statement is the concept that 
competent providers wi l l  refer to other providers when faced with 
issues or situations beyond the original provider's own practice 
competency, or where greater competence or specialty care 
is determined as necessary or even helpful to the consumer's 
condition. 

4. Overlap among professions is necessary. No one profession 
actual ly owns a skill or activity in and of itself. One activity does 
not define a profession, but it is the entire scope of activities within 
the practice that makes any particular profession unique. Simply 
because a skill or activity is within one profession's ski l l  set does 
not mean another profession cannot and should not include it in its 
own scope of practice. 

5. Practice acts should require licensees to demonstrate that 

they have the requisite training and competence to provide 

a service. No professional has enough ski l ls or knowledge to 
perform al l  aspects of the profession's scope of practice. For 
instance, physicians' scope of practice is "medicine, " but no 
physician has the ski l l  and knowledge to perform every aspect 
of medical care. In  addition, a l l  healthcare providers' scopes of 
practice include advanced ski l ls that are not learned in entry-level 
education programs and would not be appropriate for an entry-level 
practitioner to perform. As professions evolve, new techniques are 
developed, but not a l l  practitioners are competent to perform these 
new techniques. 
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The Basis for 
Decisions Related to 
Changes in 
Scope of Practice 

Arguments for scope of practice changes 
should have a foundational basis within four 
areas: (1 ) an established history of the practice 
scope within the profession; (2) education 
and training; (3) supportive evidence; and 
(4) appropriate regulatory environment. This 

foundation should provide the framework for a nalyzing and determining 
if a change in statutory scope of practice is warranted in a particular 
situation. If a profession can provide supporting evidence in these areas, 
the proposed changes in scope of practice should be adopted. 

A. Historical Basis 

The first of these relates to the h istory and evolution of the profession 
and its practice. This historical framework provides the basis for the 
essentials of the profession, including its theoretical basis, how it 
developed over the years and how it is presently defined. Changes i n  
statutory scope o f  practice should fit within the historical, evolutionary 
and present practice context for the profession. 

Questions to be considered in this area include: 

1 .  Has there been an evolution of the profession towards the addition 
of the new skill or service? 

2. What is the evidence of this evolution? 

3. How does the new skill or service fit within or enhance a current area 
of expertise? 

B. Education and Training 

Tasks added to scopes of practice are often initially performed by 
professionals as advanced ski l ls. Over time, as these new ski l ls  and 
techniques are utilized by a sufficient cohort of practitioners, they 
become entry-level ski l ls  and are taught as such in entry-level curricula. 
It is not realistic to require a ski l l  or activity to be taught in an entry
level program before it becomes part of a profession's scope of 
practice. If this were the standard, there would be few, if any increases 
in scope of practice. However, the entry-level training program and its 
accompanying accrediting standards should provide the framework, 



including the basic knowledge and skil ls needed, to acquire the new 
skil l  once out in the field. There should be appropriate accredited 
postprofessional training programs and competence assessment tools 
that indicate whether the practitioner is competent to perform the 
advanced skil l  safely. 

Questions to be considered in this area indude: 

1 .  Does current entry-level education prepare practitioners to perform 
this skil l  as their experience increases? 

2. If the change in scope is an advanced ski l l  that would not be tested 
on the entry-level l icensure examination, how is competence in the 
new technique assured? 

3. What competence measures are available and what is the validity of 
these measures? 

4. Are there training programs within the profession for obtaining the 
new ski l l  or technique? 

5. Are standards and criteria established for these programs? 

6. Who develops these standards? 

7. How and by whom a re these programs evaluated against these 
standards? 

C. Evidence 

There should be evidence that the new skill or technique, as used by 
these practitioners, wil l  promote access to qual ity healthcare. The base 
of evidence should include the best ava ilable cl inical evidence, clinical 
expertise and research. Other forms of evidence include evolving 
concepts of disease/disability management, qual ity improvement and 
risk data, standards of care, infection control data, cost-effectiveness 
analysis and benchmarking data. Available evidence should be 
presented in an easy-to-understand format and in an objective and 
transparent manner. 

Questions to be considered in this area include: 

1 .  Is there evidence within the profession related to the particular 
procedures and ski l ls  involved in the changes in scope? 

2. ls there evidence that the procedure or skill is  beneficial to 
public health? 



D. Regulatory Environment 

A consideration in proposing changes in scope of practice is the 

regulatory environment. Often, it is the professional association that 

promotes and lobbies for scope of practice changes. The regulatory 
board should be involved in the process and be prepared to deal with 

the regulatory issues related to the proposed changes. 

Questions to be considered in this area include: 

1 .  Is the regulatory board authorized to develop rules related to a 

changed or expanded scope? 

2. Is the board able to determine the assessment mechanisms for 

determining If an individual professional is competent to perform 

the task? 
' 

3. Is the board able to determine the standards that training programs 

should be based on? 

4. Does the board have sufficient authority to discipline any 

practitioner who performs the task or skill incorrectly or might 

likely harm a patient? 

5. Have standards of practice been developed for the new task or skill? 

6. How has the education, training and assessment within the 

profession expanded to include the knowledge base, skill 
set and judgments required to perform the tasks and skills? 

7. What measures will be in place to assure competence? 



Basis for Legislative Decision Making 

Although the areas for decision making previously listed do not 
specifically mention public protection, supplying documentation in  
historical basis, education and training, evidence, and the regulatory 
environment is l ikely to ensure that the public wil l  be protected when 
these changes are made. 

Potential for harm to the consumer is difficult to prove or disprove relative 
to scope of practice. It is the very fact that there is potential for harm 
that necessitates regulation. If a strong basis for the redefined scope is 
demonstrated as described, this basis will be rooted in  public protection. 

This document rests on the premise that the only factors relevant to 
scope of practice decision making are those designed to ensure that a l l  
licensed practitioners be capable of providing competent care. 

• 



Conclusion 

This document presents important issues for 

consideration by legislators and regulatory 

bodies when establishing or modifying a 
profession's scope of practice. The primary 
focus of this paper is public protection. When 

defining a profession's scope of practice, the 

goal of public protection can be realized when 

legislative and/or regulatory bodies include 

the following critical factors in their decision

making process: 

• Historical basis for the profession, especially the evolution of the 

profession advocating a scope of practice change; 

• Relationship of education and training of practitioners to scope 

of practice; 

• Evidence related to how the new or revised scope of practice 

benefits the public; and 

• The capacity of the regulatory agency involved to effectively manage 

modifications to scope of practice changes. 

Overlapping scopes of practice are a reality in a rapidly changing 
healthcare environment. The criteria related to who is qualified to 

perform functions safely without risk of harm to the public are the only 

justifiable conditions for defining scopes of practice. 



Appendix 

Contact Information: 

Association of Social Work Boards 

(ASWB} 

400 South Ridge Parkway, Suite B 
Culpeper, VA 22701 

800.225.6880 toll free 

540.829.6880 phone 
www.aswb.org 

Federation of State Boards of Physical Therapy 

(FSBPn 

1 24 West Street South, Third Floor 

Alexandria, VA 22314 

703.299.3100 
www.fsbpt.org 

Federation of State Medical Boards Inc. (FSMB} 

400 Fuller Wiser Road 

Suite 300 

Euless, TX 76039 

817.868.4000 
www.fsmb.org 

Related resource information: 

www.fsmb.org/pdf/2005_grpol_scope_of_practice.pdf 

National Association of Boards of Pharmacy 

(NABP®} 

1 600 Feehanville Drive 

Mount Prospect, IL 60056 

847.391 .4406 
www.nabp.net 



National Board for Certification in Occupational Therapy, Inc. 

(NBCOT®) 

1 2  South Summit Avenue 

Suite 1 00 

Gaithersburg, MD 20877 

301 .990.7979 

www.nbcot.org 

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc. 

(NCSBN®) 

1 1 1  East Wacker Drive 

Suite 2900 

Chicago, IL 60601 

31 2.525.3600 

www.ncsbn.org 

Related resource information: 

www.ncsbn.org/NursingRegandlnterpretationofSoP.pdf 
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FSMB 
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NBCOT® 
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1 1 1  East Wacker Drive 
Suite 2900 
Chicago, Il l inois 60601-4277 

312.525.3600 Phone 
312.279.1032 Fax 
www.ncsbn.org 
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Genera l  Physical Activities Defined by Level of Intensity 

The fol l owin is i n  accordance with CDC and ACSM uideli nes. 
Moderate activity+ 

3 . 0  to 6 . 0  M ETs* 
3 . 5  to 7 kcal/min 

Wal king at a moderate or brisk pace of 3 to 4 . 5  
m p h  o n  a level surface i nside o r  outside, such 
as 

• Walking to class, work, or the store; 
• Walking for pleasure; 
• Walki ng the dog ; or 
• Walking as a break from work. 

Walking downstairs or down a h i l l  
Racewa lking-less than 5 m ph 
Using crutches 
H i king 
Rol ler skating or in- l ine skating at a leisurely 

ace 
Bicycl i n g  5 to 9 mph, level terra in,  or with few 
h i l ls 

Cal isthenics-light 
Yoga 
Gymnastics 
General home exercises, l ight or moderate 
effort, getti ng u p  a nd down from the floor 
J um ping on a tra m pol ine 
Using a stair  cl i m ber machine at a l ight-to
moderate pace 
Using a rowing machine-with moderate effort 

Wei g ht tra in ing and bodybui ld ing using free 
wei hts N a util us- or Universa l-t e wei hts 
Boxi ng-punching bag 

Ba l l room danci n g  
Line dancing 
Square dancing 
Fol k  dancing 
Modern dancing, disco 
Bal let 
Table tennis-co m petitive 
Ten nis-doubles 

Softba l l-fast pitch or slow pitch 
Basketbal l-shootin g  baskets 
Coaching chi ldren's or adults' sports 

Vigorous activity+ 
Greater than 6 . 0  M ETs* 

more tha n 7 kca l/mi n  
Racewal king a n d  aerobic wal king-5 mph o r  
faster 
Jogging or running 
Wheel ing your wheelchair  
Walking and cl i m bing briskly u p  a h i l l  
Backpacking 
Mounta i n  cl imbing,  rock cl i m bing,  rapel l ing 
Rol ler skating or in- l ine skating at a brisk 
pace 

Bicycli ng more than 1 0  mph or bicycl ing on 
steep uphi l l  terra i n  
Stationar  b i c  din -usin vi orous effort 
Aerobic dancing-high i mpact 
Step aerobics 
Water joggi ng 
Teachin a n  aerobic da nce class 
Cal isthenics-push-ups, pul l-ups, vigorous 
effort 
Karate, judo, tae kwon do, jujitsu 
J u m ping rope 
Performi ng jum ping jacks 
Using a sta i r  cl i m ber machine at a fast pace 
Using a rowing machine-with vigorous effort 
Using a n  arm cycl ing machine-with vigorous 
effort 

Circuit weig ht train ing 

Boxing-in the ring,  sparring 
Wrestl in -com etitive 
Professional bal l room da ncing-energetica l ly 
Square dancing -energetica l ly 
Fol k  da ncing-energetica lly 
Clogging 

Tennis-sing les 
Wheelchair tennis 

M ost competitive sports 
Footbal l  game 
Basketbal l  game 
Wheelchair basketbal l  
Soccer 
Rug by 
Kickbal l 
Field or rol lerblade hockey 
Lacrosse 



Vol leybal l-competitive Beach vol leyball-on sand court 
Playing Frisbee Ha ndba l l-genera l  or team 
Juggl ing Racquetbal l  
Curl ing Squash 
Cricket-batting and bowling 
Badm inton 
Archery (nonhunting) 
Fencinq 
Downh i l l  ski ing-with l ight effort Downhi l l  ski i ng-racing or with vigorous effort 
Ice skating at a leisurely pace (9 m ph or less) Ice-skating-fast pace or speedskating 
Snowmobi l ing Cross-country ski ing 
Ice sa i l ing Sledding 

Tobogganing 
Playinq ice hockey 

Swimming-recreational Swimming-steady paced laps 
Treading water-slowly, moderate effort Synchronized swim m i ng 
Diving-springboard or platform Treading water-fast, vigorous effort 
Aquatic aerobics Water joggi ng 
Waterskiing Water polo 
Snorkel ing Water basketbal l  
Surfinq, board or body Scuba d ivinq 
Canoeing or rowing a boat at less than 4 mph Canoeing or rowing-4 or more mph 
Rafting-whitewater Kayaking in whitewater rapids 
Sai l ing-recreational  or competition 
Paddle boating 
Kaya king-on a lake, ca lm water 
Washing or waxing a powerboat or the hul l  of a 
sai lboat 
Fish ing whi le wal king along a riverba nk or - - - -

while wading i n  a stream-wea ring waders 
H u nting deer, large or smal l  game - - - -

Pheasant and g rouse hunting 
H u nting with a bow and a rrow or crossbow-
wal kinq 
Horseback riding-genera l  Horsebackriding-trotting,  gal loping, 
Saddl ing or g rooming a horse jumping, or in competition 

Playinq polo 
Playing on school playground equipment, Running 
movi ng about, swingi ng, or cl i m bing Skipping 
Playing hopscotch, 4-square, dodgeba l l ,  T-bal l ,  Jumping rope 
or tetherba l l  Performing jumping jacks 
Skateboarding Rol ler-skating or in- l ine skating-fast pace 
Roller-skatinq or in-l ine skati nq-leisurely pace 
Playing instruments whi le actively moving ; Playing a heavy musical instrument while 
playing i n  a marching band; playing g u itar or actively running i n  a marching band 
d ru ms in a rock band 
Twirl ing a baton in a marching band 
Singing while actively moving a bout-as on 
staqe or in church 
Gardening and yard work: ra king the lawn, Gardening a nd ya rd work : heavy or rapid 
bagging g rass or leaves, digging,  hoeing, l ight shovel ing (more than 10 l bs per m i n ute),  
shovel ing ( less tha n  1 0  l bs per  m inute),  or digging ditches, or carrying heavy loads 
weeding while sta nd i ng or bending Fel l i ng trees, carrying large logs, swinging an 
Planting trees, tri m ming shru bs a nd trees, ax, hand-splitting logs, or cl i mbing and 
haul ing branches, stacking wood trimming trees 
Pushinq a power lawn mower or ti l ler Pushinq a nonmotorized lawn mower 
S hovel inq l iqht snow Shovel inq heavv snow 
M oderate housework : scrubbing the floor or Heavy housework: movi nq or pushinq heavv 

. . 



bathtub while on ha nds and knees, hanging 
laundry on a clothesl ine, sweeping a n  outdoor 
area, cleaning out the g a rage, washing 
windows, moving l ight furniture, packing or 
unpacking boxes, wa l king and putting 
household items away, carrying out heavy bags 
of trash or recycla bles ( e . g . ,  g lass, 
newspapers, and plastics), or carrying water or 
firewood 
General household tasks requ i ring considerable 
effort 
Putting g roceries away-wal king and carrying 
especia l l y  large or heavy items less than SO 
l bs.  

Actively playing with ch i ldren-walking, 
running,  or cl i m bing whi le playing with chi ldren 
Wa l king whi le ca rrying a chi ld weighing less 
than SO l bs 
Wa lking whi le pushi ng or pul l ing a child i n  a 
strol ler or a n  adult  in a wheelchair  
Carrying a ch i ld weighing less than 2S l bs u p  a 
fl ight of sta irs 
Chi ld care : handl ing uncooperative young 
chi ldren (e .g . ,  chasing, d ressing, l ifting i nto car 
seat), or handl ing severa l you ng chi ldren at 
one time 
Bathin  a nd d ressin an adult 
Animal  care : shove l i ng g ra i n ,  feeding farm 
a n i ma ls, or g room i ng a nimals 
Playing with or tra i ning an imals  
M a nual ly m i l king cows or  hooking cows up to 
m i l ki n  machines 
Home repa i r :  cleaning gutters, cau lking, 
refin ishing fu rniture, sanding floors with a 
power sa nder, or laying or removing carpet or 
ti les 
General home construction work : roofing, 
painting i nside or  o utside of the house, wal l  

lasterin or remodel in  

saw 
Automobile bodywork 
Hand washin and waxin a ca r 
rvQccupations that requ i re extended periods of 
walking, pushing or pu l l ing objects weighing les 
than 7S l bs, standing whi le l ifting objects 
weighing less than SO l bs, or carrying objects 
of less than 2S l bs u p  a fl ight of stai rs 
Tasks frequently requiring moderate effort and 
considera ble use of arms, legs, or occasional  
total body movements. 
For exa mple : 

• Briskly walki n g  on a level surface while 
carrying a suitcase or load weighing up 
to SO lbs 

• Maid service or cleanin  services 

furniture {7S l bs or more), carryi ng 
household items weighing 2S l bs or more up 
a fl ight or sta irs, or shovel ing coal into a 
stove 
Sta nding, walking, or wal king down a fl ight of 
sta irs whi le carrying objects weighing SO l bs 
or more 

Carrying severa l heavy bags {2S l bs or more) 
of g roceries at one time up a fl ight of sta i rs 
Grocery shopping whi le carrying young 
chi ldren and pushing a ful l  grocery cart, or 

ushin two fu l l  racer carts at once 
Vigorously playing with ch i ldren-running 
longer d ista nces or playing strenuous games 
with chi ldren 
Racewa lking or jogging whi le  pushing a 
stroller designed for sport use 
Carrying an adult or a ch i ld weighing 2S lbs 
or more up a fl i g ht of sta i rs 
Standing or wal king whi le carrying a n  adult 
or a ch i ld weighing SO l bs or more 

Animal care : forking ba les of hay or straw, 
clea ning a barn or stables, or carrying 
an imals weighing over SO l bs 
Handl ing or carrying heavy a nimal-related 
e ui ment or tack 
Home repa i r  or constructio n :  very hard 
physical labor, standing or wal king whi le 
carrying heavy loads of SO l bs or more, 
ta king l oads of 2S lbs or more up a fl ight of 
sta irs or ladder (e . g . ,  carrying roofing 
materia ls  onto the roof), or concrete or 
masonr work 
Hand-sawing hardwoods 

Pushing a disabled car 

rvQccupations that requ i re extensive periods 
of run n i ng, rapid movement, pushing or 
pul l ing objects weighing 7S l bs or more, 
standing while l ifti ng heavy objects of SO l bs 
or more, walking whi le carrying heavy 
objects of 2S lbs or more 
Tasks frequently requiring strenuous effort 
and extensive tota l body movements. 
For example : 

• Run n i ng u p  a fl ight of sta i rs whi le 
carrying a suitcase or load weighing 
2S l bs or more 

• Teachin a class or ski l l  re u iri n  



• Waiting tables or institutional 
dishwashing 

• Driving or maneuvering heavy vehicles 
( e . g . ,  semi-truck, school bus, tractor, or 
harvester)-not fu lly a utomated and 
requiring extensive use of arms a nd legs 

• Operating heavy power tools (e. g . ,  dri l ls  
a nd jackha mmers) 

• M a ny homebui ld ing tasks (e.g .  electrical 
work, p lumbing, carpentry, dry wal l ,  
a nd painting) 

• Farm ing-feeding and g rooming 
an imals, m i l king cows, shovel ing g ra i n ;  
picking fru it from trees, or picking 
vegetables 

• Packing boxes for shipping or moving 
• Assembly- l ine work-tasks requiring 

movement of the entire body, arms or 
legs with moderate effort 

• Mai l  carriers-wa l king whi le carrying a 
mai l bag 

• Patient care-bathing, dressing, and 
movinq patients or physica l therapy 

active and strenuous participation, 
such as aerobics or physical education 
i nstructor 

• Firefighting 
• Masonry a nd heavy construction work 
• Coal mining 
• Manual ly shoveling or digging ditches 
• Using heavy nonpowered tools 
• Most forestry work 
• Farming-forking straw, bal ing hay, 

cleaning barn, or poultry work 
• Moving items profession a l ly 
• Loading a nd un loading a truck 

Source: U . S .  Department of Hea lth and Human Services, Public Health Service, Centers for Disease 
Control a nd Prevention, National  Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Division of 
N utrition and Physical Activity. Promoting physical activity: a guide for community action . Champaign, IL :  
H u m a n  Kinetics, 1999.  (Table adapted from Ainsworth BE, Haskel l  WL, Leon AS,  et  a l .  Com pendium of 
physical activities : classification of energy costs of human physical activities. Medicine and Science in 
Sports and Exercise 1993 ;25( 1 ) : 7 1 -80.  Adapted with technica l  assistance from Dr. Barbara Ainsworth . )  

* The ratio o f  exercise meta bolic rate. O n e  M ET is defined as the energy expenditure for sitting 
q uietly, which, for the average adult, a pproximates 3 . 5  ml of oxygen u ptake per kilogra m  of body 
wei g ht per m i n ute ( 1 . 2  kca l/mi n  for a 70-kg individual) .  For example, a 2 - M ET activity requires two 
times the metabolic energy expenditure of sitting quietly. 
+ For an average person, defined here as 70 kilograms or 154 pounds. The activity i ntensity levels 
portrayed i n  this c.hart a re most appl ica ble to men aged 30 to 50 years and women aged 20 to 40 
years. For older individuals, the classification of activity intensity might be higher. For example, what 
is moderate i ntensity to a 40-year-old man might be vigorous for a man i n  his 70s. Intensity is a 
subjective classification . 

Data for this chart were ava i lable only for adults. Therefore, when chi ldren's games a re l isted, the 
estimated i ntensity level is for adults participating in chi ldren's activities. 
To compute the amount of ti me needed to accumulate 150 kca l ,  do the fol lowing ca lcu lation : 150 kca l 
divided by the M ET level of the activity equals the m i n utes needed to expend 150 kca l .  For exa m p l e :  

150 + 3 M ETS = 50 minutes o f  participation . General ly, activities i n  the moderate-intensity ra nge 

require 25-50 m i n utes to expend a moderate a mount of activity, and activities in the vigorous
i ntensity range would require less than 25 minutes to achieve a moderate a m ount of activity. Each 
activity l isted is categorized as l ight, moderate, or vigorous on the basis of current knowledge of the 
overa l l  level of i ntensity required for the average person to engage in it, ta king i nto account brief 
periods when the level of i ntensity required for the activity might increase or decrease considera bly. 

Persons with disa bi l ities, i ncluding motor function l im itations (e.g.,  quadriplegia) may wish to consult 
with an exercise physiolog ist or physical therapist to properly classify the types of physica l activities i n  
which they mig ht partici pate, including assisted exercise. Certa in activities classified i n  this l isti ng as 
moderate might be vigorous for persons who must overcome physical cha l lenges or disabi l ities. 

I 



rv Note : Almost every occupation requires some mix of light, moderate, or vigorous activities, 
depending on the task at hand. To categorize the activity level of your own position, ask yourself: How 
many minutes each working day do I spend doing the types of activities described as l ight, moderate, 
or vigorous? To arrive at a total workday caloric expenditure, multiply the minutes spent doing 
activities within each intensity level by the kilocalories corresponding to each level of intensity. Then, 
add together the total kilocalories spent doing l ight, moderate, a nd vigorous activities to arrive at your 
total energy expenditure in a typical day. 



March 25, 2015 - House Human Services Committee - SB 2295 

Dear Human Services Committee: 

#-11 
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My name is Bruce Wessman. I am executive director of the North Dakota Board of Physical 
Therapy. Please see the attachments that highlights terminology of the athletic trainers 
practice acts in 49 states {California not included). Please note that only 3 states have done 
what North Dakota proposes to do and that is to eliminate all references to athletes or athletic 
injuries from their practice act. The states that have done this are Wisconsin, Michigan 
and Pennsylvania. Please note that Pennsylvania makes it clear in their definition of a 
"physically active person" that athletic trainers treat individuals that are injured from 
participation in sports. Michigan requires that athletic trainers perform under the direction 
and supervision of a licensed provider and "direction" means either a written, electronic, of 
verbal order. Wisconsin requires a written referral to treat in the out-patient rehab 
setting. Please note that Wisconsin also further defines the clientele of the athletic trainer by 

~.-- , 'serting the term "Vigorous" in the definition of physical activity. Vigorous is defined in the 
.0llowing link. http://www.cdc.gov/nccdphp/dnpa/physical/pdf/PA Intensity table 2 1.pdf 

The other document highlights the number of states that use the term "Under the Guidance11 

when referring to the supervision requirements of athletic trainers. Please note there are NO 
states that use the term "under the guidance". Two states use the term 
"guidelines" Nebraska and Washington, however they use modifiers to help define or limit the 
term guidance. 

Nebraska states: When athletic training is provided in a hospital outpatient department or clinic 
or an outpatient-based medical facility, the athletic trainer will perform the functions described 
in section 71-1,240 with a referral from a licensed physician for athletic training; Washington 
prohibits athletic trainers from treating any "medical diagnosis" 

. These documents are provided to support the claim that if SB2295 passes, the athletic trainers in 
North Dakota will have the most liberal practice act in the country. 

,_,.r--., ~. 

1 
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Dear ·Legislatoi�s :· 
My name is. Br�n.da.Miller and I am .currently a Family Practjce 
Physician serving th� Bislii.&Jx:;.k-JJandan ·a:tea. Prior to -obtaining 
rn.y medicaJ .d�gre�, 1 worked. as· a phy&ical tJ.ier&pist fot 8 years·. 
Additionally, I served as th� physician liaison for the State 

Board of Physical Therapy for 10 years. Th¢tefote., I feel I have 
a good sense ·of the role of th� physical therapist, as well as other 
allied health professions, and the process of Iicertsute, scope of 
practic�, and state practice acts. I am writing this brief note 
ex:pres.�b1g_ my -op.position. to the athletic· trainet's l}ill (SB 2295). 
The cµtrent bill ;Set forth by the athletic trainers -wouh:l 
significantly incteqse the al!tonomy of athletic trainers. They 
have chosen to :remove the word ''athletic/a.thleti¢ injudes" and 
have replaced it with physical activity and illness. I believe that 
this change will overstep their educational background by 
allowing them to treat '�unW¢ll" people who have multiple c.o
:morbidfties. ,a;s opposed to the healthy, athletic poptjlation who 
have been pre-scteene:d by ,physicians. Treating patients ·with 
"illness'; reqµires a strong background in medical .conditions·, 
pharmacology, and systems �preel)jng. Au ttnde.rgrad:uate AT . 
degree :does not currently include: either the ,signifi.c@.t ,didactic 
or ·clinical training tequired for this level of patient care 
man(lgement. 

A.d4itionally, 1 ·would strongly Tecomrnend -th}lltl}:e p;rbposed bill 
ensure that athletic traitLers wotl<: ltr1der the s:upervision and 
directiot1 of� phy�ic�aJJ. as .op.posed to '·�guid�nce" '�.s sugge$ted 
in theit proposed language� 
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In summary, as :a practicing physician, former NDBPT physician 
liaison, and former practicing phys.-ioaJ therapist� r feel that the 
proposed changes ate too hro'ad and extend thefr care be.yond 
that 9f the .AT educational background. I understand there is. 
representative language ftorn the other state?s practlce acts 
·Which should be reviewed and tepre$¢tited . .in this langu.age., 
Respectfully yours, 
/� . · .  .-· ·' 



March 3rd, 2015 

Dear Legislators: 

My name is Keith E Swanson and I serve as the physician liaison for the State Board of Physical 
Therapy for the great state of North Dakota. I am writing this brief note strongly expressing 
both my personal opposition and the State Board of Physical Therapy's opposition to the 
athletic trainer's bill (SB 2295) inoving through the legislature at this time. I have been both a 
Physical Therapist and ·now a physician for the past 15 years. Additional ly, I work very closely 
with physician extenders such as Nurse Practitioners and Physician Assistants on a daily basis. 
Thus, I feel I have particular insight into issues relating  to scope of care and treatment 
boundaries, etc. 

The current bill set forth by the athletic trainers would significantly increase the autonomy of 
athletic trainers to include basically any illness effecting a nybody (not just athletes), whether 
related to an athletic injury or  not. We feel strongly that affording athletic trainers the latitude 
to essentially treat any illness is overstepping their level of expertise and may, in fact, be 
dangerous for an athlete's (or a "weekend warrior's") overal l  health. The level of training in the 
myriad of possible medical conditions is simply not in the scope of a typical athletic trainer's 
education. That is why they call it the "practice" of medicine as I am humbly reminded of on a 
regular basis. Further, if one were to closely examine athletic trainers' specific scope of practice 
in surrounding states, it clearly stipulates that they should be caring for athletic injuries on the 
field of athletic play. In  Minnesota, a similar bil l  was soundly rejected. 

I have worked with a number of very talented athletic trainers over the years and have nothing 
but complete respect for what they do on the athletic field. However, as this bil l stands right 
now; if you were to present to an u rgent care clinic yourself or with a loved one, ask yourself if 
you would be comfortable with an athletic trainer functioning essentially on the level of a 
physician. 

In summery, as a representative of North Dakota's P hysical Therapy voice, we feel strongly that 
athletic trainers should remain focused at what their intense training has vetted them to be; 
experts in the immediate "on-field" care of athletic injuries. 

If you would l ike to further discuss this issue with me, my contact information is as follows: 

Office: 701 780 6225 
Mobile: 701 330 5747 
Email: kswanson1971@yahoo.com 

Respectfully yours, 

Keith E Swanson MD, FACP, FSVM, RPVI 



March 25, 201 5  

S B  2295 

CHAIRMAN.WEISZ AND MEMBERS OF THE HOUSE HUMAN SERVICES 
COMMITTEE 

My name is Bruce Wessman and I am the Executive Officer of the North Dakota Board 
of Physical Therapy. I am writing to voice my concerns with SB 2295. 

First and most importantly I am not questioning the athletic trainer's ability to treat active 
healthy individuals. No one is questioning the value .and expertise the trainer brings to 
the medical c9mmunity. · 1  am questioning the language of the bill. The fact that it is so 
broadly written makes regulation and patient safety a concern. Please take note of the 
following points. 

• illness is added to the definition of what an AT can treat. Please note there are 
no mod�fiers or limitations placed on the term "illness" not even the addition of 
"sport". There is no question that athletic trainers are involved in the recognition 
and management of i l lnesses however the most significant illnesses that require 
emergency recognition and management tak� place on the field of play not in a 
clinic setting. The AT needs to have the ability to recognize and stabilize these 
illnesses. They do not have th_e depth of education to treat il lnesses other than 
sport i llnesses. Skin diseases suC?h as fungal, viral and bacterial infections are 
common in athletics. The AT provides sign ificant knowledge in the prevention of 
the spread of communicable d iseases such as MRSA. However the treatment of 
infections usually requires a course of antibiotics which is not in the A T's scope 
of practice. My area of concern is that the language is much too broad. Why not 
say what they do? The athletic trainer "recogn izes, educates and manages sport 
illnesses" on the field of play. The public will not be well served and well 
protected by having persons attempt to treat them for problems for which they 
are not trained 

• SB2295 substitutes the word physical activity for athletic injuries. It then goes on 
to define physical activity in such a manner that there are no limitations placed on 
who the AT can treat. For example they leave out the word "vigorous" as is seen 
in the Wisconsin act. Without limitations, treatment by an athletic trainer could 
include treatment of non-healthy individuals which is not appropriate for their 
level of education. By substituting the term physical activity for athletic injury the 
athletic trainer will now be able to treat people with significant co-morbidities not 
just the healthy individual. The complexities i nvolved with the treatment of these 

s 



individuals played a major role in the advancement of physical therapy from a 
baccalaureat� degree to a doctoral degree. The educational preparedness of the 
AT wil l  lag the advancement in their scope of practice. Students of athletic 
training are well aware that Athletic Training is an entry level degree into the 
medical field. The following is taken from the UND Athletic training home page. 

"The degree program entails a four-year curriculum designed to prepare the 
student for an entry�level position in the field of athletic training. Upon completion 
of the curriculum, the student will be el igible to take the BOC Inc. Certification 
Examination. Students pursuing the Athletic Training degree are encouraged to 
utilize the electives in this program to prepare for advanced study. Suggested 
areas of study include: post-graduate study in kinesiology, physical therapy or  
medicine. The Athletic Training program offered is  accredited by the Commission 
on Accreditation of Athletic Training Education (CAATE)." 

• Under the guidance of a physician" is a term found but not defined in SB 2295. 
The PT practice act defines onsite and d irect supervision and differentiates 
between the supervision requirements at d ifferent locations. SB2295 does 
not. How is "guidance" defined? Does the type or amount of guidance differ from 
the field of play to a clinic? What guidance is required to treat non-athletic injuries 
in the clinic? Is a written order required for an AT to treat in the clinic? I feel  
"Under the guidance of a physician" is too broad and heeds to be defined. 

As a regulator, when broad and undefined language is used to advance the scope of 
practice of a profession ,  I feel concern for public safety. I urge you to vote no on 
SB2295. 

Thank you for your time and consideration .  

· ----



March 25, 201 5  - HOUSE HUMAN SERVICES COMMITTEE - SB 2295 

Dear Chairman Weisz and Committee members: 

My name is Kathleen Day and I am writing with concerns related to SB2295, the 
expansion of the scope of practice for Athletic Trainers in  North Dakota. I am the 
President of the North Dakota Physical Therapy Association and a practicing Physical 
Therapist with over 37 years of experience with the VA Health Care System in Fargo. 
As the largest healthcare organization in the US, treating a multitude of complex 
individuals, the VA Health Care System does not employ athletic trainers. 

The proposed language would arguably g ive the athletic trainers in North Dakota 
the most permissive and liberal scope of practice in the country. This broad scope 
contains no standards limiting the types of injuries and i l lnesses athletic trainers would 
be authorized to clinically evaluate and treat. Ath letic trainers, as their title implies, have 
their education based in athletics with minimal clinical education with hands on learning 
of skills to competently assess and treat complex patients. As the bill reads, athletic 
trainers would be allowed to provide comprehensive management of injuries and 
il lnesses without supervision or direct physician involvement. I have not heard an 
explanation as to why they wish to remove all references to athletics if their education 
provides them a degree in Athletic Training. 

Minnesota lawmakers, when faced with a similar expansion of the AT scope of 
practice in 2006, util ized an independent scope of practice review team commissioned 
to determine an unbiased opinion of the bill. The basis of this document as a filter 
represented six healthcare regulatory organizations to assist legislators with making 
decisions in scopes of practice. The foundation of the document covered four basic 
areas: 1 )  established history of the practice scope within  the profession, 2) relationship 
of education and training reflective of the scope of practice change, 3) supporting 
evidence related to how new scope of practice benefits the public, and 4) capacity of the 
regulatory agency involved to effectively manage modifications to scope of practice. 
Minnesota used the findings of this commission to deny the athletic trainers bill that 
would have expanded their scope of practice similar to the ND bill. 

We were not informed of the upcoming legislation until a few days prior to the 
Senate committee hearing. We were not approached over the last two years to work on 
language that would be suitab le for all concerned as was recommended in the previous 
legislative session. The Athletic Trainers have claimed to model the language after the 
Wisconsin scope of practice but this is not accurate since Wisconsin's statute has two 
significant points deliberately omitted from SB 2295 that make a very big difference. 



Wisconsin has included "vigorous" in their language which supports the treatment 
of healthy individuals and they require a written referral from a physician.  NDPTA has 
suggested changes to the proposed language to offer better clarification and define the 
role of the athletic trainer within the healthcare arena but no compromises were 
forthcoming. We feel we were reasonable in our requests and conceded to some 
language we had previously strongly opposed. 

In the changing healthcare arena, d ifferent healthcare professions may share 
some of the same skills. However, education must support the skills that are performed 
to ensure the public is rec�iving appropriate care based on the level of training .and 
clinical experience. The Physical Therapy profession has continued to enhance their 
education to reach a doctoral level with a change in the scope of p ractice to reflect this 
change.  This seems to be a logical approach and not change a scope of practice with 
future expectations on advanced levels in education. 

I would urge a no vote to this bill as presented with current language. 

Thank you. 

Respectfully, · 

Kathleen Day, PT, DPT 



-- March 25, 201 5  - House Human Services Committee - SB 2295 

My name is Henry C. "Bud" Wessman, JD, PT, LNHA. I am a retired Federal 
Administrative Judge (former Member, Provider Reimbursement Review Board -
Medicare - Baltimore) and former Executive Director of the North Dakota Department of 
Human Services under Gov. Ed Schafer. I also was honored to be the founder of the 
first Physical Therapy educational program in North Dakota in 1967 by starting the 
Department of Physical Therapy within the University of North Dakota's School of 
Medicine. 1 · have had the pleasure of watching that program grow from its initial 
Baccalaureate entry level ,  to a Master's entry level, and now to the Doctoral entry level, 
as the demands and intricacies of the field have expanded. Duririg our 26 years in 
Grand Forks, I was honored to be elected to the Grand Forks City Council, and elected 
twice to 4 year terms as Mayor. I also had the pleasure of representing District 43 in 
your House of Representativ_es d uring the 45thLegislative Session 

Words have consequences. When you delete the words "ATHLETIC injury" from the 
definition of an  "ATHLETIC Trainer'' in NDCC§43-39-01 .2, you have gutted the focus 
(ATHLETIC) of the Act and the practioner, and have created a non sequitur in North 
Dakota law where the Title of the Act does not define the "practice" ("athletic training 
means the practice of prevention, recognition, evaluation, management, treatment, and 
disposition of athletic injuries"); or, you have created an entirely new health care 
provider which broadly defines the practioner as capable of treating ANY "injury or 

. .--., illness" without the focus on the basis for the practice ("ATHLETIC Injury"), and a new 
health care field that wil l  not, by absence of that focus, be responsive to the North 
Dakota Board of Ath letic Trainers. 

Please vote "NO" when SB 2295 comes before you. 

SB 2295 purports to "modernize" the Scope of Practice for Athletic Trainers by removing 
the qualifying term "athletic injury" and substituting the very liberal catch-al l  of "injury 
and illness". Such a broad dilution of definition will allow Athletic Trainers (ATCs) to 
theoretically provide services to any illness or injury - acute stroke, cardiac problems, 
neurologi_c d isorders, pulmonary d isease, influenza, migraine, or a host of other 
complicated "illness or injury" significantly beyond the current training and education of 
Athletic Trainers, as long as the patient was involved in "physical activity", whic.h can be 
as broadly defined as basic breathing to stay alive. 

While the ATCs and their supporters may attempt to classify this as a "turf' issue 
between Physical Therapists and ATCs, rest assured that I find ATCs to be invaluable 
colleagues when they function within the scope of their practice and training - there is 
no professional I would rather have handling injuries on the playing field or in the 
training room than an ATC, that is what they are educated to do. But to remove the 
identifying term "athletic injury" from their Scope of Practice and broadly substitute 

--- "injury or i l lness" invites the opportunity for a lesser educated professional to expand 
their attempt at care-giving far beyond the level of their expertise and training, while at 



the same time raising the cost of health care by allowing yet another practioner to 
access the health insurance pool of providers. 

My points are simply this: 

- Athletic Training is just that - athletic training. The whole premise of the profession 
revolves around its ability to treat and rehab athletic injuries. ATCs are good at this, 
but they are not educated, nor are they qualified, to treat more complicated and 
intense "injury or illness", such as acute stroke or cardiac patients. Yet SB 2295 
would allow this to occur, without any advancement in the ATC educational 
program. It is interesting to note that in the University of North Dakota materials on 
the BS Degree for ATC it is rightly suggested that "Students pursuing the Athletic 
Training degree are encouraged to utilize the electives in this program to prepare for 
advanced study. Suggested areas of study include: post-graduate study in 
kinesiology, physical therapy, or medicine". Clearly, the educational programs in 
ATC anticipate that. if the individual ATC wishes to broaden their scope to treat all 
"injury or illness", rather than the specific "athletic injury" for which they are trained, 
they should broaden their educational background and move into an appropriate 
field, not simply attempt to change the Scope of their Practice Act. 

- You may have received a letter from an Athletic Trainer in which the individual 
suggested that some ATCs are already tunctioning as "physician extenders", and 
that somehow, if you vote to change the Scope of the Athletic Trainer's Scope of 
Practice, this current dubious practice will be legal. Passing SB 2295 and 
attempting to rationalize the profession into a "physician extender'' status does 
exactly what I described above - it raises the cost of health care by "inventing" a 
new back-door avenue of access to health insurance dollars with a billing 
mechanism for ATCs, while at the same time assuring that professionals, like ATCs, 
would be allowed to practice beyond the educational qualifications and training they . . 

possess. 

SB 2295 goes well beyond any definition of Scope of Practice for Athletic Trainers of 
any State in our geographic region, and in my opinion, for the reasons stated above, 
will put North Dakota at a significant disadvantage for recruiting appropriately trained 
health care providers, while decreasing the quality of care by allowing lesser-trained 
personnel to provide health care for our State's valuable residents. 

Thank you for your attention to this. If there is any further information I can provide, 
please contact me and I will follow up immediately. 

Bud Wessman - (701 )388-9991 - wessmanbl@cableone.net 
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO SENATE BILL NO. 2295 
4-6-15 

Page 1, line 9, remove" services in accordance with the" 

Page 1, line 10, remove "individual's education" 

Page 1, line 24, after "activity" insert", under standing. verbal, or written orders. and 
in clinical settings written orders shall be required" 

Page 2, line 4, after "activity" insert ", under standing, verbal, or written orders. and in 
clinical settings written orders shall be required" 

Page 2, line 10, after "means" insert "any moderate or vigorous" 

Page 2, line 11 , replace", including" with "during" 

Page 2, line 12, after "recreation," insert "performing arts. stretching," 

Page 2. Line 12, remove "or" 

Page 2, Line 12, after "fitness" insert "or other settings set forth in section 43-39-
10(5)" 

Page 3, line 3, replace "direction" with "guidance or rehabilitation order" 

Page 3, after line 5, insert: 

SECTION 5. AMENDMENT. Subsection 5 of section 43-39-10 of the 
North Dakota Century Code is created and enacted as follows: 
~ Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent athletic trainers 

from providing: athletic training in hospital or clinical settings; injury 
screens; physician extender services; employee injury prevention. 
education or advice; or services to address injuries or illnesses. 
comparable to athletic injuries or illnesses. in military, .employment, or 
public safety settings. l~c-\d 

Renumber accordingly 



PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO 
FIRST ENGOSSMENT 

with House Amendments 
ENGROSSED SENATE BILL NO. 2295 

15.04488.05000 
4-9-15 
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Page 2, line 7, after "programs" insert ", or providing injury screening or physician 
extender services" 

Page 2, line 14, replace "other settings set forth in subsection 5 of section 43-39-1 O" 
with "military, industrial, or public safety activities" 

Page 3, remove lines 8-14. 

Renumber accordingly 
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15.0488.05000 

Sixty-fourth 
Legislative Assembly 
of North Dakota 

SENATE BILL NO. 2295 

Introduced by 

Senators Dever, Warner 

Representatives Hofstad, Mooney, Rohr 

A Bl LL for an Act to amend and reenact sections 43-39-01 and 43-39-04 and subdivision d of 

subsection 1 of section 43-39-10 of the North Dakota Century Code, relating to the regulation of 

athletic trainers; and to provide a penalty. 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA: 

SECTION 1. AMENDMENT. Section 43-39-01 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

amended and reenacted as follows: 

43-39-01. Definitions. 

1 . 

2. 

"Athletic trainer" means apersonan individual with specific qualifications set forth in 

section 43-39-05, who is providing athletic training . 

"Athletic training" means doing any of the practiceofprevention, recognition , evaluation, 

management,treatment,anddispositionofathleticinjuries.Thetermalsomeans 

rehabilitation ofath letic injuries, if underthe orderofa licensed physician . The term 

includes organization and administration ofeducational programs, athleticfaci lities, 

and theed ucation and counseling ofthe pub I iccomprehensive manaaementofinj uries 

and illnessestoprevent. clinicallyevaluate. assess. provide immediate care. treat, 

rehabilitate. and recondition.following under the guidance of a physician: 

a. preventing. recognizing and evaluating injuries and illnesses sustained while 

participating in physical activity: 

.!;L managing and administering the initial treatment of injuries or illnesses sustained 

while participating in physical activity; 

c. giving emergency care or first aid for an injury or illness sustained while 

participating in physical activity; 

Q_,_ rehabilitating injuries or illnesses sustained while participating in physical activity . 

under verbal, standing. or written orders. and in clinical settings written orders 

shall be required ; 



/.3 rehabilitating and physically reconditioning injuries or illnesses that impede or 

prevent an individual from returning to participation in physical activity, if the 

individual recently participated in. and intends to return to participation in, physical 

activity. under verbal, standing, or written orders. and in clinical settings written 

orders shall be required; 

t establishing or administering risk management. conditioning, and injury 

prevention programs, or providing injury screening or physician extender 

services ; or 

g,_ referring a patient or client to an appropriate health care provider as needed. 

~ "Physical activity" means any moderate or vigorous activity that requires physical 

strength. agility. range of motion. repetitive motion. speed. or stamina during 

participation in exercise. sports. games. recreation. performing arts. stretching , 

wellness, fitness. or other settings set forth in section 43 39 10(5)military, 

industrial, or public safety activities. 

M . "Board" means the North Dakota board of athletic trainers established in section 

43-39-02. 

45. "Physician" means adoctorofmedicinean individual licensed topracticeasaphysician 

under chapter 43-17. 

SECTION 2. AMENDMENT. Section 43-39-04 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

amended and reenacted as follows: 

43-39-04. Unlawful practice 

1 . NGA person may not practice athletic training or hold that person out as being an 

athletic trainer in this state unless that person is an individual licensed in accordance 

with this chapter. 

2. Ne6 person may not consult, teach, or supervise or hold that person out as being able 

to consult, teach, or supervise athletic training curricular courses in this state unless 

that person is an individual licensed in accordance with this chapter or chapter 43-171 

or possesses a degree in a health-related field . 

3. Ne6 person may not represent that person as being a licensed athletic trainer or use 

in connection with that person's name any letters, words, or insignia indicating or 

implying that the person is a licensed athletic trainer unless that person is an individual 

licensed in accordance with this chapter. 

SECTION 4. AMENDMENT. Subdivision d of subsection 1 of section 43-39-10 of the North 

Dakota Century Code is amended and reenacted as follows: 

d. Is guilty of treating or undertaking to treat ailmentsofhumanbeingsan individual's 

injury or illness. except as authorized pursuant to this chapter, or undertaking to 

• 
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• 



.. 

• 

• 

• 

practice independent of the Gfdel:guidance or rehabilitation order of a 

licensed physician ... or is guilty of any act derogatory to the dignity and morals of 

the profession of athletic training . 

SECTION 6. AMENDMENT. Subsection 6 of section 43 39 10 of the North 

Dakota CentUI)' Code is created and enacted as folloi,.w: 

i. Nothing in this chapter shall be constmed to pre'>•ent athletic trainers from 

providing: athletic training in hospital or clinical settings; injury screensj 

physician extender services: employee injury prevention, education or advice; or 

services to address injuries or illnesses, comparable to athletic injuries or 

illnesses, in military, industrial, or public safety settings . 




